
 
 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
 

Kern Medical Center 
1700 Mount Vernon Avenue 

Conference Room 1058 
Bakersfield, California 93306 

 
Regular Meeting 

Wednesday, November 14, 2018 
 
 

11:30 A.M. 
 
 

BOARD TO RECONVENE 
 
 Board Members:  Berjis, Bigler, Brar, Lawson, McLaughlin, Pelz, Sistrunk 

Roll Call: 
 
CONSENT AGENDA/OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT: ALL ITEMS LISTED 
WITH A "CA" ARE CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE AND NON-CONTROVERSIAL 
BY KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY STAFF. THE "CA" REPRESENTS THE 
CONSENT AGENDA. CONSENT ITEMS WILL BE CONSIDERED FIRST AND MAY 
BE APPROVED BY ONE MOTION IF NO MEMBER OF THE BOARD OR AUDIENCE 
WISHES TO COMMENT OR ASK QUESTIONS. IF COMMENT OR DISCUSSION IS 
DESIRED BY ANYONE, THE ITEM WILL BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT 
AGENDA AND WILL BE CONSIDERED IN LISTED SEQUENCE WITH AN 
OPPORTUNITY FOR ANY MEMBER OF THE PUBLIC TO ADDRESS THE BOARD 
CONCERNING THE ITEM BEFORE ACTION IS TAKEN. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION SHOWN IN CAPS 
 

 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  11.14.18 
 

Page | 2  
 

PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS 
 

1) This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons to address the Board on any matter 
not on this agenda but under the jurisdiction of the Board. Board members may respond 
briefly to statements made or questions posed. They may ask a question for 
clarification, make a referral to staff for factual information or request staff to report 
back to the Board at a later meeting. Also, the Board may take action to direct the staff 
to place a matter of business on a future agenda. SPEAKERS ARE LIMITED TO TWO 
MINUTES. PLEASE STATE AND SPELL YOUR NAME BEFORE MAKING YOUR 
PRESENTATION. THANK YOU! 

 
BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS OR REPORTS 

 
2) On their own initiative, Board members may make an announcement or a report on 

their own activities. They may ask a question for clarification, make a referral to staff or 
take action to have staff place a matter of business on a future agenda (Government 
Code section 54954.2(a)(2)) 

 
PUBLIC REQUEST 

 
3) Request to accept restricted monetary donation from Kern Health Systems for use by 

the Kern Medical Valley Fever Institute –  
MAKE PRESENTATION; APPROVE 

 
RECOGNITION 

 
4) Presentation by the Chief Executive Officer recognizing Kalina Downs, RN, Clinical 

Nurse Leader, Inpatient Psychiatry Unit as recipient of a Gold and Silver Medal at the 
2018 International Adult Figure Skating Competition in Burnaby, British Columbia –  
MAKE PRESENTATION 
 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 
 

CA 
5) Minutes for Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors regular meeting on  

October 17, 2018 –  
APPROVE 

 
CA 
6) Proposed Amendment No. 2 to Agreement 582-2015 with Michael G. Meyers, M.D. 

and Eric Trefelner, M.D., Inc. doing business as NightShift Radiology, an independent 
contractor, for after-hours teleradiology services for the period September 1, 2015 
through November 30, 2018, extending the term for two years from December 1, 2018 
through November 30, 2020, and increasing the maximum payable by $60,000, from 
$900,000 to $960,000, to cover the extended term –  

 APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda  
  Regular Meeting       
  11.14.18 

Page | 3  

CA 
7) Proposed purchase of real property located at 3551 Q Street, Bakersfield, California,

Kern County Assessor Parcel Number 120-181-54, from Mushtaq Ahmed and Rehmat
Ahmed, for a purchase price of $2.9 million and closing costs not to exceed $30,000 –
MAKE FINDING PROJECT IS EXEMPT FROM FURTHER CEQA REVIEW PER
SECTIONS 15301, 15302, 15303, 15304, 15305, 15306, AND 15061(b)(3) OF STATE
CEQA GUIDELINES; APPROVE; ADOPT RESOLUTION; AUTHORIZE CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO ACCEPT GRANT DEED ON BEHALF OF KERN COUNTY
HOSPITAL AUTHORITY AND SIGN ALL ESCROW DOCUMENTS; DIRECT STAFF
TO ISSUE WARRANT PAYABLE TO CHICAGO TITLE COMPANY

CA 
8) Proposed Incumbency Certificate with Presidio Technology Capital, LLC, an 

independent contractor, designating the Chief Executive Officer to sign documents in 
connection with the financing of data storage equipment –
APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN; AUTHORIZE CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER TO SIGN DOCUMENTS IN CONNECTION WITH FINANCING OF 
EQUIPMENT FROM PRESIDIO TECHNOLOGY CAPITAL, LLC 

CA 
9) Proposed Agreement with Ray A Morgan Company, an independent contractor,

containing nonstandard terms and conditions, for lease and maintenance of printers
and facsimile machines from November 20, 2018 through November 19, 2023, in an
amount not to exceed $1,862,334 –
APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN

CA 
10) Proposed Agreement with Eugene H. Roos, D.O., an independent contractor, for

professional medical services in the Department of Radiology from December 17, 2018
through December 16, 2020, in an amount not to exceed $730,000 –
APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN

CA 
11) Proposed Agreement with Voya Institutional Trust Company, an independent

contractor, for services as custodian of assets held in trust for the benefit of participants
in the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-
Management and Confidential Employees –
APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN

CA 
12) Proposed Application for Group Annuity Contract with Voya Retirement Insurance and

Annuity Company, and Agreement with Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity
Company and Voya Financial Partners, LLC, for administrative services related to the
Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-
Management and Confidential Employees –
APPROVE; AUTHORIZE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  11.14.18 
 

Page | 4  
 

 
CA 
13) Proposed adoption of the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for 

Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees and approval of Adoption 
Agreement and Summary of Plan Provisions – 

 APPROVE; ADOPT RESOLUTION 
 
CA 
14) Proposed Resolution providing for changes in the terms and conditions of employment 

for unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management and 
confidential – 

 APPROVE; ADOPT RESOLUTION; DIRECT CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, CHIEF 
FINANCIAL OFFICER AND HUMAN RESOURCES TO IMPLEMENT CHANGES 

 
15) Proposed regular meeting dates of the Kern County Hospital Authority Board of 

Governors for calendar year 2019 – 
 DISCUSS; PROVIDE DIRECTION 
 
16) Kern County Hospital Authority Chief Financial Officer report –  
 RECEIVE AND FILE 
  
17) Kern County Hospital Authority Chief Executive Officer report –  
 RECEIVE AND FILE 
 
CA 
18) Claims and Lawsuits Filed as of October 31, 2018 –  
 RECEIVE AND FILE 
 
 
ADJOURN TO CLOSED SESSION 

 
 

CLOSED SESSION 
 

19) Request for Closed Session regarding peer review of health practitioners (Health and 
Safety Code Section 101855(j)(2)) –  

 
20) CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION  
 (Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)) Name of case: Fatima Leon Tinoco, et al. v. 

County of Kern, et al., Kern County Superior Court Case No. BCV-17-100657 TSC – 
 
21) PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION - Title: Chief Executive Officer 

(Government Code Section 54957) – 
 
22) Request for Closed Session for the purpose of discussion or taking action on authority 

trade secrets (Health and Safety Code Section 101855(e)(1)) – 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  11.14.18 
 

Page | 5  
 

 
 
23) CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS - Agency designated representatives: 

Vice President & General Counsel Karen S. Barnes and designated staff – 
Unrepresented Employee: Chief Executive Officer (Government Code Section 54957.6) 
– 

 
RECONVENE FROM CLOSED SESSION 
 
 
REPORT ON ACTIONS TAKEN IN CLOSED SESSION 
 
 
ADJOURN TO WEDNESDAY, DECEMBER 12, 2018, AT 11:30 A.M. 
 
 

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION FOR AGENDA ITEMS 
 
All agenda item supporting documentation is available for public review at Kern Medical 
Center in the Administration Department, 1700 Mount Vernon Avenue, Bakersfield, 93306 
during regular business hours, 8:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, following the 
posting of the agenda.  Any supporting documentation that relates to an agenda item for an 
open session of any regular meeting that is distributed after the agenda is posted and prior to 
the meeting will also be available for review at the same location.   

 
 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 
(Government Code Section 54953.2) 

 
The Kern Medical Center Conference Room is accessible to persons with disabilities. 
Disabled individuals who need special assistance to attend or participate in a meeting of the 
Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors may request assistance at Kern Medical 
Center in the Administration Department, 1700 Mount Vernon Avenue, Bakersfield, California, 
or by calling (661) 326-2102. Every effort will be made to reasonably accommodate individuals 
with disabilities by making meeting material available in alternative formats. Requests for 
assistance should be made five (5) working days in advance of a meeting whenever possible. 
  



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  11.14.18 
 

Page | 6  
 

 
18) CLAIMS AND LAWSUITS FILED AS OF October 31, 2018 – 

RECEIVE AND FILE  
 

A) Complaint for Damages in the matter of Patricia Smith v. Kern Medical Center, et al., 
Kern County Superior Court Case No. BCV-18-101315 SDS 

B) Claim in the matter of Cassaundra Rodriguez 
C) Application for Leave to Present a Late Claim in the matter of Alizae Bagsby v. Kern 

County Hospital Authority 
 

 





 
 
 

SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

 
Kern Medical Center 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue 
Conference Room 1058 

Bakersfield, California 93306 
 

Regular Meeting 
Wednesday, October 17, 2018 

 
11:30 A.M. 

 
BOARD RECONVENED 
 
Directors Present: Berjis, Bigler, Brar, Lawson, McLaughlin, Pelz  
Directors Absent: Sistrunk 
 
NOTE: The vote is displayed in bold below each item. For example, Lawson-McLaughlin 
denotes Director Lawson made the motion and Vice Chair McLaughlin seconded the motion. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA/OPPORTUNITY FOR PUBLIC COMMENT: ALL ITEMS LISTED WITH 
A "CA" WERE CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE AND APPROVED BY ONE MOTION. 

 
BOARD ACTION SHOWN IN CAPS 
 

PUBLIC PRESENTATIONS 
 

1) This portion of the meeting is reserved for persons to address the Board on any matter 
not on this agenda but under the jurisdiction of the Board. Board members may respond 
briefly to statements made or questions posed. They may ask a question for 
clarification, make a referral to staff for factual information or request staff to report 
back to the Board at a later meeting. Also, the Board may take action to direct the staff 
to place a matter of business on a future agenda. SPEAKERS ARE LIMITED TO TWO 
MINUTES. PLEASE STATE AND SPELL YOUR NAME BEFORE MAKING YOUR 
PRESENTATION. THANK YOU! 
 
NO ONE HEARD 

 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  10.17.18 
 
 

Page | 2  
 

BOARD MEMBER ANNOUNCEMENTS OR REPORTS 
 
2) On their own initiative, Board members may make an announcement or a report on 

their own activities. They may ask a question for clarification, make a referral to staff or 
take action to have staff place a matter of business on a future agenda (Government 
Code section 54954.2(a)(2)) 

 
CHAIRMAN BIGLER REPORTED ON HIS ATTENDANCE AT THE KERN COUNTY 
FAIR ON SEPTEMBER 29, 2018, AND COMPLEMENTED STAFF ON THEIR HARD 
WORK 
   
CHAIRMAN BIGLER REPORTED ON KERN HIGH SCHOOL DAY AND THE VALUE 
OF THE HEALTHCARE CAREERS ACADEMY AT EAST BAKERSFIELD HIGH 
SCHOOL AND ITS RELATIONSHIP WITH KERN MEDICAL CETNER 
 

RECOGNITION 
 

3) Presentation by the Chief Information Officer recognizing the Kern Medical Center 
Subject Matter Experts for implementation of the Cerner electronic health record –  
MADE PRESENTATION 

 
ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION 

 
CA 
4) Minutes for Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors regular meeting on  

September 19, 2018 –  
APPROVED 
Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 

 
CA 
5) Proposed retroactive Agreement with Moss-Adams LLP, an independent contractor, 

for financial auditing services from August 17, 2018 through August 16, 2021, in an 
amount not to exceed $465,000 –  

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 069-2018 
Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 

CA 
6) Proposed retroactive Amendment No. 16 to Agreement 925-2002 with nThrive 

Solutions, Inc., an independent contractor, for oncology data management and 
abstracting services, for the period October 8, 2002 through June 30, 2018, extending 
the term for three years from July 1, 2018 through June 30, 2021, and increasing the 
maximum payable by $803,835, from $10,243,276 to $11,047,111, to cover the 
extended term – 

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 070-2018 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  10.17.18 
 
 

Page | 3  
 

 
CA 
7) Proposed retroactive Amendment No. 8 to Agreement 947-2008 with Toyon 

Associates, Inc., an independent contractor, for third-party reimbursement services for 
the period October 14, 2008 through October 13, 2018, extending the term for two 
years from October 14, 2018 through October 13, 2020, incorporating changes to the 
scope of work and hourly rates, and increasing the maximum payable by $850,000, 
from $2,490,000 to $3,340,000, to cover payment of past invoices and the extended 
term – 

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 071-2018 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
CA 
8) Proposed Amendment No. 3 to Agreement 051-2012 with Owens & Minor Distribution, 

Inc., an independent contractor, for clinical supply technology and centralized inventory 
management services for the period October 28, 2011 through October 27, 2018, 
extending the term for two years from October 28, 2018 through October 27, 2020, and 
increasing the maximum payable by $290,000, from $1,017,000 to $1,307,000, to 
cover the extended term –  

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 072-2018 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
CA 
9) Proposed acceptance of donation from CNA for travel and related expenses to cover 

all costs for one Kern Medical Center employee to attend the Health Care Compliance 
Association “Healthcare Enforcement Compliance Institute” in Washington, D.C., from 
November 4, 2018 through November 7, 2018 –  

 APPROVED; ADOPTED RESOLUTION 2018-011 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
CA 
10) Proposed retroactive acceptance of donation from Cerner Corporation for travel and 

related expenses for one Kern Medical Center employee to attend the “Cerner Health 
Conference 2018” in Kansas City Missouri, from October 6, 2018 through October 11, 
2018 – 

 APPROVED; ADOPTED RESOLUTION 2018-012 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
CA 
11) Proposed Agreement with Naheedy and Zarandy Medical Group, Inc., an independent 

contractor, for professional medical services in Department of Radiology from 
November 1, 2018 through October 31, 2020, in an amount not to exceed $730,000 –  

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 073-2018 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  10.17.18 
 
 

Page | 4  
 

12) Proposed Resolution establishing regular meeting dates of the Kern County Hospital 
Authority Board of Governors for calendar year 2019 – 

 APPROVED; ADOPTED RESOLUTION 2018-013 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
13) Report on graduate medical education at Kern Medical Center –  
 RECEIVED AND FILED 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
14) Kern County Hospital Authority Chief Financial Officer report –  
 RECEIVED AND FILED 
 Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 
NOTE: DIRECTOR LAWSON TOOK THE DAIS AT 12:10 P.M. AFTER THE VOTE ON THE 
CONSENT AGENDA AND BEFORE THE VOTE ON ITEM 15 
 
15) Kern County Hospital Authority Chief Executive Officer report –  
 RECEIVED AND FILED  
 Berjis-Brar: 6 Ayes; 1 Absent - Sistrunk 
 
CA 
16) Claims and Lawsuits Filed as of September 30, 2018 –  

RECEIVED AND FILED 
Berjis-Pelz: 5 Ayes; 2 Absent - Lawson, Sistrunk 
 

NOTE: CHAIRMAN BIGLER ANNOUNCED THAT, DUE TO HIS FAMILIAL RELATIONSHIP 
WITH AN EMPLOYEE OF MERIDIAN HEALTHCARE PARTNERS, INC., HE WOULD 
RECUSE HIMSELF FROM THE DISCUSSION AND VOTE ON ITEM 17, AND, AFTER 
PASSING THE GAVEL TO VICE CHAIRMAN MCLAUGHLIN, LEFT THE DAIS AT 12:13 P.M. 
AND DID NOT RETURN UNTIL AFTER THE BOARD ADJOURNED TO CLOSED SESSION 
 
NOTE: CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER RUSSELL V. JUDD AND EMPLOYEES OF MERIDIAN 
HEALTHCARE PARTNERS, INC. LEFT THE ROOM AT 12:13 P.M., BEFORE THE 
DISCUSSION AND VOTE ON AGENDA ITEM 17 AND DID NOT RETURN UNTIL AFTER 
THE BOARD ADJOURNED TO CLOSED SESSION 

 
17) Proposed Amendment No. 9 to Agreement 911-2013 with Meridian Healthcare 

Partners, Inc., an independent contractor, for Chief Executive Officer and healthcare 
management services for the period December 16, 2013 through December 15, 2020, 
revising the management fee, and increasing the maximum payable by $372,320, to 
cover the term –  

 APPROVED; AUTHORIZED VICE CHAIRMAN TO SIGN AGREEMENT 074-2018 
 Berjis-Brar: 5 Ayes; 1 Absent - Sistrunk; 1 Abstention - Bigler 

 
ADJOURNED TO CLOSED SESSION 
Pelz-Lawson 



  Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors Agenda                                                   
  Regular Meeting                                                                                                                                     
  10.17.18 
 
 

Page | 5  
 

CLOSED SESSION 
 

18) Request for Closed Session regarding peer review of health practitioners (Health and 
Safety Code Section 101855(j)(2)) – SEE RESULTS BELOW 

 
19) PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION - Title: Chief Executive Officer 

(Government Code Section 54957) – SEE RESULTS BELOW 
 
 
RECONVENED FROM CLOSED SESSION 
Lawson-McLaughlin 
 
 
REPORT ON ACTIONS TAKEN IN CLOSED SESSION 
 

Item No. 18 concerning Request for Closed Session regarding peer review of health 
practitioners (Health and Safety Code Section 101855(j)(2)) – HEARD; BY A 
UNANIMOUS VOTE OF THOSE DIRECTORS PRESENT (MOTION BY DIRECTOR 
PELZ, SECOND BY DIRECTOR LAWSON; 1 ABSENT - DIRECTOR SISTRUNK), 
THE BOARD APPROVED ALL PROVIDERS RECOMMENDED FOR INITIAL 
APPOINTMENT, REAPPOINTMENT, RELEASE OF PROCTORING, CHANGE IN 
STAFF STATUS, AUTOMATIC TERMINATION OF PRIVILEGES; NO OTHER 
REPORTABLE ACTION TAKEN 
 
Item No. 19 concerning PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION - Title: 
Chief Executive Officer (Government Code Section 54957) – HEARD; NO 
REPORTABLE ACTION TAKEN 
 
 

ADJOURNED TO WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 14, 2018, AT 11:30 A.M. 
Pelz 
 
 
 
/s/ Mona A. Allen 

Authority Board Coordinator 
 
 
 
/s/ Russell E. Bigler 

Chairman, Board of Governors 
 Kern County Hospital Authority 
 



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject:  Proposed Amendment No. 2 for Professional Services with Michael G. Meyers, M.D., and Eric 
Trefelner, M.D., Inc., a California professional medical corporation. 
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Authorize Chairman to sign 
 
Summary:   
 
Kern Medical requests your Board approve Amendment No. 2 to the Agreement for Professional Services with 
Michael G. Meyers, M.D., and Eric Trefelner, M.D., Inc., a California professional medical corporation, doing 
business as NightShift Radiology.  NightShift Radiology provides after‐hours preliminary radiologic reads for 
urgent and emergent cases.  This Amendment No. 2 will extend the agreement by an additional 2 years, with a 
cost of $480,000 per year or $960,000 for the 2‐year extension.  The increased cost for this amendment term is 
$180,000 per year, which is due to higher estimated rates, totaling $20,000 year, and estimated increased 
utilization of after‐hour reads totaling $160,000 per year.   

 
Payment for Services  Previous Year Agreement  Proposed Agreement  Variance 

Per year cost  $300,000/year x3  $480,000/year x2  $180,000 

Total cost  $900,000 total  $960,000  $60,000 

 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve Amendment No. 2 for the Professional Services with 
Michael G. Meyers, M.D., and Eric Trefelner, M.D., Inc., a California professional medical corporation for 
professional services in the Department of Radiology from December 1, 2018 to November 30, 2020, in an 
amount not to exceed $960,000 and authorize the Chairman to sign. 
 











 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject:  Proposed Purchase of Real Property  
 
Recommended Action:  Make finding project is exempt from further CEQA Review per sections 15301, 
15302, 15303, 15304, 15305, 15306, AND 15061(b)(3) of State CEQA Guidelines; Approve; Adopt 
Resolution; Authorize Chief Executive Officer to accept Grant Deed on behalf of Kern County Hospital 
Authority and sign all escrow documents; direct staff to issue warrant payable to Chicago Title 
Company 
 
Summary: 
 
Proposed purchase of real property comprised of an approximately 28,500 square foot building located at 3551 
Q Street, Bakersfield, California, from Mushtaq Ahmed, a physician, and Rehmat Ahmed, spouse, in the amount 
of $2.9 million with an additional estimate of $30,000 for closing costs.   
 
Kern Medical also anticipates additional costs associated with this proposed purchase of $20,000 for building 
inspections and an estimated $500,000 initial tenant improvements, furnishing and equipment.   
 
Sources and Uses: 
 
Uses of Funds:    $3.45 million for building purchase, furnishing, and equipment 
Sources of Funds:  $3.45 million from Whole Person Care grant funding ($563,000) and Hospital Authority 

Cash Balance ($2,887,000) 
 
Financial Analysis Summary: 
 
Net Present Value:    $29,452 
Internal Rate of Return:   7.29% 
Discount Rate:      6.98% 
 
Background: 
 
Kern Medical requests your approval to purchase an existing medical office building located at 3551 Q Street, to 
establish a new outpatient clinic site.  The purchase of the building will allow Kern Medical to access grant 
funding from the new Medicaid 1115 waiver program titled “Whole Person Care” (WPC), as well as, relocate 
existing clinic services currently located in the hospital.  
 
The WPC program serves recently incarcerated and homeless patients.  The services offered at the site will 
support the program’s focus on primary care, healthcare‐related social services, nutritional counseling, and 
health education.  The initial amount of grant funding for WPC is $383,000, with subsequent funding available 
each year thereafter.  The WPC grant funding requirements stipulate that the new outpatient clinical services be 



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

provided at a new location, one that is not physically located at an existing clinic, but resides within a geographic 
area where most of the eligible WPC patient population resides. 
 
Kern Medical also operates outpatient clinics in three locations in the main hospital:  (a) specialty medicine and 
surgery clinics on the first floor A‐wing, (b) orthopedic clinics on first floor, main, and (c) specialty surgery clinics 
on the second floor G‐wing.  These clinics are functioning alongside our inpatient care staff and are competing 
for ancillary services such radiology and laboratory.  The proposed building provides improved access to care for 
our community, in a setting that is more conducive to a healing environment.  Outpatient clinic visitors prefer 
receiving care in a more conveniently located site with easier access and better amenities, rather than a large 
institutional hospital campus that is not as “out‐patient friendly.” 
 
Strategic Rationale:   
 
Kern Medical seeks to (a) improve access to patient care, (b) serve as a safety net provider, (c) enhance the 
quality of care provided, and (d) sustain its financial security. The proposed purchase supports these strategic 
priorities by allowing Kern Medical to provide outpatient clinical services at a more convenient location for our 
patients, within a more contemporary clinical space. The proposed purchase also provides Kern Medical with the 
ability to provide expanded services for other outpatient clinic services located on the main campus, increasing 
Kern Medical’s ability to pursue additional volume growth and reimbursement.  The building contains more 
exam rooms than the current hospital campus clinic space (37 exam rooms compared to 27 at the hospital) plus 
additional space for diagnostic testing, imaging, and patient education, which not readily available at the 
hospital for outpatient clinic visits.  The proposed building has existing entrances and waiting rooms with 
dedicated, convenient reception areas to provide separate work spaces for busy services.  The financial 
feasibility analysis indicates a positive financial return. 
 
Financial Analysis: 
 
The project allows for incremental volume growth from safety net patients plus commercial growth 
opportunities.  Additional incremental reimbursement is also available by changing the billing methodology from 
“split” billing of the professional and technical components as a licensed hospital clinic to “global” billing as an 
exempt outpatient clinic under California HSC 1206(b) regulations for designated public hospitals.  The five‐year 
financial analysis entails: 

 Patient volume is projected to increase 6.7% year over year 

 Reimbursement per patient visit to improve 15% per patient visit through billing methodology changes, 
which allows for appropriate billing of additional services 

 Incremental expense increases are limited by moving services from the main hospital as the services and 
staff will relocate to the new location.  Clinical supplies are the largest component of the incremental 
expenses. 

 A discounted cash flow analysis was prepared for the $3.45 million investment, consisting of the $2.9 million 
building purchase plus $550,000 for tenant improvements, furnishings and equipment, inspection, and 
closing costs.  A discount rate of 6.98% was used based on the Authority’s weighted cost of capital.  The rate 
used is slightly higher than the industry average after adjusting for project specific risk factors such as 
utilization of current clinical capacity, added clinical efficiencies, and payor mix. 

 Additional service opportunities are not included in the financial analysis.  For example, the building includes 
an imaging center, approximately 4,000 square feet of space, which can be remodeled and equipped to 
allow for additional outpatient services.  The possible imaging center will be a separate, future project that 
will be addressed at a later time, but will provide additional access to care and commercial growth 
opportunities. 

 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve the purchase of real property in an amount of 
$2,930,000 for the expansion of outpatient services for the patients of Kern Medical.   



Kern Medical Q Street Clinic Analysis

FY18 Ortho Podiatry Urology Cardiology Surgery Radiology* Total

Total Clinic Visits 12,351            1,829              2,694              1,850              8,076              10,635            
Expected Clinic Rev per Visit 103.78$          42.69$            68.56$            144.98$          37.64$            24.92$            
Expected Revenue 1,281,750$     78,074$          184,711$        268,204$        303,975$        264,985$        2,381,700$     

Projected:

Patient Visit Increase 3.5% 15.0% 5.0% 40.0% 5.0% 5.0%
New Total Clinic Visits 12,783            2,103              2,829              2,590              8,480              11,165            

Patient Charge Capture Increase 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0% 15.0%
New Expected Clinic Rev per Visit 119.34$          49.09$            78.85$            166.72$          43.29$            28.65$            

Expected Revenue 1,525,603$     103,253$        223,039$        431,809$        367,050$        319,919$        2,547,502$     

Total Expected Revenue Increase 165,801.09     
Less Increase in Variable Costs (11,468.91)      
Total Net Revenue Increase 154,332.19     
Whole Person Care 383,000          
Total Additional Dollars Year 1 548,801.09   

Net Dollar % Increase 23%

* Radiology estimated at 75% of ortho & pod visits

Five year Value Stream Projection Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5
Incremental Revenue 165,801$        169,117$        172,499$        175,949$        179,468$        
Incremental Costs (11,469)$         (11,928)$         (12,405)$         (12,901)$         (13,417)$         
Whole Person Care 383,000$        180,000$        -$                -$                -$                
Building Purchase (2,900,000)$    -$                -$                -$                -$                
Building Improvements (300,000)$       (200,000)$       
Building Inspections (20,000)$         
Closing Costs (30,000)$         
Residual Building Value 2,900,000$     

(2,712,668) 137,189 160,095 163,048 3,066,051

Present Value (2,712,668) 128,238 139,885 133,171 2,340,826
Net Present Value 29,452
Internal Rate of Return 7.29%

* Revenue growing at 2%
*Costs growing at 4%

Discount Rate
Industry Average CoC 5.48%
Specific Entity Risk 1.50%
Discount Used 6.98%

































 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

  
  
November 14, 2018 
  
Subject:  Proposed additional signing authority with Presidio Technology Capital, LLC 
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Authorize Chairman to sign documentation allowing Kern Medical’s 
Chief  Executive  Officer  to  sign  “Incumbency  Certificate  “document  in  support  of  the  Presidio  lease 
agreement  
 
Summary: 
 
Kern Medical is requesting the Board of Governors authorize the Kern Medical Chief Executive Officer to sign 
Incumbency Certificate documentation with Presidio Technology Capital, LLC on behalf of the Board of 
Governors.  
 
At your August 15, 2018 Board meeting, you approved the Lease Agreement and Supplements with Presidio 
Technology Capital, LLC, for the financing of enterprise storage and back up hardware and support for the 
Cerner Millennium Project. The term of the Lease Agreement and Supplements is effective September 1, 2018 
through November 30, 2021, in an amount not to exceed $1,862,334 which includes all hardware technology 
and services.  
 
 
 



PRESIDIO TECHNOLOGY CAPITAL, LLC      TWO SUN COURT      NORCROSS, GEORGIA 30092 

Incumbency Certificate 

Name of Governmental Entity: Governmental Entity Address: 
Kern County Hospital Authority      1700 Mt. Vernon Ave. 

  Bakersfield, CA  93305 

NAME  TITLE SPECIMEN SIGNATURE 

____________________         _________________ _________________________________ 

____________________         _________________ _________________________________ 

____________________         _________________ _________________________________ 

____________________             _________________  _________________________________ 
_________________________________________________________________________________________ 

I certify that I am an Officer of the Governmental Entity, that I have access to the original records of the 
Governmental Entity, and that the persons designated to serve in the capacities identified above hold the offices 
specified above, and in their capacities the persons designated above are authorized to execute, on behalf of 
the Governmental Entity, rentals, leases, installment sales contracts, guarantees, promissory notes, installment 
payment agreements, annual payment agreements, service agreements and security agreements, together with 
any and all related documents, in connection with the financing of equipment from Presidio Technology Capital, 
LLC.  These documents will be in such form and contain such terms as any of the persons designated to serve 
in the above-entitled capacities shall approve, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by the designated 
person’s signature. 

THIS CERTIFICATE NEEDS TO BE SIGNED BY AN OFFICER OTHER THAN THE PERSONS DESIGNATED 
ABOVE. 

  Kern County Hospital Authority 

By:   _______________________________________<Sign here 
Authorized Signature  

        _______________________________________________ 
  Name (Type or Print)                Title 

 _________________________________________________ 
Date

Russell V. Judd Chief Executive Officer

Russell Bigler, Chairman Board of Governors



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

   
November 14, 2018 
  
Subject:  Proposed Lease Agreement with Ray A Morgan Company 
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Authorize Chairman to sign 
 
Summary: 
 
Kern Medical is requesting your Board approve the proposed Lease Agreement with Ray A Morgan Company to 
reduce our day‐to‐day print management spend and reduce the Cerner Millennium Project’s print management 
build requirements.  
 
We are proposing an agreement with Ray A Morgan Company for the lease of our output print management and 
support service in support of the long‐term technology strategy for Kern Medical. We will leverage “follow me 
print” security services that will also allow Kern Medical to secure and manage print output.  
 
Current monthly print spend is $45,525 with three separate vendors performing print output services.  
New monthly spend will be $32,196 which includes supplies and print images. 
Projected savings of $799,800.00 over the 60 month contract term. 
 
The proposed Lease Agreement will be effective November 20, 2018 through November 19, 2023, in an amount 
not to exceed $1,862,334, which includes all hardware technology and services. The Agreement contains non‐
standard terms and cannot be approved as to form by Counsel due to no indemnification or warranty by the Ray 
A Morgan Company for equipment and services and waiver of a jury trial.    

















 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject:  Proposed Agreement for Professional Services with Eugene H. Roos, D.O. 
 
Recommended Action:  Approve, Authorize Chairman to sign 
 
Summary:   
 
Kern Medical requests your Board approve an Agreement with Eugene H. Roos, D.O., for professional medical 
services in the Department of Radiology.     
 
Dr. Roos has provided radiology services at Kern Medical as an independent contractor since December of 2008. 
The current Agreement is set to expire on December 16, 2018.  Kern Medical continues to require the services of 
Dr. Roos to provide scheduled and as‐needed coverage in the Department and both parties have agreed to the 
terms of the two‐year agreement. 
 
The agreement with Dr. Roos has not provided for an increase in shift coverage since 2013.  The proposed 
monthly rate of $24,975 is a 5.2 percent increase over the previous $23,750 per month.   
 
 

Payment for 
Services 

Previous Year Agreement  Proposed Agreement  Variance 

Shift Coverage 
Annual fixed fee in the amount of 
$285,000 per year at the monthly 

rate of $23,750 

Annual fixed fee in the amount of 
$299,700 per year at the monthly 

rate of $24,975 

+$14,700 
Per year 

Excess Shift 
Coverage 

Fixed fee in the amount of $1,600 
per shift or any part thereof for 

coverage that exceeds an average 
of 15 shifts per month 

Per diem rate of $1,665 per day for 
excess shift coverage that exceeds 
an average of 15 shifts per month 

+$65 
Per shift 

Emergency Night 
Shift Coverage 

N/A 
Per diem rate of $2,000 per day for 
emergency night shift coverage 

(i.e., not a scheduled shift) 

$2,000 
Per shift 

Total Not to Exceed 
$730,000/two years 
($365,000 per year) 

$730,000/two years 
($365,000 per year) 

 

 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve the Agreement for Professional Services with Eugene H. 
Roos, D.O., for professional medical services in the Department of Radiology, from December 17, 2018 through 
December 16, 2020, in an amount not to exceed $730,000, and authorize the Chairman to sign. 



1 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PROFESSIONAL SERVICES 
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 

(Kern County Hospital Authority – Eugene H. Roos, D.O.)                                                     
 
This Agreement for Professional Services (“Agreement”) is made and entered into this 

_____ day of __________, 2018, between the Kern County Hospital Authority, a local unit of 
government (“Authority”), which owns and operates Kern Medical Center (“KMC”), and 
Eugene H. Roos, D.O., a sole proprietor (“Contractor”), whose principal place of business is 
located at 31562 Wildwood Road, Laguna Beach, California 92651. 
 

I. 
RECITALS 

 
(a) Authority is authorized, pursuant to section 101852 of Part 4 of Division 101 of 

the Health and Safety Code, to contract for special services with individuals specially trained, 
experienced, expert, and competent to perform those services; and 
 
 (b) Authority owns and operates KMC, a general acute care hospital located at 1700 
Mount Vernon Avenue, Bakersfield, California (the “Premises”), in which is located the 
Department of Radiology (the “Department”); and   
 

(c) Authority requires the assistance of Contractor to provide professional medical 
services to patients of KMC and teaching services to resident physicians employed by Authority, 
as such services are unavailable from Authority resources, and Contractor agrees to provide such 
services on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and 
 
 (d) Contractor has special knowledge, training and experience, and is qualified to 
render such services;  
  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and conditions 
hereinafter set forth and incorporating by this reference the foregoing recitals, the parties hereto 
agree as follows:  
 

II. 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

 
1. Term.  This Agreement shall be effective and the term shall commence as of December 
17, 2018 (the “Effective Date”), and shall end December 16, 2020, unless earlier terminated 
pursuant to other provisions of this Agreement as herein stated.           

 
2. Obligations of Contractor.  

 
 2.1 Specified Services.  Contractor shall render those services set forth in Exhibit 
“A,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  Such services may be changed 
from time to time by agreement of the parties in accordance with the provisions of this 
Agreement.   
    



2 
 

2.2 Representations.  Contractor makes the following representations which are 
agreed to be material to and form a part of the inducement for this Agreement: (i) Contractor has 
the expertise and support staff necessary to provide the services described in this Agreement; and 
(ii) Contractor does not have any actual or potential interests adverse to Authority nor does 
Contractor represent a person or firm with an interest adverse to Authority with reference to the 
subject of this Agreement; and (iii) Contractor shall diligently provide all required services in a 
timely and professional manner in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. 

 
2.3 Standard of Care.  Authority has relied upon the professional ability and training 

of Contractor as a material inducement to enter into this Agreement.  Contractor hereby agrees 
that all of his work will be performed and that his operations shall be conducted in accordance 
with generally accepted and applicable professional practices and standards as well as the 
requirements of applicable federal, state and local laws, it being understood that acceptance of 
Contractor’s work by Authority shall not operate as a waiver or release. 

 
2.4 Performance Standard.  Contractor shall perform all services hereunder in a 

manner consistent with the level of competency and standard of care normally observed by a 
person practicing in Contractor’s profession.  If Authority determines that any of Contractor’s 
work is not in accordance with such level of competency and standard of care, Authority, in its 
sole discretion, shall have the right to do any or all of the following: (a) require Contractor to 
meet with Authority to review the quality of the work and resolve matters of concern; (b) 
terminate this Agreement pursuant to the provisions of section 36; or (c) pursue any and all other 
remedies at law or in equity.  

 
2.5 Qualifications.   
 

2.2.1 Licensure/Board Certification.  Contractor shall at all times during the 
term of this Agreement be duly licensed as a physician and surgeon in the state of 
California, practicing in the medical specialty of diagnostic radiology, and certified or 
eligible for certification by the American Board of Radiology in diagnostic radiology-
general. 

 
2.2.2 Medical Staff Status.  Contractor shall at all times during the term of this 

Agreement be a member in good standing of the KMC medical staff with “active” or 
“courtesy” staff status and hold all clinical privileges on the active or courtesy medical 
staff appropriate to the discharge of his obligations under this Agreement. 

 
2.2.3 TJC and ACGME Compliance.  Contractor shall observe and comply with 

all applicable standards and recommendations of The Joint Commission and 
Accreditation Council for Graduate Medical Education. 

 
2.2.4 Training/Experience.  Contractor shall have (i) recent diagnostic radiology 

experience, (ii) a background to include experience working with other clinical 
departments, teaching residents and medical students, participating in hospital 



3 
 

committees, and working on pathways and evidence-based guidelines, and (iii) ongoing 
acute care hospital experience. 

 
2.3 Loss or Limitation.  Contractor shall notify KMC promptly of any loss, sanction, 

suspension or material limitations of his license to practice in the state of California, Controlled 
Substance Registration Certificate issued by the Drug Enforcement Administration, right to 
participate in the Medicare or Medicaid programs, or specialty qualifications for medical staff 
membership or clinical privileges. 

 
2.4 Standards of Medical Practice.  The standards of medical practice and 

professional duties of Contractor shall be in accordance with the KMC medical staff bylaws, 
rules, regulations, and policies, the standards for practice established by the state Department of 
Public Health and all other state and federal laws and regulations relating to the licensure and 
practice of physicians, and The Joint Commission. 
 

2.5 Medical Record Documentation.  Contractor shall cause a complete medical 
record to be timely prepared and maintained for each patient seen by Contractor.  This record 
shall be prepared in compliance with all state and federal regulations, standards of The Joint 
Commission, and the KMC medical staff bylaws, rules, regulations, and policies.  
Documentation by Contractor will conform to the requirements for evaluation and management 
(E/M) services billed by teaching physicians set forth in the Medicare Carriers Manual, Part 3, 
sections 15016–15018, inclusive. 
 

2.6 Taxes.  Contractor agrees to file federal and state tax returns and pay all 
applicable taxes on amounts paid pursuant to this Agreement and shall be solely liable and 
responsible to pay such taxes and other obligations, including, but not limited to, state and 
federal income and FICA taxes.  Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold Authority harmless 
from any liability which it may incur to the United States or to the state of California as a 
consequence of Contractor’s failure to pay, when due, all such taxes and obligations.  In case 
Authority is audited for compliance regarding any withholding or other applicable taxes, 
Contractor agrees to furnish Authority with proof of payment of taxes on these earnings. 
 
 2.7 Nonexclusive Services.  Contractor understands and agrees that Authority will 
utilize the services of Contractor pursuant to the terms of this Agreement on a non-exclusive 
basis.  Contractor further agrees that Authority shall retain the option to enter into agreements 
with other organizations for purposes of securing the services, in its sole discretion. 
 
3. Obligations of Authority.  
  

3.1 Authority Designee.  Authority shall designate a primary contact, who will 
arrange for KMC staff assistance as may be required.   

 
3.2 Space.  KMC shall furnish for the use of Contractor such space and facilities as 

may be deemed necessary by KMC for the proper operation and conduct of the Department.  
KMC shall, in its sole discretion, determine the amount and type of space and facilities to be 
provided herein.  Contractor shall use the space and equipment solely for the performance of the 



4 
 

services required under this Agreement.  Contractor shall not use such space or equipment for 
other business or personal use. 
  

3.3 Use Limitations on Space.  The use of any part of the space occupied by the 
Department for the general or private practice of medicine is prohibited.  Contractor shall use the 
items furnished under this Agreement only for the performance of services required by this 
Agreement.  This Agreement shall not be construed to be a lease to Contractor of any portion of 
the Premises, and insofar as Contractor may use a portion of said Premises, Contractor does so as 
a licensee only, and Authority and KMC shall, at all times, have full and free access to the same. 

 
3.4 Equipment.  KMC shall furnish for the use of the Department such equipment as 

is deemed necessary by KMC for the proper operation and conduct of the Department consistent 
with community standards.  KMC shall keep and maintain this equipment in good order and 
repair and replace such equipment, as is reasonably necessary and subject to the usual purchasing 
practices of Authority and KMC and budget constraints.    
 
 3.5 Services and Supplies.  KMC shall provide or arrange for the provision of 
janitorial services, housekeeping services, laundry and utilities, together with such other hospital 
services, including medical records, administrative and engineering services, and expendable 
supplies as KMC deems necessary for the proper operation and conduct of the Department. 

 
 3.6 Control Retained in KMC.  In compliance with title 22, California Code of 
Regulations, section 70713 KMC will retain professional and administrative responsibility for 
services rendered under this Agreement.  Contractor shall apprise KMC of recommendations, 
plans for implementation and continuing assessment through dated and signed reports, which 
shall be retained by KMC for follow-up action and evaluation of performance. 
 
4. Payment for Services.   
 

4.1 Compensation.  As consideration for the services provided by Contractor 
hereunder, Authority shall pay Contractor according to the fee schedule set forth in this 
paragraph 4.1.  All services are payable in arrears.  

 
4.1.1 Shift Coverage.  Authority shall pay Contractor an annual fixed fee in the 

amount of $299,700 per year at the monthly rate of $24,975 per month for shift coverage.   
 

4.1.2 Excess Shift Coverage.  Authority shall pay Contractor a per diem rate of 
$1,665 per day for excess shift coverage that exceeds an average of 15 shifts per month. 

 
4.1.3 Emergency Night Shift Coverage.  Authority shall pay Contractor a per 

diem rate of $2,000 per day for emergency night shift coverage (i.e., not a scheduled 
shift). 

 
4.1.4 Fair Market Value Compensation.  The compensation provided under 

section 4.1 represents the parties’ good faith determination of the reasonable fair market 



5 
 

value compensation for the services to be provided by Contractor and Group Physicians 
under this Agreement.  

 
4.1.5 Payment All-inclusive.  The compensation paid to Contractor is inclusive 

of accommodations, mileage reimbursement, car rental, meals, and incidental expenses.  
 
4.1.6 Limitations on Compensation.  Except as expressly stated herein, neither 

Contractor nor Group Physicians shall receive any benefits from Authority, including 
without limitation, health benefits, sick leave, vacation, holidays, deferred compensation 
or retirement.   
 
4.2 Maximum Payable.  The maximum payable under this Agreement shall not 

exceed $730,000 over the two-year term of this Agreement.   
 

 4.3 Invoices.  Invoices for payment shall be submitted in a form approved by KMC 
and list each service performed.  Invoices and receipts shall be sent to KMC for review and 
processing within 60 days of the date of service or payment will not be made.  Payment shall be 
made to Contractor within 30 days of receipt and approval of each invoice by KMC.   
  

4.4 Taxpayer Identification.  To ensure compensation is reported as paid to the proper 
party, Contractor will complete and execute IRS Form W-9 (Exhibit “B,” attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by this reference), which identifies the taxpayer identification number for 
Contractor. 
 

4.5 Professional Fee Billing.  KMC shall have the exclusive right to set, bill, collect 
and retain all fees, including professional fees, for all direct patient care services provided by 
Contractor to KMC patients during the term of this Agreement.  All professional fees generated 
by Contractor for services rendered to KMC patients at KMC or a KMC location during the term 
of this Agreement, including both cash collections and accounts receivable, will be the sole and 
exclusive property of KMC, whether received by KMC or by Contractor and whether received 
during the term of this Agreement or anytime thereafter.  Contractor hereby assigns all rights to 
said fees and accounts to KMC and shall execute all documents required from time to time by 
KMC and otherwise fully cooperate with KMC to enable KMC to collect fees and accounts from 
patients and third-party payers. 
 

4.6 Managed Care Organizations.  For and on behalf of Contractor Authority shall 
have the sole and exclusive right and authority to enter into contractual relationships with 
HMOs, IPAs, PPOs, PHOs, employer groups, provider networks and other managed care 
organizations (collectively “Managed Care Organizations”).  Contractor shall provide the same 
quality of care to patients from Managed Care Organizations as is provided to other KMC 
patients.  Upon request from Authority or KMC, Contractor shall execute Managed Care 
Organization documents as “provider” if deemed necessary or advisable by Authority.  
Contractor shall not contract with any Managed Care Organization without Authority’s prior 
written consent in each instance. 
 



6 
 

5. Access to Books and Records.  Contractor shall make available, upon written request 
from Authority or KMC, the Secretary of Health and Human Services, the Comptroller General 
of the United States, or any other duly authorized agent or representative, this Agreement, and 
Contractor’s books, documents and records.  Contractor shall preserve and make available such 
books, documents and records for a period of seven (7) years after the termination or expiration 
of this Agreement.  If Contractor is requested to disclose books, documents or records pursuant 
to this section for any purpose, Contractor shall notify KMC of the nature and scope of the 
request, and Contractor shall make available, upon written request of KMC, all such books, 
documents or records.   
 
6. Anti-referral Laws.  Contractor acknowledges that he is subject to certain federal and 
state laws governing the referral of patients, which are in effect during the term of this 
Agreement.  These laws include (i) prohibitions on payments for referral or to induce the referral 
of patients, and (ii) the referral of patients by a physician for certain designated health care 
services to an entity with which the physician (or his or her immediate family) has a financial 
relationship (Cal. Business and Professions Code sections 650 et seq.; Cal. Labor Code sections 
139.3 and 139.31; section 1128B (b) of the Social Security Act; and section 1877 of the Social 
Security Act).  The parties expressly agree that nothing contained in this Agreement shall require 
either the referral of any patients to, or order of any goods or services from Contractor or KMC.  
Notwithstanding any unanticipated effect of any provision of this Agreement, neither party shall 
knowingly or intentionally conduct itself in such a manner as to violate the prohibition against 
fraud and abuse in connection with the Medicare and Medicaid programs (42 U.S.C. section 
1320a-7b). 
 
7. Assignment.  Contractor shall not assign, delegate, sublet, or transfer any interest in or 
duty under this Agreement.  Contractor shall not assign any money due or which becomes due to 
Contractor under this Agreement without the prior written approval of Authority. 
 
8.  Audits, Inspection and Retention of Records.  Contractor agrees to maintain and make 
available to Authority accurate books and records relative to all his activities under this 
Agreement.  Contractor shall permit Authority to audit, examine and make excerpts and 
transcripts from such records, and to conduct audits or reviews of all invoices, materials, records 
or personnel or other data related to all other matters covered by this Agreement.  Contractor 
shall maintain such data and records in an accessible location and condition for a period of not 
less than four (4) years from the date of final payment under this Agreement, or until after the 
conclusion of any audit, whichever occurs last.  The state of California or any federal agency 
having an interest in the subject of this Agreement shall have the same rights conferred upon 
Authority herein. 
 
9. Authority to Incur Financial Obligation.  It is understood that Contractor, in his 
performance of any and all duties under this Agreement, has no right, power or authority to bind 
Authority to any agreements or undertakings. 
 
10. Captions.  The captions in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference.  They 
are not a part of this Agreement and shall have no effect on its construction or interpretation.  
 



7 
 

11. Change in Law.  In the event that a change in state or federal law or regulatory 
requirement (or the application thereof), any of which renders this Agreement illegal, impossible 
to perform, or commercially impracticable, the parties agree to negotiate immediately, in good 
faith, any necessary or appropriate amendments(s) to the terms of this Agreement.  If the parties 
fail to reach a mutually agreeable amendment within 30 days of such negotiation period, this 
Agreement shall automatically terminate at the end of such 30-day period. 
 
12. Choice of Law/Venue.  The parties hereto agree that the provisions of this Agreement 
will be construed pursuant to the laws of the state of California.  It is expressly acknowledged 
that this Agreement has been entered into and will be performed within the County of Kern.  
Should any suit or action be commenced to enforce or interpret the terms of this Agreement or 
any claim arising under it, it is expressly agreed that proper venue shall be in County of Kern, 
state of California.   
 
13. Compliance with Law.  Contractor shall observe and comply with all applicable 
Authority, local, state and federal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations now in effect or 
hereafter enacted, each of which is hereby made a part hereof and incorporated herein by 
reference. 
 
14. Compliance Program.  Contractor acknowledges that KMC has implemented a 
compliance program for the purpose of ensuring adherence to applicable federal and state laws, 
regulations and other standards.  Contractor agrees that in the course of performance of his duties 
described herein that he shall act, and cause his employees to act, in conformance with the 
policies set forth therein.  KMC shall make available such information relating to its compliance 
program as is appropriate to assist Contractor in adhering to the policies set forth in the 
compliance program.  Contractor and his employees shall participate in compliance training and 
education as reasonably requested by KMC.   
 
15. Confidentiality. 
 

15.1 Use and Disclosure Restrictions.  Neither party shall, without the written consent 
of the other, communicate confidential information of the other, designated in writing or 
identified in this Agreement as such, to any third party and shall protect such information from 
inadvertent disclosure to any third party in the same manner that the receiving party would 
protect its own confidential information.  The foregoing obligations will not restrict either party 
from disclosing confidential information of the other party: (i) pursuant to applicable law; (ii) 
pursuant to the order or requirement of a court, administrative agency, or other governmental 
body, on condition that the party required to make such a disclosure gives reasonable written 
notice to the other party to contest such order or requirement; and (iii) on a confidential basis to 
its legal or financial advisors.   

 
15.2 Trade Secrets.  The parties acknowledges that each party, in connection with its 

business, has developed certain operating manuals, symbols, trademarks, trade names, service 
marks, designs, patient lists, procedures, processes, and other copyrighted, patented, 
trademarked, or legally protectable information which is confidential and proprietary to the party 



8 
 

that constitute its trade secrets.  The parties shall not use any name, symbol, mark, or other 
proprietary information of the other party except as expressly permitted. 

 
15.3 Medical Records.  The parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of all medical 

records pertaining to the provision of services under this Agreement in accordance with 
applicable federal and state laws and regulations including, but not limited to, the California 
Confidentiality of Medical Records Information Act, codified at section 56.1 of the California 
Civil Code, California Evidence Code sections 1156 and 1157, and the Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing regulations.   
 
 15.4 Medical Staff and Committee Records.  All records, files, proceedings and related 
information of Contractor, KMC and the medical staff and it committees pertaining to the 
evaluation and improvements of the quality of patient care at KMC shall be kept strictly 
confidential by Contractor.  Contractor shall not voluntarily disclose such confidential 
information, either orally or in writing, except as expressly required by law or pursuant to written 
authorization by KMC, which may be given or withheld in the sole discretion of KMC. 
 

15.5 Ownership of Records.  All documents, papers, notes, memoranda, computer files 
and other written or electronic records of any kind (“Documents”), in whatever form or format, 
assembled, prepared or utilized by Contractor during and in connection with this Agreement 
shall remain the property of Authority at all times.  Upon the expiration or termination of this 
Agreement, Contractor shall promptly deliver to Authority all such Documents, which have not 
already been provided to Authority in such form or format as Authority deems appropriate.  Such 
Documents shall be and will remain the property of Authority without restriction or limitation.  
Contractor may retain copies of the above-described Documents but agrees not to disclose or 
discuss any information gathered, discovered, or generated in any way through this Agreement 
without the express written permission of Authority. 
 
 15.6 Non-disparagement.  Each party agrees that it shall not make or cause to be made, 
any written (including, but not limited to, any emails, internet postings, remarks or statements) or 
verbal assertions, statements or other communications regarding the other party’s business or 
each other which may be in any manner whatsoever defamatory, detrimental or unfavorable to 
such other party.  Each party agrees that these non-disparagement covenants shall survive the 
termination of this Agreement. 
 
16. Conflict of Interest.  Contractor covenants that he has no interest and that he will not 
acquire any interest, direct or indirect, that represents a financial conflict of interest under state 
law or that would otherwise conflict in any manner or degree with the performance of his 
services hereunder.  Contractor further covenants that in the performance of this Agreement no 
person having any such interests shall be employed.  It is understood and agreed that if such a 
financial interest does exist at the inception of this Agreement, Authority may immediately 
terminate this Agreement by giving written notice thereof.   
 
17. Consent.  Wherever in this Agreement the consent or approval of one party is required to 
an act of the other party, such consent or approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 
 



9 
 

 
18. Construction.  To the fullest extent allowed by law, the provisions of this Agreement 
shall be construed and given effect in a manner that avoids any violation of statute, ordinance, 
regulation, or law.  The parties covenant and agree that in the event that any provision of this 
Agreement is held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the 
remainder of the provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be 
affected, impaired, or invalidated thereby.  Contractor and Authority acknowledge that they have 
each contributed to the making of this Agreement and that, in the event of a dispute over the 
interpretation of this Agreement, the language of the Agreement will not be construed against 
one party in favor of the other.  Contractor and Authority acknowledge that they have each had 
an adequate opportunity to consult with counsel in the negotiation and preparation of this 
Agreement.  
 
19. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument. 
 
20. Disqualified Persons.   The parties mutually represent and warrant to one another that 
they and their respective representatives are not: (i) currently excluded, debarred, or otherwise 
ineligible to participate in the federal health care programs as defined in 42 U.S.C. section 
1320a-7b-(f) (the “Federal health care programs”) and/or present on the exclusion database of 
the Office of the Inspector General (“OIG”) or the Government Services Administration 
(“GSA”); (ii) convicted of a criminal offense related to the provision of health care items or 
services but have not yet been excluded, debarred, or otherwise declared ineligible to participate 
in the Federal health care programs; or (iii) debarred, suspended, excluded or disqualified by any 
federal governmental agency or department or otherwise declared ineligible from receiving 
federal contracts or federally approved subcontracts or from receiving federal financial and 
nonfinancial assistance and benefits.  This shall be an ongoing representation and warranty 
during the term of this Agreement and a party shall immediately notify the other party of any 
change in the status of any of the representations and/or warranties set forth in this section.  Any 
breach of this section shall give the non-breaching party the right to terminate this Agreement 
immediately upon written notice. 
 
21. Enforcement of Remedies.  No right or remedy herein conferred on or reserved to 
Authority is exclusive of any other right or remedy herein or by law or equity provided or 
permitted, but each shall be cumulative of every other right or remedy given hereunder or now or 
hereafter existing by law or in equity or by statute or otherwise, and may be enforced 
concurrently or from time to time. 
 
22. Immigration Compliance.  Contractor shall comply with all provisions of immigration 
law with respect to hiring, recruiting or referring for employment persons whose authorization 
for employment in the United States has been verified, and shall provide KMC with a copy of 
such verification required in 8 USCA section 1324a.  Contractor agrees to indemnify, defend, 
and hold harmless Authority, its agents, officers, and employees, from any liability, damages, or 
causes of action arising out of Contractor’s failure to comply with this section 22. 
 



10 
 

23. Indemnification and Hold Harmless.  Authority shall assume liability for and 
indemnify and hold Contractor harmless from any and all claims, losses, expenses, costs, actions, 
settlements, attorneys’ fees and judgments incurred by Contractor or for which Contractor 
becomes liable, arising out of or related to professional services rendered or which a third party 
alleges should have been rendered by Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  Authority’s 
obligation under this paragraph shall extend from the Effective Date and shall survive 
termination or expiration of this Agreement to include all claims that allegedly arise out of 
professional services Contractor rendered on behalf of Authority; provided, however, that the 
provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to any services rendered at any location other than 
KMC without approval by the Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors and, 
provided further, that Authority shall have no duty or obligation to defend, indemnify or hold 
Contractor harmless for any conduct or misconduct found to be intentional, willful, grossly 
negligent, or criminal. 
 
24. Independent Contractor.  In the performance of the services under this Agreement, 
Contractor shall be, and acknowledges that Contractor is in fact and law, an independent 
contractor and not an agent or employee of Authority.  Contractor has and retains the right to 
exercise full supervision and control over the manner and methods of providing services to 
Authority under this Agreement.  Contractor retains full supervision and control over the 
employment, direction, compensation and discharge of all persons assisting Contractor in the 
provision of services under this Agreement.  With respect to Contractor’s employees, if any, 
Contractor shall be solely responsible for payment of wages, benefits and other compensation, 
compliance with all occupational safety, welfare and civil rights laws, tax withholding and 
payment of employment taxes whether federal, state or local, and compliance with any and all 
other laws regulating employment. 
 
25. Informal Dispute Resolution.  Controversies between the parties with respect to this 
Agreement, or the rights of either party, or with respect to any transaction contemplated by this 
Agreement, shall be resolved, to the extent possible, by informal meetings and discussions 
among appropriate representatives of the parties. 
 
26. Insurance.  With respect to performance of work under this Agreement, Contractor shall 
maintain and shall require all of its subcontractors, consultants, and other agents to maintain, 
insurance as described in Exhibit “C,” attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. 

 
27. Modifications of Agreement.  This Agreement may be modified in writing only, signed 
by the parties in interest at the time of the modification. 
 
28. No Third Party Beneficiaries.  It is expressly understood and agreed that the 
enforcement of this Agreement and all rights of action relating to such enforcement, shall be 
strictly reserved to Authority and Contractor.  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall give or 
allow any claim or right of action whatsoever by any other third person.  It is the express 
intention of Authority and Contractor that any such person or entity, other than Authority or 
Contractor, receiving services or benefits under this Agreement shall be deemed an incidental 
beneficiary only. 
 



11 
 

29. Non-appropriation.  Authority reserves the right to terminate this Agreement in the 
event insufficient funds are appropriated or budgeted for this Agreement in any fiscal year.  
Upon such termination, Authority will be released from any further financial obligation to 
Contractor, except for services performed prior to the date of termination or any liability due to 
any default existing at the time this clause is exercised.  Contractor will be given 30 days’ prior 
written notice in the event that Authority requires such an action. 
 
30. Non-collusion Covenant.  Contractor represents and agrees that he has in no way entered 
into any contingent fee arrangement with any firm or person concerning the obtaining of this 
Agreement with Authority.  Contractor has received from Authority no incentive or special 
payments, nor considerations, not related to the provision of services under this Agreement. 
 
31. Nondiscrimination.  Neither Contractor, nor any officer, agent, employee, servant or 
subcontractor of Contractor shall discriminate in the treatment or employment of any individual 
or groups of individuals on the grounds of race, color, ancestry, national origin, religion, sex, 
actual or perceived sexual orientation, marital status, age, pregnancy, medical condition, 
handicap or other prohibited basis, either directly, indirectly or through contractual or other 
arrangements. 
 
32. Non-waiver.  No covenant or condition of this Agreement can be waived except by the 
written consent of Authority.  Forbearance or indulgence by Authority in any regard whatsoever 
shall not constitute a waiver of the covenant or condition to be performed by Contractor.  
Authority shall be entitled to invoke any remedy available to Authority under this Agreement or 
by law or in equity despite said forbearance or indulgence. 
 
33. Notices.  Notices to be given by one party to the other under this Agreement shall be 
given in writing by personal delivery, by certified mail, return receipt requested, or express 
delivery service at the addresses specified below.  Notices delivered personally shall be deemed 
received upon receipt; mailed or expressed notices shall be deemed received four (4) days after 
deposit.  A party may change the address to which notice is to be given by giving notice as 
provided above. 
 

Notice to Contractor: Notice to Authority: 
  

Eugene H. Roos, D.O. Kern Medical Center 
31562 Wildwood Road 1700 Mount Vernon Avenue 

Laguna Beach, California 92651 Bakersfield, California 93306 
 Attn.:  Chief Executive Officer 

 
34. Signature Authority.  Each party represents that they have full power and authority to 
enter into and perform this Agreement, and the person(s) signing this Agreement on behalf of 
each party has been properly authorized and empowered to enter into this Agreement. 
 
35. Sole Agreement.  This Agreement, including all attachments hereto, contains the entire 
agreement between the parties relating to the services, rights, obligations and covenants 
contained herein and assumed by the parties respectively.  No inducements, representations or 



12 
 

promises have been made, other than those recited in this Agreement.  No oral promise, 
modification, change or inducement shall be effective or given any force or effect. 
 
36. Termination.   

 
36.1 Termination with Cause.  Either party may terminate this Agreement in the event 

of a material breach by the other; provided, however, the termination for the breach of this 
Agreement will not become effective unless and until the party not in default, has given the other 
party written notice of breach, which notice shall state the general nature of the breach, and the 
party allegedly in default will thereafter have a period of 30 days following the giving of said 
notice in which to remedy the default to the reasonable satisfaction of the other party.  If the 
alleged default is of the kind that cannot be cured within 30 days, then the party allegedly in 
default will have an additional 30 days in which to remedy the breach as long as such party is 
acting in good faith and using diligent efforts to remedy such breach throughout the cure period. 

 
36.2 Termination without Cause.  Either party may terminate this Agreement, without 

cause, upon 30 days’ prior written notice to the other party.   
 
36.3 Immediate Termination.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Authority shall have the 

right to terminate this Agreement effective immediately after giving written notice to Contractor, 
for any of the following reasons: (i) Authority determines that Contractor does not have the 
proper credentials, experience or skill to perform the required services under this Agreement; (ii) 
continuation by Contractor in the providing of services may result in civil, criminal, or monetary 
penalties against Authority or KMC; (iii) the violation of any federal or state law or regulatory 
rule or regulation or condition of accreditation or certification to which Authority or KMC is 
subject; (iv) an unauthorized use or disclosure of confidential or proprietary information by 
Contractor which causes material harm to Authority or KMC; (v) commission of a material act 
involving moral turpitude, fraud, dishonesty, embezzlement, misappropriation or financial 
dishonesty by Contractor against Authority or KMC; (vi) the loss or threatened loss of KMC’s 
ability to participate in any federal or state health care program, including Medicare or Medi-Cal, 
due to the actions of Contractor; or (vii) the failure of Contractor to cure a default within the time 
allowed in paragraph 36.1. 

 
37. Effect of Termination.   
 

37.1 Payment Obligations.  In the event of termination of this Agreement for any 
reason, Authority shall have no further obligation to pay for any services rendered or expenses 
incurred by Contractor after the effective date of the termination, and Contractor shall be entitled 
to receive compensation for services satisfactorily rendered, calculated on a prorated basis up to 
the effective date of termination.   
 
 37.2 Vacate Premises.  Upon expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, 
Contractor shall immediately vacate KMC, removing at such time any and all personal property 
of Contractor.  Authority may remove and store, at Contractor’s expense, any personal property 
that Contractor has not so removed. 
  



13 
 

 37.3 No Interference.  Following the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Agreement, Contractor shall not do anything or cause any person to do anything that might 
interfere with any efforts by Authority to contract with any other individual or entity for the 
provision of services or to interfere in any way with any relationship between Authority and any 
provider that may replace Contractor. 
 
 37.4 No Hearing Rights.  Termination of this Agreement by Authority or KMC for any 
reason shall not provide Contractor the right to a fair hearing or the other rights more particularly 
set forth in the KMC medical staff bylaws. 
 
38. Time of Essence.  Time is hereby expressly declared to be of the essence of this 
Agreement and of each and every provision hereof, and each such provision is hereby made and 
declared to be a material, necessary and essential part of this Agreement. 
 
39. Liability of Authority.  The liabilities or obligations of Authority with respect to its 
activities pursuant to this Agreement shall be the liabilities or obligations solely of Authority and 
shall not be or become the liabilities or obligations of the County of Kern or any other entity, 
including the state of California. 
 

[Signatures follow on next page] 
 



14 
 

IN WITNESS TO THE FOREGOING, the parties have executed this Agreement as of 
the day and year first written above. 
 
CONTRACTOR 
 
 
By_______________________ 
    Eugene H. Roos, D.O. 
     
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY   
 
 
By______________________     
    Chairman 
    Board of Governors 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT: 
KERN MEDICAL CENTER 
 
 
By______________________     
    Russell V. Judd 
    Chief Executive Officer 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
LEGAL SERVICES DEPARTMENT 
 
 
By_______________________ 
    VP & General Counsel 
    Kern County Hospital Authority 
 
 
 
Agreement.Roos.101418 
 

      
 
 
 

  
 
  



15 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES 

Eugene H. Roos, D.O. 
 
Contractor will provide services, as assigned by the Department chair, as follows: 
 

1. Contractor shall provide radiology services on-site at KMC and in accordance with 
generally accepted professional standards.  Contractor will provide professional services 
for all patients who present to KMC for treatment.  
 

2. Contractor shall perform such administrative and teaching duties and responsibilities, as 
mutually agreed upon between Contractor and the Department chair.  
 

3. Contractor shall provide shift coverage Monday through Friday from either 8:00 a.m. to 
5:00 p.m. or 9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., as assigned by the Department chair. 
 

4. Contractor shall provide shift coverage on Saturday and Sunday from 8:00 a.m. until at 
least 5:00 p.m. or the work is completed, as assigned by the Department chair. 
 

5. Contractor shall provide call coverage weekday nights from 6:00 p.m. to 8:00 a.m., and 
Saturday and Sunday, as assigned by the Department chair.  Contractor agrees to carry a 
pager when on call and respond to KMC within 30 minutes of being called.  Contractor 
will cover one weekend in three.  Contractor will cover one in three holidays and no 
fewer than four per year. 
 

6. Contractor shall provide coverage an average of 15 shifts per months. 
 

7. Contractor shall actively participate in assigned hospital and Department committees. 
 

8. Contractor shall be accountable for timely completion of medical records and work to 
improve the quality, accuracy, and completeness of his documentation. 

 
[Intentionally left blank] 

  



16 
 

EXHIBIT “B” 
 

IRS FORM W-9 
 
 

 

  



17 
 

EXHIBIT “C” 
INSURANCE 

 
With respect to performance of work under this Agreement, Contractor shall maintain and shall 
require all of its subcontractors, consultants, and other agents to maintain insurance as described 
below unless such insurance has been expressly waived in writing by Authority.  Any 
requirement for insurance to be maintained after completion of the work shall survive the 
termination or expiration of this Agreement.   
 
Authority reserves the right to review any and all of the required insurance policies and/or 
endorsements, but has no obligation to do so.  Failure to demand evidence of full compliance 
with the insurance requirements set forth in this Agreement or failure to identify any insurance 
deficiency shall not relieve Contractor from, nor be construed or deemed a waiver of, its 
obligation to maintain the required insurance at all times during the performance of this 
Agreement. 
 
 1. Workers’ Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance:  

 
(a) Required if Contractor has employees.  If Contractor currently has no employees, 

Contractor’s written confirmation of such will be required before execution of this 
Agreement.  If Contractor engages any employees during the term of this 
Agreement or any extensions thereof, Contractor agrees to obtain the specified 
Workers’ Compensation and Employers Liability insurance.   

(b) Workers’ Compensation insurance with statutory limits as required by the California 
Labor Code.   

(c) Employers Liability with limits of $1,000,000 per Accident; $1,000,000 Disease per 
employee; $1,000,000 Disease per policy.   

(d) Waiver of Subrogation: The Workers’ Compensation policy shall be endorsed with a 
waiver of subrogation in favor of Authority for all work performed by Contractor, its 
employees, agents and subcontractors. 

(e) Required Evidence of Insurance: Certificate of Insurance. 
 

2. General Liability Insurance: 
 
(a) Commercial General Liability Insurance on a standard occurrence form, no less 

broad than Insurance Services Office (ISO) form CG 00 01. 
(b) Minimum Limits: $1,000,000 per Occurrence; $2,000,000 General Aggregate; 

$2,000,000 Products/Completed Operations Aggregate.  The required limits may be 
provided by a combination of General Liability Insurance and Commercial 
Umbrella Liability Insurance.  If Contractor maintains higher limits than the 
specified minimum limits, Authority requires and shall be entitled to coverage for 
the higher limits maintained by Contractor. 

(c) If Contractor has no Owned automobiles, the General Liability policy shall include 
Non-Owned and Hired Automobile Liability in the amount of $1,000,000 combined 
single limit per accident. 
 



18 
 

(d) Any deductible or self-insured retention shall be shown on the Certificate of 
Insurance.  If the deductible or self-insured retention exceeds $25,000 it must be 
approved in advance by Authority.  Contractor is responsible for any deductible or 
self-insured retention and shall fund it upon Authority’s written request, regardless 
of whether Contractor has a claim against the insurance or is named as a party in 
any action involving Authority. 

(e) Authority shall be named as an additional insured for liability arising out of 
operations by or on behalf of Contractor in the performance of this Agreement.  See 
section 5 below for full Additional Insured wording. 

(f) The insurance provided to Authority as an additional insured shall be primary to 
and non-contributory with any insurance or self-insurance program maintained by 
Authority. 

(g) The policy definition of “insured contract” shall include assumptions of liability 
arising out of both ongoing operations and the products-completed operations 
hazard (broad form contractual liability coverage including the “f” definition of 
insured contract in ISO form CG 00 01, or equivalent).  

(h) The policy shall cover inter-insured suits between Authority and Contractor and 
include a “separation of insureds” or “severability” clause, which treats each 
insured separately.  

(i) Required Evidence of Insurance: (i) Copy of the additional insured endorsement or 
policy language granting additional insured status; and (ii) Certificate of Insurance. 

 
3. Automobile Liability Insurance: 

 
(a) Minimum Limits: $1,000,000 combined single limit per accident for bodily injury 

and property damage. 
(b) Insurance shall apply to all Owned autos.  If Contractor currently owns no autos, 

Contractor agrees to obtain such insurance should any autos be acquired during the 
term of this Agreement or any extensions thereof. 

(c) Insurance shall include coverage for Non-Owned and Hired autos.  (See 
requirements in section 1(c) above if there is no separate Automobile Liability 
coverage.) 

(d) Authority shall be named as an additional insured for liability arising out of 
operations by or on behalf of Contractor in the performance of this Agreement.  See 
section 5 for full Additional Insured wording.  

(e) Required Evidence of Insurance: Certificate of Insurance. 
 

4. Standards for Insurance Companies: Insurers shall have an A.M. Best’s rating of at least 
A;VII. 
 

5. Additional Insured Wording: “Kern County Hospital Authority, its officers, officials, 
employees and volunteers” are to be named as Additional Insureds as per each section 
where noted above.   
 

6. Claims Made Policies: If any of the required policies provide coverage on a claims-made 
basis: 



19 
 

(a) The Retroactive Date must be shown and must be before the Effective Date of the 
Agreement or the beginning of contract work. 

(b) Insurance must be maintained and evidence of insurance must be provided for at 
least five (5) years after completion of the contract work. 

(c) If coverage is canceled or non-renewed, and not replaced with another claims-made 
policy form with a Retroactive Date prior to the contract effective date, Contractor 
must purchase “extended reporting” coverage for a minimum of five (5) years after 
completion of the contract work. 
 

7. Documentation: 
 
(a) The Certificate of Insurance must include the following reference:  “Agreement for 

Professional Services.”  
(b) All required Evidence of Insurance shall be submitted prior to the execution of this 

Agreement.  Contractor agrees to maintain current Evidence of Insurance on file 
with Authority for the entire term of this Agreement and any additional periods if 
specified in sections 1, 2 or 3 above. 

(c) The name and address for the Certificates of Insurance and Additional Insured 
endorsements is: Kern County Hospital Authority, c/o Kern Medical Center, 1700 
Mount Vernon Avenue, Bakersfield, California 93306.                                                                     

(d) Required Evidence of Insurance shall be submitted for any renewal or replacement 
of a policy that already exists, at least 10 days before expiration or other termination 
of the existing policy. 

(e) Contractor shall provide immediate written notice if: (i) any of the required 
insurance policies is terminated; (ii) the limits of any of the required policies are 
reduced; or (iii) the deductible or self-insured retention is increased.   

(f) Upon written request, certified copies of required insurance policies must be 
provided to Authority within 30 days. 
 

8. Policy Obligations: Contractor’s indemnity and other obligations shall not be limited by 
the foregoing insurance requirements. 

 
9. Material Breach: If Contractor fails to maintain the insurance required by this Agreement, 

it shall be deemed a material breach of this Agreement.  Authority, at its sole option, may 
terminate this Agreement and obtain damages from Contractor resulting from said breach.  
Alternatively, Authority may purchase the required insurance, and without further notice 
to Contractor, Authority may deduct from sums due to Contractor any premium costs 
advanced by Authority for such insurance.  These remedies shall be in addition to any 
other remedies available to Authority. 
 

 
[Intentionally left blank] 

 



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject: Proposed Agreement with Voya Institutional Trust Company for services as custodian of the Kern 
County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential  
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Authorize Chairman to sign 
 
Summary: 
 
Newly hired management, mid‐management and confidential (MMC) employees will be eligible to enroll in 
a new deferred compensation retirement plan effective November 24, 2018.  Existing MMC employees will 
continue to participate in the Kern County Employees’ Retirement Association. 
 
The plan will utilize the county’s existing 457(b) deferred compensation plan for employee contributions, 
with a new 401(a) defined contribution plan used as the vehicle to invest employer‐matching contributions.  
Using a dual‐plan system allows for the significantly higher IRS maximum annual contribution of $55,000 as 
opposed to $18,500 if all contributions were invested in the 457(b) plan alone.  Employees are eligible to 
participate beginning with the start of the pay period following date of hire.  There is a five‐year vesting 
schedule for employer contributions in the 401(a).  Investment options in the 401(a) will closely mirror 
those currently available through the 457(b) plan.  Kern Medical will match 100% of employee 
contributions for the first 6% deferred, then 50% of the employee contributions for the next 6%, for a total 
potential employer contribution of 9% for employees who defer 12%. 
 
The Authority has selected Voya Institutional Trust Company (Voya) to act as custodian of assets held in 
trust for the benefit of participants in the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for 
Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential for the 401(a) plan.    
 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve the Agreement with Voya to act as custodian of 
assets held in trust for the benefit of participants in the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined 
Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential and authorize the Chairman to sign.  
 
 



401(a) \non-ERISA CUSTODY AGREEMENT_9-8-2016     

 
IRC SECTION 401(a) CUSTODY AGREEMENT - NON-ERISA PLAN 

 
 THIS CUSTODY AGREEMENT (the “Agreement”), effective as of the 14th day of November, 2018 
between the Kern County Hospital Authority, a local unit of government (the “Employer”), in its capacity as 
employer and as the party authorized and responsible under state or local law for maintaining the Kern County 
Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees (the 
“Plan”), and Voya Institutional Trust Company (the “Custodian”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Employer has adopted and maintains the Plan in accordance with the requirements of  
state law and Section 401(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (“Code”), for the benefit of the 
employees therein described; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Employer has established or desires to establish a trust (“Trust”)  constituting a part of the 
Plan, pursuant to which assets are held to provide for the funding of and payment of benefits under the Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Employer has the power and authority to manage and control the assets of the Plan; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Employer has engaged an affiliate of the Custodian to provide recordkeeping services to 
the Plan (“Recordkeeping Affiliate”); and  
  
 WHEREAS, the Employer wishes to appoint the Custodian as custodian of the Plan in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, the Employer and the Custodian, each intending to be legally bound, agree as 
follows: 
 

SECTION 1 - ESTABLISHMENT AND OPERATION OF TRUST 
 

1.1  Appointment and Acceptance of Custodian/Affiliates.  The Employer has established a Trust 
consisting of such sums of money and such other property acceptable to the Plan Custodian, as shall from time to 
time be paid or delivered to the Custodian, and hereby appoints the Custodian as a custodian with respect to the 
assets held pursuant to this Agreement, as such assets shall exist from time to time (the “Fund”). The Fund shall not 
include any property or asset other than the assets delivered to and accepted by the Custodian from time to time.  
The Custodian shall have no responsibility for any property until it is received and accepted by the Custodian, or for 
any property of the Plan not delivered to the Custodian and accepted by the Custodian to be a part of the Fund. The 
Custodian hereby accepts its appointment, acknowledges that it assumes the duties established by this Agreement, 
and agrees to be bound by the terms contained herein.  The Employer hereby acknowledges that an affiliate of the 
Custodian, the Recordkeeping Affiliate, acts on behalf of the Custodian as the Custodian’s agent for purposes of 
carrying out the Custodian’s responsibilities under this Agreement. 
 

1.2 Custodian Responsibilities.  The Custodian shall receive and hold the assets of the Fund on behalf 
of Plan participants and beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  The duties of the Custodian 
hereunder as Custodian shall be to act solely in accordance with the instructions of the Employer or Authorized 
Parties in accordance with Sections 2.2 and 2.3 of this Agreement (“Authorized Instructions”).  Nothing in this 
Agreement is intended to give the Custodian any discretionary responsibility, authority or control with respect to the 
management or administration of the Plan or the management of the assets of the Plan.  Further, the Custodian is not 
a party to the Plan and has no duties or responsibilities other than those that may be expressly contained in this 
Agreement.  In any case in which a provision of this Agreement conflicts with any provision in the Plan, this 
Agreement shall control. 
 

1.3 Exclusive Benefit.  Except as may be permitted by law, by the terms of the Plan, or by this 
Agreement, at no time prior to the satisfaction of all liabilities with respect to participants and their beneficiaries 
under the Plan shall any part of the Fund be used for or diverted to any purpose other than for the exclusive benefit 



2 

of the participants and their beneficiaries.  The assets of the Fund shall be held for the exclusive purposes of 
providing benefits to participants of the Plan and their beneficiaries and defraying the reasonable expenses of 
administering the Plan and the Fund. 
 

1.4 Limitation of Liability.  Neither the Custodian nor its agents shall be liable for any acts or 
omissions of another person other than the negligent acts or omissions of its own employees and agents.  The 
Custodian shall not be responsible for the title, validity or genuineness of any property or evidence of title thereto 
received by it or delivered by it pursuant to this Agreement and shall be held harmless in acting upon any notice, 
request, direction, instruction, consent, certification or other instrument believed by it to be genuine and delivered by 
the proper party or parties. 
 

1.5 Contributions.  The Custodian shall receive contributions or other amounts for deposit to the Plan 
that are delivered to the Custodian or its designated agent for deposit to or for the benefit of the Plan.  The Employer 
shall have sole duty and responsibility for the determination of the accuracy or sufficiency of the contributions to be 
made under the Plan and for the transmittal of contributions or other amounts to the Plan.  The Custodian shall have 
no duty or responsibility (a) to determine the amounts to be contributed to or transferred to the Plan, (b) to determine 
the amounts to be contributed to or transferred on behalf of the participants of the Plan, (c) to collect any 
contributions or transfers to the Plan or to enforce the collection of any such contributions or transfers, or (d) for the 
adequacy of amounts deposited to the Fund to meet and discharge any of the Plan’s liabilities. 
  

1.6 Return of Contributions.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement (a) contributions 
made by the Employer based upon mistake of fact may be returned to the Employer within one (1) year of such 
contribution, and (b) as all contributions to the Plan are conditioned upon their deductibility under the Code, if a 
deduction for such a contribution is disallowed, such contribution may be returned to the Employer within one (1) 
year of the disallowance of such deduction; provided that the return of contributions under this Section 1.6 may not 
violate any provision of the Plan.  The Custodian shall return contributions under this Section 1.6 only in accordance 
with Authorized Instructions and the Custodian shall have no duty to determine whether the return of such 
contributions is permitted under this Section 1.6 and the Plan. 
 

1.7 Distributions.  The Custodian shall make distributions and disbursements from the Fund solely in 
accordance with Authorized Instructions.  The Employer agrees that the Custodian shall not have any responsibility 
or duty under this Agreement to see to the proper application of any payment, to determine the tax effect of any 
payment, or to determine whether a distribution or disbursement to any person paid in accordance with Authorized 
Instructions is appropriate under the terms of the Plan and applicable law.   
 

1.8 Compliance with Law.  The Trust is intended to be tax-exempt under Section 501(a) of the Code.  
If the Plan is not an approved prototype plan, the Employer represents that it has received a determination letter 
from the Internal Revenue Service indicating that the Plan meets the requirements of Section 401(a) of the Code.  
The Employer agrees to immediately notify the Custodian if the Plan ceases to be so qualified. 
 

SECTION 2 - AUTHORITIES 
 

2.1 Authority to Execute Agreement.  The Employer hereby certifies that it has the power and 
authority to enter into this Agreement on behalf of the Plan.  The person(s) signing below as representatives of the 
Employer each warrant, as individuals, that each is an authorized representative of the Employer, all signatures are 
genuine, and the persons indicated are authorized to sign. 
 

2.2 Authorized Parties.  The Employer shall, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, 
furnish the Custodian or Recordkeeping Affiliate with a written list of the names, signatures, and extent of authority 
of all persons authorized to direct the Custodian and otherwise act on behalf of the Plan under the terms of this 
Agreement. Such persons designated by the Employer to act on its behalf hereunder are “Authorized Parties”.  The 
Custodian shall be entitled to rely on and shall be fully protected in acting upon directions, instructions, and any 
information provided by an Authorized Party until notified in writing by the Employer of a change of the identity or 
extent of authority of an Authorized Party. 
 



3 

2.3 Authorized Instructions.  All directions and instructions to the Custodian from an Authorized 
Party (“Authorized Instructions”) shall be in writing, transmitted by mail (including electronic mail) or by facsimile.  
The Custodian shall be entitled to rely on and shall be fully protected in acting in accordance with all such directions 
and instructions that it reasonably believes to have been given by an Authorized Party and in failing to act in the 
absence thereof. 
 

SECTION 3 - POWERS AND DUTIES 
 

3.1 General Powers and Duties of Custodian.  In administering the Fund, the Custodian shall be 
specifically authorized to: 
 

(a) In accordance with Authorized Instructions, receive, hold and maintain custody of, and disburse 
assets of the Fund;   
 

(b) Hold securities or other assets in book entry form or through another agent or nominee, including 
without limitation, in an omnibus account arrangement, provided that the Custodian’s records indicate that such 
securities or other property are held for the exclusive benefit of the Plan and its participants and beneficiaries; 
 

(c) Make distributions and disbursements from the Fund and carry out related tax withholding 
remittance and reporting obligations under Federal, state and local law;  
 

(d) Appoint domestic agents, sub-custodians or depositories (including affiliates of the Custodian) as 
to part or all of the Fund, except that the indicia of ownership of any asset of the Fund shall not be held outside the 
jurisdiction of the District Courts of the United States; 
 

(e) Collect income payable to and dividends or other distributions due to the Fund and sign on behalf 
of the Plan any declarations, affidavits, and certificates of ownership required to collect income and principal 
payments; 
 

(f) Collect proceeds from assets of the Fund that may mature or be called; 
 

(g) Until Authorized Instructions are received, hold the assets of the Fund uninvested, or invest the 
assets of the Fund in bank accounts of any bank, and the Custodian may retain any earnings on such deposits as part 
of its compensation for services hereunder as described in the agreement with Voya Retirement Insurance and 
Annuity Company; 
  

(h) Submit or cause to be submitted to the Employer all information received by the Custodian 
regarding ownership rights pertaining to property held in the Fund; 

 
(i) To the extent not delegated by the Employer to an investment manager pursuant to the provisions 

of Section 403(a)(2) of ERISA, exercise all voting rights relating to securities held in the Account as directed by the 
Employer; provided that, with respect to securities allocated to the accounts of Participants, if directed by the 
Employer in writing, the Custodian or its Recordkeeping Affiliate shall provide to the designated proxy tabulator the 
data necessary to cause to be provided to each Participant who has shares of such securities credited to his or her 
account a copy of the notice and all proxy solicitation materials together with a voting instruction form for return to 
the proxy tabulator, and the Custodian shall vote the shares as directed by each Participant and shall not vote shares 
for which it has not received instructions from a Participant.  Unless the Employer instructs the Custodian to vote 
shares not voted by Participants, the Custodian shall not be liable and shall be held harmless for not voting such 
shares;  

 
(j) Commence or defend suits or legal proceedings and represent the Fund in all suits or legal 

proceedings in any court or before any other body or tribunal as the Custodian shall deem necessary to protect the 
Fund; provided, however, that the Custodian shall not be obligated to do so unless it has been indemnified by the 
Employer and the Plan against all expenses and liabilities sustained in connection with such action; 
 



4 

(k)  Employ suitable agents and legal counsel and, as part of its reimbursable expenses under this 
Agreement, pay their reasonable compensation and expenses.  The Custodian shall be entitled to rely on and may act 
upon advice of counsel on all matters, and, if the use of such counsel is authorized by the Employer, the Custodian 
shall be without liability for any action reasonably taken or omitted pursuant to such advice; 
 

(l)  Make, execute and deliver any and all documents, agreements or other instruments in writing as is 
necessary or desirable for the accomplishment of any of the powers and duties in this Agreement;  
 

(m)  Retain and engage one or more affiliates of the Custodian to perform, at no additional cost to the 
Plan, the duties and responsibilities of the Custodian; and 
 

(n) Generally take any action, whether or not expressly authorized, which the Custodian may deem 
necessary or desirable for the fulfillment of its duties hereunder. 
 

SECTION 4 - INVESTMENT OF THE FUND 
 

4.1  Investment of the Fund.  The assets of the Fund shall be invested and reinvested among the 
investments selected by the Employer.  The Employer or its authorized representative shall have sole responsibility 
for the investment and reinvestment of the assets of the Fund, except to the extent that the Plan permits participants 
to instruct the Employer or its authorized representative with respect to the investment of their individual accounts 
among investment options selected by the Employer.  The Custodian shall have no duty or responsibility for (i) 
selecting or providing advice with respect to the selection of any investment options offered under the Plan, (ii) 
determining or reviewing any securities or other property purchased for or held by the Plan, or (iii) providing advice 
with respect to the purchase, retention, redemption, or sale of any securities or other property for the Plan. 

 
SECTION 5 - REPORTING AND RECORDKEEPING 

 
5.1  Records and Reports.  The Custodian shall keep accurate records of all amounts received to and 

disbursed from the Fund and the investments and other transactions of the Fund for a period of six years following 
the date of such transaction.  The Custodian shall provide a report of the assets of the Fund to the Employer from 
time to time, but at least annually.  The Custodian may rely on the fair market value of the property of the Fund as 
reported to by authorized parties and the Custodian shall be fully protected in relying on such values. 
 

5.2 Review of Reports.   If, within ninety (90) days after the Custodian mails to the Employer a 
statement with respect to the Fund, the Employer has not given the Custodian written notice of any exception or 
objection thereto, the statement shall be deemed to have been approved by the Employer and the Custodian shall not 
be liable for any matters in such statements.  The Employer or its agent, upon giving prior written notice to 
Custodian, shall have the right at its own expense to inspect the Custodian’s books and records directly relating to 
the Fund during normal business hours.  The Custodian shall be reimbursed its actual costs for making such books 
and records available for inspection. 
 

5.3 Non-Fund Assets.  The duties of the Custodian shall be limited to the assets held in the Fund, and 
the Custodian shall have no duties with respect to assets held by any other person including, without limitation, any 
other custodian for the Plan.  The Employer hereby agrees that the Custodian shall not serve as, and shall not be 
deemed to be, a co-trustee under the circumstances, and shall have no co-fiduciary liability for any other person or 
trustee. 
 

SECTION 6 - COMPENSATION, EXPENSES, TAXES, INDEMNIFICATION 
 

6.1 Compensation and Expenses.   
 

(a) Compensation.  The Custodian shall be entitled to compensation for services under this 
Agreement as described in the plan services agreement between the Recordkeeping Affiliate and the Employer and 
as otherwise provided for in this Agreement.  The Employer acknowledges that the Custodian may increase the 
amount of compensation on an annual basis with sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to the Custodian. 
 



5 

(b)  Interest on Uninvested Cash.  The Custodian shall also be entitled to receive as part of its 
compensation any amounts earned under Section 3.1(f) related to earnings on deposits.   Such earnings shall include 
earnings on uninvested cash related to Plan contributions and earnings on uninvested cash pending distribution, or 
earnings on cash otherwise held uninvested as directed by the Employer. 
 

(c) Authorization.  The Custodian shall also be authorized to charge and collect expenses incurred by 
it in the discharge of its duties under this Agreement in accordance with Section 3.1 The Custodian is authorized to 
charge and collect from the Fund any and all such fees and expenses, unless the Employer objects within thirty (30) 
days of receiving notice of the Custodian’s intent to collect its fees and expenses from the Fund.  
 

6.2  Tax Obligations.  To the extent an Authorized Party has provided necessary information to the 
Custodian, the Custodian may use reasonable efforts to assist such Authorized Party to notify the Employer or the 
Plan (as appropriate) of any responsibility for payment of taxes, withholding, certification and reporting 
requirements, claims for exemptions or refund, interest, penalties and other related expenses of the Fund (“Tax 
Obligations”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Custodian shall have no responsibility or liability for any Tax 
Obligations now or hereafter imposed on the Employer or the Fund by any taxing authorities, domestic or foreign, 
except as provided by applicable law.  To the extent the Custodian is responsible under any applicable law for 
payment of any Tax Obligation on behalf of the Fund or the Trust, the Employer shall cause the appropriate 
Authorized Party to inform the Custodian of all Tax Obligations, shall direct the Custodian with respect to the 
performance of such Tax Obligations, and shall provide the Custodian with all information required by the 
Custodian to meet such Tax Obligations.  
 

6.3  Indemnification.  The Employer and the Plan, shall indemnify and hold harmless the Custodian 
from all claims, liabilities, losses, damages and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees and expenses 
(including Tax Obligations) incurred by the Custodian in connection with this Agreement, except as a result of the 
Custodian's own negligence or willful misconduct.   
 

6.4 Force Majeure.  The Custodian shall not be responsible or liable for any losses to the Fund 
resulting from nationalization, expropriation, devaluation, seizure, or similar action by any governmental authority, 
de facto or de jure; or enactment, promulgation, imposition or enforcement by any such governmental authority of 
currency restrictions, exchange controls, levies or other charges affecting the Fund’s property; or acts of war, 
terrorism, insurrection or revolution; or acts of God; or any other similar event beyond the control of the Custodian 
or its agents.   
 

6.5 Survival.   This Section 6 shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 
 

SECTION 7 - AMENDMENT, TERMINATION, RESIGNATION, REMOVAL 
 

7.1  Amendment.  The Custodian may amend this Agreement as necessary to comply with the 
provisions of applicable law and regulations.  The Custodian shall deliver written notice of any such amendment and 
a copy of such amendment to the Employer. Other amendments may be made by written agreement signed by the 
parties hereto. 
 

7.2 Removal or Resignation of Custodian.  The Custodian may be removed with respect to all or part 
of the Fund upon receipt of sixty (60) days’ written notice from the Employer.  The Custodian may resign as 
Custodian hereunder upon sixty (60) days’ written notice delivered to the Employer.  In the event of such removal or 
resignation, the successor custodian will be appointed by the Employer, and the retiring Custodian shall transfer the 
Fund, less such amounts as may be reasonable and necessary to cover its compensation and direct expenses 
including but not limited to, a pro-rata share of the fees described in Section 6.1.  In the event the Employer fails to 
appoint a successor custodian within sixty (60) days of receipt of written notice of resignation, the Custodian 
reserves the right to seek the appointment of a successor custodian from a court of competent jurisdiction.  The 
Employer shall indemnify the Custodian from any costs incurred by the Custodian in seeking such appointment.  
The Custodian shall have no duties, responsibilities or liability with respect to the acts or omissions of any successor 
custodian. 
 



6 

7.3 Merger or Consolidation of Custodian.  Any entity into which the Custodian may be merged or 
with which it may be consolidated, or any entity resulting from any merger or consolidation to which the Custodian 
is a party, or any entity succeeding to the trust business of the Custodian, shall become the successor of the 
Custodian hereunder, without the execution or filing of any instrument or the performance of any further act on the 
part of the parties hereto. 
 

7.4 Plan Termination.  Upon termination of the Plan, the Custodian shall distribute all assets then 
constituting the Fund, less any fees and expenses payable from the Fund, pursuant to the instructions of the 
Employer.  The Custodian shall be entitled to assume that such distributions are in full compliance with and not in 
violation of the terms of the Plan or any applicable law. 
 

7.5 Property Not Transferred.  The Custodian reserves the right to retain such property as is not 
suitable for distribution or transfer at the time of the termination of the Plan or this Agreement and shall hold such 
property for the benefit of those persons or other entities entitled to such property until such time as the Custodian is 
able to make distribution.  The Employer shall indemnify the Custodian from any costs incurred by the Custodian 
for retaining the property until it can be distributed.  Upon the appointment and acceptance of a successor custodian, 
the Custodian's sole duties shall be those of a custodian with respect to the property not transferred. 

 
SECTION 8 - ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS 

 
8.1 Assignment or Alienation.  Except as may be provided by law, the Fund shall not be subject to any 

form of attachment, garnishment, sequestration or other actions of collection afforded creditors of the Employer, 
participants or beneficiaries under the Plan.  The Custodian shall not recognize any assignment or alienation of 
benefits unless an Authorized Instruction is received. 
 

8.2 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the laws 
of the State of California. 
 

8.3 Necessary Parties.  Each party reserves the right to seek a judicial or administrative determination 
as to its proper course of action under this Agreement.  Nothing contained herein will be construed or interpreted to 
deny the Custodian or the Employer the right to have the Custodian’s account judicially determined.  To the extent 
permitted by law, only the Custodian and the Employer shall be necessary parties in any application to the courts for 
an interpretation of this Agreement or for an accounting by the Custodian, and no participant under the Plan or other 
person having an interest in the Fund shall be entitled to any notice or service of process.  Any final judgment 
entered in such an action or proceeding shall, to the extent permitted by law, be conclusive upon all persons. 
 

8.4 Notices.  All notices and other communications hereunder shall be in writing and shall be 
sufficient if delivered by hand or if sent by telefax or mail (including electronic mail), postage prepaid, addressed: 
 

(a) If to the Custodian: 
  

Melissa McAuliffe 
Vice President 
Voya Retirement Operations 
One Orange Way, C3N 
Windsor, Connecticut 06095-4774 

  
J. Denise Jackson 
President 
Voya Institutional Trust Company  
One Orange Way, C4R 

              Windsor, Connecticut 06095-4774 
 

 
 
 



7 

(b)   If to the Employer: 
 

Kern County Hospital Authority 
c/o Kern Medical Center 
1700 Mount Vernon Avenue 
Bakersfield, California 93306 
Attn: Lori Ambrose 
 
 
Kern County Hospital Authority 
c/o Kern Medical Center 
1700 Mount Vernon Avenue 
Bakersfield, California 93306 

 Attn: Lisa Hockersmith 
 
The parties may by like notice, designate any future or different address to which subsequent notices shall be sent.  
Any notice shall be deemed given when received. 
 

8.5 No Third Party Beneficiaries.  The provisions of this Agreement are intended to benefit only the 
parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns, and participants and their beneficiaries under the Plan.  There 
are no other third party beneficiaries. 
 

8.6 Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, and said counterparts shall constitute but one and the same instrument and 
may be sufficiently evidenced by one counterpart. 

 
8.7   Shareholder Communication.  Until such time as the Custodian receives a written notice to the 

contrary with respect to a particular security, the Custodian may release the identity and the address of the Trust to 
the security issuer which requests such information pursuant to the Shareholder Communications Act of 1985 for the 
specific purpose of the direct communication between such security issuer and shareholder. 

 
 8.8 Liability of Authority.  The liabilities or obligations of the Employer with respect to its activities 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be the liabilities or obligations solely of the Employer and shall not be or become 
the liabilities or obligations of the County of Kern or any other entity, including the state of California. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the effective date set forth 
above. 
 
 
Kern County Hospital Authority Voya Institutional Trust Company  
 
By:  ___________________________ By:  _____________________________ 
 
Name: Russell E. Bigler Name:  Andrew Levesque 
 
Title: Chairman, Board of Governors Title: ____________________________  
 

           Andrew F. Levesque

Vice President



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject: Proposed Application for Group Annuity Contract with Voya Retirement Insurance and 
Annuity Company, and Agreement with Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company and Voya 
Financial Partners, LLC, for administrative services related to the Kern County Hospital Authority 
Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential Employees  
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Authorize Chairman to sign 
 
Summary: 
 
The Authority requests that your Board approve the application for a group annuity contract with Voya 
Retirement Insurance Annuity Company and an agreement for administrative services with Voya Retirement 
Insurance Annuity Company and Voya Financial Partners, LLC as the vendors to provide administrative services 
related to Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and 
Confidential.    
 
Newly hired management, mid‐management and confidential employees will be eligible to enroll in a deferred 
compensation retirement plan (as opposed to participation in the Kern County Employees’ Retirement 
Association).  The Authority will utilize the County’s existing 457(b) deferred compensation plan for employee 
contributions, with a new 401(a) deferred compensation plan through Voya, as the investment vehicle for 
employer‐matching contributions.  
 
The application allows the Authority to apply for and select annuity products to fund the tax‐deferred 
arrangement under Internal Revenue Code Section 401(a).  The Administrative Services Agreement will facilitate 
the administration of the plan by providing services that shall include without limitation, accounting for deferrals 
or contributions, disbursement of funds, withholding of taxes, investment education, retirement counseling, 
investment of assets in the appropriate plan investment options, and proper recordkeeping of participant 
accounts. 

 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve the application for a group annuity contract with Voya 
Retirement Insurance Annuity Company, the agreement for administrative services with Voya Retirement 
Insurance Annuity Company and Voya Financial Partners, LLC as the vendors to provide administrative services 
related to Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and 
Confidential, and authorize the Chairman to sign. 
 



Page 1 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

PLAN SPONSOR SUBMISSION INFORMATION  
RetireFlex-MF for Governmental 457(b) and Non-ERISA 401 Plans 

A Mutual Fund and Group Fixed Annuity retirement plan product 
Please mail or Fax to:  
Voya Financial®, Attn: Carol Keen, One Orange Way, A3-S, Windsor, CT 06095-4774 Fax: (515) 698-3036  

In this form, Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company (VRIAC), Voya Financial Partners, LLC and Voya Financial Advisors, Inc. may be referred to as Voya®. The term contract 
refers to a group annuity contract, a custodial or trust agreement and an administrative services agreement. A Master Application, custodial or trust agreement must be submitted along 
with this completed Plan Sponsor Submission Information Form.   

Good order is receipt at the designated location of this form accurately and entirely completed, and includes all necessary signatures. If this form and any additional 
required documentation are not received in good order, as we determine, it may be returned to you for correction which may result in delays in the installation of your 
Plan.   

PLAN SPONSOR INFORMATION  
Employer Name 

Address PO Box (if applicable) 

City/Town State (JOI) ZIP 

Primary Employer 
Contact Name 

Phone E-mail 

Payroll Contact 
Name 

Phone E-mail 

Tax I.D. Number Fiscal Year End (ex. 6/30) 

PLAN INFORMATION – Check all applicable plan types and complete requested information 

457(b) Governmental Plan Specific Information  Available  Not Available 
Full Legal Plan Name 

Abbreviated Plan Name (Statements allow for 25 Characters.  Please provide your preferred abbreviated plan name.) Is plan subject to Title I of ERISA? 

 Yes      No 

Original Plan Effective Date 
(ex:  mm/dd/yyyy)  

Plan Year End  
(ex: 12/31) 

Please list current plan providers with plan assets Will all current plan assets be transferring to Voya? 
 Yes      No 

401(a) Plan Specific Information  Available  Not Available 
Full Legal Plan Name 

Abbreviated Plan Name (Statements allow for 25 Characters.  Please provide your preferred abbreviated plan name.) Is plan subject to Title I of ERISA? 

 Yes      No 
Original Plan Effective Date 
(ex:  mm/dd/yyyy) 

Plan Year End  
(ex: 12/31) 

Please list current plan providers with plan assets Will all current plan assets be transferring to Voya? 
 Yes      No 

401(k) Plan* Specific Information  Available  Not Available 
Full Legal Plan Name 

Abbreviated Plan Name (Statements allow for 25 Characters.  Please provide your preferred abbreviated plan name.) Is plan subject to Title I of ERISA? 

 Yes      No 

Original Plan Effective Date 
(ex:  mm/dd/yyyy) 

Plan Year End  
(ex: 12/31) 

Please list current plan providers with plan assets Will all current plan assets be transferring to Voya? 
 Yes      No 

* If the Plan Sponsor is a governmental or municipal employer, the employer understands and acknowledges that the 401(k) plan must have been in
existence on May 6, 1986. 

=====++==



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 2 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

Money Sources 457(b) 401(a) 401(k) Check box if 
Source Closed to 

Employee Pre-Tax  457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
414(h) Pickup Contribution  457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
ER  Matching1 - see notation  457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
ER Discretionary1 - see notation 457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
ER Non-Discretionary1 - see notation 457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
Transfer Account  457(b)  401(a)   401(k)  Closed 
Rollover  457(b) RO 

 Non-457(b) RO 
 401(a)   401(k) N/A 

Roth   457(b) N/A  401(k)   Closed 
Roth Rollover  457(b) Roth RO 

 Non-457 Roth RO 
N/A  401(k)  N/A 

Employee Post-Tax (not Roth) N/A  401(a)  401(k)   Closed 
In Plan Roth Rollover  (distributable)  457(b) In Plan  

      Roth RO 
 Non-457(b) In Plan 

      Roth RO 

N/A  401(k)  N/A 

MISCELLANEOUS CONTRIBUTION PROVISIONS and SERVICES  
Catch-up Provisions 457(b) 401(a) 401(k)
Are Age 50 Plus Catch-up Contributions Permitted  Yes  No N/A  Yes  No 

Are Special 457 Catch Up Contributions Permitted  Yes  No N/A N/A

Will ER Match Catch-up Contributions  Yes  No N/A  Yes  No 

Non Routine Contributions 457(b) 401(a) 401(k)
Are Plan-to-Plan Transfers into the Plan Permitted  Yes  No  Yes  No  Yes  No 

Contribution Rate Changes 
Voya will maintain participant contribution rate elections under the Plan (if employee pre-tax and/or Roth contributions are allowed) unless the 
Employer opts out.   

 Employer elects not to use Voya’s contribution rate change service 

If the Voya contribution rate change service is elected identify the type of election permitted (check all that applies): 
 Percentage-based elections.  The minimum will be 0%.  The maximum will be as permitted by law. 
 Dollar-based elections.  The minimum will be $0.  The maximum will be as permitted by law. 

If the Voya contribution rate change service is elected and hardship or unforeseeable emergency withdrawals are permitted under the Plan, 
complete the following: 

457(b) 401(a) 401(k)
Are contributions to be suspended following such a withdrawal?  
If applicable, the contribution suspension period will be 6 months.  
Contribution rate will not be reinstated at end of suspension 
period. 

 Yes  No N/A  Yes  No 

ENROLLMENT PROVISIONS AND SERVICES 
It will be assumed that the Plan requires the participant to voluntarily enroll into the Plan unless the Employer indicates otherwise: 

Default Enrollment process is allowed in              457(b) plan   401(a) plan   401(k) plan 
If a default enrollment process is allowed, a default investment option must be identified by the Plan Sponsor within the Investment Selection Section 
included with this form.   

Will Independent Contractors be allowed to participate in the Plan (applicable to 457(b) plans only)  Yes  No   N/A 

1 Do not check if Employer Contributions are co‐mingled and remitted as Employee Pre‐Tax contributions



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 3 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

VESTING 

457(b) Governmental Vesting Information ER  Match (pick one)   ER Discretionary (pick one) ER Non-Discretionary  
(pick one) 

N/A – No Employer Contributions 
Full and Immediate  
Cliff    3-year     2-year     1-year 
4-year graded: 25% per year 
5-year graded: After 1 year of service 20% per year 
6-year graded: 20% after 2 years of service; plus  
20% per year after 

N/A 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 

N/A 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 

N/A 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 

Vesting Computation Period (pick one) 
 Elapsed Time Method   General Method (1000 hours equals one year of service)                

Accelerated Vesting: Participant will become 100% vested (check all that apply) 
At Normal Retirement Age – age _____    Upon Participant Disability    Upon Participant Death   At Early Retirement Age – age _____ 

(insert age)                                   (insert age) 
Forfeiture Release Provision 

 Immediate Release (upon distribution)   5 year break-in-service with full termination distribution 

401(a) Vesting Information ER  Match (pick one)   ER Discretionary (pick one) ER Non-Discretionary  
(pick one) 

N/A – No Employer Contributions 
Full and Immediate  
Cliff    3-year     2-year     1-year 
4-year graded: 25% per year 
5-year graded: After 1 year of service 20% per year 
6-year graded: 20% after 2 years of service; plus  
20% per year after 

N/A 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 

N/A 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 

N/A 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 

Vesting Computation Period (pick one) 
 Elapsed Time Method   General Method (1000 hours equals one year of service)                

Accelerated Vesting: Participant will become 100% vested (check all that apply) 
At Normal Retirement Age – age _____    Upon Participant Disability    Upon Participant Death   At Early Retirement Age – age _____ 

(insert age)                                     (insert age) 
Forfeiture Release Provision 

 Immediate Release (upon distribution)   5 year break-in-service with full termination distribution 

401(k) Vesting Information ER  Match (pick one)   ER Discretionary (pick one) ER Non-Discretionary  
(pick one) 

N/A – No Employer Contributions 
Full and Immediate  
Cliff    3-year     2-year     1-year 
4-year graded: 25% per year 
5-year graded: After 1 year of service 20% per year 
6-year graded: 20% after 2 years of service; plus  
20% per year after 

N/A 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 
 ER Match 

N/A 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 
 ER Discretionary 

N/A 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 
 ER Non-Discretionary 

Vesting Computation Period (pick one) 
 Elapsed Time Method   General Method (1000 hours equals one year of service)                

Accelerated Vesting: Participant will become 100% vested (check all that apply) 
At Normal Retirement Age – age _____    Upon Participant Disability    Upon Participant Death   At Early Retirement Age – age _____ 

(insert age) (insert age) 
Forfeiture Release Provision 

 Immediate Release (upon distribution)   5 year break-in-service with full termination distribution 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 4 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

DISTRIBUTIONS/WITHDRAWALS - Governmental 457(b) Plans 
In-Service Withdrawal Options - The following in-service withdrawal options will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by 
checking the applicable box. The Plan Sponsor will be required to approve all allowed in-service distribution options available under the Plan; such 
approval will be evidenced by the signature of an authorized Plan Sponsor representative on the applicable withdrawal request form provided by 
VRIAC.  There shall be no restrictions on the frequency in which a distribution/withdrawal may be requested.   

 Unforeseeable Emergency  Not Allowed 
 Withdrawal of Rollover Contribution Source(s)  Not Allowed 
 457(b) Deminimus  Not Allowed 
 Withdrawal and Transfer of Governmental Defined Benefit Service Credit  Not Allowed 

The following in-service withdrawal options will not be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts in by checking applicable box.  
 Age-based Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________ 
 Normal Retirement Age Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________ 
 Withdrawal and Transfer for Health Insurance and Long Term Care  Allowed 

Separation from Service Distribution Options – In addition to direct rollovers, the following distribution options after a participant has separated 
from service will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by checking the applicable box. 

 Full Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Partial Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Installment payments  Not Allowed 
 Annuity payments  Not Allowed 
 Plan to Plan Transfers to another plan of the same plan type  Not Allowed 
 Combination or split payment elections  Not Allowed 

VRIAC will provide ongoing review and processing of participant-initiated benefit payment requests (including annuity payments, if permitted, and 
death benefits) due to participant’s separation from service or death, on behalf of the Plan Sponsor.  In the case of death benefits, in those 
individual circumstances where VRIAC does not have a beneficiary designation from the participant on file, VRIAC will seek written direction from 
the Plan Sponsor as to who to make payment to pursuant to the Plan.  The Plan Sponsor is responsible for providing VRIAC with any and all 
participant termination data in the mutually agreed upon electronic format, within a reasonable time period following the participant’s separation 
from service or death.  VRIAC will not make the applicable benefit payment request transaction and/or paperwork available to the participant until 
the termination data is received from the Plan Sponsor.   
Spousal Consent Requirements - Does the Plan require a participant’s spouse to provide spousal consent of participant’s withdrawal or 
distribution election?    Yes     No 

DISTRIBUTIONS/WITHDRAWALS – 401(a) Plans 
In-Service Withdrawal Options - The following in-service withdrawal options will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by 
checking the applicable box. The Plan Sponsor will be required to approve all allowed in-service distribution options available under the Plan; such 
approval will be evidenced by the signature of an authorized Plan Sponsor representative on the applicable withdrawal request form provided by 
VRIAC.  There shall be no restrictions on the frequency in which a distribution/withdrawal may be requested.   

 Withdrawal of Rollover Contribution Source(s)  Not Allowed 
 Withdrawal and Transfer of Governmental Defined Benefit Service Credit  Not Allowed 

The following in-service withdrawal options will not be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts in by checking applicable box.  
 Age-based Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________ 
 Normal Retirement Age Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________  
 Withdrawal and Transfer for Health Insurance and Long Term Care  Allowed 

Separation from Service Distribution Options – In addition to direct rollovers, the following distribution options after a participant has separated 
from service will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by checking the applicable box. 

 Full Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Partial Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Installment payments  Not Allowed 
 Annuity payments  Not Allowed 
 Plan to Plan Transfers to another plan of the same plan type  Not Allowed 
 Combination or split payment elections  Not Allowed 

VRIAC will provide ongoing review and processing of participant-initiated benefit payment requests (including annuity payments, if permitted, and 
death benefits) due to participant’s separation from service or death, on behalf of the Plan Sponsor.  In the case of death benefits, in those 
individual circumstances where VRIAC does not have a beneficiary designation from the participant on file, VRIAC will seek written direction from 
the Plan Sponsor as to who to make payment to pursuant to the Plan.  The Plan Sponsor is responsible for providing VRIAC with any and all 
participant termination data in the mutually agreed upon electronic format, within a reasonable time period following the participant’s separation 
from service or death.  VRIAC will not make the applicable benefit payment request transaction and/or paperwork available to the participant until 
the termination data is received from the Plan Sponsor.   
Spousal Consent Requirements - Does the Plan require participants to waive right to a joint and survivor annuity and participant’s spouse to 
consent to participant’s waiver (commonly referred to as “QJSA waiver with spousal consent”)?    Yes     No 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 5 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

DISTRIBUTIONS/WITHDRAWALS - 401(k) Plans 
In-Service Withdrawal Options - The following in-service withdrawal options will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by 
checking the applicable box. The Plan Sponsor will be required to approve all allowed in-service distribution options available under the Plan; such 
approval will be evidenced by the signature of an authorized Plan Sponsor representative on the applicable withdrawal request form provided by 
VRIAC.  There shall be no restrictions on the frequency in which a distribution/withdrawal may be requested.   

 Hardship Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Age 59½ Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Withdrawal of Rollover Contribution Source(s)  Not Allowed 

The following in-service withdrawal options will not be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts in by checking applicable box.  
 Age-based Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________ 
 Normal Retirement Age Withdrawal  Allowed – indicate age _____________  
 Withdrawal and Transfer for Health Insurance and Long Term Care  Allowed 
 Withdrawal and Transfer of Governmental Defined Benefit Service Credit  Allowed 

Separation from Service Distribution Options – In addition to direct rollovers, the following distribution options after a participant has separated 
from service will be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts out by checking the applicable box. 

 Full Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Partial Cash Withdrawal  Not Allowed 
 Installment payments  Not Allowed 
 Annuity payments  Not Allowed 
 Plan to Plan Transfers to another plan of the same plan type  Not Allowed 
 Combination or split payment elections  Not Allowed 

VRIAC will provide ongoing review and processing of participant-initiated benefit payment requests (including annuity payments, if permitted, and 
death benefits) due to participant’s separation from service or death, on behalf of the Plan Sponsor.  In the case of death benefits, in those 
individual circumstances where VRIAC does not have a beneficiary designation from the participant on file, VRIAC will seek written direction from 
the Plan Sponsor as to who to make payment to pursuant to the Plan.  The Plan Sponsor is responsible for providing VRIAC with any and all 
participant termination data in the mutually agreed upon electronic format, within a reasonable time period following the participant’s separation 
from service or death.  VRIAC will not make the applicable benefit payment request transaction and/or paperwork available to the participant until 
the termination data is received from the Plan Sponsor.   
Spousal Consent Requirements - Does the Plan require participants to waive right to a joint and survivor annuity and participant’s spouse to 
consent to participant’s waiver (commonly referred to as “QJSA waiver with spousal consent”)?    Yes     No 

MANDATORY DISTRIBUTIONS FOR TERMINATED PARTICIPANTS  
457(b) 401(a) 401(k)

Are mandatory distributions under the Plan required (Note: mandatory 

distributions over $1,000 are not permitted under non-governmental 457(b) plans.) 
 Yes 
 No 

 Yes 
 No 

 Yes 
 No 

If mandatory distributions are required, indicate the applicable limit  $1,000 limit 
 $5,000 limit* 

 $1,000 limit 
 $5,000 limit* 

 $1,000 limit 
 $5,000 limit* 

* Accounts that have balances less than or equal to $1,000 will be cashed out.  Participants with account balances greater than $1,000 and at
or below $5,000 will be rolled into an IRA to be established by the Employer. The timing and frequency of mandatory distributions will be 
directed by the Plan Sponsor or their authorized representative. Additional paperwork may be required if the Voya Rollover IRA is used.  If a 
non-Voya Rollover IRA is to be used, provide the following information: 

Name of IRA Provider  Contact Name  

Street Address  City/State/Zip 
If mandatory distributions are required, rollover balances (if any) will 
be excluded when determining if account balance meets the limit 
unless otherwise elected 

 Include rollover balances.  Note any exception by plan, e.g., 401(a) 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 6 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

LOAN PROVISIONS 

Loans will not be established under the Plan unless the Employer opts in by checking applicable box 
(Note: loans are not permitted under non-governmental 457(b) plans.) 457(b) 401(a) 401(k)

 General Purpose Loans  Allowed  Allowed  Allowed 
 Residential Loans  Allowed  Allowed  Allowed 

Loan Repayment Method  
If loans are permitted, indicate the method loans will be repaid (only one method may be selected) 

  Payroll deduction.  Loan payments will not be permitted after Participant has separated from service.  
  ACH debit to the Participant’s bank account.  Loan payments will continue after the Participant has separated from service until a full 

termination distribution has been processed from the Participant’s account. 

If loans are permitted under the Plan, the following rules will apply.  
 The maximum number of outstanding loans at any time will be  one  two, regardless of loan type.  There shall be no restrictions on

the frequency in which a loan may be requested.
 General Purpose loans will have a maximum duration of 57 months and Residential loans will have a maximum duration of 120 months.
 The minimum loan amount will be $1,000 regardless of loan type.
 The loan interest rate will be determined by Voya based on the Prime Interest Rate published in the WSJ on the last business day of

each month plus an adjustment factor of 1%.
 Loan requests will be authorized by the Plan Sponsor.  If all existing plan assets will be transferred as indicated on page 1, loan requests

will be authorized by Voya.
 Spousal consent requirements will mirror those requirements indicated within the Distribution/Withdrawals section above.

NOTE: Distributions, Withdrawals and Loans will be withdrawn using Voya’s standard sequence of employee pre-tax 
contribution sources followed by employer contribution sources, then rollover and transfer sources, if permitted.  If Roth is available 
under the Plan, the Roth contribution source followed by Roth-related rollover sources will go after the employee and employer 
contribution sources noted above.  Roth and Roth-related rollover sources may not be used to fund a loan disbursement but may be 
included when determining the maximum loan amount available.  Non-Roth after tax money source, if available will be at the end of the 
source sequence.  Employer contribution sources are not available for Hardship Withdrawals.  

MISCELLANEOUS PLAN PROVISIONS 
Beneficiary Designations 
Voya will maintain beneficiary designations under the Plan(s) unless the Employer opts out.   

 Employer elects not to use Voya’s service 

If the Voya beneficiary maintenance service is elected, Voya will allow participants and the account holders shown below to name a beneficiary 
unless the Employer opts out by checking the applicable box.  

457(b) 401(a) 401(k) 
 Beneficiary account holder  Not Allowed  Not Allowed  Not Allowed 
 Alternate payee account holder  Not Allowed  Not Allowed  Not Allowed 

Please indicate spousal consent requirements of a beneficiary designation under the Plan below. 

457(b) 401(a) 401(k) 
 Spousal Consent required  Yes  No  Yes  No  Yes  No 
 Community Property edit (see below)  Yes  No  Yes  No  Yes  No 

For those plans where spousal consent requirement does not apply, the Employer elects to require consent if the participant / 
Account holder resides in a community property state  

Please note:  If Voya's beneficiary maintenance service is not elected, the employer will be responsible for signing off on all death claims, and 
ensuring that their plan provisions, including spousal consent are met. 

Domestic Relations Orders (“DROs”)  
Voya will presume the Plan recognizes and permits DROs unless the Employer opts out.   

457(b) 401(a) 401(k) 
 Not Allowed  Not Allowed  Not Allowed Voya will approve QDROs.



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 7 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

OPTIONAL SERVICES 

The following optional services will not be established for the Plan unless the Employer opts in by checking applicable box 
457(b) 401(a) 401(k)

 Self-Directed Brokerage Account  Permitted  Permitted  Permitted 
 Investment Advisory Services  Permitted  Permitted  Permitted 
 Asset Allocation Made Easier Services  Permitted  Permitted  Permitted 
 Expense reimbursement arrangement
 Non-ERISA plans only: Sponsor Fee Disclosure*

 Permitted 
 Permitted 

 Permitted 
 Permitted 

 Permitted 
 Permitted 

If optional plan services are elected, the following rules will apply. 
 Self-directed brokerage account is available for plans with $1 million or more in total plan assets.
 Additional agreements will be required.  Additional charges may apply as reflected in Schedule D of the Administrative Services

Agreement.
 Availability of Asset Allocation Made Easier Services is subject to Company approval.

* Post monthly plan-level fee and expense disclosure reports (as outlined in DOL regulation §2550.408b-2) to Sponsor Web (and Third Party Administrator Website, if applicable) if 
elected above.

Online Statement Delivery Service 

Voya will deliver participant statements through an internet site from which participants can securely access their account, as opposed to receiving 
paper statements by mail, unless you elect out of this service.  Participants will receive an annual notice by mail explaining how to access 
statements online.  A participant can elect out of online statement delivery by making an election to receive statements by mail.  Such elections 
may be made through Voya’s participant internet site or by speaking with a customer service representative.   

 Employer elects not to use Voya’s service 

Personal Identification Numbers 

Voya provides a Personal Identification Number (PIN) for secure Participant online account registration as well as for customer service support by 
phone. A unique, temporary PIN is delivered by the USPS to Participants shortly after an account is established. To facilitate account access, 
temporary PINs can be delivered by email to Participants upon request. This process requires at least one Employer email domain to be provided 
to the Contractor. 

 The Plan Sponsor authorizes the Contractor to provide temporary PINs by request of Participants to designated Employer  
  e-mail addresses. 

The following domains are registered to the Employer and provided for this purpose. Example: @employer.com.  



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 8 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

LICENSED REPRESENTATIVE 
Voya designates the following individual(s) to serve as its licensed representatives with respect to this Agreement.  Licensed representatives are 
designated as one of the following:   

Agent, including Career Agent – Appointed with Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company, registered representative of Voya Financial 
Advisors, Inc. and receives commission based compensation.   

Broker – (Non Voya FA Only) – Appointed with Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company, but affiliated with a broker-dealer other than 
Voya Financial Advisors, Inc. and receives commission based compensation.   

Salaried Enroller – Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company employees who will not receive commission based salary and are registered 
representatives of Voya Financial Advisors, Inc.   

Representative 1   Agent  Broker  Salaried Enroller 

Representative Name Last 4 Digits SSN 

Broker Dealer Affiliation 

Office Code Rep # % Participation 

Representative 2   Agent  Broker  Salaried Enroller 

Representative Name Last 4 Digits SSN 

Broker Dealer Affiliation 

Office Code Rep # % Participation 

Representative 3   Agent  Broker  Salaried Enroller 

Representative Name Last 4 Digits SSN 

Broker Dealer Affiliation 

Office Code Rep # % Participation 

Licensed representatives identified above will be able to access Voya customer service representatives upon providing recognized 
access code.  Licensed representative may obtain account information, make profile changes and/or request paperwork on behalf of a 
participant.   

Registered Representatives of distributors who solicit sales of the contract typically receive a portion of the compensation paid to the 
distributor in the form of commissions or other compensation, depending upon the agreement between the distributor and the 
registered Representative.  This compensation as well as other incentives or payments, is not paid directly by contract holders or 
account holders, but instead is paid by us through Voya Financial Partners, LLC.  We intend to recoup this compensation and other 
sales expenses paid to distributors through fees and charges imposed under the contract.  Some personnel may receive various types 
of non-cash compensation as special sales incentives, including trips, and we may also pay for some personnel to attend educational 
and/or business seminars.  Any such compensation will be paid in accordance with SEC and FINRA Rules. 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 9 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

COMMISSION AND FEE SCHEDULE 
Assumptions for Your Plan 
Number of Participating Employees ______________ First Year Contribution Amount $__________________  
Transferred Asset Amount in the First Year $__________________ 

Revenue Requirement (mutual funds) ___________ % 

Revenue requirement is the minimum mutual fund revenue required by Voya to support this pricing proposal, including compensation paid to your 
Financial Professional as disclosed in this proposal.  The basis points stated above are assessed against plan assets, excluding assets in the Voya 
Fixed Account – 457/401 II, loans, company stock or self-directed brokerage account. 

This revenue requirement is based on the plan characteristics provided to Voya. 

Annual Asset Based Fee ___________ %    

An annual asset based fee is deducted quarterly, proportionally from all investment options within the Plan                         the Voya Fixed Account 
– 457/401 II and will appear on participant’s statements as a dollar amount deduction.

Fund Management Fees 

Fund management fees and other fund operating expenses will apply. Fees depend on the investment option chosen. Please refer to the individual 
Fund prospectuses for fund fee information. 

Compensation Structure 
 Flat Salary           $___________________ 
 Commission Schedule  Case Level      Participant Level 

________% of Contributions in the first Case Year  

________% of Contributions in the Renewal Case Year 

________% of Increase Contributions in the Renewal Case Years 

________% of Transferred Assets in   the First Case Year  All Years 

________% of Assets Beginning   Month 1   Month 13 

Compensation Structure (Registered Investment Advisor or Investment Advisory Representative) 

Asset-Based Compensation ______________% Paid  Monthly  Quarterly 
   (annual rate) 

Flat Dollar Compensation $______________ Paid  Monthly  Quarterly 
   (annual amount) 

For purposes of this Compensation Structure, the following descriptions apply. 

Asset-Based Compensation: The compensation amount paid is calculated by taking the applicable annual rate divided by twelve (12) for 
monthly or four (4) for quarterly and multiplied by the Plan asset value at the close of business on the last day of the month or quarter, as 
applicable. For purposes of defining the Plan asset value, Plan assets invested in self-directed brokerage account, if available, and outstanding 
loan balances, if any, are excluded from this calculation. 

Flat Dollar Compensation: The compensation amount paid is calculated by taking the applicable annual dollar amount and dividing by twelve 
(12) for monthly or four (4) for quarterly. 

Supplemental Bonus Compensation: No 

Additional Services/Recordkeeping Fees 

Please refer to Schedule D or the Administrative Services Agreement. 

Fee Quote 

Our fee quote for standard and optional services, the assumptions on which the quote is based, disclosure of the compensation to be paid in 
connection with our proposal and the name(s) of your local service representatives are reflected herein. The fee quote will remain in effect for 90 
days from the date indicated on this document. Our fee quote is based upon the assumptions that follow. Please review these assumptions carefully 
for accuracy and advise us of any discrepancy. If the actual Transferred Asset Amount and/or Number of Participating Employees varies significantly 
from those assumed below, we reserve the right to modify Program charges within 180 calendar days following the date of the initial transferred 
asset contribution. 

0.135



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 10 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

Please check one if either applies: 

 Expense Account for Service Expenditures (“EASE Account”) 

The EASE Account is a funding source that can be directed towards the payment of allowable plan administrative expenses or allocated to 
participant accounts. The amount allocated to the EASE Account is directly attributable to excess fund revenue sharing amounts and administrative 
service fees in the amount of _______% of the assets of the Plan, but excluding any outstanding loan balances and assets in the Self Directed 
Brokerage Account. Please refer to your Expense Account for Service Expenditures Agreement for complete details regarding the administration of 
this optional account. 

Changes to the amount allocated to the EASE Account may be made by (i) the Plan Sponsor by submission of such change to VRIAC on such form 
as VRIAC may prescribe from time to time, or (ii) VRIAC by written notice to the Plan Sponsor. 

 Recordkeeping Expense Account (“REA”) 

The REA is a funding source that can be directed towards the payment of allowable plan administrative expenses or allocated to participant 
accounts. The amount allocated to the REA is equal to fund revenue sharing and asset-based fees, including the administrative service fee, received 
by VRIAC or its affiliates that are in excess of VRIAC’s revenue requirement set forth in the Revenue Requirement (mutual funds) section above. 
Please refer to your Recordkeeping Expense Account Agreement for complete details regarding the administration of this optional account. 



 
Employer Name                                                  Product Name      RetireFlex‐MF 

 Page 11 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 
 

INVESTMENT SELECTION SECTION 

Please select/confirm the investment options that will be available in your Plan(s). 

These investment options are not insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, are not deposits or obligations for Voya 
Institutional Trust Company or any of its affiliates, and are not guaranteed by the U.S. Government or its agencies or instrumentalities. 

These investment options include investment risks including possible loss of principal amount invested and companies that are 
affiliated with Voya Institutional Trust Company will earn fees, which are disclosed in the prospectuses, for providing services to the 
Plan(s). 

Plan Sponsor acknowledges receipt of the fund prospectuses for each of the available investment options. 

INVESTMENT OPTION SELECTION  

Once the Investment Selection has been submitted to Voya®, the addition or deletion of investments choices prior to the 
installation must be in writing. Any change in the investment lineup during installation can affect transition timelines.  

Fund 
Number 

Fund Name Morningstar Category Fund Legal Structure* 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

* Fund Legal Structure options are “Fixed”, “Stable Value Option”, “Stable Value Fund” or “Mutual Fund” 
  



Employer Name    Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 12 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

INVESTMENT OPTION SELECTION  (Continued) 

Fund 
Number 

Fund Name Morningstar Category Fund Legal Structure* 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 13 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

Fixed Interest Investment Option 

The Voya Fixed Account – 457/401 II is a fixed interest investment option available through a group fixed annuity contract. The Voya Fixed Account 
– 457/401 II guarantees* a minimum rate of interest, which, once credited, becomes a part of the principal and the investment grows through
compound interest.  All assets invested in this account, which are invested in Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company’s general account, 
are credited with a portfolio rate. 

Special guidelines apply to the amount of assets that can be withdrawn from the Voya Fixed Account – 457/401 II Account or transferred from the 
Voya Fixed Account – 457/401 II to other investment options in this program.  For complete details please refer to the RetireFlex Information Booklet. 

Based on the previously stated assumptions for your plan, the credited interest rate for your contract is currently ________%.  The credited interest 
rate is subject to change at any time, but is guaranteed not to fall below ________% through December 31, 20____. In addition, a minimum contract 
guaranteed rate applies to this product. 

*Guarantee is based on the claims paying ability of the Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company.

Group annuities are long-term investments designed for retirement purposes. Early withdrawals from 401(a)/(k) plans prior to age 59½ will be subject 
to a 10% premature distribution penalty tax, unless an exception applies. Money taken from the annuity will be taxed as ordinary income in the year 
the money is distributed. Account values fluctuate with market conditions, and when surrendered the principal may be worth more or less than its 
original amount invested. An annuity does not provide any additional tax deferral benefit, as tax deferral is provided by the plan. Annuities may be 
subject to additional fees and expenses to which other tax-qualified funding vehicles may not be subject. However, an annuity does provide other 
features and benefits, such as lifetime income payments and death benefits, which may be valuable to you. 

You should consider the investment objectives, risks, and charges and expenses of the investment options offered through a retirement 
plan, carefully before investing. The fund prospectuses and RetireFlex Information Booklet containing this and other information can be 
obtained by contacting your local representative. Please read the information carefully before investing. 

PLAN SPECIFIC ELECTION SECTION 

 Forfeiture Account (check if applicable) 
As the Plan offers one or more forms of contribution subject to vesting, an investment option is to be designated for the Forfeiture Account under the 
Plan.  The Forfeiture Account will be used to hold forfeiture Plan assets until written instructions are received from the Plan Sponsor.  Amounts 
transferred into the Plan’s Forfeiture Account will be invested in _________________________________ (insert fund number and name). 

 Default Investment Option (check if applicable) 
As the Plan includes a default enrollment provision or Plan Sponsor has selected Plan Asset Transfer option 1 (Non-Mapped) a default investment 
option must be designated.  I understand that I have the fiduciary responsibility to choose the appropriate “default” investment option, and therefore 
may choose from any of the investment options available under the Plan.  I designate the following to be the default investment option for the Plan. 

☐ Selected Target Date Family* 

☐ Voya Fixed Account – 457/401 II 

☐ Other (list selected fund)

*I have selected a target date family as the “default” investment option and understand that all contributions into these funds will be based on each
Participant’s age, not their anticipated retirement age as the investment is designed.  Plan Participants will be allocated to the target date funds 
assuming the standard retirement age of 65. 

I understand that all contributions will be invested in this investment option until such time that a participant makes allocation changes and/or fund 
transfers. 



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 14 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

PLAN ASSET TRANSFER 

Complete this section for existing transferring assets 

As the authorized fiduciaries of the plan, we have designated to have the transferred assets mapped into the following 
investments at the Plan Level.  We are also aware that the participant account balances will follow the same mapping strategy. 

I elect to invest the assets of the Plan transferred in a single sum in the manner specified below: 

Option 1 (Non-Mapped): Invest transferred assets according to the participant’s new investment election on file with Voya or, if 
applicable, the Plan’s Default Investment Option identified above. 

Option 2 (Mapped): Invest the transferred assets in each Investment Option listed below based upon the percentage of dollar 
amount of assets transferred from each corresponding Existing Investment Option as indicated in the Plan’s investment records 
furnished by the current asset custodian as set forth below.  Investment elections for future contributions are to be also based upon 
the corresponding mapping instructions as noted below. 

From Existing Investment Option (Current Asset Custodian) To Replacement Investment Option 
Fund Name Fund # Fund Name 



Employer Name    Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 15 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

PLAN ASSET TRANSFER (Continued) 

From Existing Investment Option (Current Asset Custodian) To Replacement Investment Option 
Fund Name Fund # Fund Name 

• If transferred assets are received prior to participant data, Voya will invest the transferred assets at a plan level according to the
mapping instructions provided above in Option 2. The transferred assets will be invested as of the date the wire is received by Voya if a 
plan level breakdown by fund is provided in good order. If no instructions are received, the transferred assets will be deposited into the 
Voya Money Market Fund until a plan level breakdown is received and in good order. 

• Transferred assets will be allocated to participant accounts on the same day that allocation instructions are received if instructions are
received in good order and prior to the close of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”). 

• Any interest earned pending allocation instructions will be posted to participant accounts on a pro-rata basis unless other instructions
are provided. 

• Allocation instructions must be received in a secure manner and meet the Voya file format and good order requirements. Voya is
authorized to obtain the required information from the prior provider or the authorized Plan Sponsor Representative. 

• Instructions received in good order and after the close of the NYSE or on a non-business day will be processed the next business
day.



Employer Name  Product Name   RetireFlex‐MF 

Page 16 of 16 Order # 175387  09/11/2018 

AUTHORIZED PLAN SPONSOR REPRESENTATIVE 

Voya is hereby authorized to act upon the directions, instructions, and any information provided by any of the Authorized Plan Sponsor 
Representatives listed below.  These signatures will be accepted until Voya is notified of a change in writing.  The following person(s) have the 
authority under the Plan to provide direction to Voya with respect to administration of the Plan including any benefit sensitive financial transactions 
permitted under the Plan and requests for contribution refunds.  In the event that a Plan Sponsor Representative is removed or replaced, Voya 
must be notified immediately in writing - please contact Voya’s designated Plan Manager to request the applicable administrative form to complete. 

1. Name (please type or print) Title 

Agency, Division or Location Name and Code (if applicable) 

Authorized Plan Sponsor Representatives Signature 

2. Name (please type or print) Title 

Agency, Division or Location Name and Code (if applicable) 

Authorized Plan Sponsor Representatives Signature 

3 Name (please type or print) Title 

Agency, Division or Location Name and Code (if applicable) 

Authorized Plan Sponsor Representatives Signature 

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS, SIGNATURES AND AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

I have read and understand this form and I am authorized to sign this form and any applicable Addendum on behalf of the Plan.  The Effective 
Date is the Employer’s date of signature below.   

  A copy of the Employer’s 501(c)(3) letter is attached.  Requirement is waived for any public education institution. 

Employer Signature __________________________________________________   Date (mm/dd/yyyy) __________________________ 

Signor’s Name (Please type or print)________________________________________   Signor’s Title _____________________________  

This Section to be filled out by Voya Product Management (prior to provision of form) 

Master Group (if applicable) Link to Existing C- Client, If applicable list C-Client Number 

Market Indicator  05 Product Code 

Product Manager Fixed Margin Code 

Field Office Contact Name Field Office City Field Office State 

This Section to be filled out by Voya Implementation Manager (after receipt of form) 
Plan Number(s) Same as Source 

Plan Manager Implementation Manager 

Trust Services 
 Voya Institutional Trust Company Custodial Agreement  
 Voya Institutional Trust Company Trust Agreement 

Rep Access Code 

Rep 1  _____________ Rep 2 _____________ Rep 3 _____________ 

s



 Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company
One Orange Way 

Windsor, CT  06095-4774 

 

 P a g e  | 1 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 
 
This Administrative Services Agreement (“Agreement”) is by and among the Employer (the “Plan Sponsor”) and Voya Retirement 
Insurance and Annuity Company (“VRIAC”), a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Connecticut and Voya 
Financial Partners, LLC a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and registered as a 
broker-dealer under the federal securities laws (the “Broker-Dealer”). This Agreement consists of the provisions set forth herein and the 
Plan Sponsor Submission Information form (“PSSF”) which includes a Commission and Fee Schedule and an Investment Selection 
Section.  VRIAC and the Broker-Dealer are hereinafter collectively called the “Contractor”.  This Agreement governs the services the 
Contractor will provide to the Plans identified in the PSSF and unless specified otherwise, will collectively be referred to herein as the 
“Plan”.  This Agreement is separate and apart from any other contract issued to the Plan / Plan Sponsor by VRIAC, including any group 
annuity contract, funding agreement, or custodial / trust agreement. 
 
RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan will be construed, administered and enforced according to the Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) and 
the laws of the state in which the Plan Sponsor has its principal place of business, as identified in the PSSF; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan may be subject to Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA) as identified 
within the PSSF; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Plan Sponsor has selected certain investment products offered or otherwise made available by or through 
VRIAC or the Broker-Dealer, respectively, for the investment of the Plan’s assets (the “Program”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Plan Sponsor further wishes to engage the Contractor as an administrative service provider to facilitate the 
administration of the Plan by providing services that shall include without limitation, accounting for deferrals or contributions, 
disbursement of funds, withholding of taxes, investment education, retirement counseling, investment of assets in the appropriate Plan 
investment options and proper recordkeeping of participant accounts; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Contractor wishes to provide such administrative services to the Plan. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the parties do hereby agree as follows: 
 

Section 1.  Services 

1.01 Good Order:  The Contractor and the Plan Sponsor acknowledge that for purposes of this Agreement “Good Order” is defined 
as the receipt at the Contractor’s designated location of a transaction request, instructions or data that is complete, accurate 
and in an acceptable format, and which do not require the Contractor to apply any research or discretionary judgment.  To 
qualify as current business day instructions, a transaction request, instructions or data sent electronically, by telephone, 
facsimile or mail must be received by the Contractor no later than the close of the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) 
(typically 4:00 p.m. ET).  If the Contractor receives a transaction request, instructions or data in Good Order after the close of 
the NYSE, the Contractor will process the data or request on the next business day that the NYSE is open.  The parties 
understand and acknowledge a transaction request, instructions or data deemed by the Contractor as being received not in 
Good Order may be returned for correction and processed upon resubmission in Good Order. 

1.02  Allocation of Contractor Responsibilities:  The Broker-Dealer or other broker-dealers with which Voya Financial Partners, LLC 
has a selling agreement shall service or perform all marketing communications, enrollment and securities transactions 
settlement and processing functions assigned to the Contractor.  VRIAC shall perform all other responsibilities assigned to the 
Contractor, including Plan and participant recordkeeping.  For plans that have multiple providers of investment products and 
administrative services, VRIAC will provide recordkeeping services solely for that portion of the Plan utilizing assets record 
kept by the Contractor. 



P a g e  | 2 

1.03 Plan Specifications:  The relevant characteristics of the Plan that will govern the administration of the Plan are documented 
within the PSSF.  

1.04 Scope of Services:  The Contractor agrees to provide the Plan with the services listed on Schedule A for the term of this 
Agreement. Services offered pursuant to the Plan’s loan program, if available, will be subject to the terms specified in 
Schedule B. 

1.05 Administrative Requirements:  The Contractor agrees to comply with the requirements set forth on Schedule C and the 
information sharing requirements under Code section 403(b), if applicable, as documented in Appendix I to Schedule C in the 
performance of this Agreement.  The Contractor and the Plan Sponsor will review these administrative requirements 
periodically and make adjustments as necessary and mutually agreed. 

1.06 Selection of Investment Options:  The Plan Sponsor acknowledges that it is responsible for choosing the investment options to 
be made available to participants under the Plan.  The Contractor agrees to provide Plan participants with a selection of 
investment options as elected by the Plan Sponsor in the Investment Selection Section of the PSSF.  All contributions are to 
be invested as the participant directs. 

1.07 Investment Provider Minimum Standards:  Subject to the minimum standards set forth in Schedule F, the Contractor will 
provide its administrative services in connection with the Plan Sponsor’s selection of investment products to fund the Plan.   

1.08 Modification to Investment Options:  In order to confirm the fund selected by the Plan Sponsor can be recordkept by the 
Contractor, the addition or removal of any investment option to the Plan must be mutually agreed to by the Contractor and the 
Plan Sponsor and will be made in accordance with a mutually agreed upon schedule for implementing the change.   

(1) Subject to mutual agreement between the parties to add an investment option; 
(i) The Plan Sponsor may direct the Contractor to add or remove an investment option from the range of 

investment products the Contractor currently offers, and that are currently available in the Program, upon 
forty-five (45) days written notice of the proposed change.  

(ii) The Plan Sponsor may direct the Contractor to add an investment option that the Contractor does not 
currently offer or an investment option that the Contractor currently offers but is not currently available in the 
Program, upon at least ninety (90) days written notice of the proposed change.  Any investment option 
additions made pursuant to this Subsection 1.08(1)(ii) will be made in accordance with the Contractor’s 
scheduled quarterly fund updates.       

 (2) The Contractor reserves the right to reject any new investment option that imposes short-term trading (redemption) 
fees on participant accounts.  

(3) To the extent an existing investment option imposes short-term trading (redemption) fees on participant  accounts, 
the Contractor reserves the right to discontinue offering the investment option or to deduct any such short-term 
trading (redemption) fees from participant accounts.   

1.09 Limits Imposed by Underlying Funds:  The Plan Sponsor understands and acknowledges that orders for the purchase of fund 
shares may be subject to acceptance by the fund.  The Contractor reserves the right to reject, without prior notice, any 
allocation of payments to the variable investment products if the Contractor’s purchase order for the corresponding fund is not 
acceptable by the fund for any reason. 

1.10 Limits Imposed by Contractor on Frequent Transfers:  The Plan Sponsor understands and acknowledges that the investment 
products offered or otherwise made available by or through the Contractor are not designed to serve as vehicles for frequent 
trading in response to short-term fluctuations in the market.  Such frequent trading can disrupt management of a fund and 
raise its expenses.  This in turn can have an adverse effect on fund performance.   Accordingly, the Plan Sponsor agrees to 
adhere to the Contractor’s current Excessive Trading Policy, as set forth in Schedule G (the “Excessive Trading Policy”).  The 
Contractor reserves the right to modify the Excessive Trading Policy in whole or in part at any time and without prior notice, 
depending on the needs of the underlying fund(s), the best interest of contract owners and fund investors, and/or state or 
federal regulatory requirements.   

Section 2.  Participant Information 

2.01 Provision of Certain Participant Information:  The Plan Sponsor or its authorized representative shall facilitate the transmission 
to the Contractor of all current Plan participant level records including, but not limited to:  name; address; social security 



P a g e  | 3 

number; active or terminated employment status; loan information; and deferral amount information.  The Contractor shall be 
able to rely on the information provided by the Plan Sponsor.  We are not responsible for any errors, omissions or other 
inaccuracies in the data you or an unaffiliated third party, including without limitation, prior service providers furnish us.  Over 
the term of this Agreement, the Contractor and the Plan Sponsor will develop procedures for the Plan Sponsor to notify the 
Contractor of changes in employment status and, to the extent the Plan Sponsor has knowledge of the death of any 
participant, the Plan Sponsor will notify the Contractor of such death.  The Plan Sponsor shall provide such information on a 
timely basis and use its best efforts to assure the accuracy and completeness of all information provided to the Contractor. 

2.02 Changes in Deferral or Contribution Information; New Participant Deferral or Contribution Information: The Contractor and the 
Plan Sponsor will develop procedures to coordinate the processing of (i) changes in deferral or contribution amount 
information and (ii) initial deferral or contribution information pertaining to participants joining the Plan on or after the date the 
Contractor commences the provision of services under this Agreement. 

2.03 Participants’ Ability to Direct Investments:   Participants shall have the ability to choose their investment allocations and to 
make participant-directed transfers between investment options, subject to any limitations of the Plan and of the Contractor’s 
investment product.  If the Plan is or becomes subject to ERISA, or is otherwise employer-controlled, the Plan Sponsor hereby 
provides written direction to the Contractor allowing participants to make such investment choices, subject to the Plan 
Sponsor’s right to revoke this authorization if allowed by the Plan.  If this agreement covers a 403(b) Plan, the Plan Sponsor 
authorizes the Contractor to accept participant initiated exchanges between the 403(b)(1) annuity contract and the 403(b)(7) 
custodial account, or vice versa. 

 
2.04 Restricting Participant Accounts (Administrative Holds):  The Plan Sponsor directs the Contractor to place an administrative 

hold on a participant's account upon receipt of a signed or draft domestic relations order (DROs) or joinder, federal tax levy, or 
upon the receipt of other types of court orders that assert a claim to plan benefits.  Placing an administrative hold on the 
participant's account(s) will prevent the participant from taking distributions, including loans.  The participant will continue to 
have the ability to make allocation changes and fund transfers to his/her account.  With the exception of DROs, the restriction 
will remain on the account until such time that the Contractor is advised to remove the administrative hold either by the Plan 
Sponsor or upon receipt of a court order indicating that the matter has been resolved and the hold is no longer needed.    

 Administrative holds placed on a participant's account due to DROs shall remain on the account for a period up to 18 months, 
or if earlier, until the date the Contractor is advised to remove the administrative hold either by the Plan Sponsor or a court 
order indicating that the matter has been resolved and the hold is no longer needed.  If a subsequent order is received a new 
18-month period will be activated.   

 Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to joinders issued pursuant to California Family Code 9 (if applicable),  Section 
2060, the restriction will not be removed until the Contractor receives either: (1) a QDRO; (2) a court order vacating/dismissing 
the joinder; or (3) or a final judgment that awards the participant all of the plan benefits.  

 
2.05      Power of Attorney, Guardianship or Conservatorships:  The Contractor will determine the validity of the documentation 

received relative to a power of attorney, guardianship or conservatorship.  Once the documentation is determined to be in 
Good Order, the Contractor will set up or modify the existing account as directed in the documentation received.   

 
Section 3.  Compensation 

3.01 Contractor’s Compensation:  The Contractor’s services under the Agreement are rendered in connection with the Plan 
Sponsor’s selection of certain investment products offered by or through the Contractor, including a stability of principal 
investment option available to the Plan.  The revenues paid to the Contractor from such investment products shall constitute 
one source of compensation for the services rendered under this Agreement.   

Additional sources of compensation to the Contractor are described in the Commission and Fee Schedules section of the 
PSSF.  The charge(s) identified in the PSSF are determined based on the number of participants, Plan assets held by the 
Contractor and compensation paid to sales professionals in connection with this agreement (reference section 3.03).   

 Additional transactional fees and charges may apply for optional services such as loans, investment advisory services and 
Self Directed Brokerage Account.  Refer to Schedule D (“Additional Plan Services and Fees”) for additional fees and charges.   

3.02 Assumptions Regarding Pricing:  Any fees, products and services rendered in connection with this Agreement are contingent 
on the Contractor being the exclusive provider of investment products and administrative services to the Plan during the Term 
of this Agreement, as defined in 4.01.  The addition of any other provider or providers to the Plan during the Term of this 



P a g e  | 4 

Agreement and any subsequent renewal periods or changes in the Plan document may impact any fees, products and 
services under this Agreement.  The Plan Sponsor will notify the Contractor of any such changes in a timely manner.    

 This Agreement and fees are contingent on the Plan provisions in effect on the date of this Agreement.  Any amendment to 
the Plan may impact this Agreement and fees.   

 The Plan Sponsor understands and acknowledges that the compensation to the Contractor is subject to the certain general 
provisions, as set forth in Schedule H (the “General Compensation Provisions”).  The Contractor reserves the right to modify 
the General Compensation Provisions in whole or in part at any time and without prior notice, depending on the needs of the 
underlying fund(s), the best interest of contract owners and fund investors, and/or state or federal regulatory requirements.   

3.03 Compensation Paid to Sales Professionals: The Contractor shall pay sales professionals compensation in the amount 
identified in the Commission and Fee Schedules section of the PSSF. The compensation paid to sales professionals will be 
derived exclusively from the Contractor’s compensation.   

 (a) Payments to Agent or Broker:  The compensation paid to sales professionals will be derived exclusively from the 
Contractor’s compensation.  Sales professionals may also be eligible for additional expense reimbursement. 
Compensation may also be paid at the time of participant election of an annuitization distribution option and will be 
disclosed to the participant at the time the distribution option is elected.   

 (b) Payments Made to a Consultant, a Registered Investment Advisor (RIA) or an Investment Advisory Representative 
(IAR):  One or more third parties, engaged by the Plan Sponsor, may provide ongoing services to the Plan.  The 
Contractor is not a party to the consultant and/or investment advisory relationship, nor is it responsible for ensuring 
compliance with any applicable insurance and securities laws and regulations. 

  Plan Sponsor may direct the Contractor to make payment to one or more consultants, RIAs or IARS, engaged by the 
Plan Sponsor, as compensation for services rendered and to be treated as qualified plan related expenses, as set forth 
in Schedule J. 

3.04 Float:  VRIAC and its affiliated companies (collectively referred to as “Voya™” for purposes of this Section 3.04) earn income 
in the form of bank service credits on contributions awaiting investment and on payments awaiting distribution from the bank 
accounts that Voya maintains (or “float”). The bank service credits are applied against the bank service fees that apply to the 
bank accounts that Voya maintains and may not be redeemed for cash.  Specifically, the bank accounts have been 
established to receive and hold for a reasonable time: 

 contributions or other amounts to be invested in your retirement Plan, or 
 amounts redeemed to pay a distribution or disbursement from your Plan. 

Voya will receive income in the form of bank service credits (as described below) and offset such credits against bank service 
fees that are charged to Voya for the use of such bank accounts and for services provided by the banks for processing 
receipts or disbursements. 

Float Generated by Contributions: 
Voya uses a bank account to receive and hold contributions or other Plan deposit amounts to be invested. Contributions or 
other deposit amounts are held until authorized instructions are received in Good Order.  Income in the form of bank service 
credits are earned on the bank account during any waiting period for authorized instructions. For authorized instructions 
received in Good Order, contributions or other deposit amounts will be invested on that business day. For authorized 
instructions received in Good Order after the close of the New York Stock Exchange, contributions or other deposit amounts 
will be processed on the next business day. 

Float Generated by Distributions:  
Voya receives income in the form of bank service credits in connection with distributions or disbursements that Voya pays on the 
Plan’s behalf. The bank service credits accrue during the period beginning when an amount is redeemed from the Plan’s 
investment to fund a distribution or disbursement check and ending when the check is presented for payment. 

Additionally, from time to time, Voya may receive money market like rates of return on other deposit or short term investment 
products in which distributions may be held until such time as the check is presented for payment. 

3.05 Transaction Processing:  VRIAC seeks to avoid transaction processing errors to the greatest extent possible, but inadvertent 
errors do occur from time to time. When a transaction processing error for which VRIAC is directly responsible occurs, VRIAC 
will attempt to correct the error as soon as reasonably practicable after identification of the error. Once all necessary 



P a g e  | 5 

information has been gathered, VRIAC will promptly take corrective action to put the Plan and its participants in a position 
financially equivalent to the position they would have been in if the VRIAC processing error had not occurred.  

 VRIAC processes your Plan’s investment instructions on an “omnibus” or aggregated basis. If VRIAC’s correction of a VRIAC 
processing error results in a loss to your Plan or its participants, VRIAC will absorb the loss. If any gain results in connection 
with the correction of an VRIAC processing error, VRIAC will net any such gain against other losses absorbed by VRIAC and 
retain any resulting net gain as a component of its compensation for transaction processing services, including its agreement 
to make Plan and participant accounts whole for losses resulting from VRIAC processing errors. For more information on our 
error correction policy, please refer to Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company’s Policy for Correction of Processing 
Errors (“VRIAC Policy”), which is included in Schedule I. The VRIAC Policy and any updates to the VRIAC Policy are posted in 
the Sponsor Disclosure section of Sponsor Web. 

3.06 Fund Management Fees:  Fund management fees and other fund operating expenses will also apply to the variable 
investment options under the Plan.  Fees depend on the investment options chosen.   

Section 4.  Term 

4.01 Term:  This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date identified in the PSSF and continue until either Plan Sponsor or 
Contractor provides at least ninety (90) days prior written notice of intent to terminate this Agreement.  The Plan Sponsor and 
Contractor may mutually agree in writing to an earlier termination.  This Agreement may be amended in writing if agreed to by 
both parties.     

4.02 Termination:  Notwithstanding Section 4.01, either party may terminate this Agreement at any time upon written notice “for 
cause”.  For this purpose, “for cause” shall mean: (1) failure of the other party to comply substantially with this Agreement and 
attached schedules hereto which, when called to the attention of the other party in writing has not been corrected within thirty 
(30) days; (2) the fraud or embezzlement on the part of the other party or provider of investment advice; (3) if the other party 
ceases to conduct business in the normal course, becomes insolvent, makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, 
suffers or permits the appointment of a receiver for its business or assets, or avails itself of, or becomes subject to any 
proceeding under the Federal Bankruptcy Act or any other statute of any state relating to insolvency or the protection of the 
rights of creditors; (4) failure of the other party to pay any fees under this Agreement; or (5) if pursuant to Section 1.08 the 
Plan Sponsor requests the addition or removal of an investment option under the Plans, that is reasonably anticipated by the 
Contractor to result in a reduction in revenues under the Plans and no mutual agreement is reached between the parties on 
the recoupment of such lost revenues, the Contractor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement.   

Section 5.  General 

5.01 Circumstances Excusing Performance:  Neither the Plan Sponsor nor the Contractor shall be liable to the other for any delays 
or damages or any failure to act due, occasioned, or caused by reason of restrictions imposed by any government or 
government agency, acts of God, strikes, labor disputes, action of the elements, or causes beyond the control of the parties 
affected thereby. 

5.02 Business Recovery Plan:  The Contractor acknowledges that it has a Business Recovery Plan in place for its computer 
environment, specifying steps to be taken in the event of a disaster.  The plan is built around a worst-case scenario involving 
loss of the facility or loss of access to the facility.  It is also adaptable to less severe disasters.  Generally, there are three 
phases to the Contractor’s Business Recovery Plan:   

 Immediate response, damage assessment and critical notifications 
 Environmental and operation restoration 
 Operational readiness, testing and business resumption. 

 A critical part of this plan is the Contractor’s System Recovery Plan, which itself has three components:  

 Hardware:  the Contractor maintains a primary data center to support it mainframe applications and a portion of its mid-range 
and Intel based distributed environment.  The Contractor has contracted with an outside vendor to provide hot site recovery 
capabilities for the primary data center in case of a site level disaster.  The vendor maintains equipment that the Contractor 
will use to restore its applications in case of emergency.  In addition, the Contractor has several data centers located 
throughout the U.S. with mid-range and distributed equipment to lessen the risk from any one site.  On-site generators and 
UPS systems provide continuous power to the Contractor’s facilities.  A fully redundant wide area network connects all of the 
data centers in the U.S. as well as to the hot site vendor facility.   



P a g e  | 6 

Application software:  the Contractor secures program libraries, to tape cartridges weekly, storing them in both on-site and off-
site vaults.   

Production data:  the Contractor’s system and database files are backed up periodically, many on a daily basis, to tape 
cartridges stored in both on-site and off-site vaults.   

The Contractor’s internal auditors have reviewed its disaster recovery procedures.  Portions of the plan are tested on an 
annual basis.  

5.03 Ownership of Records:  The Contractor agrees that all computer tapes, discs, programs and any records generated by the 
Contractor under this Agreement shall be the property of the Plan.  In the event of the termination of this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall provide all electronic and/or written data records to the Plan’s designated representative or to a new 
contractor in an agreed upon format at no cost and within 180 days of written notice of intent to terminate this Agreement. 

5.04 Ownership and Use of the Content Copyright:  Each party owns all right, title and interest in its pre-existing intellectual 
property. You acknowledge and agree that, except for your pre-existing intellectual property, all information and content 
distributed through or displayed on a Contractor Web site, printed or electronic literature, including but not limited to all text, 
graphics, images, software applications and code, video, audio, and user interface design ("Content") is the property of the 
Contractor and its affiliates or its third party licensors. You have a limited, non-exclusive license to use the Content during the 
term of this Agreement.  Original Content developed by the Contractor for the benefit of the Plan Sponsor is the property of the 
Contractor and its affiliates unless both parties agree to transfer ownership to the Plan Sponsor in writing. 

If you or any appointee thereof, provides the Contractor with Content for distribution or display on a Contractor Web site, or in 
printed or electronic literature, you are responsible for obtaining permission from the owner or licensor for use of the Content.  

5.05 Parties Bound:  This Agreement and the provisions thereof shall be binding upon the respective parties and shall inure to the 
benefit of the same. 

5.06 Applicable Law:  This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with the laws of the state where the Plan Sponsor is 
located, as identified within the PSSF, referred to as the jurisdiction of issue.  The Contractor and the Plan Sponsor shall 
comply with all state and federal laws and regulations applicable to the services to be performed. 

5.07 Mediation:  Disputes between the parties may be submitted to mediation or arbitration provided both parties agree  
to  do so in writing.

5.08 Severability:  If any provision of this Agreement shall be found to be illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or invalidity 
shall not affect the remaining parts of this Agreement and the remainder of this Agreement shall be construed and enforced as 
if said illegal or invalid provision had never been inserted herein.  Neither party shall be required to perform any services under 
this Agreement which would violate any law, regulation or ruling. 

5.09 Acknowledgment:  The Plan Sponsor acknowledges the following. 

(a) The Contractor is performing non-discretionary, ministerial administrative services at the direction of the Plan and its 
authorized representatives. 

(b) The Contractor is not the Plan administrator or a fiduciary under state law or, as applicable ERISA, and the 
Contractor is not responsible for the selection or supervision of fiduciaries to the Plan or of service providers not 
associated with the Contractor.  

(c) The Plan Sponsor is solely responsible for maintaining the qualified state of the Plan, if applicable.  If this Agreement 
covers a non-governmental 457(b) plan, the Plan Sponsor acknowledges the Plan is established and maintained 
primarily for the benefit of a select group of management and/or highly compensated employees and the Plan 
Sponsor is responsible for filing necessary “Top Hat Statement” with the Pension and Welfare Benefits Administration 
within 120 days of adopting the plan.   

(d) The Plan Sponsor acknowledges that the Contractor will set up the Plan on its recordkeeping system based on the 
Sponsor’s representations that the elections made in the PSSF are consistent with the terms of the Plan document; 
and that the Plan Sponsor, not the Contractor, is responsible for ensuring that the Plan document and state laws 
allow for the services outlined in the PSSF and this Agreement, including the attached schedules. 



P a g e  | 7 

(e) The Plan Sponsor has consulted with a tax or legal advisor regarding the tax and if applicable, ERISA consequences 
of the Plan.  

(f) The Plan Sponsor is responsible for selecting the Plan design and investment options that best meet its objectives.  
The Plan Sponsor understands that it has selected a program that will include a stability of principal option and 
variable investments through a group annuity contract or mutual fund investments through a custodial or trust 
agreement to fund a tax-qualified arrangement; that the tax laws provide for deferral of taxation on earnings on 
participant account balances (excluding Roth or after-tax contribution sources); and that, although the annuity 
provides features and benefits that may be of value to participants, it does not provide additional deferral of taxation 
beyond that provided by the tax qualified arrangement itself. 

(g) If this agreement covers a non-governmental 457(b) plan, the Plan Sponsor understands and acknowledges it is 
responsible for communicating to all participants that all assets contributed to such plan must be owned and 
controlled by the Employer and subject to the Employer’s creditors.   

(h) The Plan Sponsor and its authorized representatives have sole responsibility for the overall administration of the 
Plan, including periodically providing participants with any notices required under the Code and related Regulations 
to which the Plan is subject and for making all benefit determinations.  The Contractor has no discretionary authority 
or control over eligibility or other benefit determinations, the administration, or the operation of the Plan.  The Plan 
Sponsor acknowledges that the Contractor does not record keep participants’ 12/31/88 balances under a 403(b) 
Plan, if available, and therefore the Contractor will not include this balance when determining amounts available for 
hardship or non-emergency withdrawals.  Plan Sponsor confirms that Contractor’s practices are consistent with the 
terms and administrative practices of the Plan, where applicable.  The Plan Sponsor may delegate the day-to-day 
administration of certain Plan Sponsor responsibilities to the Contractor as indicated in Schedule A.  

(i) The Plan Sponsor and its authorized representative have the sole authority for the review and final disposition of a 
Plan participant’s appeal of any benefit determination made by the Contractor under the Plan.  

(j) The Contractor does not directly provide any investment advice to the Plan Sponsor with respect to the Plan’s assets.   

(k) In performing services under this Agreement, the Contractor is entitled to rely on any information the Plan Sponsor, 
or its authorized representatives identified in the PSSF, or the Plan participants provide.  The Contractor has a 
reasonable duty to inquire as to the authenticity or the accuracy of such information or the actual authority of such 
person to provide it.  

(l) The Plan Sponsor agrees to comply with the information sharing requirements under Code section 403(b) and the 
regulations thereunder, if applicable, as documented in Appendix I to Schedule C.   

(m) By completing a PSSF, the Plan Sponsor will notify the Contractor of the provisions of the Plan document(s) 
governing the terms and operation of the Plan.  The Plan Sponsor will promptly provide notice to the Contractor of 
any proposed amendments to the Plan at least 90 days prior to the proposed amendment effective date.  

(n) Generally, only fees relating to the ongoing administration of the Plan may be passed through to participants.  You 
will direct us to deduct from participant accounts those fees outlined in Schedule D.  The Plan Sponsor is responsible 
for determining if an expense is deductible from Plan assets. 

(o) VRIAC Error. VRIAC’s responsibility with respect to providing the services is limited to correcting errors, within a 
reasonable time, which result from its computer system malfunctions, its staff errors or are otherwise caused by 
VRIAC’s negligent acts. VRIAC shall make a good faith effort to correct any such error as soon as reasonably 
practicable after identification of the error when such correction is reasonably necessary and practical under the 
circumstances.  For more information on our error correction policy, please refer to Voya Retirement Insurance and 
Annuity Company’s policy for Correction of Processing Errors (“VRIAC Policy”), which is included in Schedule I. The 
VRIAC Policy and any updates to the VRIAC Policy are also posted in the Sponsor Disclosure section of Sponsor 
Web. 

(p) Plan Sponsor Error. VRIAC will attempt to correct, at Plan Sponsor’s expense, processing errors resulting from Plan 
Sponsor, or Plan Sponsor’s representative, or otherwise caused by the negligent acts of Plan Sponsor; provided that 
Plan Sponsor promptly notifies VRIAC of such error and furnishes all data to VRIAC reasonably necessary to make 
such corrections. Plan Sponsor shall pay VRIAC its reasonable expenses incurred in making such corrections. 

5.10 Notices:  Each party will promptly provide the other with notice and copy of any attempts to levy or attach amounts held under 
the Plan and/or any litigation affecting the Plan of which it becomes aware and/or any notices or demands to be given under 



P a g e  | 8 

this Agreement.  All such notices, demands or other communications hereunder shall be in writing and duly provided if sent 
certified mail, return receipt requested, addressed to the party to be notified or upon whom a demand is being made, at the 
addresses set forth in this Agreement or such other place as either party shall from time to time designate in writing.  The date 
of service of a notice or demand shall be the receipt date on any certified mail receipt. 

 Notices to the Contractor shall be sent to:  

  Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company 
  Attn:  Deputy General Counsel 
  Legal Department, C2N 
  One Orange Way 
  Windsor, CT  06095 

 Notices to the Plan Sponsor shall be sent to the individual identified as the Employer contact within the PSSF. 

5.11 Copies of Agreement:  This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterpart copies, each of which when fully 
executed shall be considered as an original. 

5.12 Headings:  Headings are for convenience of reference only.  Headings do not limit or expand the scope of the text and are not 
intended to emphasize any portion thereof. 

5.13 Independent Contractor:  The Contractor is associated with the Plan Sponsor only for the purposes and to the extent specified 
in this Agreement.  With respect to the performance of the contracted services pursuant to this Agreement, the Contractor 
shall have the sole right to supervise, manage, operate, control and direct performance of the details incident to its duties 
under this Agreement. 

5.14 Licensed Representative:  The Contractor agrees to provide licensed representatives to perform enrollment and education 
services, and to assist participants with account balance inquiries, investment selection changes, interfund transfers or 
exchanges, and transaction initiation.  These individuals are identified in the PSSF. 

5.15 Subcontracting:  The Contractor may enter into subcontracting agreements for work contemplated under the Agreement.  Any 
subcontractor shall be subject to the same terms and conditions as the Contractor.  The Contractor shall be fully responsible 
for the performance of any subcontractor.   

5.16 Contract Assignability:  Without the prior written consent of the Plan Sponsor, the Agreement is not assignable by the 
Contractor either in whole or in part. 

5.17 Licenses and Permits:  The Contractor shall ensure that it has all necessary licenses and permits required by federal, state, 
and municipal laws, ordinances, rules and regulations.  The Contractor shall maintain these licenses and permits in effect for 
the duration of this Agreement.  The Contractor will notify the Plan Sponsor immediately of loss or suspension of any such 
licenses and permits.  Failure to maintain a required license or permit may result in immediate termination of this Agreement. 

5.18 Conflict of Interest:  The Contractor shall make all reasonable efforts to ensure that no conflict of interest exists between its 
officers, employees, agents or subcontractors and the Plan Sponsor.  The Contractor shall make a reasonable effort to 
prevent employees, consultants, or members of governing bodies from using their positions for purposes that are, or give the 
appearance of being, motivated by a desire for private gain for themselves or others such as those with whom they have 
family, business, or other ties. 

5.19 Improper Consideration:  The Contractor shall not offer or be forced to provide (either directly or through an intermediary) any 
improper consideration such as, but not limited to, cash, discounts, services, the provision of travel or entertainment, or any 
items of value to any officer, employee, group of employees, or agent of the Plan Sponsor in an attempt to secure favorable 
treatment or consideration. 

5.20 Indemnification: The Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold the Plan Sponsor, its officers, employees and agents harmless 
from any loss, liability, claim, suit, fees (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) or judgment resulting from work or acts done or 
omitted by the Contractor’s officers, employees or agents in carrying out the Contractor’s responsibilities as set forth in this 
Agreement to the proportionate extent that it results from the negligence or wrongdoing of the Contractor or any of its officers, 
employees or agents.  The Contractor agreements to indemnify shall not extend to any injury or damage which results from 
the Contractor’s reliance on information transmitted by the Plan Sponsor. 



P a g e  | 9 

The Plan Sponsor agrees to indemnify and hold the Contractor, its officers, employees and agents harmless from any loss, 
liability, claim, suit or judgment resulting from work or acts done or omitted by the Plan Sponsor’s officers, employees or 
agents in carrying out the Plan Sponsor’s responsibilities as set forth in this Agreement to the proportionate extent that it 
results from the negligence or wrongdoing of the Plan Sponsor or any of its officers, employees or agents. 

5.21 Right to Monitor:  The Plan Sponsor or any appointee thereof, shall have the right to review and audit all records, books, 
documents, and other pertinent items as requested, and shall have the right to monitor the performance of the Contractor in 
the delivery of services provided under this Agreement.  Full cooperation shall be given by the Contractor in the 
implementation, and in any auditing or monitoring conducted. 

5.22 Confidentiality:  The Contractor acknowledges that all information made available by the Plan Sponsor about its employees 
shall be considered confidential.  The Contractor agrees that it will not distribute, disclose or release to any third party any 
such confidential information except as may be necessary to the performance of services hereunder either during or at any 
time after the term of the Agreement, upon the prior written approval of the Plan Sponsor or as otherwise required by law.  

5.23 Voya is authorized to share participant information with the firm administering and/or servicing the below referenced plans. I 
acknowledge and understand that it is my responsibility to contact Voya to revoke access should this change. 

  I do not authorize Voya to share participant information. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement (including all referenced and attached Schedules and 
Appendices) to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized as of the Effective Date identified in the PSSF. 
 
 
 
 
 
[EMPLOYER’S NAME ] VOYA RETIREMENT INSURANCE AND ANNUITY COMPANY 
 

By: ____________________________________  By:  
 
Printed Name: ___________________________  Printed Name:  Melissa M. McAuliffe 
 
Title: __________________________________  Title: Vice President 
 
 
 
VOYA FINANCIAL PARTNERS, LLC 
 
 

By:   
 
Printed Name: Carol B. Keen 
 
Title: Vice President 
 



P a g e  | 10 

Schedule A:  Scope of Contractor Services 
 

The Contractor agrees to provide the Plan with the services listed within this Schedule for the term of this Agreement.  For purposes of 
this Schedule, all references to “participant” are intended to apply equally to all account holders under the Plan.  This includes 
participants, beneficiaries and alternate payees.   
 
1. The one-time preparation and implementation of a Plan-specific product and service conversion or transition schedule which 

shall include notice to all Plan participants. 
 
2. The initial installation of overall Plan records and individual Plan participant records.  
 
3. To assist the Plan Sponsor and its legal counsel, the Contractor will provide a specimen plan document upon your request. As a 

specimen plan, you and your legal counsel may modify the document(s) to reflect your Plan design needs.   
 
4. The development of Plan enrollment materials, including basic investment education material.  The distribution of such materials 

shall be as mutually agreed upon by the parties. 
 
5. Conducting introductory on-site education and enrollment meetings for employees.  Ongoing provision of employee enrollment 

and education services, including the provision of enrollment materials which include the necessary information for employees to 
enroll and make investment choices.  Enrollment materials may be made available via the Contractor’s enrollment website. 

 
6. Ongoing allocation of Plan contributions received in Good Order to individual participant accounts, and reconciliation of Plan and 

participant activity on a daily basis.  For purposes of this provision, Plan contributions are deemed to include loan repayments (if 
applicable) and non-routine contributions, such as rollovers or plan to plan transfers, if permitted under the Plan.   

 
7. Contractor will perform one test per month beginning in October through December on each participant account per Plan 

covered by this Agreement for the limit on elective deferrals pursuant to Code section 402(g) and/or 457(e)(15) and on the 
annual additions limit in accordance with Code section 415(c), if applicable.  If the Plan Sponsor sponsors more than one plan, 
the Contractor will not aggregate the plans for testing purposes, unless specifically agreed to within this Agreement. 
 
The Plan Sponsor will be responsible for completion of the Plan’s Form 5500 if the Plan is subject to ERISA and regulatory 
reporting.  The Contractor will provide to the Plan Sponsor or the third party administrator you designate reports reflecting Plan 
data required for completion of Form 5500. 

 
8. Ongoing maintenance of participant beneficiary designations under the Plan, unless the Plan Sponsor has elected out of this 

service within the PSSF, based upon mutually agreed upon procedures which shall be reflected in the Plan document.  
Participants may designate a beneficiary via the Contractor’s participant internet site or by speaking with a customer service 
representative via a toll free telephone line.   
 
Community Property Edit 

 This optional feature of the online beneficiary maintenance service will take into account community property laws applicable in 
the Participant’s resident state at the time that he or she is making a beneficiary designation.  When this service has been 
elected by the Plan Sponsor within the PSSF, the Contractor’s online beneficiary maintenance service will require any participant 
who has identified themselves as being married or in a registered domestic partnership or a civil union and who does not 
designate a person identified as his or her spouse or domestic partner as a primary beneficiary for at least the percentage 
prescribed under the community property laws to complete and submit a paper beneficiary designation form.  

 
9. Ongoing maintenance, recordkeeping of individual participant account records including vesting information, if applicable, and 

processing in a timely manner of all transactions permitted under the Plan as authorized or approved by the Plan Sponsor.  Any 
delegation of the Plan Sponsor’s role of authorizing or approving transactions under the Plan to the Contractor will be as 
directed later within this Schedule or other written instrument between the parties.  Such direction shall not be construed as 
delegating Contractor discretion with respect to such decision.   
 



P a g e  | 11 

10. Ongoing generation of periodic Plan activity reports for Plan Sponsor use, as mutually agreed upon, to be made available 
through a secure website. 
 

11. Ongoing processing of participant-initiated benefit payment requests received in Good Order, calculation and withholding of 
federal and state taxes, and the provision of necessary tax forms on a timely basis to participants who received taxable 
distributions during the previous year. 

 
12. Unless the Plan Sponsor has elected out of the Contribution Rate Change service within the PSSF, the Contractor will establish 

and maintain an electronic interface with the Plan Sponsor for participant enrollment information (including default enrollments) 
and changes to the participant’s contribution amount or rate, as provided in Appendix II and III to Schedule A.  Default 
enrollment service described in Appendix I to Schedule A will apply if the Plan Sponsor has so indicated within the PSSF. 

 
13. Access to customer service representatives via a toll free telephone line to respond to Plan participant inquiries, provide 

information about participants’ accounts and investment options, help facilitate the enrollment of an employee into the Plan and 
to distribute administrative forms. 

 
14. Access to an automated voice response system via toll free telephone lines, through which participants may obtain updated 

account and investment information and initiate transactions permitted under the Plan.   
 

Access to an internet site and mobile app, through which participants may obtain updated account and investment information, 
and initiate transactions permitted under the Plan and requesting forms for initiating certain transactions as permitted under  
the Plan. 
 
The Contractor provides a Personal Identification Number (PIN) for secure Participant online account registration as well as for 
customer service support by phone. A unique, temporary PIN is delivered by the USPS to Participants shortly after an account is 
established. To facilitate account access, temporary PINs can be delivered by email to Participants upon request. This process 
requires at least one Employer email domain to be provided to the Contractor. 

 
15. The Contractor has an ongoing commitment to advancing the retirement readiness of your participants which includes our 

continued addition of self-service planning tools to the participant internet site along with the availability of phone and local Voya 
Financial Advisors representatives to assist individuals with their broader financial needs.  Unless the Plan Sponsor has elected 
not to have these tools be made available to participants in the PSSF, these services are offered outside of the recordkeeping 
services described in this Agreement and are not subject to ERISA.  If individuals elect fee based services, fees are charged 
directly to the employee and will not be withheld from any plan participant account.  In order to facilitate the delivery of the 
services, the Contractor may use participant data to the extent and for purposes authorized by the participant whose data is 
being used.  Securities and investment advisory services offered through Voya Financial Advisors, Inc., member SIPC.  

 
16. Access to a Sponsor Web site, through which a Sponsor may obtain reports and sponsor fee disclosure in accordance with the 

Department of Labor regulations §2550.408(b)(2).  The Sponsor must select a primary contact for the use of the Sponsor Web 
site by completing an administrative form to be provided by the Contractor.   

 

17. Ongoing review and processing of participant-initiated benefit payment requests (including annuity payments, if permitted, and 
death benefits) due to participant’s separation from service or death, on behalf of the Plan Sponsor, based on mutually 
acceptable procedures for the review, qualification and processing of these requests. The Plan Sponsor is responsible for 
providing the Contractor with any and all participant termination data in the mutually agreed upon electronic format, within a 
reasonable time period following the participant’s separation from service or death. In those individual circumstances where the 
Contractor does not have a beneficiary designation on file for the participant, the Contractor will seek written direction from the 
Plan Sponsor as to who to make payment to pursuant to the Plan. Voya’s death claim processing procedures include provisions 
for divorce revocation for non-ERISA plans, in those states that have such provisions.  The Contractor may not make the 
applicable benefit payment request transaction and/or paperwork available to the participant until the termination data is 
received from the Plan Sponsor in Good Order. 

Benefit payment requests are processed as of the date received in Good Order; with payment being mailed or made available 
electronically through ACH.  



P a g e  | 12 

At the Plan Sponsor’s direction, participants who have had a request denied shall be given the opportunity to appeal to the Plan 
Sponsor for a review and final disposition of the determination. 

 
18. Access to counseling by licensed agents or representatives for Plan participants, who are retiring or otherwise requesting a 

benefit payment from the Plan, based on mutually acceptable standards. 
 
19.  Ongoing processing of Required Minimum Distributions (“RMD”) in accordance with the rules of Code Section 401(a)(9) for 

eligible Plan participants and their beneficiaries as follows: 
 

a. Participants:  In the absence of an affirmative election or instructions received in Good Order from the participant on an 
annual basis for receiving the RMD, the Contractor is directed by the Plan Sponsor with respect to the 401(a)/(k) or 
457(b) Plan, to calculate and distribute the RMD amount.  With respect to the 403(b) Plan to calculate the RMD amount 
but not distribute the RMD amount unless the participant requests such payment.  The Contractor shall calculate the 
RMD in the following manner. 

i. For participants with either (1) no beneficiary, (2) a non-spouse beneficiary, (3) a spouse beneficiary without 
a date of birth, or (4) a non-individual beneficiary (e.g., charitable organization), calculate the current year 
RMD by dividing the account balance on 12/31 of the prior year by the distribution period under the Uniform 
Lifetime Table using the participant’s age on 12/31 of the current year.  

ii. For participants with a spouse beneficiary more than 10 years younger than the participant, calculate the 
current year RMD by dividing the account balance on 12/31 of the prior year by the combined life 
expectancy factor under the Joint and Last Survivor Table using the ages of the participant and the spouse 
beneficiary on 12/31 of the current year. 

iii. For participants who are at least 70-1/2 years of age in a calendar year and have separated from service 
with their employer, any distribution requested will first be reduced by the applicable RMD for the distribution 
calendar year. 

 
b. Beneficiary(ies):  In the absence of an affirmative election or instructions received in Good Order from the beneficiary 

(ies), the Plan Sponsor directs the Contractor to calculate the RMD amount in accordance with Code Section 
401(a)(9) provided the Contractor has received in Good Order proper notification of the participant’s death and 
complete beneficiary(ies) information (including the complete name and address of the beneficiary(ies)). In situations 
where the life expectancy rules are not available for the calculation of the RMD either because the Contractor has not 
received the requisite information by the date for issuing RMD payments or the beneficiary is not entitled to receive 
RMD under the life expectancy rules, the Plan Sponsor directs the Contractor to apply the five-year payout rule and 
force out a lump sum by December 31st of the fifth year following the year of the participant’s death. 

 
The Plan Sponsor acknowledges that the Contractor shall not be responsible for any tax penalties or excise taxes the Plan 
Sponsor, Plan participants, or beneficiaries may incur as a result of the Contractor’s failure to calculate and distribute the RMD 
amount where the failure is due to the Plan Sponsor’s, the Plan participant’s or the beneficiaries’ failure to provide the required 
information in a timely manner.  

 
20. Ongoing facilitation of communications between the Contractor, the Plan Sponsor and the Plan participants based on mutually 

acceptable guidelines. 
 



P a g e  | 13 

Appendix I to Schedule A:   
 

Default Enrollment Services 
 
 
If elected by the Plan Sponsor within the PSSF, this service allows the Plan Sponsor to adopt a default enrollment feature and to 
establish an electronic interface with the Contractor for acceptance of enrollment and contributions in the absence of a participant-
initiated enrollment into the Plan.   
 
Plan Sponsor acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that a default enrollment complies with their state laws in regards to wage 
withholding.  The payroll withholding laws of the Plan Sponsor’s state should be reviewed prior to election of this service to determine if 
deductions without an employee’s written consent is permitted.   
 
Plan Sponsor Responsibilities 
The Plan Sponsor will be responsible for providing the Contractor with timely and accurate census information at least 2 business days 
prior to the submission of each payroll contribution to the Contractor. The Plan Sponsor will provide the Contractor with the following 
census information for any participant not previously enrolled in the Plan:  
 

 Social Security Number 
 Name 
 Address  
 Date of Birth 
 Date of Hire 

 
This information will be provided to the Contractor in a mutually agreeable electronic format.  
 
Default Investment Arrangement -  
The Plan Sponsor understands that it has the fiduciary responsibility to choose the appropriate “default” investment option, and 
therefore, may choose from any of the investment options available under the Plan.  The default investment option selected by the Plan 
Sponsor is reflected within the Investment Selection Section of the PSSF.   
 
Enrollment Material Requirements 
The Licensed Representative identified in the PSSF will provide enrollment materials to each participant following default enrollment 
into the Plan.  The materials must include, but are not limited to the following: fact sheets for each of the available investment options, 
fund performance, participant disclosure booklet and information on how a participant can access their account to make account 
changes.  
 
The Plan Sponsor will notify the Licensed Representative of those employees who must receive enrollment materials.  It is understood 
and acknowledged by the Plan Sponsor and Contractor that the Licensed Representative is responsible for the distribution of 
enrollment materials to the employees identified as default enrolled into the Plan.   



P a g e  | 14 

Appendix II to Schedule A:   
 

Contribution Rate Services 
 
 
Contribution Rate Change Service: 
This service allows participants to make contribution rate changes via the Contractor’s participant internet site or by speaking with a 
customer service representative of the Contractor.  Please note it is your responsibility to notify the Contractor of terminated employees. 
Contribution rate changes in fractional percentages are supported after enrollment.  This service supports the older worker catch-up 
contribution elections (if available under the Plan).  No other types of catch-up or make-up contribution options available under the Plan 
are supported by the service.   
 
Plan Sponsor acknowledges that it is responsible for ensuring that the Contribution Rate Change Service complies with their state laws 
in regards to wage withholding. The payroll withholding laws of the Plan Sponsor’s state should be reviewed prior to implementation of 
this program to determine if deductions, and/or contribution rate changes, without an employee’s written consent are permitted.  The 
service includes increases, decreases, stops and restarts, either based on participant direction, or as directed by the Plan as a result of 
loans or unforeseeable emergency withdrawals. 
 
Participant Directed Contribution Rate Escalator Service 
This service allows participants to elect automatic increases in deferral rates via the Contractor’s participant internet site or by speaking 
with a customer service representative of the Contractor.  Participant will indicate the frequency and amount of the contribution rate 
increase.  The Contractor will send a reminder to the participant 30 days prior to the automatic increase.   
 
Restrictions and Limitations: 
 This service is only available if the Plan Sponsor elects to utilize the Contractor’s Contribution Rate Change Service. 
 This service does not apply to catch-up contribution elections.  
 If there is a conflict between a participant’s Contribution Rate Escalator service and the contribution limits applicable to the Plan, 

the participant’s contribution rate escalator election will be cancelled. 
 The Participant’s contribution rate escalator election will be cancelled if participant submits a contribution rate change election 

pursuant to the Contribution Rate Change Service above. 



P a g e  | 15 

Appendix III to Schedule A:   
 

Payroll Feedback File 
 
Payroll Feedback File 
The Contractor will provide a periodic payroll feedback file through an automated process.  It is the responsibility of the Plan Sponsor to 
obtain the file through the Contractor’s plan sponsor internet site and to update its payroll system based upon the data contained in the 
payroll feedback file in accordance with applicable Code requirements and regulations governing the effective date of deferral elections 
to the Plan.   
 
The payroll feedback file is a .csv format file which can be uploaded to most payroll systems.  As an alternative, a payroll feedback 
report in a .pdf format can be printed and used for manual entry into a payroll system.  
 
Reporting Frequency: 
The Contractor will provide the automated contribution rate reporting data on the frequency that best meets the needs of the Plan 
Sponsor.   
 
Notification of Report Availability: 
The Plan Sponsor’s Payroll Contact identified in the PSSF will receive notification of when the payroll feedback file is available.  It is 
understood and acknowledged by the Plan Sponsor and Contractor that the Payroll Contact designated by the Plan Sponsor is 
responsible for accessing the file when notified of its availability.    
 
In the event that the designated Payroll Contact is removed or replaced, the Plan Sponsor is responsible for notifying the Contractor 
immediately in writing.   
 
 



 

 P a g e  | 16 

 

Schedule B:  Loan Program 
 
Terms of Contractor’s Loan Program (“Loan Program”) to apply to any loan issued under the Plan will be pursuant to this Schedule B 
as supplemented by the Loan Provision elections made by the Plan Sponsor within the PSSF  
 

 Maximum Loan Amount - the maximum amount of a loan made pursuant to this Loan Program shall be an amount which, when 
added to the outstanding balance of any other loans to the participant from the Plan and any other qualified plan of the Employer, 
does not exceed the lesser of:  

(i) $50,000 reduced by the excess (if any) of  
a) the highest outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the participant during the one year period ending on 

the day before the date on which such loan is made, less  
b) the outstanding balance of loans from the Plan to the participant on the date on which such loan was made, or 

(ii) one-half (1/2) of the present value of the non-forfeitable accrued benefit of the participant under the Plan.     
 For purposes of this limit, all plans of the Employer shall be considered one plan, to the extent required by Section 72 of 

the Internal Revenue Code, and the balance of all loans under any plan of the Employer under which the individual 
participates must be aggregated in determining the maximum loan available from the Plan.  The Employer will be 
responsible for confirming the accuracy of the loan amount available for participant and has an outstanding loan balance 
with an Employer sponsored plan that is not administered by the Contractor. 

 All assets under the participant’s Account with the Contractor will be considered in determining the maximum loan amount 
available. 

 Loan fee shall be deducted from the participant’s total account balance before determining the maximum loan amount 
available. 

 Prepayment - Prepayment of the full loan amount will be allowed at any time, without penalty.  Partial loan prepayments are not 
permitted. 

 Investment of Loan Repayments - Loan repayments will be allocated in accordance with the participant’s current contribution 
investment allocation instructions on the date a loan repayment is received in good order. 

 Loan Default Restrictions - If the participant defaults on any loan under the Plan, the participant shall not be allowed to initiate 
another loan of that type under the Plan until the defaulted amount is repaid. 

 Loan Fee - The Contractor shall charge a one-time fee to the Participant at the time of loan for services rendered under this Loan 
Program, in the amount of $100 per loan. 

 Fund Withdrawal Sequence – money will be withdrawn from participant investment options on a pro-rata basis.   

 Loan Authorization – The Contractor will be responsible for authorizing loan disbursements.   

 Loan Default Monitoring – Where the Contractor is recordkeeping loans under the Plan, the Contractor will perform loan default 
monitoring as described herein.  The loan default process will occur on the next to last business day of each month. This schedule 
allows us to effectively monitor and take action on loans that risk default. The Plan Sponsor agrees that the Plan document shall 
identify the Grace Period as the last business day of the calendar quarter following the calendar quarter in which the loan 
repayment was due. You also agree to have the Contractor actively monitor and alert participants of potential loan defaults and 
defaulted loans. 

  
Plan Sponsor Responsibilities: 
 Ensure the Plan document and any applicable state/local law allows for loans to be administered in accordance with the terms of 

this Loan Program. 
 The Plan Sponsor will inform the Contractor of the any change to the provisions of the Loan Program (and thus the criteria for 

approving loans under the Plan) as identified in this Schedule and the PSSF. 
 Establish payroll deduction of loan repayment amount for each participant with an approved loan, unless the loan repayment 

method elected is ACH debit. 



P a g e  | 17 

 If the loan repayment method elected is payroll deduction, the Plan Sponsor will remit loan repayment amounts via the payroll 
submission tool being utilized by the Plan Sponsor on behalf of each active participant with an approved loan.  The data provided 
is to include the loan identifier and repayment amount.   

 Notify the Contractor of any participant with an outstanding loan who begins a leave of absence, either bona fide (for a period of 
not more than one year) or due to uniformed service (military duty) and for whom suspension of loan repayments will apply.  The 
data provided is to include the type of leave, the start date and the end date.   

 
Contractor Responsibilities: 

 The Contractor will set the interest rate to apply to loans issued under the Plan.  Such rate will be determined monthly for new 
loans.  A loan will be processed using the rate in effect when the loan request package is sent to the participant. The loan request 
package and interest rate will be valid for a maximum of 30 days.  The Contractor will reset the loan interest rate as indicated in 
the Loan Interest Rate section above. The rate will apply for the duration of the loan. 

 Process loans from a participant’s account in accordance with the terms of the Loan Program and the loan request package.  The 
Contractor will rely on information provided by the Plan Sponsor or its designee to monitor regulatory limitations when issuing 
loans.  The Contractor will not be responsible for any errors resulting from the failure of the Plan Sponsor or its designee to provide 
complete and accurate information.   

 Deduct the loan amount from the participant’s account based on the Money Source Withdrawal Sequence selected above, on a 
pro-rata basis across all current investment options within the participants account or such other method as agreed upon between 
Contractor and the participant. 

 Generate reports, including a Loan Amortization Report, to be made available to the Plan Sponsor through a secure website.  

 Furnish participants with quarterly account statements, reflecting loan activity since the prior statement date. 

 Provide the Plan Sponsor with the loan repayment amount for each participant loan as determined by the level amortization 
calculation applicable to the amount of the loan, the repayment frequency, and selected repayment period.   Loan repayment 
amounts will be provided through an automated periodic payroll feedback file as described in Appendix III to Schedule A.   
 
Loans can be re-amortized only upon written direction from the Plan Sponsor and only if there has been a change in the 
borrower’s payroll frequency or status.  Outstanding loans cannot be refinanced. 

 Upon notice from Plan Sponsor that a participant with an outstanding loan is on a qualifying leave of absence, loan repayments 
may be suspended for the maximum period permitted under IRS rules.  Currently, IRS rules permit loan repayments to be 
suspended in the following circumstances:  
 A participant on a bona fide leave may suspend payments for up to one year if the pay received by the participant during this 

period is less than the amount of the installment payments required under the terms of the loan. However, the loan must still 
be repaid by the end of the loan term (i.e., the period of suspension will be less than one year if the loan was within one year 
of the final payment due date when the leave began). 

 A participant on a leave of absence due to performance of the uniformed services (as described under Internal Revenue Code 
Section 414(u)), may elect to suspend loan repayments for the period of uniformed service.  In this situation, upon the 
participant’s return from uniformed service, the loan repayment period will be extended by a period equal to the length of the 
uniformed service. 

 The Contractor will monitor loan repayments and perform default processing if there is an outstanding balance after the scheduled 
loan maturity date or there is more than one scheduled loan repayment not received by the end of the Grace Period. Should this 
occur, the entire loan will be in default.  Each month, we will generate a warning notification to any participant who has missed 
more than one loan repayment during the previous quarter or has an outstanding balance after the scheduled loan maturity date. 
The notification will describe the implications of missing a loan repayment and the date on which the loan will be defaulted unless a 
repayment is promptly received. At the same time, we will generate a series of loan reports as noted below to be made available to 
the Plan Sponsor through a secure website.  

 
1. Missed First Loan Payment Report – reflects loans with a first payment due during the current or previous month and have not 

had any loan payments applied.  
2. Delinquent Loans Report – reflects loans that had any missing payments during the current month.   



P a g e  | 18 

3. Loans Past Maturity Report – reflects loans that had a loan payoff/maturity date during the current month but have an 
outstanding loan balance.  

4. Deemed/Offset Loans Report – reflects loans that were deemed or offset due to not being paid by the grace period applicable 
to the Plan.   

 

On the last business day of the calendar quarter we will default any loan in which the grace period expires that day. A confirmation 
statement will be sent to participants for whom a loan default is processed. 

 Compute and withhold federal and state income taxes, as required by law, for loan defaults or withdrawals from the Plan in order 
to repay outstanding loan amounts in full, in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code and applicable guidance.  The Contractor 
will forward, within the applicable time limit, the appropriate information return reflecting the amount of the defaulted loan 
disbursement and taxes withheld to the appropriate taxing authority and to the participant. 



P a g e  | 19 

Schedule C:  Administrative Requirements 
 
For purposes of this Schedule, all references to “participant” are intended to apply equally to all account holders under the Plan.  This 
includes participants, beneficiaries and alternate payees.   
 
1. Participant account statements and Plan Sponsor reports shall reflect accurate information with regard to contributions, 

allocations, earnings and withdrawals.  Plan Sponsor agrees to review statements, IRS filings and other report or documents 
produced by the Contractor and to promptly identify in writing any errors or discrepancies.  The Contractor agrees to correct any 
errors it is promptly notified of without charge.  The Contractor will not have any additional liability for errors, unless due solely to 
its gross negligence.   

 
2. Participant account statements include detail regarding all transactions since the prior statement date.   
 
3. Under normal circumstances and unless otherwise authorized by the Plan Sponsor; participant quarterly statements shall be 

mailed within 15 days of the end of a calendar quarter.  Where a participant has more than one Plan account subject to this 
Agreement, the account statement will reflect all Plan account balances, unless you direct the Contractor otherwise.   

 
4. Information on payout options, including a notice which satisfies the requirements of Internal Revenue Code Section 402(f), will 

be made available to participants through the internet or a toll free telephone number.  Additionally, upon a terminated 
participant’s request, a licensed representative will provide to the participant education and assistance on the available payout 
options.  

 
5. Contributions including loan repayments (if applicable) determined to be in Good Order on any day that the New York Stock 

Exchange is open (a "Business Day"), and prior to the close of the exchange, shall be applied to the appropriate account on that 
day's close of business of the New York Stock Exchange.  Contributions received at any other time will be applied to the 
appropriate account on the next succeeding Business Day.  Written confirmation of receipt and deposit will be provided to the 
Plan Sponsor or its designee by mail.  The Contractor shall notify the Plan Sponsor or its designee by telephone within two 
business days of discovery of transactions received not in Good Order.  If after 5 business days, transactions remain not in 
Good Order, the Contractor will require the Plan Sponsor to provide written consent for the Contractor to continue holding the 
amount of the contributions related to the not in Good Order transactions in a non-interest bearing suspense account.  If after 14 
business days, the transactions remain not in Good Order, the amount of the contributions received not in Good Order will be 
refunded to the Plan Sponsor. 

 
6. The Plan Sponsor will be responsible for completion of the Plan’s Form 5500 if the Plan is subject to ERISA and regulatory 

reporting. The Company will provide to the Plan Sponsor or the third party administrator you designate reports reflecting Plan 
data required for completion of Form 5500. 

 
7. The Contractor will maintain appropriate records and documents for not less than six years from document creation.  Upon 

reasonable prior notice, each party will make available to the other such records and documents relating to this Agreement as 
may be required for a Plan audit.   



P a g e  | 20 

Appendix I to Schedule C:   
 

Information Sharing Agreement 
applicable to 403(b) Plans 

 
If this Agreement covers a 403(b) Plan, the Plan Sponsor acknowledges that the 403(b) Plan under which is funded by 403(b) annuity 
contract(s) and/or 403(b)(7) custodial accounts issued or administered by VRIAC (“the Voya Contracts”, for purposes of this appendix) 
permits contract exchanges and that the Voya Contracts are available to receive both ongoing contributions and contract exchanges 
under the 403(b) Plan. Information sharing as described in this appendix applies to the Voya Contracts issued on behalf of a 
participant or beneficiary (pursuant to sections 1.403(b)-(2)(b) (3) and (12) of the Final Treasury Regulations) pursuant to an exchange 
from a prior issuer’s 403(b) contract as described in section 1.403(b)-10(b) of the Treasury Regulations under the Plan Sponsor’s 
403(b) Plan.  

 Plan Sponsor and VRIAC agree to share with each other the following information from time to time:  

 Information necessary for the Voya Contracts, or any other contract to which contributions have been made by the Plan 
Sponsor under the 403(b) Plan on behalf of the participant or beneficiary, to satisfy section 403(b), including information 
concerning the participant’s employment, if applicable, and information that takes into account the participant or beneficiary’s 
other section 403(b) contracts or qualified employer plans (such as whether a severance from employment has occurred for 
purposes of the distributions restrictions in §1.403(b)-6 of the Final Treasury Regulations and whether the hardship 
withdrawal rules of §1.403(b)-6(d)(2) are satisfied). 

 Information necessary for the Voya Contracts, or any other contract to which contributions have been made by the Plan 
Sponsor under the 403(b) Plan on behalf of the same individual, to satisfy other tax requirements (such as whether a plan 
loan satisfies the conditions in Internal Revenue Code section 72(p)(2) so that the loan is not a deemed distribution under 
section 72(p)(2)). 

 Any other information required to comply with the applicable laws and regulations. 

 The Plan Sponsor agrees to comply with the Final IRS 403(b) regulations which were generally effective January 1, 2009. 

 The Plan Sponsor agrees to provide the Contractor with a list of all issuers approved to issue 403(b) contracts to participants 
or beneficiaries under the 403(b) Plan and the Contractor agrees to cooperate with respect to sharing information as 
described in this section.  The Plan Sponsor agrees to identify VRIAC and/or Voya Institutional Trust Company as an 
approved Investment Provider and the Voya Contracts as available under the Plan to receive both ongoing contributions and 
contract exchanges in a written plan as required by the January 1, 2009 403(b) regulations or any extension of such date.. 

 The Plan Sponsor agrees to partner with the Contractor and other approved Providers and, and if applicable, any third party 
administrators to develop both procedures and agreements to share participant information, as required by the 403(b) 
regulations, including the information mentioned above, and any other information necessary to comply with the new 403(b) 
regulations.   

 The Plan Sponsor agrees to establish a written plan that covers both required elements and any optional features and to 
amend the plan as may be necessary from time to time. 

 The Plan Sponsor agrees to review any applicable state laws and local laws and collective bargaining agreements regarding 
any provisions about exchanges of participant 403(b) accounts. 

 The Contractor agrees to request information regarding a prior 403(b) contract from the prior issuer at the time of an 
exchange into any Voya Contracts and provide information to any successor issuer in any subsequent exchange transaction 
out of any Voya Contracts.   
 
In the absence of available information regarding all or any portion of a 403(b) contract, the Contractor shall rely on the rules 
described in §1.403(b)-6(d)(3) of the Final Treasury Regulations. 



P a g e  | 21 

Schedule D: Additional Plan Services & Fees 
 
Miscellaneous Plan Service Charges 
a. Express mailing of termination, withdrawal and loan checks & related paperwork to participant (on exception basis only).  

$50.00 per occurrence, to be assessed against the participant’s account.  EFT and ACH Credit are free of charge.   

b. Wiring of termination, withdrawal and loan proceeds to participant.  
$50.00 per occurrence, to be assessed against the participant’s account.  EFT and ACH Credit are free of charge.   

c. Stop payment.   
$50.00 per occurrence, to be assessed against the participant’s account.   

d. A loan initiation fee will apply to each Plan subject to this Agreement that permits loans.  The Contractor shall charge a one-time 
fee to the participant at the time of loan for services rendered. 
$100 per loan, to be assessed against the participant’s account 

e. A self-directed brokerage account fee applicable to each Plan subject to this Agreement that has elected to use this optional 
service.  
$50.00 annual fee per participant, to be assessed against the participant’s account. 

f. If investment advisory services are selected, Morningstar Retirement Manager offers two unique services.  Manage My Plan 
Manually, an online advice service, has no charge.  Have Morningstar Manage My Plan, a managed account service, has variable 
charges based on Plan assets.  Please refer to the Morningstar Retirement Manager agreement for charges specific to your Plan. 

g. If the Portfolio Blueprint® 3(21) or 3(38) program is selected, the pricing of the Voya product offered to your Plan is affected by 
several factors including the use of this program.  As compensation, Morningstar Associates, the provider of the Portfolio 
Blueprint® program, may receive from the Contractor a fixed annual fee plus a variable fee based on Plan assets.  Please refer to 
the Portfolio Blueprint Program Service Agreement for fees specific to your Plan and other important information.  

h. Other Charges.  In addition to any other charges described herein, an additional charge will be incurred if we agree to provide 
other special services at your request.  The charge will be based on our standard charge for such service or will be based on a 
formula for time spent to provide the service.  You will be notified at the time of your request if an additional charge is applicable. 

 
 



 

 P a g e  | 22 

 

Schedule E: Plan Investment Options 
 
The Contractor agrees to provide Plan participants with a selection of investment options elected by the Plan Sponsor within the 
Investment Selection Section of the PSSF.  The Plan Sponsor acknowledges that it has chosen these investment options to be made 
available to participants under the Plan.  The Plan Sponsor acknowledges receipt and has reviewed the prospectuses for each 
identified investment option.   
 
Stability of Principal Disclosure 
For the RetireFlex product, the Stability of Principal option, the Voya Fixed Account – 457/401 II, is not a variable investment option, 
but is a fixed interest option offered through a group annuity contract issued by VRIAC. Guarantees are based on the claims paying 
ability of VRIAC. VRIAC will notify the Plan Sponsor of the calendar year minimum rate(s) through the December 31st Fund 
Performance report (the rates will be shown in the Additional Notes section following the performance tables).  This report will be 
available in the first few days of January through the Sponsor Website in the Investment Information section.  The actual credited 
interest rate will be the greater of the declared interest rate, the calendar year floor rate in effect and the minimum guaranteed interest 
rate set forth in the group annuity contract.   
 
Stability of Principal Restrictions 
For the Retirement Choice II product, upon your election to terminate this Agreement, the Plan assets invested in the Fixed Plus III 
investment option on the effective date of the termination will be subject to “extended payout provision” rules. 
 
Additional Information 
For additional information on the Stability of Principal investment option available to the Plan, including all withdrawal rules and 
restrictions, please refer to the product disclosure booklet included within the Welcome Package provided by VRIAC, or to the group 
annuity contract.   
 
 
Plan Sponsor should consider the investment objectives, risks, and charges and expenses of the investment options 
carefully before choosing to make these options available to participants under the Plan.  Fund prospectuses containing this 
and other information can be obtained by contacting your local representative.  Please read the information carefully before 
signing this Agreement.  You may also visit our website at www.voyaretirementplans.com/sponsor to view your Plan 
information on-line. 



P a g e  | 23 

Schedule F:  Investment Provider Minimum Standards Disclosure Statement 
 
The following items summarize the minimum administrative requirements required in order for the Contractor to transact with an 
investment provider on the Plan’s behalf: 
 
1. Pricing Deadlines:  The investment provider must furnish the Contractor with confirmed net asset value information as of the 

close of trading (generally 4:00 p.m., Eastern Time) on the New York Stock Exchange (“Close of Trading”) on each business day 
that the New York Stock Exchange is open for business (“Business Day”) or at such other time as the net asset value of the fund 
is calculated as disclosed in the relevant then current prospectus(es) in a format that includes (i) the fund’s name and the 
change from the last calculated net asset value, (ii) dividend and capital gains information as it arises, and (iii) in the case of a 
fixed income fund, the daily accrual or the distribution rate factor.  Such information shall be provided to the Contractor by 6:30 
p.m. Eastern Time.  “Net” means after all management, service and administrative expenses are deducted.   
 

2. Pricing Error Reimbursements:  The investment provider shall agree to hold the Plan harmless for any amounts erroneously 
credited to participant accounts due to (i) an incorrect calculation of the fund’s daily net asset value (“NAV”), dividend rate, or 
capital gains distribution rate or (ii) incorrect or late reporting of the daily net asset value, dividend rate, or capital gains 
distribution rate of a fund, by reimbursing the Contractor, on the Plan’s behalf.  In addition, the fund shall be liable to the 
Contractor for systems and out of pocket costs incurred by the Contractor in making the Plan’s or the participant’s account 
whole, if such costs or expenses are a result of the fund’s failure to provide timely or correct net asset values, dividend and 
capital gains or financial information and if such information is not corrected by 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time of the next Business Day 
after releasing such incorrect information provided the incorrect NAV as well as the correct NAV for each day that the error 
occurred is provided.  If a mistake is caused in supplying such information, which results in a reconciliation with incorrect 
information, the amount required to make a Plan’s or a Participant’s account whole shall be borne by the investment provider 
providing the incorrect information, regardless of when the error is corrected. 
 

3. Sales Literature:  The investment provider will provide to the Contractor at least one complete copy of all prospectuses, 
statements of additional information, annual and semiannual reports and proxy statements, other related documents, and all 
amendments or supplements to any of the above documents that relate to the fund promptly after the filing of such document 
with the SEC or other regulatory authorities.  The investment provider agrees to provide to the Contractor, in electronic format, 
performance updates and portfolio updates for the fund within 10 business days after the end of each calendar quarter. 

 
4. Advertising:  Advertising and literature with respect to the fund prepared by the Contractor for use in marketing shares of the 

fund to the Plan shall be submitted to the investment provider for review and approval before such material is used with the 
Plan.  The investment provider shall advise the Contractor in writing within three (3) Business Days of receipt of such materials 
of its approval or disapproval of such materials. 

 
5. Expense Reimbursement:  The investment provider shall make available for reimbursement certain out-of-pocket expenses the 

Contractor incurs in connection with providing shareholder services to the Plan.  These expenses include actual postage paid by 
the Contractor in connection with mailing updated prospectuses, supplements and financial reports to participants, and all costs 
incurred by the Contractor associated with proxies for the fund, including proxy preparation, group authorization letters, 
programming for tabulation and necessary materials (including postage).  

 
6. Excessive Trading:  The investment provider shall use its best efforts and shall reasonably cooperate with the Contractor to 

generally prevent any market timing and frequent trading activity under the Plan.  See the Contractor’s “Excessive Trading” 
Policy, Schedule G. 

 



P a g e  | 24 

Schedule G:  Voya Financial® “Excessive Trading” Policy 
 

The Voya Financial® family of insurance companies (“Voya®”), as providers of multi-fund variable insurance and retirement products, has adopted 
this Excessive Trading Policy to respond to the demands of the various fund families which make their funds available through our variable insurance 
and retirement products to restrict excessive fund trading activity and to ensure compliance with Section 22c-2 of the Investment Company Act of 
1940, as amended.  Voya’s current definition of Excessive Trading and our policy with respect to such trading activity is as follows.   

1. Voya actively monitors fund transfer and reallocation activity within its variable insurance and retirement products to identify Excessive Trading. 

Voya currently defines Excessive Trading as: 
a. More than one purchase and sale of the same fund (including money market funds) within a 60 calendar day period (hereinafter, a 

purchase and sale of the same fund is referred to as a “round-trip”).  This means two or more round-trips involving the same fund 
within a 60 calendar day period would meet Voya’s definition of Excessive Trading; or  

b. Six round-trips within a 12 month period.  

The following transactions are excluded when determining whether trading activity is excessive: 
a. Purchases or sales of shares related to non-fund transfers (for example, new purchase payments, withdrawals and loans); 
b. Transfers associated with scheduled dollar cost averaging, scheduled rebalancing or scheduled asset allocation programs; 
c. Purchases and sales of fund shares in the amount of $5,000 or less; 
d. Purchases and sales of funds that affirmatively permit short-term trading in their fund shares, and movement between such funds and 

a money market fund; and 
e. Transactions initiated by a member of the Voya family of insurance companies. 

2. If Voya determines that an individual has made a purchase of a fund within 60 days of a prior round-trip involving the same fund, Voya will send 
them a letter warning that another sale of that same fund within 60 days of the beginning of the prior round-trip will be deemed to be Excessive 
Trading and result in a six month suspension of their ability to initiate fund transfers or reallocations through the Internet, facsimile, Voice 
Response Unit  (VRU), telephone calls to Customer Service, or other electronic trading medium that Voya may make available from time to time 
(“Electronic Trading Privileges”).  Likewise, if Voya determines that an individual has made five round-trips within a 12 month period, Voya will 
send them a letter warning that another purchase and sale of that same fund within 12 months of the initial purchase in the first round-trip in the 
prior twelve month period will be deemed to be Excessive Trading and result in a six month suspension of their Electronic Trading Privileges. 
According to the needs of the various business units, a copy of the warning letters may also be sent, as applicable, to the person(s) or entity 
authorized to initiate fund transfers or reallocations, the agent/registered representative or investment adviser for that individual.  A copy of the 
warning letters and details of the individual’s trading activity may also be sent to the fund whose shares were involved in the trading activity.   

3. If Voya determines that an individual has used one or more of its products to engage in Excessive Trading, Voya will send a second letter to the 
individual. This letter will state that the individual’s Electronic Trading Privileges have been suspended for a period of six months. Consequently, 
all fund transfers or reallocations, not just those which involve the fund whose shares were involved in the Excessive Trading activity, will then 
have to be initiated by providing written instructions to Voya via regular U.S. mail. During the six month suspension period, electronic “inquiry 
only” privileges will be permitted where and when possible.   A copy of the letter restricting future transfer and reallocation activity to regular 
U.S. mail and details of the individual’s trading activity may also be sent to the fund whose shares were involved in the Excessive Trading 
activity. 

4. Following the six month suspension period during which no additional Excessive Trading is identified, Electronic Trading Privileges may again 
be restored.  Voya will continue to monitor the fund transfer and reallocation activity, and any future Excessive Trading will result in an indefinite 
suspension of the Electronic Trading Privileges.  Excessive Trading activity during the six month suspension period will also result in an 
indefinite suspension of the Electronic Trading Privileges. 

5. Voya reserves the right to limit fund trading or reallocation privileges with respect to any individual, with or without prior notice, if Voya 
determines that the individual’s trading activity is disruptive, regardless of whether the individual’s trading activity falls within the definition of 
Excessive Trading set forth above.  Also, Voya’s failure to send or an individual’s failure to receive any warning letter or other notice 
contemplated under this Policy will not prevent Voya from suspending that individual’s Electronic Trading Privileges or taking any other action 
provided for in this Policy. 

6. Each fund available through Voya’s variable insurance and retirement products, either by prospectus or stated policy, has adopted or may 
adopt its own excessive/frequent trading policy. Voya reserves the right, without prior notice, to implement restrictions and/or block future 
purchases of a fund by an individual who the fund has identified as violating its excessive/frequent trading policy.  All such restrictions and/or 
blocking of future fund purchases will be done in accordance with the directions Voya receives from the fund. 



P a g e  | 25 

Schedule H:  General Compensation Provisions 
 
1. Direct and Indirect Compensation:   

This Schedule describes compensation received by the Contractor for services rendered to the Plan and Plan participants, 
including fees and revenue derived from both direct and indirect sources.   
 
Direct Compensation includes compensation paid directly by Plan Sponsor or the Plan to the Contractor for plan 
recordkeeping and administrative services including certain transaction fees that are charged directly to participant accounts.  
 
Indirect Compensation includes compensation from sources other than direct fees that the Contractor may collect from third 
parties, including revenue derived from service arrangements with mutual funds, revenue sharing and other indirect 
compensation that may be generated in servicing the Plan. 
 

2. Assumptions:   
As provided in Section 1 of the Agreement, the Contractor has agreed to perform certain services.  Based on the assumptions 
outlined in the Agreement and PSSF, the Contractor agrees to supply the Services for the compensation specified in Section 
3.01 of the Agreement, as supplemented by any additional compensation or transaction fees as specified within Schedule D and 
with respect to Investment Advisory Services and/or Self Directed Brokerage Account, if available and as specified in a 
separately executed agreement(s).  

 
3. Fund Specific Revenue:   

Indirect compensation received by the Contractor represents revenue from investment companies based on the investment of 
assets held in the Plan pursuant to agreements between the applicable investment companies and the Contractor.  They 
represent fees payable from such investment companies for shareholder services, sub-transfer agency services, or pursuant to 
a 12b-1 plan adopted by such investment companies.   
 
In the case of investment options of VRIAC affiliates or former affiliates, Contractor compensation represents revenue 
assumptions made by the Contractor’s defined contribution business for purposes of product pricing.  Gross revenues from such 
investment options generally include payments for investment management and for certain administrative services.  Pricing 
assumptions are derived from gross fund revenues, less the internally transferred costs of fund management and administration.  
The pricing assumptions for certain investment options of VRIAC affiliates or former affiliates reflect the approximate weighted 
average of the net fund revenues of each portfolio within a given VRIAC fund complex. 
 
In the case of the fixed income fund, the Contractor does not derive revenue at a fixed rate.  As is the case with similar 
insurance company general account investment options, over the long-term we expect to earn a spread between the investment 
return on the underlying general account assets and amounts credited to contracts that utilize the Fixed Account.  This spread is 
intended to cover our investment related expenses, a portion of product administration expenses that would otherwise be 
covered by explicit charges, and the risks associated with the minimum monthly, annual (if applicable), and lifetime interest rate 
guarantees, including those associated with asset defaults, as well as to provide a profit margin for the Contractor.  

 
4. Changes in Investment Options:   

To the extent the Contractor’s compensation is derived in whole or in part from revenue from the Plan Sponsor’s selection of 
certain investment products offered by or through the Contractor, the Contractor reserves the right to amend the Agreement, 
including this Schedule, in the event such revenue is reduced by a change in the investment products or options available under 
the Plan.   



 

 P a g e  | 26 

 

Schedule I:  VRIAC’s Policy for Correction of Inadvertent Processing Errors 
 

As your Plan’s administrative service provider, Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company (“VRIAC”) has agreed to 
process transaction orders received in good order prior to market close from the plan and plan participants accurately and on a timely 
basis.  We seek to avoid transaction processing errors to the greatest extent possible, but inadvertent errors do occur from time to 
time.  Inadvertent processing errors are exclusively defined as incorrect or untimely processing by VRIAC employees of transactions 
that are received in good order.  Inadvertent processing errors do not include errors made by plan sponsors or third parties.   

VRIAC will correct any identified inadvertent processing error caused by VRIAC (a “VRIAC inadvertent processing error”) as 
soon as practicable, typically no later than five (5) business days after VRIAC has identified sufficient information to correct the error.  
VRIAC represents that in no event will VRIAC exercise discretionary authority or control over the correction of inadvertent processing 
errors in order to maximize gain or correct such error for VRIAC’s own benefit or interest. 

Once a VRIAC inadvertent processing error has been identified, we promptly take corrective action to put the plan and 
its participants in a position financially equivalent to the position they would have been in if the processing error had not 
occurred.  This means that VRIAC will make the plan whole for any loss to a plan resulting from correcting a VRIAC processing 
error.  If any gain to a plan results in connection with a corrected transaction, VRIAC will keep that gain.  The following examples 
illustrate the effect of the policy: 

• When a plan participant directs that a certain dollar amount be contributed to his or her plan account, VRIAC credits the 
number of investment units that dollar amount will purchase to the participant’s account on Day 1, the day the contribution is 
processed. 
The number of units is based on the unit’s dollar value on Day 1, as set by the investment fund and communicated to VRIAC 
after market close.  If an inadvertent error occurs, and VRIAC does not process the contribution until Day 2, VRIAC will 
determine the number of units that should have been credited on Day 1, using Day 1’s unit price.  If, on Day 2, the unit price has 
gone up, the dollar amount of the contribution will not be enough to cover the number of units the participant should have 
received.  VRIAC will make up the difference such that the participant receives the number of units he or she would have 
received on Day 1 and VRIAC will absorb the loss.  The participant is not charged for any additional cost. 
However, if, on Day 2, the unit price has gone down, the amount of the contribution would purchase more units on Day 2 than it 
would have purchased on Day 1.  In that circumstance, the participant will receive the number of units he or she would have 
received on Day 1 had the transaction been processed and VRIAC will keep the excess as part of its overall fee for services 
under the contract. 
Regardless of whether there is a gain or a loss, the participant receives the benefit of what he or she requested. 

• When a plan participant makes a withdrawal request of a certain dollar amount from his or her account, VRIAC liquidates or 
sells the number of investment units needed in order to make the distribution.  Thus, on Day 1, VRIAC typically would sell or 
liquidate investment units in the participant’s investment fund at Day 1’s price to make the distribution. If, due to a VRIAC 
inadvertent processing Error, VRIAC processes the instructions a day late, VRIAC will make sure that the participant receives 
the dollar amount he/she requested.  VRIAC will sell or liquidate the same number of units that would have been sold on Day 1 
had the transaction been accomplished on Day 1.  If the unit price has declined, liquidated units will have a lower value on Day 
2 than they had on Day 1, which means that VRIAC must make up the difference so that the participant receives the requested 
amount in full.  In doing so, VRIAC will incur a loss, which it absorbs.  On the other hand, if the market has gone up and the 
units have increased in value, VRIAC will sell the same number of units as it would have sold on Day 1, but the sales amount 
will be higher than the requested withdrawal.  VRIAC will keep the excess as part of its overall fee.  In either circumstance, the 
participant receives the benefit of what he or she requested and bears no additional cost. 

 VRIAC tracks the net financial experience of VRIAC’s Correction Account and the effect of the corrections for each affected 
plan on an annual basis and will make that information available in accordance with ERISA Section 408(b)(2).  Any gains kept by 
VRIAC constitutes additional compensation for the services provided by VRIAC under its contract and VRIAC will report it in 
accordance with ERISA Section 408(b)(2).   

By executing an administrative services agreement with VRIAC, you are authorizing VRIAC’s application of the error 
correction policy as described above to your Plan in connection with the plan administrative services that VRIAC will provide.  You 
have the right to terminate VRIAC’s services in accordance with the terms of the administrative services agreement. 



P a g e  | 27 

Schedule J:  Advisor Compensation Payment Instructions 
 
The Plan Sponsor may direct the Contractor to pay the Registered Investment Advisor or Investment Advisory Representative 
(collectively, the “Advisor”) as instructed within the Commission and Fee Schedule section of the PSSF. 

The Plan Sponsor is required to provide the Contractor with written direction as to the payee and method of payment of the Advisor 
Compensation on an administrative form provided by the Contractor.  If the sum of payments during the calendar year is less than the 
annual Advisor Compensation specified in the Commission and Fee Schedule section of the PSSF, any Advisor compensation that 
remains unused at the end of the calendar year will be allocated to Plan participants who have a balance in the Plan as of the date of 
allocation, using a pro rata methodology, unless the Plan Sponsor provides the Contractor with alternative allocation instructions.  Such 
allocation shall be completed no later than March 31st of the year following the generation of unpaid compensation.  

The Plan Sponsor represents that (i) the compensation is necessary for the operation of the Plan, (ii) the compensation is prudent and 
for a reasonable amount; and (iii) the payment of such compensation is not prohibited under the terms of the Plan or ERISA, if 
applicable.   

In the Plan Sponsor’s capacity as a fiduciary under the Plan, Plan Sponsor understands that only certain types of expenses may be 
paid on behalf of the Plan.  Plan Sponsor understands that the Contractor is not responsible nor does it have the authority to determine 
whether the compensation paid from the Contractor to the Advisor on behalf of the Plan is a direct, necessary and reasonable plan 
expense and is acting solely on the direction of the Plan Sponsor.  Plan Sponsor further understands that the Contractor will continue 
to make payments according to the directions provided in the Commission and Fee Schedule section of the PSSF and this Schedule J 
until revised instructions are provided to the Contractor in writing by an authorized representative of the Plan. 

 
 



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject: Proposed Adoption of the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for 
Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential Employees and approval of Adoption Agreement 
and Summary of Plan Provisions 
 
Recommended Action:  Approve; Adopt Resolution 
 
Summary: 
 
The Authority requests your Board adopt the Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan 
for Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential Employees and approve the Adoption Agreement 
and Summary of Plan Provisions. This 401(a) deferred compensation plan (also known as a money 
purchase plan) will be utilized as the investment vehicle for employer matching‐contributions for all 
Directors, Managers, Mid‐level Managers and Confidential employees hired on or after November 24, 
2018.  
 
Following is a brief overview of the plan: 
 
Newly hired management, mid‐management and confidential employees will be eligible to enroll in a deferred 
compensation retirement plan.  The Authority will utilize the County’s existing 457(b) deferred compensation 
plan for employee contributions, with a new 401(a) deferred compensation plan used as the investment vehicle 
for employer‐matching contributions.  
 
Using a dual‐plan system allows for the significantly higher IRS maximum annual contribution of $55,000 
($56,000 effective 1/1/19), as opposed to $18,500 ($19,000 effective 1/1/19) if all contributions were invested 
in the 457(b) plan alone.  An employee’s initial hire date is the initial opportunity to enroll in the plans.  
Employees are eligible to participate the first day of the biweekly payroll period coincident with or next 
following the day, they complete one biweekly payroll period of continuous service.  There is a five‐year vesting 
schedule for employer contributions in the 401(a) plan.  Investment options in the 401(a) plan will closely mirror 
those currently available through the 457(b) plan.  The Authority will match 100% of employee contributions for 
the first 6% deferred, then 50% of employee contributions for the next 6%, for a total potential employer 
contribution of 9% for employees who defer 12%.  Employer contribution includes a five (5) year vesting at 20% 
each year. The plan includes a provision for immediate full vesting upon permanent disability of a participant.   
 

Therefore, it is recommended that your Board adopt the resolution for the Kern County Hospital Authority 
Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid‐Management and Confidential Employees and 
approve of the Adoption Agreement and Summary of Plan Provisions.  



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FIS Business Systems LLC 

Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

ARTICLE II 
ADMINISTRATION 

2.1 POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMPLOYER .................................................................................................. 10 

2.2 DESIGNATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY ......................................................................................................... 10 

2.3 ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................................................. 11 

2.4 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE ADMINISTRATOR ........................................................................................................... 11 

2.5 RECORDS AND REPORTS ...................................................................................................................................................... 11 

2.6 APPOINTMENT OF ADVISERS .............................................................................................................................................. 11 

2.7 INFORMATION FROM EMPLOYER ...................................................................................................................................... 12 

2.8 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES ...................................................................................................................................................... 12 

2.9 MAJORITY ACTIONS .............................................................................................................................................................. 12 

2.10 CLAIMS PROCEDURES........................................................................................................................................................... 12 

ARTICLE III 

ELIGIBILITY 

3.1 CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY .............................................................................................................................................. 12 

3.2 EFFECTIVE DATE OF PARTICIPATION ............................................................................................................................... 12 

3.3 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY ..................................................................................................................................... 13 

3.4 TERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY .......................................................................................................................................... 13 

3.5 REHIRED EMPLOYEES AND 1-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE ........................................................................................... 13 

3.6 OMISSION OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE; INCLUSION OF INELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE ........................................................ 14 

ARTICLE IV 

CONTRIBUTION AND ALLOCATION 

4.1 FORMULA FOR DETERMINING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION .................................................................................... 14 

4.2 TIME OF PAYMENT OF EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION................................................................................................... 15 

4.3 ALLOCATION OF CONTRIBUTION, FORFEITURES AND EARNINGS ........................................................................... 15 

4.4 MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS ........................................................................................................................................ 16 

4.5 ADJUSTMENT FOR EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS .......................................................................................................... 19 

4.6 ROLLOVERS ............................................................................................................................................................................. 19 

4.7 PLAN-TO-PLAN TRANSFERS FROM QUALIFIED PLANS................................................................................................. 19 

4.8 MANDATORY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS .................................................................................................................... 20 

4.9 AFTER-TAX VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS .............................................................................................. 20 

4.10 PARTICIPANT DIRECTED INVESTMENTS.......................................................................................................................... 21 

4.11 QUALIFIED MILITARY SERVICE ......................................................................................................................................... 21 

ARTICLE V 
VALUATIONS 

5.1 VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND ..................................................................................................................................... 22 

5.2 METHOD OF VALUATION ..................................................................................................................................................... 22 

ARTICLE VI 

DETERMINATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS 

6.1 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON RETIREMENT .................................................................................................... 22 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

ii 

6.2 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH ................................................................................................................ 22 

6.3 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS IN EVENT OF DISABILITY .......................................................................................... 23 

6.4 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION .................................................................................................. 23 

6.5 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS ............................................................................................................................................... 24 

6.6 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH ..................................................................................................................... 25 

6.7 TIME OF DISTRIBUTION ........................................................................................................................................................ 25 

6.8 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................................................................. 26 

6.9 DISTRIBUTION FOR MINOR OR INCOMPETENT INDIVIDUAL ...................................................................................... 29 

6.10 LOCATION OF PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIARY UNKNOWN ........................................................................................ 29 

6.11 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTION .................................................................................................................................................. 30 

6.12 ADVANCE DISTRIBUTION FOR HARDSHIP ....................................................................................................................... 30 

6.13 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER DISTRIBUTION ........................................................................................ 31 

6.14 DIRECT ROLLOVERS .............................................................................................................................................................. 31 

6.15 RESTRICTIONS ON DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM A MONEY PURCHASE PLAN .................. 32 

6.16 CORRECTIVE DISTRIBUTIONS ............................................................................................................................................ 32 

6.17 HEART ACT .............................................................................................................................................................................. 32 

6.18 SERVICE CREDIT .................................................................................................................................................................... 33 

ARTICLE VII 

TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN 

7.1 BASIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEE .................................................................................................................... 33 

7.2 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE ........................................................................ 34 

7.3 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF NONDISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE ................................................................ 35 

7.4 POWERS AND DUTIES OF CUSTODIAN .............................................................................................................................. 37 

7.5 LIFE INSURANCE .................................................................................................................................................................... 37 

7.6 LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS .................................................................................................................................................... 38 

7.7 ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES ............................................................................................. 38 

7.8 TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES AND TAXES ........................................................................................... 38 

7.9 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE .................................................................................................................................. 39 

7.10 RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE ......................................................................................... 39 

7.11 TRANSFER OF INTEREST ...................................................................................................................................................... 39 

7.12 TRUSTEE INDEMNIFICATION .............................................................................................................................................. 40 

ARTICLE VIII 

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND MERGERS 

8.1 AMENDMENT .......................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

8.2 TERMINATION ......................................................................................................................................................................... 40 

8.3 MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR TRANSFER OF ASSETS................................................................................................. 40 

ARTICLE IX 
MISCELLANEOUS 

9.1 EMPLOYER ADOPTIONS ....................................................................................................................................................... 41 

9.2 PARTICIPANT'S RIGHTS ........................................................................................................................................................ 41 

9.3 ALIENATION ............................................................................................................................................................................ 41 

9.4 PLAN COMMUNICATIONS, INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION ........................................................................ 41 

9.5 GENDER, NUMBER AND TENSE .......................................................................................................................................... 42 

9.6 LEGAL ACTION ....................................................................................................................................................................... 42 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

iii 

9.7 PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OF FUNDS .............................................................................................................. 42 

9.8 EMPLOYER'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE .................................................................................................... 42 

9.9 INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE ....................................................................................................................................... 42 

9.10 RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS ......................................................................................................................... 43 

9.11 ACTION BY THE EMPLOYER ................................................................................................................................................ 43 

9.12 APPROVAL BY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE ............................................................................................................... 43 

9.13 PAYMENT OF BENEFITS ........................................................................................................................................................ 43 

9.14 ELECTRONIC MEDIA .............................................................................................................................................................. 43 

9.15 PLAN CORRECTION ................................................................................................................................................................ 43 

9.16 NONTRUSTEED PLANS .......................................................................................................................................................... 43 

ARTICLE X 
PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS 

10.1 ELECTION TO BECOME A PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER ................................................................................................ 44 

10.2 REQUIREMENTS OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS ........................................................................................................ 44 

10.3 DESIGNATION OF AGENT ..................................................................................................................................................... 44 

10.4 EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS ........................................................................................................................................................ 44 

10.5 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION AND FORFEITURES .......................................................................... 44 

10.6 AMENDMENT .......................................................................................................................................................................... 44 

10.7 DISCONTINUANCE OF PARTICIPATION ............................................................................................................................ 45 

10.8 ADMINISTRATOR'S AUTHORITY......................................................................................................................................... 45 

ARTICLE XI 

MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PROVISIONS 

11.1 ELECTION AND OVERRIDING EFFECT .............................................................................................................................. 45 

11.2 DEFINITIONS............................................................................................................................................................................ 45 

11.3 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER ELECTIONS .......................................................................................................................... 45 

11.4 TESTING .................................................................................................................................................................................... 45 

11.5 COMPENSATION ..................................................................................................................................................................... 45 

11.6 SERVICE .................................................................................................................................................................................... 46 

11.7 COOPERATION AND INDEMNIFICATION .......................................................................................................................... 46 

11.8 INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION ........................................................................................................................................... 46 

11.9 VOLUNTARY TERMINATION ............................................................................................................................................... 47 

 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

1 

 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

 

As used in this Plan, the following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth herein unless a different meaning is clearly 

required by the context: 

 

1.1 "Account" means any separate notational account established and maintained by the Administrator for each Participant under the 

Plan. To the extent applicable, a Participant may have any (or all) of the following notational Accounts: 

 

(a) "Combined Account" means the account representing the Participant's total interest under the Plan resulting from Employer 

contributions. In addition, Forfeitures are part of the Combined Account to the extent they are reallocated. 

 

(b) "Mandatory Contribution Account" means the account established hereunder to which mandatory Employee contributions 

made pursuant to Section 4.8 are allocated, to the extent such contributions are not picked-up by the Employer pursuant to Code 

§414(h). A Participant's Mandatory Contribution Account shall be fully Vested at all times. 

 

(c) "Rollover Account" means the account established hereunder to which amounts transferred from a qualified plan or individual 

retirement account in accordance with Section 4.6 are allocated. 

 

(d) "Transfer Account" means the account established hereunder to which amounts transferred to this Plan from a direct 

plan-to-plan transfer in accordance with Section 4.7 are allocated. 

 

(e) "Voluntary Contribution Account" means the account established hereunder to which after-tax voluntary Employee 

contributions made pursuant to Section 4.9 are allocated.  

 

1.2 "Administrator" means the Employer unless another person or entity has been designated by the Employer pursuant to Section 2.2 

to administer the Plan on behalf of the Employer.  

 

1.3 "Adoption Agreement" means the separate agreement which is executed by the Employer and sets forth the elective provisions of 

this Plan and Trust as specified by the Employer. 

 

1.4 "Affiliated Employer" means any entity required to be aggregated with the Employer pursuant to Code §414. 

 

1.5 "Alternate Payee" means an alternate payee pursuant to a qualified domestic relations order that meets the requirements of 

Code §414(p). 

 

1.6 "Anniversary Date" means the last day of the Plan Year. 

 

1.7 "Annuity Starting Date" means, with respect to any Participant, the first day of the first period for which an amount is paid as an 

annuity, or, in the case of a benefit not payable in the form of an annuity, the first day on which all events have occurred which entitles the 

Participant to such benefit. 

 

1.8 "Beneficiary" means the person (or entity) to whom all or a portion of a deceased Participant's interest in the Plan is payable, 

subject to the restrictions of Sections 6.2 and 6.6. 

 

1.9 "Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time. 

 

1.10 "Compensation" means, with respect to any Participant, the amount determined in accordance with the following provisions, 

except as otherwise provided in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

(a) Base definition. One of the following, as elected in the Adoption Agreement: 

 

(1) Information required to be reported under Code §§6041, 6051 and 6052 (Wages, tips and other compensation as reported 

on Form W-2). Compensation means wages, within the meaning of Code §3401(a), and all other payments of compensation to 

an Employee by the Employer (in the course of the Employer's trade or business) for which the Employer is required to furnish 

the Employee a written statement under Code §§6041(d), 6051(a)(3) and 6052. Compensation must be determined without 

regard to any rules under Code §3401(a) that limit the remuneration included in wages based on the nature or location of the 

employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor in Code §3401(a)(2)). 

 

(2) Code §3401(a) Wages. Compensation means an Employee's wages within the meaning of Code §3401(a) for the purposes 

of income tax withholding at the source but determined without regard to any rules that limit the remuneration included in 

wages based on the nature or location of the employment or the services performed (such as the exception for agricultural labor 

in Code §3401(a)(2)). 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

2 

(3) 415 safe harbor compensation. Compensation means wages, salaries, for Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2008, 

Military Differential Pay, and fees for professional services and other amounts received (without regard to whether or not an 

amount is paid in cash) for personal services actually rendered in the course of employment with the Employer maintaining the 

Plan to the extent that the amounts are includible in gross income (including, but not limited to, commissions paid 

salespersons, compensation for services on the basis of a percentage of profits, commissions on insurance premiums, tips, 

bonuses, fringe benefits, and reimbursements, or other expense allowances under a nonaccountable plan (as described in 

Regulation §1.62-2(c))), and excluding the following: 

 

(i) Employer contributions to a plan of deferred compensation which are not includible in the Employee's gross 

income for the taxable year in which contributed, or Employer contributions under a simplified employee pension plan to 

the extent such contributions are excludable from the Employee's gross income, or any distributions from a plan of 

deferred compensation; 

 

(ii) Amounts realized from the exercise of a nonqualified stock option, or when restricted stock (or property) held by 

the Employee either becomes freely transferable or is no longer subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture; 

 

(iii) Amounts realized from the sale, exchange or other disposition of stock acquired under a qualified stock option; 

and 

 

(iv) Other amounts which receive special tax benefits, or contributions made by the Employer (whether or not under a 

salary deferral agreement) towards the purchase of an annuity contract described in Code §403(b) (whether or not the 

contributions are actually excludable from the gross income of the Employee). 

 

(b) Paid during "determination period." Compensation shall include only that Compensation which is actually paid to the 

Participant during the "determination period". Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, the "determination period" is the period 

elected by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement. If the Employer makes no election, the "determination period" shall be the 

Plan Year. 

 

(c) Inclusion of deferrals. Notwithstanding the above, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, Compensation shall 

include all of the following types of elective contributions and all of the following types of deferred compensation: 

 

(1) Elective contributions that are made by the Employer on behalf of a Participant that are not includible in gross income 

under Code §§125, 132(f)(4), 402(e)(3), 402(h)(1)(B), 402(k) and 403(b). If specified in Appendix A to the Adoption 

Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections), amounts under Code §125 shall be deemed to include any 

amounts not available to a Participant in cash in lieu of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that 

he or she has other health coverage. An amount will be treated as an amount under Code §125 pursuant to the preceding 

sentence only if the Employer does not request or collect information regarding the Participant's other health coverage as part 

of the enrollment process for the health plan. 

 

(2) Compensation deferred under an eligible deferred compensation plan within the meaning of Code §457(b).  

 

(3) Employee contributions described in Code §414(h)(2) that are picked-up by the employing unit and thus are treated as 

Employer contributions. 

 

(d) Post-severance compensation – Code §415 Regulations. The Administrator shall adjust Compensation, for Plan Years 

beginning on or after July 1, 2007 (or such other date as the Employer specifies in the Compensation Section of the Adoption 

Agreement), for amounts that would otherwise be included in the definition of Compensation but are paid by the later of 

2 1/2 months after a Participant's severance from employment with the Employer or the end of the Plan Year that includes the date 

of the Participant's severance from employment with the Employer , in accordance with the following, as elected in the 

Compensation Section of the Adoption Agreement. The preceding time period, however, does not apply with respect to payments 

described in Subsections (4) and (5) below. Any other payment of compensation paid after severance of employment that is not 

described in the following types of compensation is not considered Compensation, even if payment is made within the time period 

specified above.  

 

(1) Regular pay. Compensation shall include regular pay after severance of employment (to the extent otherwise included in 

the definition of Compensation) if:  

 

(i) The payment is regular compensation for services during the Participant's regular working hours, or compensation 

for services outside the Participant's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, 

or other similar payments; and 

 

(ii) The payment would have been paid to the Participant prior to a severance from employment if the Participant had 

continued in employment with the Employer. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

3 

(2) Leave cash-outs. Compensation shall include leave cash-outs if those amounts would have been included in the 

definition of Compensation if they were paid prior to the Participant's severance from employment with the Employer, and the 

amounts are for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to use 

the leave if employment had continued. 

 

(3) Deferred compensation. Compensation shall include deferred compensation if those amounts would have been included 

in the definition of Compensation if they were paid prior to the Participant's severance from employment with the Employer, 

and the amounts are received pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the payment would 

have been paid if the Participant had continued in employment with the Employer and only to the extent the payment is 

includible in the Participant's gross income. 

 

(4) Military Differential Pay. Compensation shall include payments to an individual who does not currently perform 

services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as that term is used in Code §414(u)(1)) to the extent those 

payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for 

the Employer rather than entering qualified military service. 

 

(5) Disability pay. Compensation shall include compensation paid to a Participant who is permanently and totally disabled, 

as defined in Code §22(e)(3), provided, as elected by the Employer in the Compensation Section of the Adoption Agreement, 

salary continuation applies to all Participants who are permanently and totally disabled. 

 

(e) Dollar limitation. Compensation in excess of $200,000 shall be disregarded for all. Such amount shall be adjusted by the 

Commissioner for increases in the cost-of-living in accordance with Code §401(a)(17)(B). The cost-of-living adjustment in effect 

for a calendar year applies to any "determination period" beginning with or within such calendar year. If a "determination period" 

consists of fewer than twelve (12) months, the $200,000 annual Compensation limit will be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator 

of which is the number of months in the "determination period," and the denominator of which is twelve (12). In applying any Plan 

limitation on the amount of matching contributions, where such limits are expressed as a percentage of Compensation, the 

Administrator may apply the Compensation limit under this Section annually, even if the matching contribution formula is applied 

on any time interval which is less than the full Plan Year or the Administrator may pro rate the Compensation limit. 

 

In the case of an "eligible Participant," the dollar limitation under Code §401(a)(17) shall not apply to the extent the amount 

under the Plan would be reduced below the amount which was allowed to be taken into account under the Plan as in effect on July 

1, 1993. For purposes of this provision, an "eligible Participant" is an individual who first became a Participant before the first Plan 

Year beginning after the earlier of (i) the Plan Year in which the Plan was amended to reflect Code §401(a)(17), or (ii) December 

31, 1995. 

 

(f) Non-eligible Employee. If, in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer elects to exclude a class of Employees from the Plan, 

then Compensation for any Employee who becomes eligible or ceases to be eligible to participate during a "determination period" 

shall only include Compensation while the Employee is an Eligible Employee.  

 

(g) Amendment. If, in connection with the adoption of any amendment, the definition of Compensation has been modified, then, 

except as otherwise provided herein, for Plan Years prior to the Plan Year which includes the adoption date of such amendment, 

Compensation means compensation determined pursuant to the terms of the Plan then in effect. 

 

1.11 "Contract" or "Policy" means any life insurance policy, retirement income policy, or annuity contract (group or individual) 

issued by the Insurer. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any contract purchased hereunder, the 

Plan provisions shall control. 

 

1.12 "Custodian" means a person or entity that has custody of all or any portion of the Plan assets. 

 

1.13 "Directed Trustee" means a Trustee who, with respect to the investment of Plan assets, is subject to the direction of the 

Administrator, the Employer, a properly appointed Investment Manager, or Plan Participant. To the extent the Trustee is a Directed 

Trustee, the Trustee does not have any discretionary authority with respect to the investment of Plan assets. In addition, the Trustee is not 

responsible for the propriety of any directed investment made pursuant to this Section and shall not be required to consult or advise the 

Employer regarding the investment quality of any directed investment held under the Plan. 

 

1.14 "Discretionary Trustee" means a Trustee who has the authority and discretion to invest, manage or control any portion of the 

Plan assets. 

 

1.15 "Early Retirement Date" means the date specified in the Adoption Agreement on which a Participant has satisfied the 

requirements specified in the Adoption Agreement (Early Retirement Age). If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant shall 

become fully Vested upon satisfying such requirements if the Participant is still employed at the Early Retirement Age. 

 

A Participant who severs from employment after satisfying any service requirement but before satisfying the age requirement for 

Early Retirement Age and who thereafter reaches the age requirement contained herein shall be entitled to receive benefits under this Plan 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

4 

(other than any accelerated vesting and allocations of Employer contributions) as though the requirements for Early Retirement Age had 

been satisfied. 

 

1.16 "Effective Date" means the date this Plan, including any restatement or amendment of this Plan, is effective. Where the Plan is 

restated or amended, a reference to Effective Date is the effective date of the restatement or amendment, except where the context indicates 

a reference to an earlier Effective Date. If any provision of this Plan is retroactively effective, the provisions of this Plan generally control. 

However, if the provision of this Plan is different from the provision of the Employer's prior plan document and, after the retroactive 

Effective Date of this Plan, the Employer operated in compliance with the provisions of the prior plan, then the provision of such prior plan 

is incorporated into this Plan for purposes of determining whether the Employer operated the Plan in compliance with its terms, provided 

operation in compliance with the terms of the prior plan do not violate any qualification requirements under the Code, Regulations, or other 

IRS guidance. 

 

The Employer may designate special effective dates for individual provisions under the Plan where provided in the Adoption 

Agreement or under Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections). If one or more 

qualified retirement plans have been merged into this Plan, the provisions of the merging plan(s) will remain in full force and effect until 

the effective date of the plan merger(s). 

 

1.17 "Eligible Employee" means any Eligible Employee as elected in the Adoption Agreement and as provided herein. An individual 

shall not be an Eligible Employee if such individual is not reported on the payroll records of the Employer as a common law employee. In 

particular, it is expressly intended that individuals not treated as common law employees by the Employer on its payroll records and 

out-sourced workers, are not Eligible Employees and are excluded from Plan participation even if a court or administrative agency 

determines that such individuals are common law employees and not independent contractors. Furthermore, Employees of an Affiliated 

Employer will not be treated as Eligible Employees prior to the date the Affiliated Employer adopts the Plan as a Participating Employer. 

 

If, in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer elects to exclude union employees, then Employees whose employment is governed 

by a collective bargaining agreement between the Employer and "employee representatives" under which retirement benefits were the 

subject of good faith bargaining, shall not be eligible to participate in this Plan to the extent of employment covered by such agreement, 

unless the agreement provides for coverage in the Plan (see Section 4.1(d)). For this purpose, the term "employee representatives" does not 

include any organization more than half of whose members are employees who are owners, officers, or executives of the Employer. If a 

Participant performs services both as a collectively bargained Employee and as a non-collectively bargained Employee, then the 

Participant's Hours of Service in each respective category are treated separately. 

 

If, in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer elects to exclude nonresident aliens, then Employees who are nonresident aliens 

(within the meaning of Code §7701(b)(1)(B)) who received no earned income (within the meaning of Code §911(d)(2)) from the Employer 

which constitutes income from sources within the United States (within the meaning of Code §861(a)(3)) shall not be eligible to participate 

in this Plan. In addition, this paragraph shall also apply to exclude from participation in the Plan an Employee who is a nonresident alien 

(within the meaning of Code §7701(b)(1)(B)) but who receives earned income (within the meaning of Code §911(d)(2)) from the Employer 

that constitutes income from sources within the United States (within the meaning of Code §861(a)(3)), if all of the Employee's earned 

income from the Employer from sources within the United States is exempt from United States income tax under an applicable income tax 

convention. The preceding sentence will apply only if all Employees described in the preceding sentence are excluded from the Plan. 

 

If, in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer elects to exclude Part-Time/Temporary/Seasonal Employees, then notwithstanding 

any such exclusion, if any such excluded Employee actually completes or completed a Year of Service, then such Employee will cease to 

be within this particular excluded class.  

 

1.18 "Employee" means any person who is employed by the Employer. The term "Employee" shall also include any person who is an 

employee of an Affiliated Employer and any Leased Employee deemed to be an Employee as provided in Code §414(n) or (o). 

 

1.19 "Employer" means the governmental entity specified in the Adoption Agreement, any successor which shall maintain this Plan and 

any predecessor which has maintained this Plan. In addition, unless the context means otherwise, the term "Employer" shall include any 

Participating Employer which shall adopt this Plan. This plan may only be adopted a state or local governmental entity, or agency thereof, 

including an Indian tribal government, and may not be adopted by any other entity, including a federal government and any agency or 

instrumentality thereof.  

 

1.20 "Fiscal Year" means the Employer's accounting year. 

 

1.21 "Forfeiture" means that portion of a Participant's Account that is not Vested and is disposed of in accordance with the provisions 

of the Plan.  

 

A Forfeiture will occur on the earlier of: 

 

(a) The last day of the Plan Year in which a Participant incurs five (5) consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service, or 

 

(b) The distribution of the entire Vested portion of the Participant's Account of a Participant who has severed employment with the 

Employer. For purposes of this provision, if the Participant has a Vested benefit of zero, then such Participant shall be deemed to 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

5 

have received a distribution of such Vested benefit as of the year in which the severance of employment occurs. For this purpose, a 

Participant's Vested benefit shall not include: (i) qualified voluntary employee contributions within the meaning of Code 

§72(o)(5)(B), and (ii) the Participant's Rollover Account. 

 

Regardless of the preceding, if a Participant is eligible to share in the allocation of Forfeitures in the year in which the Forfeiture 

would otherwise occur, then the Forfeiture will not occur until the end of the first Plan Year for which the Participant is not eligible to share 

in the allocation of Forfeitures. Furthermore, the term "Forfeiture" shall also include amounts deemed to be Forfeitures pursuant to any 

other provision of this Plan. 

 

1.22 "Former Employee" means an individual who has severed employment with the Employer or an Affiliated Employer. 

 

1.23 "415 Compensation" means, with respect to any Participant, such Participant's (a) Wages, tips and other compensation on Form 

W-2, (b) Code §3401(a) wages or (c) 415 safe harbor compensation as elected in the Adoption Agreement for purposes of Compensation 

(and as defined in Subsections 1.18(a)(1)-3 respectively). 415 Compensation shall be based on the full Limitation Year regardless of when 

participation in the Plan commences. Furthermore, regardless of any election made in the Adoption Agreement, 415 Compensation shall 

include any elective deferral (as defined in Code §§402(e)(3), 402(k) and 402(h)(1)(B)) and any amount which is contributed or deferred 

by the Employer at the election of the Participant and which is not includible in the gross income of the Participant by reason of Code 

§§125, 457, and 132(f)(4). In addition, for years beginning after December 31, 2008 Military Differential Pay is treated as 415 

Compensation. 

 

(a) Deemed 125 compensation. If elected in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other 

Permitted Elections), amounts under Code §125 shall be deemed to include any amounts not available to a Participant in cash in lieu 

of group health coverage because the Participant is unable to certify that he or she has other health coverage. An amount will be 

treated as an amount under Code §125 pursuant to the preceding sentence only if the Employer does not request or collect 

information regarding the Participant's other health coverage as part of the enrollment process for the health plan. 

 

(b) Post-severance compensation. The Administrator shall adjust 415 Compensation, for Limitation Years beginning on or after 

July 1, 2007, or such earlier date as the Employer specifies in the Compensation Section of the Adoption Agreement, for amounts 

that would otherwise be included in the definition of 415 Compensation but are paid by the later of 2 1/2 months after a Participant's 

severance from employment with the Employer or the end of the Limitation Year that includes the date of the Participant's 

severance from employment with the Employer, in accordance with the following, as elected in the Compensation Section of the 

Adoption Agreement. The preceding time period, however, does not apply with respect to payments described in Subsections (4) 

and (5) below. Any other payment of compensation paid after severance of employment that is not described in the following types 

of compensation is not considered 415 Compensation, even if payment is made within the time period specified above. 

 

(1) Regular pay. 415 Compensation shall include regular pay after severance of employment (to the extent otherwise 

included in the definition of 415 Compensation) if: 

 

(i) The payment is regular compensation for services during the Participant's regular working hours, or compensation 

for services outside the Participant's regular working hours (such as overtime or shift differential), commissions, bonuses, 

or other similar payments; and 

 

(ii) The payment would have been paid to the Participant prior to a severance from employment if the Participant had 

continued in employment with the Employer. 

 

(2) Leave cash-outs. 415 Compensation shall include leave cash-outs if those amounts would have been included in the 

definition of 415 Compensation if they were paid prior to the Participant's severance from employment with the Employer, and 

the amounts are for unused accrued bona fide sick, vacation, or other leave, but only if the Participant would have been able to 

use the leave if employment had continued. 

 

(3) Deferred compensation. 415 Compensation shall include deferred compensation if those amounts would have been 

included in the definition of 415 Compensation if they were paid prior to the Participant's severance from employment with the 

Employer, and the amounts are received pursuant to a nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plan, but only if the 

payment would have been paid if the Participant had continued in employment with the Employer and only to the extent the 

payment is includible in the Participant's gross income. 

 

(4) Military Differential Pay. 415 Compensation shall include payments to an individual who does not currently perform 

services for the Employer by reason of qualified military service (as that term is used in Code §414(u)(1)) to the extent those 

payments do not exceed the amounts the individual would have received if the individual had continued to perform services for 

the Employer rather than entering qualified military service. 

 

(5) Disability pay. 415 Compensation shall include compensation paid to a Participant who is permanently and totally 

disabled, as defined in Code §22(e)(3), provided, as elected by the Employer in the Compensation Section of the Adoption 

Agreement, salary continuation applies to all Participants who are permanently and totally disabled for a fixed or determinable 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

6 

period, or the Participant was not a highly compensated employee (within the meaning of Code §414(q)) immediately before 

becoming disabled. 

 

(c) Inclusion of certain nonqualified deferred compensation amounts. If this is a PPA restatement and prior to the restatement 

Compensation included all items includible in compensation under Regulation §1.415(c)-2(b) (Regulation §1.415-2(d)(2) under the 

Regulations in effect for Limitation Years beginning prior to July 1, 2007) then 415 Compensation for Limitation Years prior to the 

adoption of this restatement shall include amounts that are includible in the gross income of a Participant under the rules of Code 

§409A or Code §457(f)(1)(A) or because the amounts are constructively received by the Participant. For Plan Years beginning on 

and after the Plan Year in which this restatement is adopted, the Plan does not provide for a definition of 415 Compensation 

including all items in Regulation §1.415(c)-2(b). 

 

(d) Back pay. Back pay, within the meaning of Regulations §1.415(c)-2(g)(8), shall be treated as Compensation for the Limitation 

Year to which the back pay relates to the extent the back pay represents wages and compensation that would otherwise be included 

under this definition. 

 

(e) Dollar limitation. 415 Compensation will be limited to the same dollar limitations set forth in Section 1.10(e) adjusted in such 

manner as permitted under Code §415(d). 

 

(f) Amendment. Except as otherwise provided herein, if, in connection with the adoption of any amendment, the definition of 415 

Compensation has been modified, then for Plan Years prior to the Plan Year which includes the adoption date of such amendment, 

415 Compensation means compensation determined pursuant to the terms of the Plan then in effect. 

 

1.24 "Hour of Service" means (a) each hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly compensated or entitled to Compensation 

by the Employer for the performance of duties during the applicable computation period (these hours will be credited to the Employee for 

the computation period in which the duties are performed); (b) each hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly compensated or 

entitled to Compensation by the Employer (irrespective of whether the employment relationship has terminated) for reasons other than 

performance of duties (such as vacation, holidays, sickness, incapacity (including disability), jury duty, lay-off, military duty or leave of 

absence) during the applicable computation period; (c) each hour for which back pay is awarded or agreed to by the Employer without 

regard to mitigation of damages (these hours will be credited to the Employee for the computation period or periods to which the award or 

agreement pertains rather than the computation period in which the award, agreement or payment is made). The same Hours of Service 

shall not be credited both under (a) or (b), as the case may be, and under (c). 

 

Notwithstanding (b) above, (1) no more than 501 Hours of Service will be credited to an Employee on account of any single 

continuous period during which the Employee performs no duties (whether or not such period occurs in a single computation period); 

(2) an hour for which an Employee is directly or indirectly paid, or entitled to payment, on account of a period during which no duties are 

performed is not required to be credited to the Employee if such payment is made or due under a plan maintained solely for the purpose of 

complying with applicable workers' compensation, or unemployment compensation or disability insurance laws; and (3) Hours of Service 

are not required to be credited for a payment which solely reimburses an Employee for medical or medically related expenses incurred by 

the Employee. Furthermore, for purposes of (b) above, a payment shall be deemed to be made by or due from the Employer regardless of 

whether such payment is made by or due from the Employer directly, or indirectly through, among others, a trust fund, or insurer, to which 

the Employer contributes or pays premiums and regardless of whether contributions made or due to the trust fund, insurer, or other entity 

are for the benefit of particular Employees or are on behalf of a group of Employees in the aggregate. 

 

Hours of Service will be credited for employment with all Affiliated Employers and for any individual considered to be a Leased 

Employee pursuant to Code §414(n) or 414(o) and the Regulations thereunder.  

 

Hours of Service will be determined using the actual hours method unless one of the methods below is elected in the Adoption 

Agreement. If the actual hours method is used to determine Hours of Service, an Employee is credited with the actual Hours of 

Service the Employee completes with the Employer or the number of Hours of Service for which the Employee is paid (or entitled 

to payment). 

 

If the days worked method is elected, an Employee will be credited with ten (10) Hours of Service if under the Plan such Employee 

would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the day.  

 

If the weeks worked method is elected, an Employee will be credited with forty-five (45) Hours of Service if under the Plan such 

Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the week. 

 

If the semi-monthly payroll periods worked method is elected, an Employee will be credited with ninety-five (95) Hours of 

Service if under the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the semi-monthly payroll 

period. 

 

If the months worked method is elected, an Employee will be credited with one hundred ninety (190) Hours of Service if under the 

Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the month. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

7 

If the bi-weekly payroll periods worked method is elected, an Employee will be credited with ninety (90) Hours of Service if 

under the Plan such Employee would be credited with at least one (1) Hour of Service during the bi-weekly payroll period. 

 

1.25 "Insurer" means any legal reserve insurance company which has issued or shall issue one or more Contracts or Policies under the 

Plan. 

 

1.26 "Investment Manager" means a person or entity which renders investment advice for a fee or other compensation, direct or 

indirect, with respect to any monies or property of the Plan and which is appointed in accordance with Section 2.1(b). 

 

1.27 "Late Retirement Date" means the date of, or the first day of the month or the Anniversary Date coinciding with or next 

following, whichever corresponds to the election in the Adoption Agreement for the Normal Retirement Date, a Participant's actual 

retirement after having reached the Normal Retirement Date. 

 

1.28 "Leased Employee" means any person (other than an Employee of the recipient Employer) who, pursuant to an agreement 

between the recipient Employer and any other person or entity ("leasing organization"), has performed services for the recipient (or for the 

recipient and related persons determined in accordance with Code §414(n)(6)) on a substantially full time basis for a period of at least one 

year, and such services are performed under primary direction or control by the recipient Employer. Contributions or benefits provided a 

Leased Employee by the leasing organization which are attributable to services performed for the recipient Employer shall be treated as 

provided by the recipient Employer. Furthermore, Compensation for a Leased Employee shall only include compensation from the leasing 

organization that is attributable to services performed for the recipient Employer. 

 

A Leased Employee shall not be considered an employee of the recipient Employer if: (a) such employee is covered by a money 

purchase pension plan providing: (1) a non-integrated employer contribution rate of at least ten percent (10%) of compensation, as defined 

in Code §415(c)(3), (2) immediate participation, and (3) full and immediate vesting; and (b) leased employees do not constitute more than 

twenty percent (20%) of the recipient Employer's nonhighly compensated workforce. 

 

1.29 "Limitation Year" means the "determination period" used to determine Compensation. However, the Employer may elect a 

different Limitation Year in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections). All qualified 

plans maintained by the Employer must use the same Limitation Year. Furthermore, unless there is a change to a new Limitation Year, the 

Limitation Year will be a twelve (12) consecutive month period. In the case of an initial Limitation Year, the Limitation Year will be the 

twelve (12) consecutive month period ending on the last day of the period specified in the Adoption Agreement. If the Limitation Year is 

amended to a different twelve (12) consecutive month period, the new "Limitation Year" must begin on a date within the "Limitation Year" 

in which the amendment is made. For Limitation Years beginning on and after July 1, 2007, the Limitation Year may only be changed by a 

Plan amendment. Furthermore, if the Plan is terminated effective as of a date other than the last day of the Plan's Limitation Year, then the 

Plan is treated as if the Plan had been amended to change its Limitation Year. 

 

1.30 "Military Differential Pay" means, for any Plan or Limitation Year beginning after June 30, 2007, any differential wage payments 

made to an individual that represents an amount which, when added to the individual's military pay, approximates the amount of 

Compensation that was paid to the individual while working for the Employer. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, for Compensation 

"determination periods" beginning after December 31, 2008, an individual receiving a differential wage payment, as defined by 

Code §3401(h)(2), is treated as an Employee of the Employer making the payment. 

 

1.31 "Nonelective Contribution" means the Employer's contributions to the Plan.  

 

1.32 "Normal Retirement Age" means the age elected in the Adoption Agreement at which time a Participant's Account shall be 

nonforfeitable (if the Participant is employed by the Employer on or after that date). For money purchase pension plans, if the employer 

enforces a mandatory retirement age, then the Normal Retirement Age is the lesser of that mandatory age or the age specified in the 

Adoption Agreement. 

 

1.33 "Normal Retirement Date" means the date elected in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

1.34 "1-Year Break in Service" means, if the Hour of Service method is used, the applicable computation period that is used to 

determine a Year of Service during which an Employee or Former Employee has not completed more than 500 Hours of Service. However, 

if the Employer selected, in the Service Crediting Method Section of the Adoption Agreement, to define a Year of Service as less than 

1,000 Hours of Service, then the 500 Hours of Service in this definition of 1-Year Break in Service shall be proportionately reduced. 

Further, solely for the purpose of determining whether an Employee has incurred a 1-Year Break in Service, Hours of Service shall be 

recognized for "authorized leaves of absence" and "maternity and paternity leaves of absence." For this purpose, Hours of Service shall be 

credited for the computation period in which the absence from work begins, only if credit therefore is necessary to prevent the Employee 

from incurring a 1-Year Break in Service, or, in any other case, in the immediately following computation period. The Hours of Service 

credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of absence" shall be those which would normally have been credited but for such absence, or, in 

any case in which the Administrator is unable to determine such hours normally credited, eight (8) Hours of Service per day. The total 

Hours of Service required to be credited for a "maternity or paternity leave of absence" shall not exceed the number of Hours of Service 

needed to prevent the Employee from incurring a 1-Year Break in Service. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

8 

"Authorized leave of absence" means an unpaid, temporary cessation from active employment with the Employer pursuant to an 

established policy, whether occasioned by illness, military service, or any other reason. 

 

A "maternity or paternity leave of absence" means an absence from work for any period by reason of the Employee's pregnancy, 

birth of the Employee's child, placement of a child with the Employee in connection with the adoption of such child, or any absence for the 

purpose of caring for such child for a period immediately following such birth or placement. 

 

If the elapsed time method is elected in the Service Crediting Method Section of the Adoption Agreement, then a "1-Year Break in 

Service" means a twelve (12) consecutive month period beginning on the severance from service date or any anniversary thereof and 

ending on the next succeeding anniversary of such date; provided, however, that the Employee or Former Employee does not perform an 

Hour of Service for the Employer during such twelve (12) consecutive month period. 

 

1.35 "Participant" means any Employee or Former Employee who has satisfied the requirements of Sections 3.1 and 3.2 and entered 

the Plan and is eligible to accrue benefits under the Plan. In addition, the term "Participant" also includes any individual who was a 

Participant (as defined in the preceding sentence) and who must continue to be taken into account under a particular provision of the Plan 

(e.g., because the individual has an Account balance in the Plan). 

 

1.36 "Participant Directed Account" means that portion of a Participant's interest in the Plan with respect to which the Participant has 

directed the investment in accordance with the Participant Direction Procedures. 

 

1.37 "Participant Direction Procedures" means such instructions, guidelines or policies, the terms of which are incorporated herein, as 

shall be established pursuant to Section 4.10 and observed by the Administrator and applied and provided to Participants who have 

Participant Directed Accounts. 

 

1.38 "Participating Employer" means an Employer which, with the consent of the "lead Employer" adopts the Plan pursuant to Section 

10.1 or Article XI. In addition, unless the context means otherwise, the term "Employer" shall include any Participating Employer which 

shall adopt this Plan. 

 

1.39 "Period of Service" means the aggregate of all periods of service commencing with an Employee's first day of employment or 

reemployment with the Employer or an Affiliated Employer and ending on the first day of a Period of Severance, or for benefit accrual 

purposes, ending on the severance from service date. The first day of employment or reemployment is the first day the Employee performs 

an Hour of Service. An Employee who incurs a Period of Severance of twelve (12) months or less will also receive service-spanning credit 

by treating any such period as a Period of Service for purposes of eligibility and vesting (but not benefit accrual). For purposes of benefit 

accrual, a Participant's whole year Periods of Service is equal to the sum of all full and partial periods of service, whether or not such 

service is continuous or contiguous, expressed in the number of whole years represented by such sum. For this purpose, fractional periods 

of a year will be expressed in terms of days.  

 

Periods of Service with any Affiliated Employer shall be recognized. Furthermore, Periods of Service with any predecessor 

employer that maintained this Plan shall be recognized. Periods of Service with any other predecessor employer shall be recognized as 

elected in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

In determining Periods of Service for purposes of vesting under the Plan, Periods of Service will be excluded as elected in the 

Adoption Agreement and as specified in Section 3.5. 

 

In the event the method of crediting service is amended from the Hour of Service method to the elapsed time method, an Employee 

will receive credit for a Period of Service consisting of: 

 

(a) A number of years equal to the number of Years of Service credited to the Employee before the computation period during 

which the amendment occurs; and 

 

(b) The greater of (1) the Periods of Service that would be credited to the Employee under the elapsed time method for service 

during the entire computation period in which the transfer occurs or (2) the service taken into account under the Hour of Service 

method as of the date of the amendment. 

 

In addition, the Employee will receive credit for service subsequent to the amendment commencing on the day after the last day of 

the computation period in which the transfer occurs. 

 

1.40 "Period of Severance" means a continuous period of time during which an Employee is not employed by the Employer. Such 

period begins on the date the Employee retires, quits or is discharged, or if earlier, the twelve (12) month anniversary of the date on which 

the Employee was otherwise first absent from service. 

 

In the case of an individual who is absent from work for "maternity or paternity" reasons, the twelve (12) consecutive month period 

beginning on the first anniversary of the first day of such absence shall not constitute a one year Period of Severance. For purposes of this 

paragraph, an absence from work for "maternity or paternity" reasons means an absence (a) by reason of the pregnancy of the individual, 

(b) by reason of the birth of a child of the individual, (c) by reason of the placement of a child with the individual in connection with the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

9 

adoption of such child by such individual, or (d) for purposes of caring for such child for a period beginning immediately following such 

birth or placement. 

 

1.41 "Plan" means this instrument (hereinafter referred to as FIS Business Systems LLC Governmental Defined Contribution Plan 

Basic Plan Document #09) and the Adoption Agreement as adopted by the Employer, including all amendments thereto and any appendix 

which is specifically permitted pursuant to the terms of the Plan. 

 

1.42 "Plan Year" means the Plan's accounting year as specified in the Adoption Agreement. Unless there is a Short Plan Year, the Plan 

Year will be a twelve-consecutive month period. 

 

1.43 "Qualified Convertible Hours" means the amount of sick and vacation pay plan hours eligible to be converted into Employer 

contributions. 

 

1.44 "Regulation" means the Income Tax Regulations as promulgated by the Secretary of the Treasury or a delegate of the Secretary of 

the Treasury, and as amended from time to time. 

 

1.45 "Retirement Date" means the date as of which a Participant retires for reasons other than Total and Permanent Disability, 

regardless of whether such retirement occurs on a Participant's Normal Retirement Date, Early Retirement Date or Late Retirement Date 

(see Section 6.1). 

 

1.46 "Short Plan Year" means, if specified in the Adoption Agreement or as the result of an amendment, a Plan Year of less than a 

twelve (12) month period. If there is a Short Plan Year, the following rules shall apply in the administration of this Plan. In determining 

whether an Employee has completed a Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is used) for benefit accrual 

purposes in the Short Plan Year, the number of the Hours of Service (or months of service if the elapsed time method is used) required shall 

be proportionately reduced based on the number of days (or months) in the Short Plan Year.  

 

1.47 "Spouse" means, a spouse as determined under federal tax law. In addition, with respect to benefits or rights not mandated by law, 

Spouse also includes a spouse as elected in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted 

Elections). 

 

1.48 "Terminated Participant" means a person who has been a Participant, but whose employment has been terminated with the 

Employer (including an Affiliated Employer) or applicable Participating Employer, other than by death, Total and Permanent Disability or 

retirement. 

 

1.49 "Total and Permanent Disability" means, unless otherwise specified in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special 

Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections), the inability to engage in any substantial gainful activity by reason of any medically 

determinable physical or mental impairment that can be expected to result in death or which has lasted or can be expected to last for a 

continuous period of not less than twelve (12) months. The disability of a Participant shall be determined by a licensed physician. However, 

if the condition constitutes total disability under the federal Social Security Acts, the Administrator may rely upon such determination that 

the Participant is Totally and Permanently Disabled for the purposes of this Plan. The determination shall be applied uniformly to all 

Participants. 

 

1.50 "Trustee" means any person or entity that is named in the Adoption Agreement or has otherwise agreed to serve as Trustee, or any 

successors thereto. In addition, unless the context means, or the Plan provides, otherwise, the term "Trustee" shall mean the Insurer if the 

Plan is fully insured. 

 

1.51 "Trust Fund" means, if the Plan is funded with a trust, the assets of the Plan and Trust as the same shall exist from time to time. 

 

1.52 "Valuation Date" means the date or dates specified in the Adoption Agreement. Regardless of any election to the contrary, for 

purposes of the determination and allocation of earnings and losses, the Valuation Date shall include the Anniversary Date and may include 

any other date or dates deemed necessary or appropriate by the Administrator for the valuation of Participants' Accounts during the Plan 

Year, which may include any day that the Trustee (or Insurer), any transfer agent appointed by the Trustee (or Insurer) or the Employer, or 

any stock exchange used by such agent, are open for business. 

 

1.53 "Vested" means the nonforfeitable portion of any Account maintained on behalf of a Participant. 

 

1.54 "Year of Service" means the computation period of twelve (12) consecutive months, herein set forth, and during which an 

Employee has completed at least 1,000 Hours of Service (unless a different number of Hours of Service is specified in the Adoption 

Agreement). 

 

For purposes of eligibility for participation, the initial computation period shall begin with the date on which the Employee first 

performs an Hour of Service (employment commencement date). Unless otherwise elected in the Service Crediting Method Section of the 

Adoption Agreement, the succeeding computation periods shall begin on the anniversary of the Employee's employment commencement 

date. However, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if one (1) Year of Service or less is required as a condition of 

eligibility, then the computation period after the initial computation period shall shift to the current Plan Year which includes the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

10 

anniversary of the date on which the Employee first performed an Hour of Service, and subsequent computation periods shall be the Plan 

Year. If there is a shift to the Plan Year, an Employee who is credited with the number of Hours of Service to be credited with a Year of 

Service in both the initial eligibility computation period and the first Plan Year which commences prior to the first anniversary of the 

Employee's initial eligibility computation period will be credited with two (2) Years of Service for purposes of eligibility to participate. 

 

If two (2) (or more) Years of Service are required as a condition of eligibility, a Participant will only have completed two (2) (or 

more) Years of Service for eligibility purposes upon completing two (2) or more consecutive Years of Service without an intervening 

1-Year Break in Service. 

 

For vesting purposes, and all other purposes not specifically addressed in this Section, the computation period shall be the period 

elected in the Service Crediting Method Section of the Adoption Agreement. If no election is made in the Service Crediting Method 

Section of the Adoption Agreement, then the computation period shall be the Plan Year. 

 

In determining Years of Service for purposes of vesting under the Plan, Years of Service will be excluded as elected in the 

Adoption Agreement and as specified in Section 3.5. 

 

Years of Service and 1-Year Breaks in Service for eligibility purposes will be measured on the same eligibility computation period. 

Years of Service and 1-Year Breaks in Service for vesting purposes will be measured on the same vesting computation period. 

 

Years of Service with any Affiliated Employer shall be recognized. Furthermore, Years of Service with any predecessor employer 

that maintained this Plan shall be recognized. Years of Service with any other employer shall be recognized as elected in the Adoption 

Agreement. 

 

In the event the method of crediting service is amended from the elapsed time method to the Hour of Service method, an Employee 

will receive credit for Years of Service equal to: 

 

(a) The number of Years of Service equal to the number of 1-year Periods of Service credited to the Employee as of the date of the 

amendment; and 

 

(b) In the computation period which includes the date of the amendment, a number of Hours of Service (using the Hours of 

Service equivalency method, if any, elected in the Adoption Agreement) to any fractional part of a year credited to the Employee 

under this Section as of the date of the amendment. 

 

ARTICLE II 

ADMINISTRATION 

 

2.1 POWERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE EMPLOYER 

 

(a) Appointment of Trustee (or Insurer) and Administrator. In addition to the general powers and responsibilities otherwise 

provided for in this Plan, the Employer shall be empowered to appoint and remove one or more Trustees (or Insurers) and 

Administrators from time to time as it deems necessary for the proper administration of the Plan to ensure that the Plan is being 

operated for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their Beneficiaries in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Code. 

The Employer may appoint counsel, specialists, advisers, agents (including any nonfiduciary agent) and other persons as the 

Employer deems necessary or desirable in connection with the exercise of its fiduciary duties under this Plan. The Employer may 

compensate such agents or advisers from the assets of the Plan as fiduciary expenses (but not including any business (settlor) 

expenses of the Employer), to the extent not paid by the Employer. 

 

(b) Appointment of Investment Manager. The Employer may appoint, at its option, one or more Investment Managers, 

investment advisers, or other agents to provide investment direction to the Trustee (or Insurer) with respect to any or all of the Plan 

assets. Such appointment shall be given by the Employer in writing in a form acceptable to the Trustee (or Insurer) and shall 

specifically identify the Plan assets with respect to which the Investment Manager or other agent shall have the authority to direct 

the investment. 

 

2.2 DESIGNATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AUTHORITY 

 

The Employer may appoint one or more Administrators. If the Employer does not appoint an Administrator, the Employer will be 

the Administrator. Any person, including, but not limited to, the Employees of the Employer, shall be eligible to serve as an Administrator. 

Any person so appointed shall signify acceptance by filing written acceptance with the Employer. An Administrator may resign by 

delivering a written resignation to the Employer or be removed by the Employer by delivery of written notice of removal, to take effect at a 

date specified therein, or upon delivery to the Administrator if no date is specified. Upon the resignation or removal of an Administrator, 

the Employer may designate in writing a successor to this position. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

11 

2.3 ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

If more than one person is appointed as Administrator, then the responsibilities of each Administrator may be specified by the 

Employer and accepted in writing by each Administrator. If no such delegation is made by the Employer, then the Administrators may 

allocate the responsibilities among themselves, in which event the Administrators shall notify the Employer and the Trustee (or Insurer) in 

writing of such action and specify the responsibilities of each Administrator. The Trustee (or Insurer) thereafter shall accept and rely upon 

any documents executed by the appropriate Administrator until such time as the Employer or the Administrators file with the Trustee (or 

Insurer) a written revocation of such designation. 

 

2.4 POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE ADMINISTRATOR 

 

The primary responsibility of the Administrator is to administer the Plan for the exclusive benefit of the Participants and their 

Beneficiaries, subject to the specific terms of the Plan. The Administrator shall administer the Plan in accordance with its terms and shall 

have the power and discretion to construe the terms of the Plan and determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, 

interpretation, and application of the Plan. Benefits under this Plan will be paid only if the Administrator decides in its discretion that the 

applicant is entitled to them. Any such determination by the Administrator shall be conclusive and binding upon all persons. The 

Administrator may establish procedures, correct any defect, supply any information, or reconcile any inconsistency in such manner and to 

such extent as shall be deemed necessary or advisable to carry out the purpose of the Plan; provided, however, that any procedure, 

discretionary act, interpretation or construction shall be done based upon uniform principles consistently applied and shall be consistent 

with the intent that the Plan continue to be deemed a qualified plan under the terms of Code §401(a). The Administrator shall have all 

powers necessary or appropriate to accomplish its duties under this Plan. 

 

The Administrator shall be charged with the duties of the general administration of the Plan and the powers necessary to carry out 

such duties as set forth under the terms of the Plan, including, but not limited to, the following: 

 

(a) the discretion to determine all questions relating to the eligibility of an Employee to participate or remain a Participant 

hereunder and to receive benefits under the Plan; 

 

(b) the authority to review and settle all claims against the Plan, including claims where the settlement amount cannot be 

calculated or is not calculated in accordance with the Plan's benefit formula. This authority specifically permits the Administrator to 

settle disputed claims for benefits and any other disputed claims made against the Plan; 

 

(c) to compute, certify, and direct agents of the Plan respect to the amount and the kind of benefits to which any Participant shall 

be entitled hereunder; 

 

(d) to authorize and direct the Trustee (or Insurer) with respect to all discretionary or otherwise directed disbursements from the 

Trust Fund; 

 

(e) to maintain all necessary records for the administration of the Plan; 

 

(f) to interpret the provisions of the Plan and to make and publish such rules for regulation of the Plan that are consistent with the 

terms hereof; 

 

(g) to determine the size and type of any Contract to be purchased from any Insurer, and to designate the Insurer from which such 

Contract shall be purchased; 

 

(h) to compute and certify to the Employer and to the Trustee (or Insurer) from time to time the sums of money necessary or 

desirable to be contributed to the Plan; 

 

(i) to consult with the Employer and agents of the Plan regarding the short and long-term liquidity needs of the Plan; 

 

(j) to assist Participants regarding their rights, benefits, or elections available under the Plan; and 

 

(k) to determine the validity of, and take appropriate action with respect to, any "qualified domestic relations order" received by it. 

 

2.5 RECORDS AND REPORTS 

 

The Administrator shall keep a record of all actions taken and shall keep all other books of account, records, and other data that may 

be necessary for proper administration of the Plan and shall be responsible for supplying all information and reports to the Internal Revenue 

Service, Participants, Beneficiaries and others as required by applicable law. 

 

2.6 APPOINTMENT OF ADVISERS 

 

The Administrator may appoint counsel, specialists, advisers, agents (including nonfiduciary agents such as third party 

administrative services providers and recordkeepers) and other persons as the Administrator deems necessary or desirable in connection 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

12 

with the administration of this Plan, including but not limited to agents and advisers to assist with the administration and management of 

the Plan, and thereby to provide, among such other duties as the Administrator may appoint, assistance with maintaining Plan records and 

the providing of investment information to the Plan's investment fiduciaries and, if applicable, to Plan Participants. 

 

2.7 INFORMATION FROM EMPLOYER 

 

The Employer shall supply full and timely information to the Administrator on all pertinent facts as the Administrator may require 

in order to perform its functions hereunder and the Administrator shall advise appropriate agents of the Plan of such of the foregoing facts 

as may be pertinent to the agent's duties to the Plan. The Administrator may rely upon such information as is supplied by the Employer and 

shall have no duty or responsibility to verify such information. 

 

2.8 PAYMENT OF EXPENSES 

 

All reasonable expenses of administration may be paid out of the Plan assets unless paid by the Employer. Such expenses shall 

include any expenses incident to the functioning of the Administrator, or any person or persons retained or appointed by any named 

fiduciary incident to the exercise of their duties under the Plan, including, but not limited to, fees of accountants, counsel, Investment 

Managers, agents (including nonfiduciary agents such as third party administrative services providers and recordkeepers) appointed for the 

purpose of assisting the Administrator or Trustee (or Insurer) in carrying out the instructions of Participants as to the directed investment of 

their Accounts (if permitted) and other specialists and their agents and other costs of administering the Plan. In addition, unless specifically 

prohibited under statute, regulation or other guidance of general applicability, the Administrator may charge to the Account of an 

individual Participant a reasonable charge to offset the cost of making a distribution to the Participant, Beneficiary, or Alternate Payee. If 

liquid assets of the Plan are insufficient to cover the fees of the Trustee (or Insurer) or the Administrator, then Plan assets shall be 

liquidated to the extent necessary for such fees. In the event any part of the Plan assets becomes subject to tax, all taxes incurred will be 

paid from the Plan assets. Until paid, the expenses shall constitute a liability of the Trust Fund. 

 

2.9 MAJORITY ACTIONS 

 

Except where there has been an allocation and delegation of administrative authority pursuant to Section 2.3, if there is more than 

one Administrator, then they shall act by a majority of their number, but may authorize one or more of them to sign all papers on their 

behalf. 

 

2.10 CLAIMS PROCEDURES 

 

Any person who believes that he or she is entitled to a benefit under the Plan shall file with the Administrator a written notice of 

claim for such benefit within 45 days of such right accruing or shall forever waive entitlement to such benefit. Within 120 days after its 

receipt of such written notice of claim, the Administrator shall either grant or deny such claim provided, however, any delay on the part of 

the Administrator is arriving at a decision shall not adversely affect benefits payable under a granted claim. The Administrator may, 

however, implement alternative claims procedures in lieu of those provided in this Plan. The implementation of such procedures shall not 

be considered a Plan amendment that affects an Employer's reliance on this volume submitter plan.  

 

The Administrator and all persons determining or reviewing claims have full discretion to determine benefit claims under the Plan. 

Any interpretation, determination or other action of such persons shall be subject to review only if it is arbitrary or capricious or otherwise 

an abuse of discretion. Any review of a final decision or action of the persons reviewing a claim shall be based only on such evidence 

presented to or considered by such persons at the time they made the decision that is the subject of review. 

 

ARTICLE III 

ELIGIBILITY 

 

3.1 CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY 

 

An Eligible Employee shall be eligible to participate hereunder on the date such Employee has satisfied the conditions of eligibility, 

if any, elected in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

3.2 EFFECTIVE DATE OF PARTICIPATION 

 

(a) General rule. An Eligible Employee who has satisfied the conditions of eligibility pursuant to Section 3.1 shall become a 

Participant effective as of the date elected in the Adoption Agreement. Regardless of any election in the Adoption Agreement to the 

contrary, an Eligible Employee who has satisfied the maximum age (26) and service requirements (one (1) Year (or Period) of 

Service (or more than one (1) year if full and immediate vesting)) and who is otherwise entitled to participate, will become a 

Participant no later than the earlier of (1) six (6) months after such requirements are satisfied, or (2) the first day of the first Plan 

Year after such requirements are satisfied, unless the Employee separates from service before such participation date.  

 

(b) Rehired Employee. If an Eligible Employee is not employed on the date determined pursuant to (a) above, but is reemployed 

before a 1-Year Break in Service has occurred, then such Eligible Employee shall become a Participant on the date of 

reemployment or, if later, the date that the Employee would have otherwise entered the Plan had the Employee not terminated 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

13 

employment. If such Employee incurs a 1-Year Break in Service, then eligibility will be determined under the 1-Year Break in 

Service rules set forth in Section 3.5. 

 

(c) Recognition of predecessor service. Unless specifically provided otherwise in the Adoption Agreement, an Eligible 

Employee who satisfies the Plan's eligibility requirement conditions by reason of recognition of service with a predecessor 

employer will become a Participant as of the day the Plan credits service with a predecessor employer or, if later, the date the 

Employee would have otherwise entered the Plan had the service with the predecessor employer been service with the Employer. 

 

(d) Noneligible to eligible class. If an Employee, who has satisfied the Plan's eligibility requirements and would otherwise have 

become a Participant, shall go from a classification of a noneligible Employee to an Eligible Employee, such Employee shall 

become a Participant on the date such Employee becomes an Eligible Employee or, if later, the date that the Employee would have 

otherwise entered the Plan had the Employee always been an Eligible Employee. 

 

(e) Eligible to noneligible class. If an Employee, who has satisfied the Plan's eligibility requirements and would otherwise 

become a Participant, shall go from a classification of an Eligible Employee to a noneligible class of Employees, such Employee 

shall become a Participant in the Plan on the date such Employee again becomes an Eligible Employee, or, if later, the date that the 

Employee would have otherwise entered the Plan had the Employee always been an Eligible Employee. However, if such Employee 

incurs a 1-Year Break in Service, eligibility will be determined under the 1-Year Break in Service rules set forth in Section 3.5. 

 

3.3 DETERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 

 

The Administrator shall determine the eligibility of each Employee for participation in the Plan based upon information furnished 

by the Employer. Such determination shall be conclusive and binding upon all persons, as long as the same is made pursuant to the Plan. 

 

3.4 TERMINATION OF ELIGIBILITY 

 

In the event a Participant shall go from a classification of an Eligible Employee to an ineligible Employee, such Participant shall 

continue to vest in the Plan for each Year of Service (or Period of Service, if the elapsed time method is used) completed while an 

ineligible Employee, until such time as the Participant's Account is forfeited or distributed pursuant to the terms of the Plan. Additionally, 

the Participant's interest in the Plan shall continue to share in the earnings of the Trust Fund in the same manner as Participants. 

 

3.5 REHIRED EMPLOYEES AND 1-YEAR BREAKS IN SERVICE 

 

(a) Rehired Participant/immediate re-entry. If any Former Employee who had been a Participant is reemployed by the 

Employer, then the Employee shall become a Participant as of the reemployment date, unless the Employee is not an Eligible 

Employee, the Employee does not satisfy the eligibility conditions taking into account prior service to the extent such prior service 

is not disregarded pursuant to Section 3.5(d) below. If such prior service is disregarded, then the rehired Eligible Employee shall be 

treated as a new hire.  

 

(b) Rehired Eligible Employee who satisfied eligibility. If any Eligible Employee had satisfied the Plan's eligibility 

requirements but, due to a severance of employment, did not become a Participant, then such Eligible Employee shall become a 

Participant as of the later of (1) the entry date on which he or she would have entered the Plan had there been no severance of 

employment, or (2) the date of his or her re-employment. Notwithstanding the preceding, if the rehired Eligible Employee's prior 

service is disregarded pursuant to Section 3.5(d) below, then the rehired Eligible Employee shall be treated as a new hire. 

 

(c) Rehired Eligible Employee who had not satisfied eligibility. If any Eligible Employee who had not satisfied the Plan's 

eligibility requirements is rehired after severance from employment, then such Eligible Employee shall become a Participant in the 

Plan in accordance with the eligibility requirements set forth in the Adoption Agreement and the Plan. However, in applying any 

shift in an eligibility computation period, the Eligible Employee is not treated as a new hire unless prior service is disregarded in 

accordance with Section 3.5(d) below. 

 

(d) Reemployed after five (5) 1-Year Breaks in Service ("rule of parity" provisions). If the Employer elects in Appendix A to 

the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections) to apply the "rule of parity" provisions, then if 

any Employee is reemployed after five (5) 1-Year Breaks in Service has occurred, Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the 

elapsed time method is being used) shall include Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the elapsed time method is being used) 

prior to the 5-Year Break in Service subject to the rules set forth below. The Employer may elect in Appendix A to the Adoption 

Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections) to make the provisions of this paragraph applicable for 

purposes of eligibility and/or vesting. 

 

(1) In the case of a Former Employee who under the Plan does not have a nonforfeitable right to any interest in the Plan 

resulting from Employer contributions, Years of Service (or Periods of Service) before a period of 1-Year Breaks in Service 

will not be taken into account if the number of consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service equals or exceeds the greater of (i) 

five (5) or (ii) the aggregate number of pre-break Years of Service (or Periods of Service). Such aggregate number of Years of 

Service (or Periods of Service) will not include any Years of Service (or Periods of Service) disregarded under the preceding 

sentence by reason of prior 1-Year Breaks in Service; 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

14 

 

(2) A Former Employee who has not had Years of Service (or Periods of Service) before a 1-Year Break in Service 

disregarded pursuant to (1) above, shall participate in the Plan as of the date of reemployment, or if later, as of the date the 

Former Employee would otherwise enter the Plan pursuant to Sections 3.1 and 3.2 taking into account all service not 

disregarded. 

 

(e) Vesting after five (5) 1-Year Breaks in Service. If a Participant incurs five (5) consecutive 1-Year Breaks in Service, the 

Vested portion of such Participant's Account attributable to pre-break service shall not be increased as a result of post-break service. 

In such case, separate accounts will be maintained as follows: 

 

(1) one account for nonforfeitable benefits attributable to pre-break service; and 

 

(2) one account representing the Participant's Employer-derived Account balance in the Plan attributable to post-break 

service. 

 

(f) Waiver of allocation or contribution conditions. If the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to waive allocations or 

contributions due to retirement (early or normal retirement), then a Participant shall only be entitled to one such waiver. 

Accordingly, if a Participant retires and allocation or contribution conditions are waived, then the Plan will not waive the allocation 

or contribution conditions if the Participant is rehired and then retires again. 

 

3.6 OMISSION OF ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE; INCLUSION OF INELIGIBLE EMPLOYEE 

 

If, in any Plan Year, any Employee who should be included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously omitted and discovery of such 

omission is not made until after a contribution by the Employer for the year has been made and allocated, or any person who should not 

have been included as a Participant in the Plan is erroneously included, then the Employer may take corrective actions consistent with, the 

IRS Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (i.e., Rev. Proc. 2013-12 or any subsequent guidance). 

 

ARTICLE IV 

CONTRIBUTION AND ALLOCATION 

 

4.1 FORMULA FOR DETERMINING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION 

 

(a) For a Money Purchase Plan. All contributions made by the Employer will be made in cash. For each Plan Year, the 

Employer will contribute to the Plan the following: 

 

(1) The amount of any mandatory Employee contributions and after-tax voluntary Employee contributions made by 

Participants; plus 

 

(2) On behalf of each Participant eligible to share in allocations, for each year of such Participant's participation in this Plan, 

the Employer will contribute the amount specified in the Adoption Agreement; plus 

 

(3) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a matching contribution equal to the amount specified in the Adoption Agreement 

of each Participant eligible to share in the allocations of the matching contribution, which amount shall be deemed an 

Employer matching contribution.  

 

(b) For a 401(a) Plan. For each Plan Year, the Employer will (or may with respect to any discretionary contributions) contribute 

to the Plan: 

 

(1) The amount of any mandatory Employee contributions and after-tax voluntary Employee contributions; plus 

 

(2) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, a matching contribution equal to the amount specified in the Adoption Agreement 

of each Participant eligible to share in the allocations of the matching contribution, which amount shall be deemed an 

Employer matching contribution; plus 

 

(3) If elected in the Adoption Agreement, an Employer contribution equal to a specified contribution or a discretionary 

amount determined each year by the Employer. 

 

(c) Frozen Plans. The Employer may designate that the Plan is a frozen Plan at the Contribution Types Section of the Adoption 

Agreement. As a frozen Plan, the Employer will not make any Employer contributions with respect to Compensation earned after 

the date the Plan is frozen. In addition, once a Plan is frozen, no additional Employees shall become Participants. 

 

(d) Union Employees. Regardless of any provision in this Plan to the contrary, Employees whose employment is governed by a 

collective bargaining agreement between the Employer and "employee representatives" under which retirement benefits were the 

subject of good faith bargaining shall be eligible to participate in this Plan to the extent of employment covered by such agreement 

provided the agreement provides for coverage in the Plan. The benefits, including but not limited to, contributions, allocations and 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

15 

vesting, under this Plan shall be those set forth in the collective bargaining agreement, which is hereby incorporated by reference 

and attached as an addendum to the Adoption Agreement. For this purpose, the term "employee representatives" does not include 

any organization more than half of whose members are employees who are owners, officers, or executives of the Employer. If a 

Participant performs services both as a collectively bargained Employee and as a non-collectively bargained Employee, then the 

Participant's Hours of Service and Compensation in each respective category are treated separately for purposes of the Plan. 

 

(d) Social Security Replacement Plan. The Employer may elect under the Adoption Agreement to indicate its intention to 

qualify this Plan as a Social Security Replacement Plan under Code §3121(b)(7)(F). If the Employer makes the election to qualify 

the Plan as a Social Security Replacement Plan, the Plan will allocate a minimum contribution amount (Employer and Employee 

Contributions) of seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of Compensation. The Plan will consider each Participant a member of a 

retirement system that provides benefits comparable to the benefits he or she would have received under Social Security. In the case 

of part-time, seasonal and temporary Employees, the benefit will be nonforfeitable. 

 

4.2 TIME OF PAYMENT OF EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION 

 

Unless otherwise provided by contract or law, the Employer may make its contribution to the Plan for a particular Plan Year at such 

time as the Employer, in its sole discretion, determines. If the Employer makes a contribution for a particular Plan Year after the close of 

that Plan Year, the Employer will designate to the Administrator the Plan Year for which the Employer is making its contribution. 

 

4.3 ALLOCATION OF CONTRIBUTION, FORFEITURES AND EARNINGS 

 

(a) Separate accounting. The Administrator shall establish and maintain an Account in the name of each Participant to which the 

Administrator shall credit as of each Anniversary Date, or other Valuation Date, all amounts allocated to each such Participant as 

set forth herein. 

 

(b) Allocation of contributions. The Employer shall provide the Administrator with all information required by the Administrator 

to make a proper allocation of the Employer's contribution, if any, for each Plan Year. Within a reasonable period of time after the 

date of receipt by the Administrator of such information, the Administrator shall allocate any contributions as follows: 

 

(1) Money Purchase Pension Plan. For a Money Purchase Plan: 

 

(i) The Employer's contribution shall be allocated to each Participant's Account in the manner set forth in Section 4.1 

herein and as specified in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

(ii) Notwithstanding the preceding provisions, a Participant shall only be eligible to share in the allocations of the 

Employer's contribution for the year if the Participant is an Eligible Employee at any time during the year and the 

conditions set forth in the Adoption Agreement are satisfied. 

 

(2) 401(a) Plan. For a 401(a) Plan (which is a profit sharing plan within the meaning of Code §401(a)): 

 

(i) The Employer's contribution shall be allocated to each Participant's Account in accordance with the allocation 

method below that corresponds to the elections in the Adoption Agreement. The Employer shall provide the 

Administrator with all information required by the Administrator to make a proper allocation of the Employer's 

contribution for each Plan Year. Within a reasonable period of time after the date of receipt by the Administrator of such 

information, the allocation shall be made in accordance with the provisions below.  

 

(ii) Notwithstanding the preceding provision, a Participant shall only be eligible to share in the allocations of the 

Employer's contribution for the year if the Participant is an Eligible Employee at any time during the year and the 

conditions set forth in the Adoption Agreement are satisfied. 

 

(c) Gains or losses. Except as otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement or as provided in Section 4.10 with respect to 

Participant Directed Accounts, as of each Valuation Date, before allocation of any Employer contributions and Forfeitures, any 

earnings or losses (net appreciation or net depreciation) of the Trust Fund (exclusive of assets segregated for distribution) shall be 

allocated in the same proportion that each Participant's nonsegregated accounts bear to the total of all Participants' nonsegregated 

accounts as of such date. Unless otherwise specified in the Adoption Agreement, the nonsegregated account will be reduced by any 

distributions made prior to the Valuation Date.  

 

(d) Contracts. Participants' Accounts shall be debited for any insurance or annuity premiums paid, if any, and credited with any 

dividends or interest received on Contracts. 

 

(e) Forfeitures. Forfeitures must be disposed of no later than the last day of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the 

Forfeiture occurs. The Employer must direct the Administrator to use Forfeitures to satisfy any contribution that may be required 

pursuant to Section 6.10 or to pay any Plan expenses. With respect to a Money Purchase Plan, any remaining Forfeitures will be 

disposed of in accordance with the elections in the Adoption Agreement. With respect to all other plans, the Employer must direct 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

16 

the Administrator to use any remaining Forfeitures in accordance with any combination of the following methods, including a 

different method based on the source of such Forfeitures. Forfeitures may be: 

 

(1) Added to any Employer discretionary contribution and allocated in the same manner 

 

(2) Used to reduce any Employer contribution  

 

(3) Added to any Employer matching contribution and allocated as an additional matching contribution 

 

(4) Allocated to all Participants in the same proportion that each Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the 

Compensation of all Participants for such year 

 

If Forfeitures are allocated to Participants (rather than used to reduce Employer contributions) then the Employer must also direct 

the Administrator as to which Participants are eligible to share in such allocation. The maximum allocation conditions the Employer 

may require are that Participants complete one (1) Year of Service (or Period of Service) and be employed on the last day of the 

Plan Year in order to share in the allocation of Forfeitures for such Plan Year.  

 

(f) Delay in processing transactions. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, all information necessary to 

properly reflect a given transaction may not be available until after the date specified herein for processing such transaction, in 

which case the transaction will be reflected when such information is received and processed. Subject to express limits that may be 

imposed under the Code, the processing of any contribution, distribution or other transaction may be delayed for any legitimate 

business reason (including, but not limited to, failure of systems or computer programs, failure of the means of the transmission of 

data, force majeure, the failure of a service provider to timely receive values or prices, and correction for errors or omissions or the 

errors or omissions of any service provider). The processing date of a transaction will be binding for all purposes of the Plan. 

 

4.4 MAXIMUM ANNUAL ADDITIONS 

 

(a) Calculation of "annual additions." 

 

(1) If a Participant does not participate in, and has never participated in another qualified plan maintained by the "employer," 

or a welfare benefit fund (as defined in Code §419(e)) maintained by the "employer," or an individual medical benefit account 

(as defined in Code §415(l)(2)) maintained by the "employer," or a simplified employee pension (as defined in Code §408(k)) 

maintained by the "employer" which provides "annual additions," the amount of "annual additions" which may be credited to 

the Participant's Accounts for any Limitation Year shall not exceed the lesser of the "maximum permissible amount" or any 

other limitation contained in this Plan. If the "employer" contribution that would otherwise be contributed or allocated to the 

Participant's Accounts would cause the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year to exceed the "maximum permissible 

amount," the amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year will equal 

the "maximum permissible amount," and any amount in excess of the "maximum permissible amount" which would have been 

allocated to such Participant may be allocated to other Participants. 

 

(2) Prior to determining the Participant's actual 415 Compensation for the Limitation Year, the "employer" may determine the 

"maximum permissible amount" for a Participant on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's 415 Compensation 

for the Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly situated. 

 

(3) As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year the "maximum permissible amount" for such 

Limitation Year shall be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual 415 Compensation for such Limitation Year. 

 

(b) "Annual additions" if a Participant is in more than one plan.  

 

(1) Except as provided in Subsection (c) below, this Subsection applies if, in addition to this Plan, a Participant is covered 

under another "employer" maintained qualified defined contribution plan, welfare benefit fund (as defined in Code §419(e)), 

individual medical benefit account (as defined in Code §415(l)(2)), or simplified employee pension (as defined in Code 

§408(k)), which provides "annual additions," during any Limitation Year. The "annual additions" which may be credited to a 

Participant's Accounts under this Plan for any such Limitation Year shall not exceed the "maximum permissible amount" 

reduced by the "annual additions" credited to a Participant's Accounts under the other plans and welfare benefit funds, 

individual medical benefit accounts, and simplified employee pensions for the same Limitation Year. If the "annual additions" 

with respect to the Participant under other defined contribution plans and welfare benefit funds maintained by the "employer" 

are less than the "maximum permissible amount" and the "employer" contribution that would otherwise be contributed or 

allocated to the Participant's Accounts under this Plan would cause the "annual additions" for the Limitation Year to exceed 

this limitation, the amount contributed or allocated will be reduced so that the "annual additions" under all such plans and 

welfare benefit funds for the Limitation Year will equal the "maximum permissible amount," and any amount in excess of the 

"maximum permissible amount" which would have been allocated to such Participant may be allocated to other Participants. If 

the "annual additions" with respect to the Participant under such other defined contribution plans, welfare benefit funds, 

individual medical benefit accounts and simplified employee pensions in the aggregate are equal to or greater than the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

17 

"maximum permissible amount," no amount will be contributed or allocated to the Participant's Account under this Plan for the 

Limitation Year. 

 

(2) Prior to determining the Participant's actual 415 Compensation for the Limitation Year, the "employer" may determine the 

"maximum permissible amount" for a Participant on the basis of a reasonable estimation of the Participant's 415 Compensation 

for the Limitation Year, uniformly determined for all Participants similarly situated. 

 

(3) As soon as is administratively feasible after the end of the Limitation Year, the "maximum permissible amount" for the 

Limitation Year will be determined on the basis of the Participant's actual 415 Compensation for the Limitation Year. 

 

(4) If, pursuant to Section 4.4(b)(2), a Participant's "annual additions" under this Plan and such other plans would result in an 

"excess amount" for a Limitation Year, the "excess amount" will be deemed to consist of the "annual additions" last allocated, 

except that "annual additions" attributable to a simplified employee pension will be deemed to have been allocated first, 

followed by "annual additions" to a welfare benefit fund or individual medical benefit account, and then by "annual additions" 

to a plan subject to Code §412, regardless of the actual allocation date. 

 

(5) If an "excess amount" was allocated to a Participant on an allocation date of this Plan which coincides with an allocation 

date of another plan, the "excess amount" attributed to this Plan will be the product of: 

 

(i) the total "excess amount" allocated as of such date, times 

 

(ii) the ratio of (A) the "annual additions" allocated to the Participant for the Limitation Year as of such date under 

this Plan to (B) the total "annual additions" allocated to the Participant for the Limitation Year as of such date under this 

and all the other qualified defined contribution plans. 

 

(c) Coverage under another plan. If the Participant is covered under another qualified defined contribution plan maintained by 

the "employer," "annual additions" which may be credited to the Participant's Accounts under this Plan for any Limitation Year will 

be limited in accordance with Section 4.4(b), unless the "employer" provides other limitations in Appendix A to the Adoption 

Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections). 

 

(d) Time when "annual additions" credited. An "annual addition" is credited to the Account of a Participant for a particular 

Limitation Year if it as allocated to the Participant's Account under the Plan as of any date within that Limitation Year. However, an 

amount is not deemed allocated as of any date within a Limitation Year if such allocation is dependent upon participation in the 

Plan as of any date subsequent to such date.  

 

For purposes of this subparagraph, "employer" contributions are treated as credited to a Participant's Account for a particular 

Limitation Year only if the contributions are actually made to the Plan no later than the 15th day of the tenth calendar month 

following the end of the calendar year or Fiscal Year (as applicable, depending on the basis on which the Employer keeps its books) 

with or within which the particular Limitation Year ends. 

 

(e) Definitions. For purposes of this Section, the following terms shall be defined as follows: 

 

(1) "Annual additions" means the sum credited to a Participant's Accounts for any Limitation Year of (a) "employer" 

contributions, (b) Employee contributions (except as provided below), (c) Forfeitures, (d) amounts allocated to an individual 

medical benefit account, as defined in Code §415(l)(2), which is part of a pension or annuity plan maintained by the 

"employer," (e) amounts derived from contributions paid or accrued which are attributable to post-retirement medical benefits 

allocated to the separate account of a key employee (as defined in Code §419A(d)(3)) under a welfare benefit fund (as defined 

in Code §419(e)) maintained by the "employer" and (f) allocations under a simplified employee pension. Except, however, the 

Compensation percentage limitation referred to in paragraph (e)(5)(ii) below shall not apply to: (1) any contribution for 

medical benefits (within the meaning of Code §419A(f)(2)) after separation from service which is otherwise treated as an 

"annual addition," or (2) any amount otherwise treated as an "annual addition" under Code §415(l)(1). 

 

(i) Restorative payments. "Annual additions" for purposes of Code §415 and this Section shall not include 

restorative payments. A restorative payment is a payment made to restore losses to a Plan resulting from actions by a 

fiduciary for which there is reasonable risk of liability for breach of a fiduciary duty under applicable federal or state law, 

where Participants who are similarly situated are treated similarly with respect to the payments. Generally, payments are 

restorative payments only if the payments are made in order to restore some or all of the Plan's losses due to an action (or 

a failure to act) that creates a reasonable risk of liability for such a breach of fiduciary duty (other than a breach of 

fiduciary duty arising from failure to remit contributions to the Plan). Payments made to the Plan to make up for losses 

due merely to market fluctuations and other payments that are not made on account of a reasonable risk of liability for 

breach of a fiduciary duty are not restorative payments and generally constitute contributions that are considered "annual 

additions."  

 

(ii) Other amounts. "Annual additions" for purposes of Code §415 and this Section shall not include: (A) The direct 

transfer of a benefit or employee contributions from a qualified plan to this Plan; (B) Rollover contributions (as described 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

18 

in Code §§401(a)(31), 402(c)(1), 403(a)(4), 403(b)(8), 408(d)(3), and 457(e)(16)); (C) Repayments of loans made to a 

Participant from the Plan; and (D) Repayments of amounts described in Code §411(a)(7)(B) (in accordance with 

Code §411(a)(7)(C)) and Code §411(a)(3)(D) or repayment of contributions to a governmental plan (as defined in 

Code §414(d)) as described in Code §415(k)(3), as well as Employer restorations of benefits that are required pursuant to 

such repayments. 

 

(2) "Defined contribution dollar limitation" means $40,000 as adjusted under Code §415(d). 

 

(3) "Employer" means, for purposes of this Section, the Employer that adopts this Plan and all Affiliated Employers. 

 

(4) "Excess amount" means the excess of the Participant's "annual additions" for the Limitation Year over the "maximum 

permissible amount." 

 

(5) "Maximum permissible amount" means, except to the extent permitted under this Plan and Code §414(v), the 

maximum "annual addition" that may be contributed or allocated to a Participant's Accounts under the Plan for any Limitation 

Year, which shall not exceed the lesser of: 

 

(i) the "defined contribution dollar limitation," or 

 

(ii) one hundred percent (100%) of the Participant's 415 Compensation for the Limitation Year. 

 

The 415 Compensation Limitation referred to in (ii) shall not apply to any contribution for medical benefits after 

separation from service (within the meaning of Code §§401(h) or 419A(f)(2)) which is otherwise treated as an "annual 

addition." 

 

If a short Limitation Year is created because of an amendment changing the Limitation Year to a different twelve (12) 

consecutive month period, the "maximum permissible amount" will not exceed the "defined contribution dollar limitation" 

multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of months in the short Limitation Year and the denominator of 

which is twelve (12). 

 

(f) Special rules. 

 

(1) Aggregation of plans. For purposes of applying the limitations of Code §415, all defined contribution plans (without 

regard to whether a plan has been terminated) ever maintained by the "employer" (or a "predecessor employer") under which 

the Participant receives "annual additions" are treated as one defined contribution plan. For purposes of this Section: 

 

(i) A former "employer" is a "predecessor employer" with respect to a participant in a plan maintained by an 

"employer" if the "employer" maintains a plan under which the participant had accrued a benefit while performing 

services for the former "employer", but only if that benefit is provided under the plan maintained by the "employer". For 

this purpose, the "formerly affiliated plan" rules in Regulation §1.415(f)-1(b)(2) apply as if the "employer" and 

"predecessor employer" constituted a single employer under the rules described in Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) 

immediately prior to the "cessation of affiliation" (and as if they constituted two, unrelated employers under the rules 

described in Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) immediately after the "cessation of affiliation") and "cessation of 

affiliation" was the event that gives rise to the "predecessor employer" relationship, such as a transfer of benefits or plan 

sponsorship. 

 

(ii) With respect to an "employer" of a Participant, a former entity that antedates the "employer" is a "predecessor 

employer" with respect to the Participant if, under the facts and circumstances, the "employer" constitutes a continuation 

of all or a portion of the trade or business of the former entity.  

 

(2) Break-up of an affiliated employer or an affiliated service group. For purposes of aggregating plans for Code §415, a 

"formerly affiliated plan" of an "employer" is taken into account for purposes of applying the Code §415 limitations to the 

"employer," but the "formerly affiliated plan" is treated as if it had terminated immediately prior to the "cessation of 

affiliation." For purposes of this paragraph, a "formerly affiliated plan" of an "employer" is a plan that, immediately prior to 

the "cessation of affiliation," was actually maintained by one or more of the entities that constitute the "employer" (as 

determined under the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2)), and immediately after the 

"cessation of affiliation," is not actually maintained by any of the entities that constitute the "employer" (as determined under 

the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2)). For purposes of this paragraph, a "cessation 

of affiliation" means the event that causes an entity to no longer be aggregated with one or more other entities as a single 

"employer" under the employer affiliation rules described in Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) (such as the sale of a 

subsidiary outside a controlled group), or that causes a plan to not actually be maintained by any of the entities that constitute 

the "employer" under the employer affiliation rules of Regulation §1.415(a)-1(f)(1) and (2) (such as a transfer of plan 

sponsorship outside of a controlled group). 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

19 

(3) Mid-year aggregation. Two or more defined contribution plans that are not required to be aggregated pursuant to Code 

§415(f) and the Regulations thereunder as of the first day of a Limitation Year do not fail to satisfy the requirements of Code 

§415 with respect to a Participant for the Limitation Year merely because they are aggregated later in that Limitation Year, 

provided that no "annual additions" are credited to the Participant's Account after the date on which the plans are required to be 

aggregated. 

 

4.5 ADJUSTMENT FOR EXCESS ANNUAL ADDITIONS 

 

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, if the "annual additions" (as defined in Section 4.4) are exceeded for any 

Participant, then the Plan may only correct such excess in accordance with the Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System (EPCRS) as 

set forth in Revenue Procedure 2013-12 or any superseding guidance. 

 

4.6 ROLLOVERS 

 

(a) Acceptance of "rollovers" into the Plan. If elected in the Adoption Agreement and with the consent of the Administrator, the 

Plan may accept a "rollover," provided the "rollover" will not jeopardize the tax-exempt status of the Plan or create adverse tax 

consequences for the Employer. The amounts rolled over shall be separately accounted for in a "Participant's Rollover Account." A 

Participant's Rollover Account shall be fully Vested at all times and shall not be subject to Forfeiture for any reason. For purposes 

of this Section, the term Participant shall include any Eligible Employee who is not yet a Participant, if, pursuant to the Adoption 

Agreement, "rollovers" are permitted to be accepted from Eligible Employees. In addition, for purposes of this Section the term 

Participant shall also include Former Employees if the Employer and Administrator consent to accept "rollovers" of distributions 

made to Former Employees from any plan of the Employer. 

 

(b) Treatment of "rollovers" under the Plan. Amounts in a Participant's Rollover Account shall be held by the Trustee (or 

Insurer) pursuant to the provisions of this Plan and may not be withdrawn by, or distributed to the Participant, in whole or in part, 

except as elected in the Adoption Agreement and Subsection (c) below. The Trustee (or Insurer) shall have no duty or responsibility 

to inquire as to the propriety of the amount, value or type of assets transferred, nor to conduct any due diligence with respect to such 

assets; provided, however, that such assets are otherwise eligible to be held by the Trustee (or Insurer) under the terms of this Plan. 

 

(c) Distribution of "rollovers." At such time as the conditions set forth in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied, the 

Administrator, at the election of the Participant, shall direct the distribution of up to the entire amount credited to the Rollover 

Account maintained on behalf of such Participant. Any distribution of amounts held in a Participant's Rollover Account shall be 

made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Sections 6.5 and 6.6. Furthermore, unless otherwise 

elected in the Adoption Agreement, such amounts shall be considered to be part of a Participant's benefit in determining whether an 

involuntary cash-out of benefits may be made without Participant consent. 

 

(d) "Rollovers" maintained in a separate account. The Administrator may direct that "rollovers" made after a Valuation Date 

be segregated into a separate account for each Participant until such time as the allocations pursuant to this Plan have been made, at 

which time they may remain segregated, invested as part of the general Trust Fund or, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, 

directed by the Participant. 

 

(e) Limits on accepting "rollovers." Prior to accepting any "rollovers" to which this Section applies, the Administrator may 

require the Employee to establish (by providing opinion of counsel or otherwise) that the amounts to be rolled over to this Plan meet 

the requirements of this Section. The Employer may instruct the Administrator, operationally, to limit the source of "rollover" 

contributions that may be accepted by the Plan. 

 

(f) Definitions. For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply:  

 

(1) A "rollover" means: (i) amounts transferred to this Plan directly from another "eligible retirement plan;" (ii) distributions 

received by an Employee from other "eligible retirement plans" which are eligible for tax-free rollover to an "eligible 

retirement plan" and which are transferred by the Employee to this Plan within sixty (60) days following receipt thereof; and 

(iii) any other amounts which are eligible to be rolled over to this Plan pursuant to the Code or any other federally enacted 

legislation. 

 

(2) An "eligible retirement plan" means an individual retirement account described in Code §408(a), an individual retirement 

annuity described in Code §408(b) (other than an endowment contract), a qualified trust (an employees' trust described in 

Code §401(a) which is exempt from tax under Code §501(a)), an annuity plan described in Code §403(a), an eligible deferred 

compensation plan described in Code §457(b) which is maintained by an eligible employer described in Code §457(e)(1)(A), 

and an annuity contract described in Code §403(b). 

 

4.7 PLAN-TO-PLAN TRANSFERS FROM QUALIFIED PLANS 

 

(a) Transfers into this Plan. With the consent of the Administrator, amounts may be transferred (within the meaning of 

Code §414(l)) to this Plan from other tax qualified plans under Code §401(a), provided the plan from which such funds are 

transferred permits the transfer to be made and the transfer will not jeopardize the tax-exempt status of the Plan or Trust or create 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

20 

adverse tax consequences for the Employer. Prior to accepting any transfers to which this Section applies, the Administrator may 

require an opinion of counsel that the amounts to be transferred meet the requirements of this Section. The amounts transferred shall 

be set up in a separate account herein referred to as a "Participant's Transfer Account." Furthermore, for vesting purposes, the 

Participant's Transfer Account shall be treated as a separate "Participant's Account." 

 

(b) Accounting of transfers. Amounts in a Participant's Transfer Account shall be held by the Trustee (or Insurer) pursuant to the 

provisions of this Plan and may not be withdrawn by, or distributed to the Participant, in whole or in part, except as elected in the 

Adoption Agreement and Subsection (d) below, provided the restrictions of Subsection (c) below and Section 6.16 are satisfied. The 

Trustee (or Insurer) shall have no duty or responsibility to inquire as to the propriety of the amount, value or type of assets 

transferred, nor to conduct any due diligence with respect to such assets; provided, however, that such assets are otherwise eligible 

to be held by the Trustee (or Insurer) under the terms of this Plan. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, 

transferred amounts are not required to be separately accounted for and may be combined with the corresponding Account 

maintained in this Plan provided all rights, benefits and features and other attributes are identical with respect to each account, or 

are identical after the combination. 

 

(c) Distribution of plan–to-plan transfer amounts. At Normal Retirement Date, or such other date when the Participant or the 

Participant's Beneficiary shall be entitled to receive benefits, the Participant's Transfer Account shall be used to provide additional 

benefits to the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary. Any distribution of amounts held in a Participant's Transfer Account shall 

be made in a manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Sections 6.5 and 6.6. Furthermore, such amounts shall 

be considered to be part of a Participant's benefit in determining whether an involuntary cash-out of benefits may be made without 

Participant consent. 

 

(d) Segregation. The Administrator may direct that Employee transfers made after a Valuation Date be segregated into a separate 

account for each Participant until such time as the allocations pursuant to this Plan have been made, at which time they may remain 

segregated, invested as part of the general Trust Fund or, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, directed by the Participant. 

 

4.8 MANDATORY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

(a) Mandatory Employee contributions. An Employer may elect in the Adoption Agreement to provide for mandatory 

Employee contribution. If the Employer elects to provide for such contributions, each Participant, as a condition of employment, 

will make a mandatory Employee contribution in the amount elected in the Adoption Agreement. Alternatively, the Employer may 

elect to provide a range of mandatory Employee contribution percentages from which the Participant may choose to contribute. 

Under this option, the Employee, as a condition of employment, must make an irrevocable election to contribute a percentage of his 

or her Compensation no later than his or her effective date of participation. During the period of the Participant's participation in the 

Plan, the Participant may not revoke the election and receive cash in lieu of the contribution, nor may the Participant change the 

amount of the mandatory Employee contribution. Amounts attributable to mandatory Employee contributions shall be fully Vested.  

 

(b) Employer pick-up contribution. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Employer will "pick-up" the mandatory Employee 

contribution and will pay the mandatory Employee contribution to the Plan as an Employer contribution. This provision is effective 

only after the Employer provides for the treatment of the Employee contributions as described in this paragraph, through a person 

authorized to take such action, and evidenced in writing by minutes of a meeting, resolution, ordinance, or other formal action by 

the Employer, which will effectuate the "pick-up" provision. Furthermore, as of the date of the "pick-up," Participants are not 

permitted to opt-out of the "pick-up" or to receive the mandatory Employee contributions directly instead of having them paid to the 

Plan. Mandatory Employee contributions that are "picked-up" by the Employer are excludible from the Employee's gross income. 

 

4.9 AFTER-TAX VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

(a) After-tax voluntary Employee contributions. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, each Participant may, in accordance 

with procedures established by the Administrator, elect to make after-tax voluntary Employee contributions to this Plan. Such 

contributions must generally be paid to the Trustee (or Insurer) within a reasonable period of time after being received by the 

Employer. An after-tax voluntary Employee contribution is any contribution made to the Plan by or on behalf of a Participant that is 

included in the Participant's gross income in the year in which made and that is separately accounted for under the Plan. 

 

(b) Full vesting. The balance in each Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account shall be fully Vested at all times and shall not 

be subject to Forfeiture for any reason. 

 

(c) Distribution at any time. A Participant may elect at any time to withdraw after-tax voluntary Employee contributions from 

such Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account and the actual earnings thereon in a manner which is consistent with and 

satisfies the provisions of Section 6.5. If the Administrator maintains sub-accounts with respect to after-tax voluntary Employee 

contributions (and earnings thereon) which were made on or before a specified date, a Participant shall be permitted to designate 

which sub-account shall be the source for the withdrawal. Forfeitures of Employer contributions shall not occur solely as a result of 

an Employee's withdrawal of after-tax voluntary Employee contributions. 

 

In the event a Participant has received a hardship distribution under the safe harbor hardship provisions of the Code §401(k) 

Regulations from any plan maintained by the Employer, then the Participant shall be barred from making any after-tax voluntary 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

21 

Employee contributions for a period of six (6) months after receipt of the hardship distribution. Any prior elections to make 

after-tax voluntary Employee contributions will become void upon the receipt of the hardship distribution that triggers the 

suspension period of this paragraph.  

 

(d) Used to provide benefits. At Normal Retirement Date, or such other date when the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary 

is entitled to receive benefits, the Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account shall be used to provide additional benefits to the 

Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary. 

 

4.10 PARTICIPANT DIRECTED INVESTMENTS 

 

(a) Directed investment options allowed. If permitted under Participant Direction Procedures, all Participants may direct the 

Trustee (or Insurer) as to the investment of all or a portion of their individual Account balances as set forth in such procedures. 

Participants may direct the Trustee (or Insurer), in writing (or in such other form which is acceptable to the Trustee (or Insurer)), to 

invest their accounts in specific assets, specific funds or other investments permitted under the Plan and the Participant Direction 

Procedures. That portion of the Account of any Participant that is subject to investment direction of such Participant will be 

considered a Participant Directed Account. 

 

(b) Establishment of Participant Direction Procedures. The Administrator will establish Participant Direction Procedures, to be 

applied in a uniform manner, setting forth the permissible investment options under this Section, how often changes between 

investments may be made, and any other limitations and provisions that the Administrator may impose on a Participant's right to 

direct investments. 

 

(c) Administrative discretion. The Administrator may, in its discretion, include or exclude by amendment or other action from 

the Participant Direction Procedures such instructions, guidelines or policies as it deems necessary or appropriate to ensure proper 

administration of the Plan, and may interpret the same accordingly. 

 

(d) Allocation of gains or losses. As of each Valuation Date, all Participant Directed Accounts shall be charged or credited with 

the net earnings, gains, losses and expenses as well as any appreciation or depreciation in the market value using publicly listed fair 

market values when available or appropriate as follows: 

 

(1) to the extent the assets in a Participant Directed Account are accounted for as pooled assets or investments, the allocation 

of earnings, gains and losses of each Participant's Account shall be based upon the total amount of funds so invested in a 

manner proportionate to the Participant's share of such pooled investment; and 

 

(2) to the extent the assets in a Participant Directed Account are accounted for as segregated assets, the allocation of earnings, 

gains on and losses from such assets shall be made on a separate and distinct basis. 

 

(e) Plan will follow investment directions. Investment directions will be processed as soon as administratively practicable after 

proper investment directions are received from the Participant. No guarantee is made by the Plan, Employer, Administrator or 

Trustee (or Insurer) that investment directions will be processed on a daily basis, and no guarantee is made in any respect regarding 

the processing time of an investment direction. Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, the Employer, Administrator or 

Discretionary Trustee (or Insurer) reserves the right to not value an investment option on any given Valuation Date for any reason 

deemed appropriate by the Employer, Administrator or Discretionary Trustee (or Insurer). Furthermore, the processing of any 

investment transaction may be delayed for any legitimate business reason (including, but not limited to, failure of systems or 

computer programs, failure of the means of the transmission of data, the failure of a service provider to timely receive values or 

prices, and correction for errors or omissions or the errors or omissions of any service provider) or force majeure. The processing 

date of a transaction will be binding for all purposes of the Plan and considered the applicable Valuation Date for an investment 

transaction. 

 

(f) Other documents required by directed investments. Any information regarding investments available under the Plan, to the 

extent not required to be described in the Participant Direction Procedures, may be provided to Participants in one or more 

documents (or in any other form, including, but not limited to, electronic media) which are separate from the Participant Direction 

Procedures and are not thereby incorporated by reference into this Plan. 

 

4.11 QUALIFIED MILITARY SERVICE 

 

(a) USERRA. Notwithstanding any provisions of this Plan to the contrary, contributions, benefits and service credit with respect 

to qualified military service will be provided in accordance with Code §414(u). Furthermore, loan repayments may be suspended 

under this Plan as permitted under Code §414(u)(4). 

 

(b) Benefit accrual. If the Employer elects in the Adoption Agreement to apply this Subsection, then effective as of the date 

specified in the Adoption Agreement but no earlier than the first day of the 2007 Plan Year, for benefit accrual purposes, the Plan 

treats an individual who becomes Totally and Permanently disabled while performing "qualified military service" (as defined in 

Code §414(u)) with respect to the Employer as if the individual had resumed employment in accordance with the individual's 

reemployment rights under Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended (USERRA), on 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

22 

the day preceding Total and Permanent Disability and terminated employment on the actual date of death or Total and Permanent 

Disability. 

 

The Plan will determine the amount of after-tax voluntary Employee contributions of an individual treated as reemployed 

under this Section for purposes of applying paragraph Code §414(u)(8)(C) on the basis of the individual's average actual after-tax 

voluntary Employee contributions for the lesser of: (1) the 12-month period of service with the Employer immediately prior to 

"qualified military service" (as defined in Code §414(u)); or (2) the actual length of continuous service with the Employer. 

 

(c) Death benefits. In the case of a death occurring on or after January 1, 2007, if a Participant dies while performing "qualified 

military service" (as defined in Code §414(u)), the Participant's Beneficiary is entitled to any additional benefits (other than benefit 

accruals relating to the period of "qualified military service" but including vesting credit for such period and any other ancillary life 

insurance or other survivor benefits) provided under the Plan as if the Participant had resumed employment and then terminated 

employment on account of death. Moreover, the Plan will credit the Participant's "qualified military service" as service for vesting 

purposes, as though the Participant had resumed employment under Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights 

Act of 1994, as amended (USERRA) immediately prior to the Participant's death. 

 

ARTICLE V 

VALUATIONS 

 

5.1 VALUATION OF THE TRUST FUND 

 

The Administrator shall direct the Trustee (or Insurer), as of each Valuation Date, to determine the net worth of the assets 

comprising the Trust Fund as it exists on the Valuation Date. In determining such net worth, the Trustee (or Insurer) shall value the assets 

comprising the Trust Fund at their fair market value as of the Valuation Date and may deduct all expenses for which the Trustee (or 

Insurer) has not yet been paid by the Employer or the Trust Fund. The Trustee (or Insurer), when determining the net worth of the assets, 

may update the value of any shares held in a Participant Directed Account by reference to the number of shares held on behalf of the 

Participant, priced at the market value as of the Valuation Date. 

 

5.2 METHOD OF VALUATION 

 

In determining the fair market value of securities held in the Trust Fund which are listed on a registered stock exchange, the 

Administrator shall direct the Trustee (or Insurer) to value the same at the prices they were last traded on such exchange preceding the 

close of business on the Valuation Date. If such securities were not traded on the Valuation Date, or if the exchange on which they are 

traded was not open for business on the Valuation Date, then the securities shall be valued at the prices at which they were last traded prior 

to the Valuation Date. Any unlisted security held in the Trust Fund shall be valued at its bid price next preceding the close of business on 

the Valuation Date, which bid price shall be obtained from a registered broker or an investment banker. In determining the fair market 

value of assets other than securities for which trading or bid prices can be obtained, the Trustee, the Administrator (if the Trustee is a 

directed Trustee), or Insurer may appraise such assets itself (assuming it has the appropriate expertise), or in its discretion, employ one or 

more appraisers for that purpose and rely on the values established by such appraiser or appraisers. 

 

ARTICLE VI 

DETERMINATION AND DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS 

 

6.1 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON RETIREMENT 

 

Every Participant may terminate employment with the Employer and retire for purposes hereof on the Participant's Normal 

Retirement Date or Early Retirement Date. However, a Participant may postpone the severance of employment with the Employer to a later 

date, in which event the participation of such Participant in the Plan, including the right to receive allocations pursuant to Section 4.3, shall 

continue until such Participant's Retirement Date. Upon a Participant's Retirement Date, or if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the 

attainment of Normal Retirement Date without severance of employment with the Employer (subject to Section 6.11), or as soon thereafter 

as is practicable, the Administrator shall direct the distribution, at the election of the Participant, of the Participant's entire Vested interest in 

the Plan in accordance with Section 6.5. 

 

6.2 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH 

 

(a) 100% vesting on death. Upon the death of a Participant before the Participant's Retirement Date or other severance of 

employment, all amounts credited to such Participant's Combined Account shall, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, become 

fully Vested. The Administrator shall direct, in accordance with the provisions of Sections 6.6 and 6.7, the distribution of the 

deceased Participant's Vested accounts to the Participant's Beneficiary. 

 

(b) Distribution upon death. Upon the death of a Participant, the Administrator shall direct, in accordance with the provisions of 

Sections 6.6 and 6.7, the distribution of any remaining Vested amounts credited to the accounts of such deceased Participant to such 

Participant's Beneficiary. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

23 

(c) Determination of death benefit by Administrator. The Administrator may require such proper proof of death and such 

evidence of the right of any person to receive payment of the value of the account of a deceased Participant as the Administrator 

may deem desirable. The Administrator's determination of death and of the right of any person to receive payment shall be 

conclusive. 

 

(d) Beneficiary designation. Each Participant must designate a Beneficiary on a form and in such manner as provided by the 

Administrator.  

 

(e) Beneficiary if no Beneficiary elected by Participant. In the event no valid designation of Beneficiary exists, or if the 

Beneficiary with respect to a portion of a Participant's death benefit is not alive at the time of the Participant's death and no 

contingent Beneficiary has been designated, then such portion of the death benefit will be paid in the following order of priority, 

unless the Employer specifies a different order of priority in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and 

Other Permitted Elections), to: 

 

(1) The Participant's surviving Spouse; 

 

(2) The Participant's issue, per stirpes; 

 

(3) The Participant's surviving parents, in equal shares; or 

 

(4) The Participant's estate. 

 

If the Beneficiary does not predecease the Participant, but dies prior to distribution of the death benefit, the death benefit will 

be paid to the Beneficiary's "designated Beneficiary" (or if there is no "designated Beneficiary," to the Beneficiary's estate). For 

purposes of these provisions, and with respect to any Beneficiary designations, adopted children shall be treated as children. 

 

(f) Divorce revokes spousal Beneficiary designation. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, unless otherwise 

elected in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections), if a Participant has 

designated the Spouse as a Beneficiary, then a divorce decree that relates to such Spouse shall revoke the Participant's designation 

of the Spouse as a Beneficiary unless the decree or a "qualified domestic relations order" (within the meaning of Code §414(p)) 

provides otherwise or a subsequent Beneficiary designation is made. 

 

(g) Simultaneous death of Participant and Beneficiary. If a Participant and his or her Beneficiary should die simultaneously, or 

under circumstances that render it difficult or impossible to determine who predeceased the other, then unless the Participant's 

Beneficiary designation otherwise specifies, the Administrator will presume conclusively that the Beneficiary predeceased the 

Participant.  

 

(h) Slayer statute. The Administrator may apply slayer statutes, or similar rules which prohibit inheritance by a person who 

murders someone from whom he or she stands to inherit, under applicable state laws. 

 

(i) Insured death benefit. If the Plan provides an insured death benefit and a Participant dies before any insurance coverage to 

which the Participant is entitled under the Plan is effected, the death benefit from such insurance coverage shall be limited to the 

premium which was or otherwise would have been used for such purpose. 

 

(j) Plan terms control. In the event of any conflict between the terms of this Plan and the terms of any Contract issued hereunder, 

the Plan provisions shall control. 

 

6.3 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS IN EVENT OF DISABILITY 

 

In the event of a Participant's Total and Permanent Disability prior to the Participant's Retirement Date or other severance of 

employment, all amounts credited to such Participant's Combined Account shall, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, become fully 

Vested. In the event of a Participant's Total and Permanent Disability, the Participant's entire Vested interest in the Plan will be 

distributable and may be distributed in accordance with the provisions of Sections 6.5 and 6.7.  

 

6.4 DETERMINATION OF BENEFITS UPON TERMINATION 

 

(a) Payment on severance of employment. If a Participant's employment with the Employer and any Affiliated Employer is 

severed for any reason other than death, Total and Permanent Disability, or attainment of the Participant's Retirement Date, then 

such Participant shall be entitled to such benefits as are provided herein. 

 

Distribution of the funds due to a Terminated Participant shall be made on the occurrence of an event which would result in the 

distribution had the Terminated Participant remained in the employ of the Employer (upon the Participant's death, Total and 

Permanent Disability, Early or Normal Retirement). However, at the election of the Participant, the Administrator shall direct that 

the entire Vested portion of the Terminated Participant's Combined Account be payable to such Terminated Participant provided the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

24 

conditions, if any, set forth in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied. Any distribution under this paragraph shall be made in a 

manner which is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.5. 

 

Regardless of whether distributions in kind are permitted, in the event the amount of the Vested portion of the Terminated 

Participant's Combined Account equals or exceeds the fair market value of any insurance Contracts, the Trustee (or Insurer), when 

so directed by the Administrator and agreed to by the Terminated Participant, shall assign, transfer, and set over to such Terminated 

Participant all Contracts on such Terminated Participant's life in such form or with such endorsements, so that the settlement 

options and forms of payment are consistent with the provisions of Section 6.5. In the event that the Terminated Participant's Vested 

portion does not at least equal the fair market value of the Contracts, if any, the Terminated Participant may pay over to the Trustee 

(or Insurer) the sum needed to make the distribution equal to the value of the Contracts being assigned or transferred, or the Trustee 

(or Insurer), pursuant to the Participant's election, may borrow the cash value of the Contracts from the Insurer so that the value of 

the Contracts is equal to the Vested portion of the Terminated Participant's Combined Account and then assign the Contracts to the 

Terminated Participant. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement, if the value of a Terminated Participant's 

Vested benefit derived from Employer and Employee contributions does not exceed $5,000 (or such lower amount as elected in the 

Adoption Agreement), the Administrator shall direct that the entire Vested benefit be paid to such Participant in a single lump-sum 

as soon as practical without regard to the consent of the Participant, provided the conditions, if any, set forth in the Adoption 

Agreement have been satisfied. A Participant's Vested benefit shall not include (1) qualified voluntary employee contributions 

within the meaning of Code §72(o)(5)(B) and (2) if selected in the Conditions for Distributions Upon Severance of Employment 

Section of the Adoption Agreement, the Participant's Rollover Account. If a mandatory distribution is made pursuant to this 

paragraph and such distribution is greater than $1,000 and the Participant does not elect to have such distribution paid directly to an 

"eligible retirement plan" specified by the Participant in a "direct rollover" in accordance with Section 6.14 or to receive the 

distribution directly, then the Administrator shall transfer such amount to an individual retirement account described in Code 

§408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code §408(b) designated by the Administrator. However, if the Participant 

elects to receive or make a "direct rollover" of such amount, then the Administrator shall direct the Trustee (or Insurer) to cause the 

entire Vested benefit to be paid to such Participant in a single lump sum, or make a "direct rollover" pursuant to Section 6.14, 

provided the conditions, if any, set forth in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied. The Administrator may establish a 

procedure as to whether a Participant who fails to make an affirmative election with respect to a mandatory distribution of $1,000 or 

less is treated as having made or not made a "direct rollover" election. For purposes of determining whether the $1,000 threshold set 

forth in this paragraph is met, the mandatory distribution includes amounts in a Participant's Rollover Account. For purposes of 

determining whether the $5,000 threshold in this paragraph is met, a Participant's Rollover Account is taken into account unless 

otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement. 

 

(b) Vesting schedule. The Vested portion of any Participant's Account shall be a percentage of such Participant's Account 

determined on the basis of the Participant's number of Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the elapsed time method is elected) 

according to the vesting schedule specified in the Adoption Agreement. However, a Participant's entire interest in the Plan shall be 

non-forfeitable upon the Participant's Normal Retirement Age (if the Participant is employed by the Employer on or after such 

date). In addition, Employee contributions (voluntary and mandatory) and contributions for sick leave/vacation leave conversions 

shall be fully Vested.  

 

6.5 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS 

 

(a) Forms of distributions. The Administrator, pursuant to the election of the Participant, shall direct the distribution to a 

Participant or Beneficiary any amount to which the Participant or Beneficiary is entitled under the Plan in one or more of the 

following methods which are permitted pursuant to the Adoption Agreement. 

 

(1) One lump-sum payment in cash or in property, provided that if a distribution of property is permitted, it shall be limited to 

property that is specifically allocated and identifiable with respect to such Participant. 

 

(2) Partial withdrawals. 

 

(3) Payments over a period certain in monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, or annual cash installments. The period over which 

such payment is to be made shall not extend beyond the earlier of the Participant's life expectancy (or the joint life expectancy 

of the Participant and the Participant's designated Beneficiary). Once payments have begun, a Participant may elect to 

accelerate the payments (reduce the term and increase payments).  

 

(4) Purchase of or providing an annuity. However, such annuity may not be in any form that will provide for payments over a 

period extending beyond either the life of the Participant (or the lives of the Participant and the Participant's designated 

Beneficiary) or the life expectancy of the Participant (or the life expectancy of the Participant and the Participant's designated 

Beneficiary). 

 

(b) Consent to distributions. Benefits may not be paid without a Participant's consent if the value of the Participant's Accounts 

exceed the dollar threshold specified in the Adoption Agreement. If the value of the Participant's Accounts does not exceed such 

threshold, then the Administrator will distribute such benefit in a lump-sum. For purposes of this Subsection, the Participant's 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

25 

Accounts shall not include, if selected in the Conditions for Distributions Upon Severance of Employment Section of the Adoption 

Agreement, the Participant's Rollover Account. 

 

(c) Required minimum distributions (Code §401(a)(9)). Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the 

distribution of a Participant's benefits, whether under the Plan or through the purchase of an annuity Contract, shall be made in 

accordance with the requirements of Section 6.8. 

 

(d) Annuity Contracts. All annuity Contracts under this Plan shall be non-transferable when distributed. Furthermore, the terms 

of any annuity Contract purchased and distributed to a Participant or Spouse shall comply with all of the requirements of this Plan. 

 

(e) TEFRA 242(b)(2) election. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to distributions made in accordance with Plan 

Section 6.8(a)(4). 

 

6.6 DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS UPON DEATH 

 

(a) Consent. If the value of the death benefit derived from Employer and Employee contributions does not exceed $5,000, the 

Administrator shall direct the distribution of such amount to the Participant's Beneficiary in a single lump-sum as soon as 

practicable. If the value exceeds $5,000, an immediate distribution of the entire amount may be made to the Beneficiary, provided 

such Beneficiary consents to the distribution.  

 

(b) Forms of distribution. Death benefits may be paid to a Participant's Beneficiary in one of the following optional forms of 

benefits subject to the rules specified in Section 6.8 and the elections made in the Adoption Agreement. Such optional forms of 

distributions may be elected by the Participant. However, if no optional form of distribution was elected by the Participant prior to 

death, then the Participant's Beneficiary may elect the form of distribution. 

 

(1) One lump-sum payment in cash or in property that is allocated to the Accounts of the Participant at the time of the 

distribution. 

 

(2) Partial withdrawals. 

 

(3) Payment in monthly, quarterly, semi-annual, or annual cash installments over a period to be determined by the Participant 

or the Participant's Beneficiary. In order to provide such installment payments, the Administrator may (A) segregate the 

aggregate amount thereof in a separate, federally insured savings account, certificate of deposit in a bank or savings and loan 

association, money market certificate or other liquid short-term security or (B) purchase a nontransferable annuity Contract for 

a term certain (with no life contingencies) providing for such payment. After periodic installments commence, the Beneficiary 

shall have the right to reduce the period over which such periodic installments shall be made, and the cash amount of such 

periodic installments shall be adjusted accordingly. 

 

(4) In the form of an annuity over the life expectancy of the Beneficiary. 

 

(c) Required minimum distributions (Code §401(a)(9)). Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, distributions 

upon the death of a Participant shall comply with the requirements of Section 6.8. 

 

(d) Payment to a child. For purposes of this Section, any amount paid to a child of the Participant will be treated as if it had been 

paid to the surviving Spouse if the amount becomes payable to the surviving Spouse when the child reaches the age of majority. 

 

(e) Voluntary Contribution Account. In the event that less than one hundred percent (100%) of a Participant's interest in the 

Plan is distributed to such Participant's Spouse, the portion of the distribution attributable to the Participant's Voluntary 

Contribution Account shall be in the same proportion that the Participant's Voluntary Contribution Account bears to the 

Participant's total interest in the Plan. 

 

(f) TEFRA 242(b)(2) election. The provisions of this Section shall not apply to distributions made in accordance with Section 

6.8(a)(4). 

 

6.7 TIME OF DISTRIBUTION 

 

Except as limited by Section 6.8, whenever a distribution is to be made, or a series of payments are to commence, the distribution or 

series of payments may be made or begun as soon as practicable. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, unless a Participant 

otherwise elects, payments of benefits under the Plan will be begin not later than the later of the sixtieth (60th) day after the close of the 

Plan Year in which the latest of the following events occurs: (a) the date on which the Participant attains the earlier of age 65 or the Normal 

Retirement Age specified herein; (b) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the year in which the Participant commenced participation in the Plan; 

or (c) the date the Participant terminates service with the Employer. The failure of a Participant to request a distribution shall be deemed to 

be an election to defer the commencement of payment of any benefit until the time otherwise permitted under the Plan.  

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

26 

6.8 REQUIRED MINIMUM DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

(a) General rules 

 

(1) Effective Date. Subject to the good faith interpretation standard, the requirements of this Section shall apply to any 

distribution of a Participant's interest in the Plan and will take precedence over any inconsistent provisions of this Plan.  

 

(2) Requirements of Treasury Regulations incorporated. All distributions required under this Section will be determined 

and made in accordance with the Regulations under Code §401(a)(9) and the minimum distribution incidental benefit 

requirement of Code §401(a)(9)(G). 

 

(3) Limits on distribution periods. As of the first "distribution calendar year," distributions to a Participant may only be 

made in accordance with the selections made in the Form of Distributions Section of the Adoption Agreement. If such 

distributions are not made in a single-sum, then they may only be made over one of the following periods: (i) the life of the 

Participant, (ii) the joint lives of the Participant and a "designated Beneficiary," (iii) a period certain not extending beyond the 

"life expectancy" of the Participant, or (iv) a period certain not extending beyond the joint life and last survivor expectancy of 

the Participant and a "designated Beneficiary." 

 

(4) TEFRA Section 242(b)(2) elections. 

 

(i) Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section, other than the Spouse's right of consent afforded under the 

Plan, distributions may be made on behalf of any Participant, including a five percent (5%) owner, who has made a 

designation in accordance with Section 242(b)(2) of the Tax Equity and Fiscal Responsibility Act (TEFRA) and in 

accordance with all of the following requirements (regardless of when such distribution commences): 

 

(A) The distribution by the Plan is one which would not have disqualified such Plan under Code §401(a)(9) as in 

effect prior to amendment by the Deficit Reduction Act of 1984. 

 

(B) The distribution is in accordance with a method of distribution designated by the Participant whose interest in 

the Plan is being distributed or, if the Participant is deceased, by a Beneficiary of such Participant. 

 

(C) Such designation was in writing, was signed by the Participant or the Beneficiary, and was made before 

January 1, 1984. 

 

(D) The Participant had accrued a benefit under the Plan as of December 31, 1983. 

 

(E) The method of distribution designated by the Participant or the Beneficiary specifies the time at which 

distribution will commence, the period over which distributions will be made, and in the case of any distribution 

upon the Participant's death, the Beneficiaries of the Participant listed in order of priority. 

 

(ii) A distribution upon death will not be covered by the transitional rule of this Subsection unless the information in 

the designation contains the required information described above with respect to the distributions to be made upon the 

death of the Participant.  

 

(iii) For any distribution which commences before January 1, 1984, but continues after December 31, 1983, the 

Participant, or the Beneficiary, to whom such distribution is being made, will be presumed to have designated the method 

of distribution under which the distribution is being made if the method of distribution was specified in writing and the 

distribution satisfies the requirements in (i)(A) and (i)(E) of this Subsection. 

 

(iv) If a designation is revoked, any subsequent distribution must satisfy the requirements of Code §401(a)(9) and the 

Regulations thereunder. If a designation is revoked subsequent to the date distributions are required to begin, the Plan 

must distribute by the end of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the revocation occurs the total 

amount not yet distributed which would have been required to have been distributed to satisfy Code §401(a)(9) and the 

Regulations thereunder, but for the Section 242(b)(2) election. For calendar years beginning after December 31, 1988, 

such distributions must meet the minimum distribution incidental benefit requirements. Any changes in the designation 

will be considered to be a revocation of the designation. However, the mere substitution or addition of another 

Beneficiary (one not named in the designation) under the designation will not be considered to be a revocation of the 

designation, so long as such substitution or addition does not alter the period over which distributions are to be made 

under the designation, directly or indirectly (for example, by altering the relevant measuring life). 

 

(v) In the case in which an amount is transferred or rolled over from one plan to another plan, the rules in Regulation 

§1.401(a)(9)-8, Q&A-14 and Q&A-15, shall apply. 

 

(5) Good faith interpretation standard. In applying any provision of this section, the Plan will apply a reasonable good 

faith interpretation of Code §401(a)(9).  



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

27 

 

(b) Time and manner of distribution 

 

(1) Required beginning date. The Participant's entire interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, to the Participant 

no later than the Participant's "required beginning date." 

 

(2) Death of Participant before distributions begin. If the Participant dies before distributions begin, the Participant's entire 

interest will be distributed, or begin to be distributed, no later than as follows as elected in the Distributions Upon Death 

Section of the Adoption Agreement (or if no election is made, then the Beneficiary may elect either the lifetime method or the 

five-year method): 

 

(i) Lifetime method (Spouse). If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary," 

then, except as otherwise provided herein, distributions to the surviving Spouse will begin by December 31 of the 

calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died, or by December 31 of the calendar 

year in which the Participant would have attained age 70 1/2, if later. 

 

(ii) Lifetime method (non-Spouse). If the Participant's surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole "designated 

Beneficiary," then, except as provided in Section 6.8(b)(3) below, distributions to the "designated Beneficiary" will begin 

by December 31 of the calendar year immediately following the calendar year in which the Participant died. 

 

(iii) Five-year method. If there is no "designated Beneficiary" as of September 30 of the year following the year of the 

Participant's death or if otherwise elected pursuant to the Adoption Agreement with respect to a "designated Beneficiary," 

the Participant's entire interest will be distributed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of 

the Participant's death. 

 

(iv) Death of Spouse. If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary" and the 

surviving Spouse dies after the Participant but before distributions to the surviving Spouse begin, this Section 6.8(b)(2), 

other than Section 6.8(b)(2)(i), will apply as if the surviving Spouse were the Participant. 

 

For purposes of this Section 6.8(b)(2) and Section 6.8(b)(3), unless Section 6.8(b)(2)(iv) applies, distributions are 

considered to begin on the Participant's "required beginning date." If Section 6.8(b)(2)(iv) applies, distributions are considered 

to begin on the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving Spouse under Section 6.8(b)(2)(i). If distributions under 

an annuity purchased from an insurance company irrevocably commence to the Participant before the Participant's "required 

beginning date" (or to the Participant's surviving Spouse before the date distributions are required to begin to the surviving 

Spouse under Section 6.8(b)(2)(i)), the date distributions are considered to begin is the date distributions actually commence. 

 

(3) Forms of distribution. Unless the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an 

insurance company or in a single sum on or before the "required beginning date," as of the first "distribution calendar year" 

distributions will be made in accordance with Sections 6.8(c) and 6.8(d) and only in a form of distribution provided in Section 

6.5 or 6.6, as applicable. If the Participant's interest is distributed in the form of an annuity purchased from an insurance 

company, distributions thereunder will be made in accordance with the requirements of Code §401(a)(9) and the Regulations 

thereunder. 

 

(c) Required minimum distributions during Participant's lifetime 

 

(1) Amount of required minimum distribution for each "distribution calendar year." During the Participant's lifetime, 

the minimum amount that will be distributed for each "distribution calendar year" is the lesser of the following, as elected in 

the Form of Distributions Section of the Adoption Agreement: 

 

(i) the quotient obtained by dividing the "Participant's account balance" by the distribution period in the Uniform 

Lifetime Table set forth in Regulation §1.401(a)(9)-9, using the Participant's age as of the Participant's birthday in the 

"distribution calendar year"; or 

 

(ii) if the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary" for the "distribution calendar year" is the Participant's Spouse, the 

quotient obtained by dividing the "Participant's account balance" by the number in the Joint and Last Survivor Table set 

forth in Regulation §1.401(a)(9)-9, using the Participant's and Spouse's attained ages as of the Participant's and Spouse's 

birthdays in the "distribution calendar year." 

 

(2) Lifetime required minimum distributions continue through year of Participant's death. Required minimum 

distributions will be determined under this Section 6.8(c) beginning with the first "distribution calendar year" and up to and 

including the "distribution calendar year" that includes the Participant's date of death. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

28 

(d) Required minimum distributions after Participant's death 

 

(1) Death on or after date distributions begin. 

 

(i) Participant survived by "designated Beneficiary." If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin 

and there is a "designated Beneficiary," the minimum amount that will be distributed for each "distribution calendar year" 

after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the "Participant's account balance" by the 

longer of the remaining "life expectancy" of the Participant or the remaining "life expectancy" of the Participant's 

"designated Beneficiary," determined as follows:  

 

(A) The Participant's remaining "life expectancy" is calculated using the age of the Participant in the year of 

death, reduced by one for each subsequent year. 

 

(B) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary," the remaining "life 

expectancy" of the surviving Spouse is calculated for each "distribution calendar year" after the year of the 

Participant's death using the surviving Spouse's age as of the Spouse's birthday in that year. For "distribution 

calendar years" after the year of the surviving Spouse's death, the remaining "life expectancy" of the surviving 

Spouse is calculated using the age of the surviving Spouse as of the Spouse's birthday in the calendar year of the 

Spouse's death, reduced by one for each subsequent calendar year. 

 

(C) If the Participant's surviving Spouse is not the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary," the "designated 

Beneficiary's" remaining "life expectancy" is calculated using the age of the Beneficiary in the year following the 

year of the Participant's death, reduced by one for each subsequent year. 

 

(ii) No "designated Beneficiary." If the Participant dies on or after the date distributions begin and there is no 

"designated Beneficiary" as of September 30 of the year after the year of the Participant's death, the minimum amount that 

will be distributed for each "distribution calendar year" after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by 

dividing the "Participant's account balance" by the Participant's remaining "life expectancy" calculated using the age of 

the Participant in the year of death, reduced by one for each subsequent year. 

 

(2) Death before date distributions begin. 

 

(i) Participant survived by "designated Beneficiary." Except as provided in Section 6.8(b)(3), if the Participant dies 

before the date distributions begin and there is a "designated Beneficiary," the minimum amount that will be distributed 

for each "distribution calendar year" after the year of the Participant's death is the quotient obtained by dividing the 

"Participant's account balance" by the remaining "life expectancy" of the Participant's "designated Beneficiary," 

determined as provided in Section 6.8(d)(1). 

 

(ii) No "designated Beneficiary." If the Participant dies before the date distributions begin and there is no "designated 

Beneficiary" as of September 30 of the year following the year of the Participant's death, distribution of the Participant's 

entire interest will be completed by December 31 of the calendar year containing the fifth anniversary of the Participant's 

death. 

 

(iii) Death of surviving Spouse before distributions to surviving Spouse are required to begin. If the Participant dies 

before the date distributions begin, the Participant's surviving Spouse is the Participant's sole "designated Beneficiary," 

and the surviving Spouse dies before distributions are required to begin to the surviving Spouse under Section 

6.8(b)(2)(i), this Section 6.8(d)(2) will apply as if the surviving Spouse were the Participant. 

 

(e) Definitions. For purposes of this Section, the following definitions apply: 

 

(1) "Designated Beneficiary" means the individual who is designated as the Beneficiary under the Plan and is the "designated 

Beneficiary" under Code §401(a)(9) and Regulation §1.401(a)(9)-4. 

 

(2) "Distribution calendar year" means a calendar year for which a minimum distribution is required. For distributions 

beginning before the Participant's death, the first "distribution calendar year" is the calendar year immediately preceding the 

calendar year which contains the Participant's "required beginning date." For distributions beginning after the Participant's 

death, the first "distribution calendar year" is the calendar year in which distributions are required to begin under Section 

6.8(b). The required minimum distribution for the Participant's first "distribution calendar year" will be made on or before the 

Participant's "required beginning date." The required minimum distribution for other "distribution calendar years," including 

the required minimum distribution for the "distribution calendar year" in which the Participant's "required beginning date" 

occurs, will be made on or before December 31 of that "distribution calendar year." 

 

(3) "Life expectancy" means the life expectancy as computed by use of the Single Life Table in Regulation §1.401(a)(9)-9. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

29 

(4) "Participant's account balance" means the Participant's account balance as of the last Valuation Date in the calendar year 

immediately preceding the "distribution calendar year" (valuation calendar year) increased by the amount of any contributions 

made and allocated or Forfeitures allocated to the account balance as of the dates in the valuation calendar year after the 

Valuation Date and decreased by distributions made in the valuation calendar year after the Valuation Date. For this purpose, 

the Administrator may exclude contributions that are allocated to the account balance as of dates in the valuation calendar year 

after the Valuation Date, but that are not actually made during the valuation calendar year. The account balance for the 

valuation calendar year includes any amounts rolled over or transferred to the Plan either in the valuation calendar year or in 

the "distribution calendar year" if distributed or transferred in the valuation calendar year.  

 

(5) "Required beginning date" means, except as otherwise elected in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special 

Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections), with respect to any Participant, April 1 of the calendar year following the later 

of the calendar year in which the Participant attains age 70 1/2 or the calendar year in which the Participant retires.  

 

(f) Waiver of 2009 required distributions 

 

(1) Suspension of RMDs unless otherwise elected by Participant. This paragraph does not apply if the Employer elected 

options a., b., or c. at the WRERA – RMD Waivers for 2009 Section of the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding the 

provisions of the Plan relating to required minimum distributions under Code §401(a)(9), a Participant or Beneficiary who 

would have been required to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code §401(a)(9)(H) 

("2009 RMDs"), and who would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are (i) equal to the "2009 

RMDs" or (ii) one or more payments in a series of substantially equal distributions (that include the "2009 RMDs") made at 

least annually and expected to last for the life (or "life expectancy") of the Participant, the joint lives (or joint "life 

expectancy") of the Participant and the Participant's "designated Beneficiary," or for a period of at least 10 years ("Extended 

2009 RMDs"), did not receive those distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary chooses to receive such 

distributions. Participants and Beneficiaries described in the preceding sentence were given the opportunity to elect to receive 

the distributions described in the preceding sentence. 

 

(2) Continuation of RMDs unless otherwise elected by Participant. This paragraph applies if the Employer elected option 

b. at the WRERA – RMD Waivers for 2009 Section of the Adoption Agreement. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Plan 

relating to required minimum distributions under Code §401(a)(9), a Participant or Beneficiary who would have been required 

to receive required minimum distributions for 2009 but for the enactment of Code §401(a)(9)(H) ("2009 RMDs"), and who 

would have satisfied that requirement by receiving distributions that are (i) equal to the "2009 RMDs" or (ii) one or more 

payments in a series of substantially equal distributions (that include the "2009 RMDs") made at least annually and expected to 

last for the life (or "life expectancy") of the Participant, the joint lives (or joint "life expectancy") of the Participant and the 

Participant's "designated Beneficiary," or for a period of at least 10 years ("Extended 2009 RMDs"), did not receive those 

distributions for 2009 unless the Participant or Beneficiary choose not to receive such distributions. Participants and 

Beneficiaries described in the preceding sentence were given the opportunity to elect to stop receiving the distributions 

described in the preceding sentence. 

 

(3) Direct rollovers. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Plan relating to required minimum distributions under Code 

§401(a)(9), and solely for purposes of applying the direct rollover provisions of the Plan, certain additional distributions in 

2009, as elected by the Employer in the WRERA – RMD Waivers for 2009 Section of the Adoption Agreement, were treated 

as eligible rollover distributions. If no election was made by the Employer in the Adoption Agreement, then a direct rollover 

was offered only for distributions that would have been eligible rollover distributions without regard to Code §401(a)(9)(H). 

 

6.9 DISTRIBUTION FOR MINOR OR INCOMPETENT INDIVIDUAL 

 

If, in the opinion of the Administrator, a Participant or Beneficiary entitled to a distribution is not able to care for his her affairs 

because of a mental condition, a physical condition, or by reason of age, Administrator shall direct the distribution to the Participant's or 

Beneficiary's guardian, conservator, trustee, custodian (including under a Uniform Transfers or Gifts to Minors Act) or to his or her 

attorney-in-fact or to other legal representative, upon furnishing evidence of such status satisfactory to the Administrator. The 

Administrator and the Trustee (or Insurer) do not have any liability with respect to payments so made and neither the Administrator nor the 

Trustee (or Insurer) has any duty to make inquiry as to the competence of any person entitled to receive payments under the Plan. 

 

6.10 LOCATION OF PARTICIPANT OR BENEFICIARY UNKNOWN 

 

In the event that all, or any portion, of the distribution payable to a Participant or Beneficiary hereunder shall, at the later of the 

Participant's attainment of age 62 or Normal Retirement Age, remain unpaid solely by reason of the inability of the Administrator to 

ascertain the whereabouts of such Participant or Beneficiary, the amount so distributable may, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, 

either be treated as a Forfeiture or be paid directly to an individual retirement account described in Code §408(a) or an individual 

retirement annuity described in Code §408(b). In addition, if the Plan provides for mandatory distributions and the amount to be distributed 

to a Participant or Beneficiary does not exceed $1,000, then the amount distributable may, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, either 

be treated as a Forfeiture, or be paid directly to an individual retirement account described in Code §408(a) or an individual retirement 

annuity described in Code §408(b) at the time it is determined that the whereabouts of the Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary 

cannot be ascertained. In the event a Participant or Beneficiary is located subsequent to the Forfeiture, such benefit shall be restored, first 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

30 

from Forfeitures, if any, and then from an additional Employer contribution if necessary. Upon Plan termination, the portion of the 

distributable amount that is an "eligible rollover distribution" as defined in Section 6.14(b)(1) may be paid directly to an individual 

retirement account described in Code §408(a) or an individual retirement annuity described in Code §408(b). However, regardless of the 

preceding, a benefit that is lost by reason of escheat under applicable state law is not treated as a Forfeiture for purposes of this Section nor 

as an impermissible forfeiture under the Code. 

 

6.11 IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTION 

 

If elected in the Adoption Agreement, at such time as the conditions set forth in the Adoption Agreement have been satisfied, then 

the Administrator, at the election of a Participant who has not severed employment with the Employer, shall direct the distribution of up to 

the entire Vested amount then credited to the Accounts as elected in the Adoption Agreement maintained on behalf of such Participant. For 

purposes of this Section, a Participant shall include an Employee who has an Account balance in the Plan. In the event that the 

Administrator makes such a distribution, the Participant shall continue to be eligible to participate in the Plan on the same basis as any 

other Employee. Any distribution made pursuant to this Section shall be made in a manner consistent with Section 6.5. Furthermore, if an 

in-service distribution is permitted from more than one account type, the Administrator may determine any ordering of a Participant's 

in-service distribution from such accounts. 

 

6.12 ADVANCE DISTRIBUTION FOR HARDSHIP 

 

(a) Hardship events. For 401(a) Plans, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, the Administrator, at the election of the Participant, 

shall direct the distribution to any Participant in any one Plan Year up to the lesser of 100% of the Vested interest of the Accounts 

selected in the Adoption Agreement, valued as of the last Valuation Date or the amount necessary to satisfy the immediate and 

heavy financial need of the Participant. For purposes of this Section, a Participant shall include an Employee who has an Account 

balance in the Plan. Any distribution made pursuant to this Section shall be deemed to be made as of the first day of the Plan Year 

or, if later, the Valuation Date immediately preceding the date of distribution, and the Account from which the distribution is made 

shall be reduced accordingly. Withdrawal under this Section shall be authorized only if the distribution is for an immediate and 

heavy financial need. The Administrator will determine whether there is an immediate and heavy financial need based on the facts 

and circumstances. An immediate and heavy financial need includes, but is not limited to, a distribution for one of the following: 

 

(1) Expenses for (or necessary to obtain) medical care (as defined in Code §213(d)); 

 

(2) Costs directly related to the purchase (excluding mortgage payments) of a principal residence for the Participant; 

 

(3) Payments for burial or funeral expenses for the Participant's deceased parent, Spouse, children or dependents (as defined 

in Code §152, and without regard to Code §152(d)(1)(B)); 

 

(4) Payment of tuition, related educational fees, and room and board expenses, for up to the next twelve (12) months of 

post-secondary education for the Participant, the Participant's Spouse, children, or dependents (as defined in Code §152, and 

without regard to Code §§152(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)); 

 

(5) Payments necessary to prevent the eviction of the Participant from the Participant's principal residence or foreclosure on 

the mortgage on that residence; or 

 

(6) Expenses for the repair of damage to the Participant's principal residence that would qualify for the casualty deduction 

under Code §165 (determined without regard to whether the loss exceeds 10% of adjusted gross income). 

 

(b) Beneficiary-based distribution. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, then effective as of the date specified in the Adoption 

Agreement, but no earlier than August 17, 2006, a Participant's hardship event includes an immediate and heavy financial need of 

the Participant's "primary Beneficiary under the Plan," that would constitute a hardship event if it occurred with respect to the 

Participant's Spouse or dependent as defined under Code §152 (such hardship events being limited to educational expenses, funeral 

expenses and certain medical expenses). For purposes of this Section, a Participant's "primary Beneficiary under the Plan" is an 

individual who is named as a Beneficiary under the Plan (by the Participant or pursuant to Section 6.2(d)) and has an unconditional 

right to all or a portion of the Participant's Account balance under the Plan upon the Participant's death. 

 

(c) Other limits and conditions. If elected in the Adoption Agreement, no distribution shall be made pursuant to this Section 

from the Participant's Account until such Account has become fully Vested. Furthermore, if a hardship distribution is permitted 

from more than one Account, the Administrator may determine any ordering of a Participant's hardship distribution from such 

Accounts. 

 

(d) Distribution rules apply. Any distribution made pursuant to this Section shall be made in a manner which is consistent with 

and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.5. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

31 

6.13 QUALIFIED DOMESTIC RELATIONS ORDER DISTRIBUTION 

 

All benefits provided to a Participant in this Plan shall be subject to the rights afforded to any Alternate Payee under a "qualified 

domestic relations order." Furthermore, unless otherwise elected in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and 

Other Permitted Elections) a distribution to an Alternate Payee shall be permitted if such distribution is authorized by a "qualified domestic 

relations order," even if the affected Participant has not reached the "earliest retirement age." For the purposes of this Section, "qualified 

domestic relations order" and "earliest retirement age" shall have the meanings set forth under Code §414(p). For purposes of this Section, 

however, a distribution that is made pursuant to a domestic relations order which meets the requirements of Code §414(p)(1)(A)(i) will be 

treated as being made pursuant to a "qualified domestic relations order." 

 

Effective as of April 6, 2007, a domestic relations order that otherwise satisfies the requirements for a "qualified domestic relations 

order" will not fail to be a "qualified domestic relations order": (i) solely because the order is issued after, or revises, another domestic 

relations order or "qualified domestic relations order"; or (ii) solely because of the time at which the order is issued, including issuance 

after the Annuity Starting Date or after the Participant's death. 

 

6.14 DIRECT ROLLOVERS 

 

(a) Right to direct rollover. Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary that would otherwise limit a "distributee's" 

election under this Section, a "distributee" may elect, at the time and in the manner prescribed by the Administrator, to have an 

"eligible rollover distribution" paid directly to an "eligible retirement plan" specified by the "distributee" in a "direct rollover." 

However, if less than the entire amount of the "eligible rollover distribution" is being paid directly to an "eligible retirement plan," 

then the Administrator may require that the amount paid directly to such plan be at least $500. 

 

(b) Definitions. For purposes of this Section, the following definitions shall apply: 

 

(1) Eligible rollover distribution. An "eligible rollover distribution" means any distribution described in Code §402(c)(4) 

and generally includes any distribution of all or any portion of the balance to the credit of the "distributee," except that an 

"eligible rollover distribution" does not include: any distribution that is one of a series of substantially equal periodic payments 

(not less frequently than annually) made for the life (or life expectancy) of the "distributee" or the joint lives (or joint life 

expectancies) of the "distributee" and the "distributee's" "designated Beneficiary," or for a specified period of ten (10) years or 

more; any distribution to the extent such distribution is required under Code §401(a)(9); any hardship distribution; the portion 

of any other distribution(s) that is not includible in gross income (determined without regard to the exclusion for net unrealized 

appreciation with respect to employer securities); and any other distribution reasonably expected to total less than $200 during 

a year. For purposes of the $200 rule, a distribution from a designated Roth account and a distribution from other accounts 

under the Plan may be treated as made under separate plans. In addition, Section 6.8(f)(2) applies with respect to distributions 

made in 2009. 

 

Notwithstanding the above, a portion of a distribution shall not fail to be an "eligible rollover distribution" merely because 

the portion consists of after-tax voluntary Employee contributions which are not includible in gross income. However, such 

portion may be transferred only to: 

 

(i) a traditional individual retirement account or annuity described in Code §408(a) or (b) (a "traditional IRA")  

 

(ii) for taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006, a Roth individual account or annuity described in Code 

§408A (a "Roth IRA"), or  

 

(iii) a qualified defined contribution plan or an annuity contract described in Code §401(a) or Code §403(b), 

respectively, that agrees to separately account for amounts so transferred (and earnings thereon), including separately 

accounting for the portion of such distribution which is includible in gross income and the portion of such distribution 

which is not so includible. 

 

(2) Eligible retirement plan. An "eligible retirement plan" is a "traditional IRA," for distributions made after December 31, 

2007, a "Roth IRA," a qualified trust (an employees' trust) described in Code §401(a) which is exempt from tax under Code 

§501(a), an annuity plan described in Code §403(a), an eligible plan under Code §457(b) which is maintained by a state, 

political subdivision of a state, or any agency or instrumentality of a state or political subdivision and which agrees to 

separately account for amounts transferred into such plan from this Plan, and an annuity contract described in Code §403(b), 

that accepts the "distributee's" "eligible rollover distribution." The definition of "eligible retirement plan" shall also apply in 

the case of a distribution to a surviving Spouse, or to a Spouse or former Spouse who is an Alternate Payee. If any portion of 

an "eligible rollover distribution" is attributable to payments or distributions from a designated Roth account, an "eligible 

retirement plan" with respect to such portion shall include only another designated Roth account of the individual from whose 

account the payments or distributions were made, or a Roth IRA of such individual. In the case of a "distributee" who is a 

non-Spouse designated Beneficiary, (i) the "direct rollover" may be made only to a traditional or Roth individual retirement 

account or an annuity described in Code §408(b) ("IRA") that is established on behalf of the designated non-Spouse 

Beneficiary and that will be treated as an inherited IRA pursuant to the provisions of Code §402(c)(11), and (ii) the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

32 

determination of any required minimum distribution required under Code §401(a)(9) that is ineligible for rollover shall be 

made in accordance with IRS Notice 2007-7, Q&A 17 and 18. 

 

(3) Distributee. A "distributee" includes an Employee or Former Employee. In addition, the Employee's or Former 

Employee's surviving Spouse and the Employee's or Former Employee's Spouse or former Spouse who is the Alternate Payee, 

are "distributees" with regard to the interest of the Spouse or former Spouse. 

 

(4) Direct rollover. A "direct rollover" is a payment by the Plan to the "eligible retirement plan" specified by the 

"distributee." 

 

(c) Participant notice. A Participant entitled to an "eligible rollover distribution" must receive a written explanation of the right to 

a "direct rollover," the tax consequences of not making a "direct rollover," and, if applicable, any available special income tax 

elections. The notice must be provided no less than thirty (30) days and no more than one-hundred eighty (180) (ninety (90) for 

Plan Years beginning before January 1, 2007) days before the Annuity Starting Date. The "direct rollover" notice must be provided 

to all Participants, unless the total amount the Participant will receive as a distribution during the calendar year is expected to be 

less than $200. 

 

(d) Non-Spouse Beneficiary rollover right. For distributions after December 31, 2009, and unless otherwise elected in the 

Adoption Agreement, for distributions after December 31, 2006, a non-Spouse Beneficiary who is a "designated Beneficiary" under 

Code §401(a)(9)(E) and the Regulations thereunder, by a direct trustee-to-trustee transfer ("direct rollover"), may roll over all or 

any portion an "eligible rollover distribution" to an IRA the Beneficiary establishes for purposes of receiving the distribution.  

 

(1) Certain requirements not applicable. Any distribution made prior to January 1, 2010 is not subject to the "direct 

rollover" requirements of Code §401(a)(31) (including Code §401(a)(31)(B), the notice requirements of Code §402(f) or the 

mandatory withholding requirements of Code §3405(c)). 

 

(2) Trust Beneficiary. If the Participant's named Beneficiary is a trust, the Plan may make a direct rollover to an IRA on 

behalf of the trust, provided the trust satisfies the requirements to be a "designated Beneficiary." 

 

6.15 RESTRICTIONS ON DISTRIBUTION OF ASSETS TRANSFERRED FROM A MONEY PURCHASE PLAN 

 

Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, to the extent that any optional form of benefit under this Plan permits a 

distribution prior to the Employee's retirement, death, Total and Permanent Disability, or severance from employment, and prior to Plan 

termination, the optional form of benefit is not available with respect to benefits attributable to assets (including the post-transfer earnings 

thereon) and liabilities that are transferred, within the meaning of Code §414(l), to this Plan from a money purchase pension plan qualified 

under Code §401(a) (other than any portion of those assets and liabilities attributable to after-tax voluntary Employee contributions or to a 

direct or indirect rollover contribution). Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, effective with respect to Plan Years 

beginning after June 30, 2008, a Participant may not obtain an in-service distribution with respect to such transferred amounts prior to the 

earlier of the Participant's Normal Retirement Age or attainment of age 62.  

 

6.16 CORRECTIVE DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

Nothing in this Article shall preclude the Administrator from making a distribution to a Participant, to the extent such distribution is 

made to correct a qualification defect in accordance with the corrective procedures under the IRS' Employee Plans Compliance Resolution 

System or any other voluntary compliance programs established by the IRS. 

 

6.17 HEART ACT 

 

(a) Death benefits. In the case of a death occurring on or after January 1, 2007, if a Participant dies while performing qualified 

military service (as defined in Code §414(u)), the Participant's Beneficiary is entitled to any additional benefits (other than benefit 

accruals relating to the period of qualified military service) provided under the Plan as if the Participant had resumed employment 

and then terminated employment on account of death. Moreover, the Plan will credit the Participant's qualified military service as 

service for vesting purposes, as though the Participant had resumed employment under Uniformed Services Employment and 

Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended (USERRA) immediately prior to the Participant's death. 

 

(b) Military Differential Pay. For years beginning after December 31, 2008: (1) an individual receiving Military Differential Pay 

is treated as an Employee of the Employer making the payment; (2) the Military Differential Pay is treated as 415 Compensation 

(and Compensation unless otherwise elected in the Adoption Agreement); and (3) the Plan is not treated as failing to meet the 

requirements of any provision described in Code §414(u)(1)(C) (or corresponding Plan provisions) by reason of any contribution or 

benefit which is based on the Military Differential Pay. The Administrator operationally may determine, for purposes of the 

provisions described in Code §414(u)(1)(C), whether to take into account any matching contributions, attributable to Military 

Differential Pay. 

 

(c) Deemed Severance. Notwithstanding Subsection (b)(1) above, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, a Participant performs 

service in the uniformed services (as defined in Code §414(u)(12)(B)) on active duty for a period of more than 30 days, the 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

33 

Participant will be deemed to have a severance from employment solely for purposes of eligibility for distribution of amounts not 

attributable to Employer contributions to a money purchase pension plan. However, the Plan will not distribute such a Participant's 

Account on account of this deemed severance unless the Participant specifically elects to receive a benefit distribution hereunder. 

 

6.18 SERVICE CREDIT  

 

The Administrator, upon Participant request, may direct the transfer of all or a portion of the Participant's Account to a 

governmental defined benefit plan (as defined in Code §414(d)) in which he or she participates for the purchase of permissive service credit 

(as defined in Code §415(n)(3)(A)). 

 

ARTICLE VII 

TRUSTEE AND CUSTODIAN 

 

7.1 BASIC RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE TRUSTEE 

 

(a) Application of Article. The provisions of this Article, other than Section 7.6, shall not apply to this Plan if a separate trust 

agreement is being used. Furthermore, the provisions of this Article, other than Sections 7.5 and 7.6, shall not apply if the Plan is 

fully insured. If the Employer has appointed two or more Trustees to hold Plan assets, then each Trustee shall be the Trustee only 

with respect to those Plan assets specifically deposited by the Employer in the Trust Fund for which such Trustee is the trustee. 

References in the Plan to the responsibilities, power or duties of the Trustee and any other provisions in the Plan relating to the 

Trustee shall be interpreted as applying to each Trustee only with respect to the assets of the Trust Fund for which such Trustee is 

the Trustee. Each Trustee shall have no responsibility for, or liability with respect to, any of the Plan assets other than the assets for 

which it serves as Trustee.  

 

(b) No Duty to collect contributions. The Trustee is accountable to the Employer for the funds contributed to the Plan by the 

Employer, but the Trustee does not have any duty to see that the contributions received comply or are deposited in accordance with 

the provisions of the Plan. 

 

(c) Reliance on Administrator's directions. The Trustee will credit and distribute the Trust Fund as directed by the 

Administrator. The Trustee is not obligated to inquire as to whether any payee or distributee is entitled to any payment or whether 

the distribution is proper or within the terms of the Plan, or whether the manner of making any payment or distribution is proper. 

The Trustee is accountable only to the Administrator for any payment or distribution made by it in good faith on the order or 

direction of the Administrator. 

 

(d) Directions by others. In the event that the Trustee shall be directed by a Participant (pursuant to the Participant Direction 

Procedures if the Plan permits Participant directed investments), the Employer, or an Investment Manager or other agent appointed 

by the Employer with respect to the investment of any or all Plan assets, the Trustee shall have no liability with respect to the 

investment of such assets, but shall be responsible only to execute such investment instructions as so directed. 

 

(1) The Trustee shall be entitled to rely fully on the written (or other form acceptable to the Administrator and the Trustee, 

including but not limited to, voice recorded) instructions of a Participant (pursuant to the Participant Direction Procedures), the 

Employer, or any fiduciary or nonfiduciary agent of the Employer, in the discharge of such duties, and shall not be liable for 

any loss or other liability resulting from such direction (or lack of direction) of the investment of any part of the Plan assets. 

 

(2) The Trustee may delegate the duty of executing such instructions to any nonfiduciary agent, which may be an affiliate of 

the Trustee or any Plan representative. 

 

(3) The Trustee may refuse to comply with any direction from the Participant in the event the Trustee, in its sole and absolute 

discretion, deems such direction improper by virtue of applicable law. The Trustee shall not be responsible or liable for any 

loss or expense that may result from the Trustee's refusal or failure to comply with any direction from the Participant. 

 

(4) Any costs and expenses related to compliance with the Participant's directions shall be borne by the Participant's Directed 

Account, unless paid by the Employer. 

 

(5) Notwithstanding anything herein above to the contrary, the Trustee shall not invest any portion of a Participant's Directed 

Account in "collectibles" within the meaning of Code §408(m). 

 

(e) Records. The Trustee will maintain records of receipts and disbursements and furnish to the Employer and/or Administrator 

for each Plan Year a written annual report pursuant to Section 7.9. 

 

(f) Employment of bank or trust company. The Trustee may employ a bank or trust company pursuant to the terms of its usual 

and customary bank agency agreement, under which the duties of such bank or trust company shall be of a custodial, clerical and 

record-keeping nature. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

34 

(g) Payment of expenses. The Trustee may employ and pay from the Trust Fund reasonable compensation to agents, attorneys, 

accountants and other persons to advise the Trustee as in its opinion may be necessary. The Trustee may delegate to any agent, 

attorney, accountant or other person selected by it any non-Trustee power or duty vested in it by the Plan, and the Trustee may act 

or refrain from acting on the advice or opinion of any such person. 

 

7.2 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF DISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE 

 

(a) Discretionary authority. This Section applies if the Employer, in the Adoption Agreement or as otherwise agreed upon by the 

Employer and the Trustee, designates the Trustee to administer all or a portion of the trust as a Discretionary Trustee. If so 

designated, then the Trustee has the discretion and authority to invest, manage, and control those Plan assets except, however, with 

respect to those assets which are subject to the investment direction of a Participant (if Participant directed investments are 

permitted), or an Investment Manager, the Administrator, or other agent appointed by the Employer. The exercise of any investment 

discretion hereunder shall be consistent with the "funding policy and method" determined by the Employer. 

 

(b) Duties. The Trustee shall, except as otherwise provided in this Plan, invest and reinvest the Trust Fund to keep the Trust Fund 

invested without distinction between principal and income and in such securities or property, real or personal, wherever situated, as 

the Trustee shall deem advisable, including, but not limited to, common or preferred stocks, open-end or closed-end mutual funds, 

bonds and other evidences of indebtedness or ownership, and real estate or any interest therein. The Trustee shall at all times in 

making investments of the Trust Fund consider, among other factors, the short and long-term financial needs of the Plan on the 

basis of information furnished by the Employer. In making such investments, the Trustee shall not be restricted to securities or other 

property of the character expressly authorized by the applicable law for trust investments; however, the Trustee shall give due 

regard to any limitations imposed by the Code so that at all times this Plan may qualify as a qualified Plan and Trust. The Trustee 

shall discharge its duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of the Participants and Beneficiaries and with the care, skill, 

prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and familiar with 

such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims.  

 

(c) Powers. The Trustee, in addition to all powers and authorities under common law, statutory authority and other provisions of 

this Plan, shall have the following powers and authorities to be exercised in the Trustee's sole discretion: 

 

(1) To purchase, or subscribe for, any securities or other property and to retain the same. In conjunction with the purchase of 

securities, margin accounts may be opened and maintained; 

 

(2) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose of any securities or other property 

held by the Trustee, by private contract or at public auction. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the 

application of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any such sale or other disposition, 

with or without advertisement; 

 

(3) To vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to give general or special proxies or powers of attorney with or 

without power of substitution; to exercise any conversion privileges, subscription rights or other options, and to make any 

payments incidental thereto; to oppose, or to consent to, or otherwise participate in, corporate reorganizations or other changes 

affecting corporate securities, and to delegate discretionary powers, and to pay any assessments or charges in connection 

therewith; and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect to stocks, bonds, securities, or other property; 

 

(4) To cause any securities or other property to be registered in the Trustee's own name, or in the name of a nominee or in a 

street name provided such securities or other property are held on behalf of the Plan by (i) a bank or trust company, (ii) a 

broker or dealer registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or a nominee of such broker or dealer, or (iii) a clearing 

agency as defined in Section 3(a)(23) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 

 

(5) To invest in a common, collective, or pooled trust fund (the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference) 

maintained by any Trustee (or any affiliate of such Trustee) hereunder pursuant to Revenue Ruling 81-100 (as modified by 

Rev. Rul. 2011-1 or any subsequent guidance), all or such part of the Trust Fund as the Trustee may deem advisable, and the 

part of the Trust Fund so transferred shall be subject to all the terms and provisions of the common, collective, or pooled trust 

fund which contemplate the commingling for investment purposes of such trust assets with trust assets of other trusts. The 

name of the trust fund may be specified in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other 

Permitted Elections). The Trustee may withdraw from such common, collective, or pooled trust fund all or such part of the 

Trust Fund as the Trustee may deem advisable; 

 

(6) To borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Plan in such amount, and upon such terms and conditions, as the Trustee 

shall deem advisable; and for any sum so borrowed, to issue a promissory note as Trustee, and to secure the repayment thereof 

by pledging all, or any part, of the Trust Fund; and no person lending money to the Trustee shall be bound to see to the 

application of the money lent or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any borrowing; 

 

(7) To accept and retain for such time as it may deem advisable any securities or other property received or acquired by it as 

Trustee hereunder, whether or not such securities or other property would normally be purchased as investments hereunder; 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

35 

(8) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other 

instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted; 

 

(9) To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration (provided such arbitration does not apply to qualification issues nor to 

Participants or Beneficiaries) any claims, debts, or damages due or owing to or from the Plan, to commence or defend suits or 

legal or administrative proceedings, and to represent the Plan in all suits and legal and administrative proceedings; 

 

(10) To employ suitable agents and counsel and to pay their reasonable expenses and compensation, and such agents or 

counsel may or may not be an agent or counsel for the Employer; 

 

(11) To apply for and procure from the Insurer as an investment of the Trust Fund any annuity or other Contracts (on the life 

of any Participant, or in the case of a 401(a) Plan, on the life of any person in whom a Participant has an insurable interest, or 

on the joint lives of a Participant and any person in whom the Participant has an insurable interest) as the Administrator shall 

deem proper; to exercise, at any time or from time to time, whatever rights and privileges may be granted under such annuity, 

or other Contracts; to collect, receive, and settle for the proceeds of all such annuity, or other Contracts as and when entitled to 

do so under the provisions thereof; 

 

(12) To invest funds of the Trust in time deposits or savings accounts bearing a reasonable rate of interest or in cash or cash 

balances without liability for interest thereon, including the specific authority to invest in any type of deposit of the Trustee (or 

of a financial institution related to the Trustee); 

 

(13) To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations; 

 

(14) To sell, purchase and acquire put or call options if the options are traded on and purchased through a national securities 

exchange registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or, if the options are not traded on a national 

securities exchange, are guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock Exchange regardless of whether such options are 

covered; 

 

(15) To deposit monies in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in banks or savings and loan 

associations including the specific authority to make deposit into any savings accounts or certificates of deposit of the Trustee 

(or a financial institution related to the Trustee); 

 

(16) To pool all or any of the Trust Fund, from time to time, with assets belonging to any other qualified employee pension 

benefit trust created by the Employer or any Affiliated Employer, and to commingle such assets and make joint or common 

investments and carry joint accounts on behalf of this Plan and Trust and such other trust or trusts, allocating undivided shares 

or interests in such investments or accounts or any pooled assets of the two or more trusts in accordance with their respective 

interests; and 

 

(17) To do all such acts and exercise all such rights and privileges, although not specifically mentioned herein, as the Trustee 

may deem necessary to carry out the purposes of the Plan. 

 

(d) Appointment of Investment Manager or others. The Trustee may appoint, at its option, an Investment Manager, investment 

adviser, or other agent to provide direction to the Trustee with respect to the investment of any or all of the Plan assets. Such 

appointment shall be in writing and shall specifically identify the Plan assets with respect to which the Investment Manager or other 

agent shall have the authority to direct the investment. 

 

7.3 INVESTMENT POWERS AND DUTIES OF NONDISCRETIONARY TRUSTEE 

 

(a) No discretionary powers. This Section applies if the Employer, in the Adoption Agreement or as otherwise agreed upon by 

the Employer and the Trustee, designates the Trustee to administer all or a portion of the trust as a nondiscretionary Trustee. If so 

designated, then the Trustee shall have no discretionary authority to invest, manage, or control those Plan assets, but must act solely 

as a Directed Trustee of those Plan assets. A nondiscretionary Trustee, as Directed Trustee of the Plan funds it holds, is authorized 

and empowered, by way of limitation, with the powers, rights and duties set forth herein, each of which the nondiscretionary 

Trustee exercises solely as Directed Trustee in accordance with the direction of the party which has the authority to manage and 

control the investment of the Plan assets. If no directions are provided to the Trustee, the Employer will provide necessary direction. 

Furthermore, the Employer and the nondiscretionary Trustee may, in writing, limit the powers of the nondiscretionary Trustee to 

any combination of powers listed within this Section. The party which has the authority to manage and control the investment of the 

Plan assets shall discharge its duties with respect to the Plan solely in the interest of the Participants and Beneficiaries and with the 

care, skill, prudence, and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent person acting in a like capacity and 

familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an enterprise of a like character and with like aims.  

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

36 

(b) Powers. The Trustee, in addition to all powers and authorities under common law, statutory authority and other provisions of 

this Plan, shall have the following powers and authorities: 

 

(1) To invest the assets, without distinction between principal and income, in securities or property, real or personal, 

wherever situated, including, but not limited to, common or preferred stocks, open-end or closed-end mutual funds, bonds and 

other evidences of indebtedness or ownership, and real estate or any interest therein. In making such investments, the Trustee 

shall not be restricted to securities or other property of the character expressly authorized by the applicable law for trust 

investments; however, the Trustee shall give due regard to any limitations imposed by the Code so that at all times this Plan 

may qualify as a qualified Plan and Trust; 

 

(2) To purchase, or subscribe for, any securities or other property and to retain the same. In conjunction with the purchase of 

securities, margin accounts may be opened and maintained; 

 

(3) To sell, exchange, convey, transfer, grant options to purchase, or otherwise dispose of any securities or other property 

held by the Trustee, by private contract or at public auction. No person dealing with the Trustee shall be bound to see to the 

application of the purchase money or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any such sale or other disposition, 

with or without advertisement; 

 

(4) At the direction of the party which has the authority or discretion, to vote upon any stocks, bonds, or other securities; to 

give general or special proxies or powers of attorney with or without power of substitution; to exercise any conversion 

privileges, subscription rights or other options, and to make any payments incidental thereto; to oppose, or to consent to, or 

otherwise participate in, corporate reorganizations or other changes affecting corporate securities, and to delegate powers, and 

pay any assessments or charges in connection therewith; and generally to exercise any of the powers of an owner with respect 

to stocks, bonds, securities, or other property; 

 

(5) To cause any securities or other property to be registered in the Trustee's own name, or in the name of a nominee or in a 

street name provided such securities or other property are held on behalf of the Plan by (i) a bank or trust company, (ii) a 

broker or dealer registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or a nominee of such broker or dealer, or (iii) a clearing 

agency as defined in Section 3(a)(23) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; 

 

(6) To invest in a common, collective, or pooled trust fund (the provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference) 

maintained by any Trustee (or any affiliate of such Trustee) hereunder pursuant to Revenue Ruling 81-100 (as modified by 

Rev. Rul. 2011-1 or any subsequent guidance), all or such part of the Trust Fund as the party which has the authority to 

manage and control the investment of the assets shall deem advisable, and the part of the Trust Fund so transferred shall be 

subject to all the terms and provisions of the common, collective, or pooled trust fund which contemplate the commingling for 

investment purposes of such trust assets with trust assets of other trusts. The name of the trust fund may be specified in 

Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections); 

 

(7) To borrow or raise money for the purposes of the Plan in such amount, and upon such terms and conditions, as the Trustee 

shall deem advisable; and for any sum so borrowed, to issue a promissory note as Trustee, and to secure the repayment thereof 

by pledging all, or any part, of the Trust Fund; and no person lending money to the Trustee shall be bound to see to the 

application of the money lent or to inquire into the validity, expediency, or propriety of any borrowing; 

 

(8) To make, execute, acknowledge, and deliver any and all documents of transfer and conveyance and any and all other 

instruments that may be necessary or appropriate to carry out the powers herein granted; 

 

(9) To settle, compromise, or submit to arbitration (provided such arbitration does not apply to qualification issues nor to 

Participants or Beneficiaries) any claims, debts, or damages due or owing to or from the Plan, to commence or defend suits or 

legal or administrative proceedings, and to represent the Plan in all suits and legal and administrative proceedings; 

 

(10) To employ suitable agents and counsel and to pay their reasonable expenses and compensation, and such agent or counsel 

may or may not be an agent or counsel for the Employer; 

 

(11) To apply for and procure from the Insurer as an investment of the Trust Fund any annuity or other Contracts (on the life 

of any Participant, or in the case of a 401(a) Plan, on the life of any person in whom a Participant has an insurable interest, or 

on the joint lives of a Participant and any person in whom the Participant has an insurable interest) as the Administrator shall 

deem proper; to exercise, at the direction of the person with the authority to do so, whatever rights and privileges may be 

granted under such annuity or other Contracts; to collect, receive, and settle for the proceeds of all such annuity or other 

Contracts as and when entitled to do so under the provisions thereof; 

 

(12) To invest funds of the Trust in time deposits or savings accounts bearing a reasonable rate of interest or in cash or cash 

balances without liability for interest thereon, including the specific authority to invest in any type of deposit of the Trustee (or 

of a financial institution related to the Trustee); 

 

(13) To invest in Treasury Bills and other forms of United States government obligations; 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

37 

 

(14) To sell, purchase and acquire put or call options if the options are traded on and purchased through a national securities 

exchange registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or, if the options are not traded on a national 

securities exchange, are guaranteed by a member firm of the New York Stock Exchange regardless of whether such options are 

covered; 

 

(15) To deposit monies in federally insured savings accounts or certificates of deposit in banks or savings and loan 

associations including the specific authority to make deposit into any savings accounts or certificates of deposit of the Trustee 

(or a financial institution related to the Trustee); and 

 

(16) To pool all or any of the Trust Fund, from time to time, with assets belonging to any other qualified employee pension 

benefit trust created by the Employer or any Affiliated Employer, and to commingle such assets and make joint or common 

investments and carry joint accounts on behalf of this Plan and such other trust or trusts, allocating undivided shares or 

interests in such investments or accounts or any pooled assets of the two or more trusts in accordance with their respective 

interests. 

 

(c) The Trustee shall have no responsibility to enforce the collection from the Employer of any contribution to the Plan or 

determine the correctness of the amount or timing any contribution. The Employer is responsible for transmitting contributions to 

the Trustee at such times and in such manner as is mutually agreed upon by the Employer and the Trustee and as required by the 

Plan and applicable law.  

 

7.4 POWERS AND DUTIES OF CUSTODIAN 

 

The Employer may appoint a Custodian of the Plan assets. A Custodian has the same powers, rights and duties as a 

nondiscretionary Trustee. Any reference in the Plan to a Trustee also is a reference to a Custodian unless the context of the Plan indicates 

otherwise. A limitation of the Trustee's liability by Plan provision also acts as a limitation of the Custodian's liability. The Custodian will 

be protected from any liability with respect to actions taken pursuant to the direction of the Trustee, Administrator, the Employer, an 

Investment Manager, a fiduciary or other third party with authority to provide direction to the Custodian. The resignation or removal of the 

Custodian shall be made in accordance with Section 7.11 as though the Custodian were a Trustee. 

 

7.5 LIFE INSURANCE 

 

(a) Permitted insurance. The Trustee (or Insurer), in accordance with operational procedures of the Administrator, shall ratably 

apply for, own, and pay all premiums on Contracts on the lives of the Participants or, in the case of a 401(a) Plan, on the life of a 

member of the Participant's family or on the joint lives of a Participant and a member of the Participant's family. Furthermore, if a 

Contract is purchased on the joint lives of the Participant and another person and such other person predeceases the Participant, then 

the Contract may not be maintained under this Plan. Any initial or additional Contract purchased on behalf of a Participant shall 

have a face amount of not less than $1,000, an amount set forth in the Administrator's procedures, or the limitation of the Insurer, 

whichever is greater. If a life insurance Contract is to be purchased for a Participant, then the aggregate premium for ordinary life 

insurance for each Participant must be less than 50% of the aggregate contributions and Forfeitures allocated to the Participant's 

Combined Account. For purposes of this limitation, ordinary life insurance Contracts are Contracts with both non-decreasing death 

benefits and non-increasing premiums. If term insurance or universal life insurance is purchased, then the aggregate premium must 

be 25% or less of the aggregate contributions and Forfeitures allocated to the Participant's Combined Account. If both term 

insurance and ordinary life insurance are purchased, then the premium for term insurance plus one-half of the premium for ordinary 

life insurance may not in the aggregate exceed 25% of the aggregate Employer contributions and Forfeitures allocated to the 

Participant's Combined Account. Notwithstanding the preceding, the limitations imposed herein with respect to the purchase of life 

insurance shall not apply, in the case of a 401(a) Plan, to the portion of the Participant's Account that has accumulated for at least 

two (2) Plan Years or to the entire Participant's Account if the Participant has been a Participant in the Plan for at least five (5) 

years. In addition, amounts transferred to this Plan in accordance with Section 4.6(f)(1)(ii) or (iii) and a Participant's Voluntary 

Contribution Account may be used to purchase Contracts without limitation. Thus, amounts that are not subject to the limitations 

contained herein may be used to purchase life insurance on any person in whom a Participant has an insurable interest or on the 

joint lives of a Participant and any person in whom the Participant has an insurable interest, and without regard to the amount of 

premiums paid to purchase any life insurance hereunder.  

 

(b) Contract conversion at retirement. The Trustee (or Insurer) must distribute any Contracts to the Participant or convert the 

entire value of the Contracts at or before retirement into cash or provide for a periodic income so that no portion of such value may 

be used to continue life insurance protection beyond the date on which benefits commence. 

 

(c) Limitations on purchase. No life insurance Contracts shall be required to be obtained on an individual's life if, for any reason 

(other than the nonpayment of premiums) the Insurer will not issue a Contract on such individual's life. 

 

(d) Proceeds payable to plan. The Trustee (or Insurer) will be the owner of any life insurance Contract purchased under the terms 

of this Plan. The Contract must provide that the proceeds will be payable to the Trustee (or Insurer); however, the Trustee (or 

Insurer) shall be required to pay over all proceeds of the Contract to the Participant's "designated Beneficiary" in accordance with 

the distribution provisions of Article VI. A Participant's Spouse will be the "designated Beneficiary" pursuant to Section 6.2, unless 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

38 

a qualified election has been made in accordance with Sections 6.5 and 6.6 of the Plan, if applicable. Under no circumstances shall 

the Trust retain any part of the proceeds that are in excess of the cash surrender value immediately prior to death. However, the 

Trustee (or Insurer) shall not pay the proceeds in a method that would violate the requirements of the Retirement Equity Act of 

1984, as stated in Article VI of the Plan, or Code §401(a)(9) and the Regulations thereunder. In the event of any conflict between 

the terms of this Plan and the terms of any insurance Contract purchased hereunder, the Plan provisions shall control. 

 

(e) No responsibility for act of Insurer. The Employer, the Administrator and the Trustee shall not be responsible for the validity 

of the provisions under a Contract issued hereunder or for the failure or refusal by the Insurer to provide benefits under such 

Contract. The Employer, Administrator and the Trustee are also not responsible for any action or failure to act by the Insurer or any 

other person which results in the delay of a payment under the Contract or which renders the Contract invalid or unenforceable in 

whole or in part. 

 

7.6 LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS 

 

(a) Permitted Loans. The Trustee (or the Administrator if the Trustee is a nondiscretionary Trustee or if loans are treated as 

Participant directed investments) may, in the Trustee's (or, if applicable, the Administrator's) sole discretion, make loans to 

Participants. If loans are permitted, then the following shall apply: (1) loans shall be made available to all Participants on a 

reasonably equivalent basis; (2) loans shall bear a reasonable rate of interest; (3) loans shall be adequately secured; and (4) loans 

shall provide for periodic repayment over a reasonable period of time. Furthermore, no Participant loan shall exceed the 

Participant's Vested interest in the Plan. For purposes of this Section, the term Participant shall include any Eligible Employee who 

is not yet a Participant, if, pursuant to the Adoption Agreement, "rollovers" are permitted to be accepted from Eligible Employees. 

 

(b) Prohibited assignment or pledge. An assignment or pledge of any portion of a Participant's interest in the Plan and a loan, 

pledge, or assignment with respect to any insurance Contract purchased under the Plan, shall be treated as a loan under this Section. 

 

(c) Loan program. The Administrator shall be authorized to establish a Participant loan program to provide for loans under the 

Plan. In order for the Administrator to implement such loan program, a separate written document forming a part of this Plan must 

be adopted, which document shall specifically include, but need not be limited to, the following: 

 

(1) the identity of the person or positions authorized to administer the Participant loan program; 

 

(2) a procedure for applying for loans; 

 

(3) the basis on which loans will be approved or denied; 

 

(4) limitations, if any, on the types and amounts of loans offered; 

 

(5) the procedure under the program for determining a reasonable rate of interest; 

 

(6) the types of collateral which may secure a Participant loan; and 

 

(7) the events constituting default and the steps that will be taken to preserve Plan assets in the event such default. 

 

(d) Loan default. Notwithstanding anything in this Plan to the contrary, if a Participant or Beneficiary defaults on a loan made 

pursuant to this Section that is secured by the Participant's interest in the Plan, then a Participant's interest may be offset by the 

amount subject to the security to the extent there is a distributable event permitted by the Code or Regulations. 

 

(e) Loans subject to Plan terms. Notwithstanding anything in this Section to the contrary, if this is an amendment and 

restatement of an existing Plan, any loans made prior to the date this amendment and restatement is adopted shall be subject to the 

terms of the Plan in effect at the time such loan was made. 

 

7.7 ALLOCATION AND DELEGATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

If there is more than one Trustee, then the responsibilities of each Trustee may be specified by the Employer and accepted in 

writing by each Trustee. If no such delegation is made by the Employer, then the Trustees may allocate the responsibilities among 

themselves, in which event the Trustees shall notify the Employer and the Administrator in writing of such action and specify the 

responsibilities of each Trustee. Except where there has been an allocation and delegation of powers, if there shall be more than one 

Trustee, they shall act by a majority of their number, but may authorize one or more of them to sign papers on their behalf. 

 

7.8 TRUSTEE'S COMPENSATION AND EXPENSES AND TAXES 

 

The Trustee shall be paid such reasonable compensation as set forth in the Trustee's fee schedule (if the Trustee has such a 

schedule) or as agreed upon in writing by the Employer and the Trustee. However, an individual serving as Trustee who already receives 

full-time compensation from the Employer shall not receive compensation from this Plan. In addition, the Trustee shall be reimbursed for 

any reasonable expenses, including reasonable counsel fees incurred by it as Trustee. Such compensation and expenses shall be paid from 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

39 

the Trust Fund unless paid or advanced by the Employer. All taxes of any kind whatsoever that may be levied or assessed under existing or 

future laws upon, or in respect of, the Trust Fund or the income thereof, shall be paid from the Trust Fund. 

 

7.9 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TRUSTEE 

 

(a) Annual report. Within a reasonable period of time after the later of the Anniversary Date or receipt of the Employer's 

contribution for each Plan Year, the Trustee, or its agent, shall furnish to the Employer and Administrator a written statement of 

account with respect to the Plan Year for which such contribution was made setting forth: 

 

(1) the net income, or loss, of the Trust Fund; 

 

(2) the gains, or losses, realized by the Trust Fund upon sales or other disposition of the assets; 

 

(3) the increase, or decrease, in the value of the Trust Fund; 

 

(4) all payments and distributions made from the Trust Fund; and 

 

(5) such further information as the Trustee and/or Administrator deems appropriate. 

 

(b) Employer approval of report. The Employer, promptly upon its receipt of each such statement of account, shall acknowledge 

receipt thereof in writing and advise the Trustee and/or Administrator of its approval or disapproval thereof. Failure by the 

Employer to disapprove any such statement of account within thirty (30) days after its receipt thereof shall be deemed an approval 

thereof. The approval by the Employer of any statement of account shall be binding on the Employer and the Trustee as to all 

matters contained in the statement to the same extent as if the account of the Trustee had been settled by judgment or decree in an 

action for a judicial settlement of its account in a court of competent jurisdiction in which the Trustee, the Employer and all persons 

having or claiming an interest in the Plan were parties. However, nothing contained in this Section shall deprive the Trustee of its 

right to have its accounts judicially settled if the Trustee so desires. 

 

7.10 RESIGNATION, REMOVAL AND SUCCESSION OF TRUSTEE 

 

(a) Trustee resignation. Unless otherwise agreed to by both the Trustee and the Employer, a Trustee may resign at any time by 

delivering to the Employer, at least thirty (30) days before its effective date, a written notice of resignation. 

 

(b) Trustee removal. Unless otherwise agreed to by both the Trustee and the Employer, the Employer may remove a Trustee at 

any time by delivering to the Trustee, at least thirty (30) days before its effective date, a written notice of such Trustee's removal. 

 

(c) Appointment of successor. Upon the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of any Trustee, a successor may be appointed 

by the Employer; and such successor, upon accepting such appointment in writing and delivering same to the Employer, shall, 

without further act, become vested with all the powers and responsibilities of the predecessor as if such successor had been 

originally named as a Trustee herein. Until such a successor is appointed, any remaining Trustee or Trustees shall have full 

authority to act under the terms of the Plan. 

 

(d) Appointment of successor prior to removal of predecessor. The Employer may designate one or more successors prior to 

the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of a Trustee. In the event a successor is so designated by the Employer and accepts 

such designation, the successor shall, without further act, become vested with all the powers and responsibilities of the predecessor 

as if such successor had been originally named as Trustee herein immediately upon the death, resignation, incapacity, or removal of 

the predecessor. 

 

(e) Trustee's statement upon cessation of being Trustee. Whenever any Trustee hereunder ceases to serve as such, the Trustee 

shall furnish to the Employer and Administrator a written statement of account with respect to the portion of the Plan Year during 

which the individual or entity served as Trustee. This statement shall be either (i) included as part of the annual statement of 

account for the Plan Year required under Section 7.9 or (ii) set forth in a special statement. Any such special statement of account 

should be rendered to the Employer no later than the due date of the annual statement of account for the Plan Year. The procedures 

set forth in Section 7.9 for the approval by the Employer of annual statements of account shall apply to any special statement of 

account rendered hereunder and approval by the Employer of any such special statement in the manner provided in Section 7.9 shall 

have the same effect upon the statement as the Employer's approval of an annual statement of account. No successor to the Trustee 

shall have any duty or responsibility to investigate the acts or transactions of any predecessor who has rendered all statements of 

account required by Section 7.9 and this subparagraph. 

 

7.11 TRANSFER OF INTEREST 

 

Notwithstanding any other provision contained in this Plan, the Trustee at the direction of the Administrator shall transfer the 

interest, if any, of a Participant to another trust forming part of a pension, profit sharing, or stock bonus plan that meets the requirements of 

Code §401(a), provided that the trust to which such transfers are made permits the transfer to be made and further provided that the terms 

of the transferee plan properly allocates the funds in each account to a transferee account that preserves all the required features and 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

40 

restrictions applicable to such account under this Plan. However, the transfer of amounts from this Plan to a nonqualified foreign trust is 

treated as a distribution and the transfer of assets and liabilities from this Plan to a plan that satisfies Section 1165 of the Puerto Rico Code 

is also treated as distribution from the transferor plan. 

 

7.12 TRUSTEE INDEMNIFICATION 

 

To the extent permitted by the Code, the Employer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Trustee against any and all claims, 

losses, damages, expenses and liabilities the Trustee may incur in the exercise and performance of the Trustee's powers and duties 

hereunder, unless the same are determined to be due to gross negligence or willful misconduct. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

AMENDMENT, TERMINATION AND MERGERS 

 

8.1 AMENDMENT 

 

(a) General rule on Employer amendment. The Employer shall have the right at any time to amend this Plan subject to the 

limitations of this Section. However, any amendment that affects the rights, duties or responsibilities of the Trustee (or Insurer) or 

Administrator may only be made with the Trustee's (or Insurer's) or Administrator's written consent. Any such amendment shall 

become effective as provided therein upon its execution. The Trustee (or Insurer) shall not be required to execute any such 

amendment unless the amendment affects the duties of the Trustee (or Insurer) hereunder. 

 

(b) Permissible amendments. The Employer may (1) change the choice of options in the Adoption Agreement, (2) add any 

appendix to the Adoption Agreement that is specifically permitted pursuant to the terms of the Plan (e.g., Appendix A to the 

Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and Other Permitted Elections)); (3) amend administrative trust or custodial 

provisions, (4) add certain sample or model amendments published by the Internal Revenue Service or other required good-faith 

amendments which specifically provide that their adoption will not cause the Plan to be treated as an individually designed plan, 

and (5) add or change provisions permitted under the Plan and/or specify or change the effective date of a provision as permitted 

under the Plan. 

 

(c) Volume submitter practitioner amendments. The Employer (and every Participating Employer) expressly delegates 

authority to the volume submitter practitioner, the right to amend the Plan by submitting a copy of the amendment to each Employer 

(and Participating Employer) who has adopted this plan, after first having received a ruling or favorable determination from the 

Internal Revenue Service that the volume submitter Plan as amended qualifies under Code §401(a) (unless a ruling or determination 

is not required by the IRS).  

 

(d) Impermissible amendments. No amendment to the Plan shall be effective if it authorizes or permits any part of the Trust 

Fund (other than such part as is required to pay taxes and administration expenses) to be used for or diverted to any purpose other 

than for the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries or estates; or causes any reduction in the amount credited to 

the account of any Participant; or causes or permits any portion of the Trust Fund to revert to or become property of the Employer. 

 

8.2 TERMINATION 

 

(a) Termination of Plan. The Employer shall have the right at any time to terminate the Plan by delivering to the Trustee (or 

Insurer) and Administrator written notice of such termination. Upon any full or partial termination or upon the complete 

discontinuance of the Employer's Contributions to the Plan (in the case of a Profit Sharing Plan), all amounts credited to the affected 

Participants' Combined Accounts shall become 100% Vested and shall not thereafter be subject to Forfeiture. 

 

(b) Distribution of assets. Upon the full termination of the Plan, the Employer shall direct the distribution of the assets to 

Participants in a manner that is consistent with and satisfies the provisions of Section 6.5. Distributions to a Participant shall be 

made in cash (or in property if permitted in the Adoption Agreement) or through the purchase of irrevocable nontransferable 

deferred commitments from the Insurer.  

 

8.3 MERGER, CONSOLIDATION OR TRANSFER OF ASSETS 

 

This Plan may be merged or consolidated with, or its assets and/or liabilities may be transferred to any other plan only if the 

benefits which would be received by a Participant of this Plan, in the event of a termination of the plan immediately after such transfer, 

merger or consolidation, are at least equal to the benefits the Participant would have received if the Plan had terminated immediately before 

the transfer, merger or consolidation. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

41 

ARTICLE IX 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

9.1 EMPLOYER ADOPTIONS 

 

(a) Method of adoption. Any organization may become the Employer hereunder by executing the Adoption Agreement in a form 

satisfactory to the Trustee (or Insurer), and it shall provide such additional information as the Trustee (or Insurer) may require. The 

consent of the Trustee (or Insurer) to act as such shall be signified by its execution of the Adoption Agreement or a separate 

agreement (including, if elected in the Adoption Agreement, a separate trust agreement). 

 

(b) Separate affiliation. Except as otherwise provided in this Plan, the affiliation of the Employer and the participation of its 

Participants shall be separate and apart from that of any other employer and its participants hereunder. 

 

9.2 PARTICIPANT'S RIGHTS 

 

This Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract between the Employer and any Participant or to be a consideration or an 

inducement for the employment of any Participant or Employee. Nothing contained in this Plan shall be deemed to give any Participant or 

Employee the right to be retained in the service of the Employer or to interfere with the right of the Employer to discharge any Participant 

or Employee at any time regardless of the effect which such discharge shall have upon the Employee as a Participant of this Plan. 

 

9.3 ALIENATION 

 

(a) General rule. Subject to the exceptions provided below and as otherwise permitted by the Code, no benefit which shall be 

payable to any person (including a Participant or the Participant's Beneficiary) shall be subject in any manner to anticipation, 

alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, encumbrance, or charge, and any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, 

pledge, encumber, or charge the same shall be void; and no such benefit shall in any manner be liable for, or subject to, the debts, 

contracts, liabilities, engagements, or torts of any such person, nor shall it be subject to attachment or legal process for or against 

such person, and the same shall not be recognized except to such extent as may be required by law. 

 

(b) Exception for loans. Subsection (a) shall not apply to the extent a Participant or Beneficiary is indebted to the Plan by reason 

of a loan made pursuant to Section 7.6. At the time a distribution is to be made to or for a Participant's or Beneficiary's benefit, such 

portion of the amount to be distributed as shall equal such indebtedness shall be paid to the Plan, to apply against or discharge such 

indebtedness. Prior to making a payment, however, the Participant or Beneficiary must be given notice by the Administrator that 

such indebtedness is to be so paid in whole or part from the Participant's interest in the Plan. If the Participant or Beneficiary does 

not agree that the indebtedness is a valid claim against the Participant's interest in the Plan, the Participant or Beneficiary shall be 

entitled to a review of the validity of the claim in accordance with procedures provided in Section 2.10. 

 

(c) Exception for QDRO. Subsection (a) shall not apply to a "qualified domestic relations order" defined in Code §414(p), and 

those other domestic relations orders permitted to be so treated by the Administrator under the provisions of the Retirement Equity 

Act of 1984. 

 

9.4 PLAN COMMUNICATIONS, INTERPRETATION AND CONSTRUCTION 

 

(a) Applicable law. This Plan and Trust shall be construed and enforced according to the Code, and the laws of the state or 

commonwealth in which the Employer's (or if there is a corporate Trustee, the Trustee's, or if the Plan is fully insured, the Insurer's) 

principal office is located (unless otherwise designated in Appendix A to the Adoption Agreement (Special Effective Dates and 

Other Permitted Elections), other than its laws respecting choice of law, to the extent not pre-empted by federal law.  

 

(b) Administrator's discretion. The Administrator has total and complete discretion to interpret and construe the Plan and to 

determine all questions arising in the administration, interpretation and application of the Plan. Any determination the Administrator 

makes under the Plan is final and binding upon any affected person. The Administrator must exercise all of its Plan powers and 

discretion, and perform all of its duties in a uniform manner.  

 

(c) Communications. All Participant or Beneficiary notices, designations, elections, consents or waivers must be made in a form 

the Administrator (or, as applicable, the Trustee or Insurer) specifies or otherwise approves. Any person entitled to notice under the 

Plan may waive the notice or shorten the notice period unless such actions are contrary to applicable law.  

 

(d) Evidence. Anyone, including the Employer, required to give data, statements or other information relevant under the terms of 

the Plan ("evidence") may do so by certificate, affidavit, document or other form which the person to act in reliance may consider 

pertinent, reliable and genuine, and to have been signed, made or presented by the proper party or parties. The Administrator, 

Trustee and Insurer are protected fully in acting and relying upon any evidence described under the immediately preceding 

sentence.  

 

(e) Plan terms binding. The Plan is binding upon all parties, including but not limited to, the Employer, Trustee, Insurer, 

Administrator, Participants and Beneficiaries.  



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

42 

 

(f) Parties to litigation. Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, a Participant or a Beneficiary is not a necessary party or 

required to receive notice of process in any court proceeding involving the Plan, the Trust or any fiduciary. Any final judgment (not 

subject to further appeal) entered in any such proceeding will be binding upon all parties, including the Employer, the 

Administrator, Trustee, Insurer, Participants and Beneficiaries. 

 

(g) Fiduciaries not insurers. The Trustee, Administrator and the Employer in no way guarantee the Plan assets from loss or 

depreciation. The Employer does not guarantee the payment of any money which may be or becomes due to any person from the 

Plan. The liability of the Employer, the Administrator and the Trustee to make any distribution from the Trust at any time and all 

times is limited to the then available assets of the Trust. 

 

(h) Construction/severability. The Plan, the Adoption Agreement, the Trust and all other documents to which they refer, will be 

interpreted consistent with and to preserve tax qualification of the Plan under Code §401(a) and tax exemption of the Trust under 

Code §501(a) and also consistent with other applicable law. To the extent permissible under applicable law, any provision which a 

court (or other entity with binding authority to interpret the Plan) determines to be inconsistent with such construction and 

interpretation, is deemed severed and is of no force or effect, and the remaining Plan terms will remain in full force and effect. 

 

(i) Uniformity. All provisions of this Plan shall be interpreted and applied in a uniform manner. 

 

(j) Headings. The headings and subheadings of this Plan have been inserted for convenience of reference and are to be ignored in 

any construction of the provisions hereof. 

 

9.5 GENDER, NUMBER AND TENSE 

 

Wherever any words are used herein in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender, they shall be construed as though they were also 

used in another gender in all cases where they would so apply; whenever any words are used herein in the singular or plural form, they 

shall be construed as though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they would so apply; and whenever any words are 

used herein in the past or present tense, they shall be construed as though they were also used in the other form in all cases where they 

would so apply. 

 

9.6 LEGAL ACTION 

 

In the event any claim, suit, or proceeding is brought regarding the Trust and/or Plan established hereunder to which the Trustee (or 

Insurer), the Employer or the Administrator may be a party, and such claim, suit, or proceeding is resolved in favor of the Trustee (or 

Insurer), the Employer or the Administrator, they shall be entitled to be reimbursed from the Trust Fund for any and all costs, attorney's 

fees, and other expenses pertaining thereto incurred by them for which they shall have become liable. 

 

9.7 PROHIBITION AGAINST DIVERSION OF FUNDS 

 

(a) General rule. Except as provided below and otherwise specifically permitted by law, it shall be impossible by operation of the 

Plan or of the Trust, by termination of either, by power of revocation or amendment, by the happening of any contingency, by 

collateral arrangement or by any other means, for any part of the corpus or income of any Trust Fund maintained pursuant to the 

Plan or any funds contributed thereto to be used for, or diverted to, purposes other than the exclusive benefit of Participants or their 

Beneficiaries. 

 

(b) Mistake of fact. In the event the Employer shall make a contribution under a mistake of fact, the Employer may demand 

repayment of such contribution at any time within one (1) year following the time of payment and the Trustee (or Insurer) shall 

return such amount to the Employer within the one (1) year period. Earnings of the Plan attributable to the contributions may not be 

returned to the Employer but any losses attributable thereto must reduce the amount so returned. 

 

9.8 EMPLOYER'S AND TRUSTEE'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE 

 

The Employer, Administrator and Trustee, and their successors, shall not be responsible for the validity of any Contract issued 

hereunder or for the failure on the part of the Insurer to make payments provided by any such Contract, or for the action of any person 

which may delay payment or render a Contract null and void or unenforceable in whole or in part. 

 

9.9 INSURER'S PROTECTIVE CLAUSE 

 

Except as otherwise agreed upon in writing between the Employer and the Insurer, an Insurer which issues any Contracts hereunder 

shall not have any responsibility for the validity of this Plan or for the tax or legal aspects of this Plan. The Insurer shall be protected and 

held harmless in acting in accordance with any written direction of the Administrator or Trustee, and shall have no duty to see to the 

application of any funds paid to the Trustee, nor be required to question any actions directed by the Administrator or Trustee. Regardless of 

any provision of this Plan, the Insurer shall not be required to take or permit any action or allow any benefit or privilege contrary to the 

terms of any Contract which it issues hereunder, or the rules of the Insurer. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

43 

9.10 RECEIPT AND RELEASE FOR PAYMENTS 

 

Any payment to any Participant, the Participant's legal representative, Beneficiary, or to any guardian or committee appointed for 

such Participant or Beneficiary in accordance with the provisions of this Plan, shall, to the extent thereof, be in full satisfaction of all claims 

hereunder against the Trustee (or Insurer) and the Employer. 

 

9.11 ACTION BY THE EMPLOYER 

 

Whenever the Employer under the terms of the Plan is permitted or required to do or perform any act or matter or thing, it shall be 

done and performed by a person duly authorized by its legally constituted authority. 

 

9.12 APPROVAL BY INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE 

 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if, pursuant to an application for qualification is made by the time prescribed by 

law or such later date as the Secretary of Treasury may prescribe, the Commissioner of the Internal Revenue Service or the Commissioner's 

delegate should determine that the Plan does not initially qualify as a tax-exempt plan under Code §§401 and 501, and such determination 

is not contested, or if contested, is finally upheld, then if the Plan is a new plan, it shall be void ab initio and all amounts contributed to the 

Plan, by the Employer, less expenses paid, shall be returned within one (1) year and the Plan shall terminate, and the Trustee (or Insurer) 

shall be discharged from all further obligations. If the disqualification relates to a Plan amendment, then the Plan shall operate as if it had 

not been amended. If the Employer's Plan fails to attain or retain qualification, such Plan will no longer participate in this volume submitter 

plan and will be considered an individually designed plan. 

 

9.13 PAYMENT OF BENEFITS 

 

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, benefits under this Plan shall be paid, subject to Sections 6.11 and 6.12, only upon death, 

Total and Permanent Disability, normal or early retirement, severance of employment, or termination of the Plan. 

 

9.14 ELECTRONIC MEDIA  

 

The Administrator may use any electronic medium to give or receive any Plan notice, communicate any Plan policy, conduct any 

written Plan communication, satisfy any Plan filing or other compliance requirement and conduct any other Plan transaction to the extent 

permissible under applicable law. A Participant or a Participant's Spouse, to the extent authorized by the Administrator, may use any 

electronic medium to make or provide any Beneficiary designation, election, notice, consent or waiver under the Plan, to the extent 

permissible under applicable law. Any reference in this Plan to a "form," a "notice," an "election," a "consent," a "waiver," a "designation," 

a "policy" or to any other Plan-related communication includes an electronic version thereof as permitted under applicable law. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, any Participant or Beneficiary notices and consent that are required pursuant to the Code must satisfy 

Regulation §1.401(a)-21. 

 

9.15 PLAN CORRECTION 

 

The Administrator in conjunction with the Employer may undertake such correction of Plan errors as the Administrator deems 

necessary, including correction to preserve tax qualification of the Plan under Code §401(a) or to correct a fiduciary breach under state or 

local law. Without limiting the Administrator's authority under the prior sentence, the Administrator, as it determines to be reasonable and 

appropriate, may undertake correction of Plan document, operational, demographic and Employer eligibility failures under a method 

described in the Plan or under the IRS Employee Plans Compliance Resolution System ("EPCRS") or any successor program to EPCRS. 

Furthermore, the Employer may make corrective contributions pursuant to this Section regardless of whether the Plan otherwise permits 

such contribution source. In addition, the Plan is authorized to recover benefits from Participants or Beneficiaries that have been 

improperly distributed. 

 

9.16 NONTRUSTEED PLANS 

 

If the Plan is funded solely with Contracts, then notwithstanding Sections 9.7 and 9.12, no Contract will be purchased under the 

Plan unless such Contract or a separate definite written agreement between the Employer and the Insurer provides that no value under 

Contracts providing benefits under the Plan or credits determined by the Insurer (on account of dividends, earnings, or other experience 

rating credits, or surrender or cancellation credits) with respect to such Contracts may be paid or returned to the Employer or diverted to or 

used for other than the exclusive benefit of the Participants or their Beneficiaries. However, any contribution made by the Employer 

because of a mistake of fact must be returned to the Employer within one year of the contribution. 

 

If this Plan is funded by individual Contracts that provide a Participant's benefit under the Plan, such individual Contracts shall 

constitute the Participant's Account balance. If this Plan is funded by group Contracts, under the group annuity or group insurance Contract, 

premiums or other consideration received by the Insurer must be allocated to Participants' Accounts under the Plan. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

44 

ARTICLE X 

PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS 

 

10.1 ELECTION TO BECOME A PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER 

 

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, with the consent of the Employer and Trustee (or Insurer), any Employer may 

adopt the Employer's Plan and all of the provisions hereof, and participate herein and be known as a Participating Employer, by a properly 

executed document evidencing said intent and will of such Participating Employer (a participation agreement). In the event a Participating 

Employer is not an Affiliated Employer, then the provisions of Article XII shall apply rather than the provision of this Article XI. 

 

10.2 REQUIREMENTS OF PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS 

 

(a) Permissible variations of participation agreement. The participation agreement must identify the Participating Employer 

and the covered Employees and provide for the Participating Employer's signature. In addition, in the participation agreement, the 

Employer shall specify which elections, if any, the Participating Employer can modify, and any restrictions on the modifications. 

Any such modification shall apply only to the Employees of that Participating Employer. The Participating Employer shall make 

any such modification by selecting the appropriate option on its participation agreement to the Employer's Adoption Agreement. To 

the extent that the participation agreement does not permit modification of an election, any attempt by a Participating Employer to 

modify the election shall have no effect on the Plan and the Participating Employer is bound by the Plan terms as selected by the 

Employer. If a Participating Employer does not make any permissible participation agreement election modifications, then with 

regard to any election, the Participating Employer is bound by the Adoption Agreement terms as completed by the "lead Employer." 

 

(b) Holding and investing assets. The Trustee (or Insurer) may, but shall not be required to, commingle, hold and invest as one 

Trust Fund all contributions made by Participating Employers, as well as all increments thereof. However, the assets of the Plan 

shall, on an ongoing basis, be available to pay benefits to all Participants and Beneficiaries under the Plan without regard to the 

Employer or Participating Employer who contributed such assets. 

 

(c) Payment of expenses. Unless the Employer otherwise directs, any expenses of the Plan which are to be paid by the Employer 

or borne by the Trust Fund shall be paid by each Participating Employer in the same proportion that the total amount standing to the 

credit of all Participants employed by such Employer bears to the total standing to the credit of all Participants. 

 

10.3 DESIGNATION OF AGENT 

 

Each Participating Employer shall be deemed to be a part of this Plan; provided, however, that with respect to all of its relations 

with the Trustee (or Insurer) and Administrator for purposes of this Plan, each Participating Employer shall be deemed to have designated 

irrevocably the Employer as its agent. Unless the context of the Plan clearly indicates otherwise, the word "Employer" shall be deemed to 

include each Participating Employer as related to its adoption of the Plan. 

 

10.4 EMPLOYEE TRANSFERS 

 

In the event an Employee is transferred between Participating Employers, accumulated service and eligibility shall be carried with 

the Employee involved. No such transfer shall effect a severance of employment hereunder, and the Participating Employer to which the 

Employee is transferred shall thereupon become obligated hereunder with respect to such Employee in the same manner as was the 

Participating Employer from whom the Employee was transferred. 

 

10.5 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER'S CONTRIBUTION AND FORFEITURES 

 

Any contribution and/or Forfeiture subject to allocation during each Plan Year shall be determined and allocated separately by each 

Participating Employer, and shall be allocated only among the Participants eligible to share in the contribution and Forfeiture allocation of 

the Employer or Participating Employer making the contribution or by which the forfeiting Participant was employed. 

 

On the basis of the information furnished by the Administrator, the Trustee (or Insurer) shall keep separate books and records 

concerning the affairs of each Participating Employer hereunder and as to the accounts and credits of the Employees of each Participating 

Employer. The Trustee (or Insurer) may, but need not, register Contracts so as to evidence that a particular Participating Employer is the 

interested Employer hereunder, but in the event of an Employee transfer from one Participating Employer to another, the employing 

Employer shall immediately notify the Trustee (or Insurer) thereof. 

 

10.6 AMENDMENT 

 

Any Participating Employer hereby authorizes the Employer to make amendments on its behalf, unless otherwise agreed among all 

affected parties. If a Participating Employer is not an Affiliated Employer, then amendment of this Plan by the Employer at any time when 

there shall be a Participating Employer shall, unless otherwise agreed to by the affected parties, only be by the written action of each and 

every Participating Employer and with the consent of the Trustee (or Insurer) where such consent is necessary in accordance with the terms 

of this Plan. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

45 

10.7 DISCONTINUANCE OF PARTICIPATION 

 

Any Participating Employer that is an Affiliated Employer shall be permitted to discontinue or revoke its participation in the Plan at 

any time. At the time of any such discontinuance or revocation, satisfactory evidence thereof and of any applicable conditions imposed 

shall be delivered to the Trustee (or Insurer). The Trustee (or Insurer) shall thereafter transfer, deliver and assign Contracts and other Trust 

Fund assets allocable to the Participants of such Participating Employer to such new trustee (or insurer) or custodian as shall have been 

designated by such Participating Employer, in the event that it has established a separate qualified retirement plan for its employees. If no 

successor is designated, the Trustee (or Insurer) shall retain such assets for the Employees of said Participating Employer pursuant to the 

provisions of Article VII hereof. In no such event shall any part of the corpus or income of the Trust Fund as it relates to such Participating 

Employer be used for or diverted to purposes other than for the exclusive benefit of the Employees of such Participating Employer. 

 

10.8 ADMINISTRATOR'S AUTHORITY 

 

The Administrator shall have authority to make any and all necessary rules or regulations, binding upon all Participating Employers 

and all Participants, to effectuate the purpose of this Article. 

 

ARTICLE XI 

MULTIPLE EMPLOYER PROVISIONS 

 

11.1 ELECTION AND OVERRIDING EFFECT 

 

If a Participating Employer that is not an Affiliated Employer adopts this Plan, then the provisions of this Article XI shall apply to 

each Participating Employer as of the Effective Date specified in its participation agreement and supersede any contrary provisions in the 

basic Plan document or the Adoption Agreement. If this Article XI applies, then the Plan shall be a multiple employer plan as described in 

Code §413(c). In this case, the Employer and each Participating Employer acknowledge that the Plan is a multiple employer plan subject to 

the rules of Code §413(c) and the Regulations thereunder, which are hereby incorporated by reference, and specific annual reporting 

requirements. 

 

11.2 DEFINITIONS 

 

The following definitions shall apply to this Article XI and shall supersede any conflicting definitions in the Plan: 

 

(a) Employee. "Employee" means any common law employee, Leased Employee or other person the Code treats as an employee 

of a Participating Employer for purposes of the Participating Employer's qualified plan. Either the Adoption Agreement or a 

participation agreement to the Adoption Agreement may designate any Employee, or class of Employees, as not eligible to 

participate in the Plan. 

 

(b) Lead Employer. "Lead Employer" means the signatory Employer to the Adoption Agreement execution page, and does not 

include any Affiliated Employer or Participating Employer. The "lead Employer" has the same meaning as the Employer for 

purposes of making Plan amendments and other purposes regardless of whether the "lead Employer" is also a Participating 

Employer under this Article XI. 

 

11.3 PARTICIPATING EMPLOYER ELECTIONS 

 

The participation agreement must identify the Participating Employer and the covered Employees and provide for the Participating 

Employer's signature. In addition, in the participation agreement, the "lead Employer" shall specify which elections, if any, the 

Participating Employer can modify, and any restrictions on the modifications. Any such modification shall apply only to the employees of 

that Participating Employer. The Participating Employer shall make any such modification by selecting the appropriate option on its 

participation agreement to the "lead Employer's" Adoption Agreement. To the extent that the Adoption Agreement does not permit 

modification of an election, any attempt by a Participating Employer to modify the election shall have no effect on the Plan and the 

Participating Employer is bound by the Plan terms as selected by the "lead Employer." If a Participating Employer does not make any 

permissible participation agreement election modifications, then with regard to any election, the Participating Employer is bound by the 

Adoption Agreement terms as completed by the "lead Employer."  

 

11.4 TESTING 
 

The Administrator shall apply the Code §415 limitation in Section 4.4 for the Plan as a whole.  

 

11.5 COMPENSATION 

 

(a) Separate determination. A Participant's Compensation shall be determined separately for each Participating Employer for 

purposes of allocations under Article IV. 

 

(b) Joint status. For all Plan purposes, including but not limited to determining the Code §415 limits in Section 4.4, 

Compensation includes all Compensation paid by or for any Participating Employer. 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

46 

 

11.6 SERVICE 

 

An Employee's service includes all Hours of Service and Years of Service with any and all Participating Employers. An Employee 

who terminates employment with one Participating Employer and immediately commences employment with another Participating 

Employer has not separated from service or had a severance from employment. 

 

11.7 COOPERATION AND INDEMNIFICATION 

 

(a) Cooperation. Each Participating Employer agrees to timely provide all information the Administrator deems necessary to 

insure the Plan is operated in accordance with the requirements of the Code and will cooperate fully with the "lead Employer," the 

Plan, the Plan fiduciaries and other proper representatives in maintaining the qualified status of the Plan. Such cooperation will 

include payment of such amounts into the Plan, to be allocated to employees of the Participating Employer, which are reasonably 

required to maintain the tax-qualified status of the Plan. 

 

(b) Indemnity. Each Participating Employer will indemnify and hold harmless the Administrator, the "lead Employer" and its 

subsidiaries; officers, directors, shareholders, employees, and agents of the "lead Employer"; the Plan; the Trustees, Participants and 

Beneficiaries of the Plan, as well as their respective successors and assigns, against any cause of action, loss, liability, damage, cost, 

or expense of any nature whatsoever (including, but not limited to, attorney's fees and costs, whether or not suit is brought, as well 

as IRS plan disqualifications, other sanctions or compliance fees and penalties) arising out of or relating to the Participating 

Employer's noncompliance with any of the Plan's terms or requirements; any intentional or negligent act or omission the 

Participating Employer commits with regard to the Plan; and any omission or provision of incorrect information with regard to the 

Plan which causes the Plan to fail to satisfy the requirements of a tax-qualified plan.  

 

11.8 INVOLUNTARY TERMINATION 

 

Unless the "lead Employer" provides otherwise in an addendum hereto, the "lead Employer" shall have the power to terminate the 

participation of any Participating Employer (hereafter "Terminated Employer") in this Plan. If and when the "lead Employer" wishes to 

exercise this power, the following shall occur: 

 

(a) Notice. The "lead Employer" shall give the "Terminated Employer" a notice of the "lead Employer's" intent to terminate the 

"Terminated Employer's" status as a Participating Employer of the Plan. The "lead Employer" will provide such notice not less than 

thirty (30) days prior to the date of termination unless the "lead Employer" determines that the interest of Plan Participants requires 

earlier termination. 

 

(b) Spin-off. The "lead Employer" shall establish a new defined contribution plan, using the provisions of this Plan with any 

modifications contained in the "Terminated Employer's" participation agreement, as a guide to establish a new defined contribution 

plan (the "spin-off plan"). The "lead Employer" will direct the Trustee to transfer (in accordance with the rules of Code §414(l) and 

the provisions of Section 8.3) the Accounts of the Employees of the "Terminated Employer" to the "spin-off plan." The "Terminated 

Employer" shall be the Employer, Administrator, and sponsor of the "spin-off plan." The Trustee of the "spin-off plan" shall be the 

person or entity designated by the "Terminated Employer." However, the "lead Employer" shall have the option to designate an 

appropriate financial institution as Trustee instead if necessary to protect the interest of the Participants. The "lead Employer" shall 

have the authority to charge the "Terminated Employer" or the Accounts of the Employees of the "Terminated Employer" a 

reasonable fee to pay the expenses of establishing the "spin-off plan." 

 

(c) Alternatives. The "Terminated Employer," in lieu of creation of the "spin-off plan" under (b) above, has the option to elect a 

transfer alternative in accordance with this Subsection (c).  

 

(1)  Election. To exercise the option described in this Subsection, the "Terminated Employer" must inform the "lead 

Employer" of its choice, and must supply any reasonably required documentation as soon as practical. If the "lead Employer" 

has not received notice of a "Terminated Employer's" exercise of this option within ten (10) days prior to the stated date of 

termination, the "lead Employer" can choose to disregard the exercise and proceed with the Spin-off.  

 

(2) Transfer. If the "Terminated Employer" selects this option, the Administrator shall transfer (in accordance with the rules 

of Code §414(l) and the provisions of Section 8.3) the Accounts of the Employees of the "Terminated Employer" to a qualified 

plan the "Terminated Employer" maintains. To exercise this option, the "Terminated Employer" must deliver to the "lead 

Employer" or Administrator in writing the name and other relevant information of the transferee plan and must provide such 

assurances that the Administrator shall reasonably require to demonstrate that the transferee plan is a qualified plan. 

 



Governmental Defined Contribution Volume Submitter Plan 

 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers  

47 

(d) Participants. The Employees of the "Terminated Employer" shall cease to be eligible to accrue additional benefits under the 

Plan with respect to Compensation paid by the "Terminated Employer," effective as of the date of termination. To the extent that 

these Employees have accrued but unpaid contributions as of the date of termination, the "Terminated Employer" shall pay such 

amounts to the Plan or the "spin-off plan" no later than thirty (30) days after the date of termination, unless the "Terminated 

Employer" effectively selects the Transfer option under Subsection (c)(2) above. 

 

(e) Consent. By its signature on the participation agreement, the "Terminated Employer" specifically consents to the provisions of 

this Article and agrees to perform its responsibilities with regard to the "spin-off plan," if necessary. 

 

11.9 VOLUNTARY TERMINATION 

 

A Participating Employer (hereafter "withdrawing employer") may voluntarily withdraw from participation in this  

Plan at any time. If and when a "withdrawing employer" wishes to withdraw, the following shall occur: 

 

(a) Notice. The "withdrawing employer" shall inform the "lead Employer" and the Administrator of its intention to withdraw from 

the Plan. The "withdrawing employer" must give the notice not less than thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of its 

withdrawal. 

 

(b) Procedure. The "withdrawing employer" and the "lead Employer" shall agree upon procedures for the orderly withdrawal of 

the "withdrawing employer" from the plan. Such procedures may include any of the optional spin-off or transfer options described 

in Section 11.8. 

 

(c) Costs. The "withdrawing employer" shall bear all reasonable costs associated with withdrawal and transfer under this Section. 

 

(d) Participants. The Employees of the "withdrawing employer" shall cease to be eligible to accrue additional benefits under the 

Plan as to Compensation paid by the "withdrawing employer," effective as of the effective date of withdrawal. To the extent that 

such Employees have accrued but unpaid contributions as of the effective date of withdrawal, the "withdrawing employer" shall 

contribute such amounts to the Plan or the "spin-off plan" promptly after the effective date of withdrawal, unless the accounts are 

transferred to a qualified plan the "withdrawing employer" maintains. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT, MID-MANAGEMENT 
AND CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 
SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS 

 
 



 

i 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

INTRODUCTION TO YOUR PLAN 

What kind of Plan is this? ................................................................................................................................................................................. 1 

What information does this Summary provide? ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

ARTICLE I 
PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN 

How do I participate in the Plan? ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

What happens if I'm a participant, terminate employment and then I'm rehired? ............................................................................................. 1 

ARTICLE II 
EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

What is the Employer matching contribution and how is it allocated? ............................................................................................................. 2 

What are forfeitures and how are they allocated? ............................................................................................................................................. 2 

ARTICLE III 
COMPENSATION AND ACCOUNT BALANCE 

What compensation is used to determine my Plan benefits? ............................................................................................................................ 2 

Is there a limit on the amount of compensation which can be considered? ....................................................................................................... 2 

Is there a limit on how much can be contributed to my account each year? ..................................................................................................... 3 

How is the money in the Plan invested? ........................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Will Plan expenses be deducted from my account balance? ............................................................................................................................. 3 

ARTICLE IV 
VESTING 

What is my vested interest in my account? ....................................................................................................................................................... 3 

How is my service determined for vesting purposes? ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

What service is counted for vesting purposes? ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

When will the non-vested portion of my account balance be forfeited? ........................................................................................................... 4 

ARTICLE V 
BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 

When can I get money out of the Plan? ............................................................................................................................................................ 4 

What happens if I terminate employment before death, disability or retirement? ............................................................................................. 5 

What happens if I terminate employment at Normal Retirement Date? ........................................................................................................... 5 

What happens if I terminate employment due to disability? ............................................................................................................................. 5 

How will my benefits be paid to me? ............................................................................................................................................................... 5 

ARTICLE VI 
BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UPON DEATH 

What happens if I die while working for the Employer? .................................................................................................................................. 6 

Who is the beneficiary of my death benefit? .................................................................................................................................................... 6 

How will the death benefit be paid to my beneficiary? ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

When must the last payment be made to my beneficiary? ................................................................................................................................ 6 

What happens if I'm a participant, terminate employment and die before receiving all my benefits? .............................................................. 6 



 

ii 

ARTICLE VII 
TAX TREATMENT OF DISTRIBUTIONS 

What are my tax consequences when I receive a distribution from the Plan? ................................................................................................... 7 

Can I elect a rollover to reduce or defer tax on my distribution? ...................................................................................................................... 7 

ARTICLE VIII 
PROTECTED BENEFITS AND CLAIMS PROCEDURES 

Are my benefits protected? ............................................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Are there any exceptions to the general rule? ................................................................................................................................................... 7 

Can the Plan be amended? ................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

What happens if the Plan is discontinued or terminated?.................................................................................................................................. 8 

How do I submit a claim for Plan benefits? ...................................................................................................................................................... 8 

What if my benefits are denied? ....................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

ARTICLE IX 
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE PLAN 

Plan Name ........................................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Plan Effective Dates ......................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Other Plan Information ..................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Employer Information ...................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

Administrator Information ................................................................................................................................................................................ 8 

Plan  Information and Plan Funding Medium ................................................................................................................................................... 9 

 



 
 

 
 1  

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT, MID-MANAGEMENT 
AND CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 
SUMMARY OF PLAN PROVISIONS 

 
INTRODUCTION TO YOUR PLAN 

 
What kind of Plan is this? 
 
Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees ("Plan") has 
been adopted to provide you with the opportunity to save for retirement on a tax-advantaged basis. This Plan is a type of qualified 
retirement plan. Generally you are not taxed on the amounts we contribute to the Plan until you withdraw these amounts from the Plan. 
 
What information does this Summary provide? 
 
This Summary of Plan Provisions contains information regarding your Plan benefits, your distribution options, and many other features of 
the Plan. You should take the time to read this summary to get a better understanding of your rights and obligations under the Plan. 
 
If you have any questions about the Plan, please contact the Administrator or other plan representative. The Administrator is responsible for 
responding to questions and making determinations related to the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan. The name and 
address of the Administrator can be found at the end of this summary in the Article entitled "General Information About the Plan." 
 
This summary describes the Plan's benefits and obligations as contained in the legal Plan document, which governs the operation of the 
Plan. The Plan document is written in much more technical and precise language and is designed to comply with applicable legal 
requirements. If the non-technical language in this summary conflicts with the language of the Plan document, then the Plan document 
always governs. 
 
The Plan and your rights under the Plan are subject to various laws, including the Internal Revenue Code. The provisions of the Plan are 
subject to revision due to a change in laws. Your Employer may also amend or terminate this Plan. 
 
Types of Contributions. The Plan includes provisions for the following types of contributions: 
 

 Employer matching contributions 
 

ARTICLE I 
PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN 

 
How do I participate in the Plan? 
 
Provided you are not an Excluded Employee, you may begin participating under the Plan once you have satisfied the eligibility 
requirements and reached your "Entry Date." The following describes the eligibility requirements and Entry Dates that apply. You should 
contact the Administrator if you have questions about the timing of your Plan participation. 
 

Excluded Employees. If you are a member of a class of employees identified below, you are an Excluded Employee and you are not 
entitled to participate in the Plan. The Excluded Employees are: 

 
 excluding anyone that is not classified as Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees. 

 
Eligibility Conditions. You will be eligible to participate in the Plan when you have satisfied the following eligibility condition(s). 
However, you will actually become a Participant in the Plan once you reach the Entry Date as described below. 

 
 attainment of age 18. 

 
Entry Date. Your Entry Date will be first day of the first full bi-weekly payroll period following date of employment.. 

 
What happens if I'm a participant, terminate employment and then I'm rehired? 
 
If you are no longer a participant because you terminated employment, and you are rehired, then you will be able to participate in the Plan 
on your date of rehire provided you are otherwise eligible to participate in the Plan. 
 

ARTICLE II 
EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS 

 
This Article describes Employer contributions that will be made to the Plan. 
 



 
 

 
 2  

What is the Employer matching contribution and how is it allocated? 
 
Matching Contribution. Matching contributions are Employer contributions that are based on contributions you make to County of Kern 
California Deferred Compensation Plan. All of these contributions that you make are collectively referred to as “salary deferrals” for 
purposes of the applying the matching contribution described below. 
 
Matching Contribution. Your Employer will make a matching contribution in an amount equal to a percentage of your salary deferrals, 
the specified matching percentage for the corresponding level of your salary deferrals as shown in the following table. 
 
 Salary Deferral Tier  Matching Percentage 
 
 First 6%  100% 
 Next 6%  50% 
 
Period of determining matching contribution. The matching contribution above is applied on a payroll period basis. This means that the 
matching contribution is applied to your salary deferrals for that period. 
 
Limit on matching contribution. Regardless of the preceding, your matching contribution in any Plan Year will not exceed 9% of your 
compensation. 
 
Allocation conditions. You will always share in the matching contribution regardless of the amount of service you complete during the 
Plan Year. 
 
What are forfeitures and how are they allocated? 
 
Definition of forfeitures. In order to reward employees who remain employed with the Employer for a long period of time, the law permits 
a "vesting schedule" to be applied to certain contributions that your Employer makes to the Plan. This means that you will not be "vested" 
in (entitled to) all of the contributions until you have been employed with the Employer for a specified period of time (see the Article 
entitled "Vesting"). If a participant terminates employment before being fully vested, then the non-vested portion of the terminated 
participant's account balance remains in the Plan and is called a forfeiture. 
 
Allocation of forfeitures. Forfeitures will be allocated as follows: 
 

 Forfeitures may first be used to pay any administrative expenses. 
 

 Any remaining forfeitures attributable to amounts other than Employer matching contributions will be added to any Employer 
matching contribution and allocated as an additional matching contribution. 

 
 Any remaining forfeitures attributable to matching contributions will be used to reduce any Employer matching contribution. 

 
ARTICLE III 

COMPENSATION AND ACCOUNT BALANCE 
 
What compensation is used to determine my Plan benefits? 
 
Definition of compensation. For the purposes of the Plan, compensation has a special meaning. Compensation is generally defined as your 
total compensation that is subject to income tax and paid to you by your Employer during the calendar year ending within the Plan Year. 
 
Adjustments to compensation. The following adjustments to compensation will be made: 
 

 reimbursements or other expense allowances, fringe benefits, moving expenses, deferred compensation, and welfare benefits will 
be excluded. 

 
 compensation paid while not a participant in the Plan will be excluded. 

 
 overtime will be excluded. 

 
 compensation paid after you terminate employment will be excluded. 

 
Is there a limit on the amount of compensation which can be considered? 
 
The Plan, by law, cannot recognize annual compensation in excess of a certain dollar limit. The limit for the Plan Year beginning in 2018 is 
$275,000. After 2018, the dollar limit may increase for cost-of-living adjustments. 
 



 
 

 
 3  

Is there a limit on how much can be contributed to my account each year? 
 
Generally, the law imposes a maximum limit on the amount of contributions that may be made to your account and any other amounts 
allocated to any of your accounts during the Plan Year, excluding earnings. Beginning in 2018, this total cannot exceed the lesser of 
$55,000 or 100% of your annual compensation. After 2018, the dollar limit may increase for cost-of-living adjustments. 
 
How is the money in the Plan invested? 
 
Participant directed investments. You will be able to direct the investment of your entire interest in the Plan. The Administrator will 
provide you with information on the investment choices available to you, the procedures for making investment elections, the frequency 
with which you can change your investment choices and other important information. You need to follow the procedures for making 
investment elections and you should carefully review the information provided to you before you give investment directions. If you do not 
direct the investment of your applicable Plan accounts, then your accounts will be invested in accordance with the default investment 
alternatives established under the Plan. 
 
Earnings or losses. When you direct investments, your accounts are segregated for purposes of determining the earnings or losses on these 
investments. Your account does not share in the investment performance of other participants who have directed their own investments. 
You should remember that the amount of your benefits under the Plan will depend in part upon your choice of investments. Gains as well 
as losses can occur and your Employer, the Administrator, and the Trustee will not provide investment advice or guarantee the performance 
of any investment you choose. 
 
Will Plan expenses be deducted from my account balance? 
 
Expenses allocated to all accounts. The Plan permits the payment of Plan expenses to be made from the Plan's assets. The method of 
allocating the expenses depends on the nature of the expense itself. For example, certain administrative (or recordkeeping) expenses would 
typically be allocated proportionately to each participant. If the Plan pays $1,000 in expenses and there are 100 participants, your account 
balance would be charged $10 ($1,000/100) of the expense. 
 
Terminated employee. After you terminate employment, your Employer reserves the right to charge your account for your pro rata share 
of the Plan's administration expenses, regardless of whether your Employer pays some of these expenses on behalf of current employees. 
 
Expenses allocated to individual accounts. There are certain other expenses that may be paid just from your account. These are expenses 
that are specifically incurred by, or attributable to, you. For example, if you are married and get divorced, the Plan may incur additional 
expenses if a court mandates that a portion of your account be paid to your ex-spouse. These additional expenses may be paid directly from 
your account (and not the accounts of other participants) because they are directly attributable to you under the Plan. The Administrator can 
inform you when there will be a charge (or charges) directly to your account. 
 
Your Employer may, from time to time, change the manner in which expenses are allocated. 
 

ARTICLE IV 
VESTING 

 
What is my vested interest in my account? 
 
In order to reward employees who remain employed with the Employer for a long period of time, the law permits a "vesting schedule" to be 
applied to certain contributions that your Employer makes to the Plan. This means that you will not be entitled ("vested") in all of the 
contributions until you have been employed with the Employer for a specified period of time. 
 
Vesting schedules. Your "vested percentage" for certain Employer contributions is based on vesting Years of Service. This means at the 
time you stop working, your account balance attributable to contributions subject to a vesting schedule is multiplied by your vested 
percentage. The result, when added to the amounts that are always 100% vested as shown above, is your vested interest in the Plan, which 
is what you will actually receive from the Plan. 
 



 
 

 
 4  

Matching Contributions 
 

Your "vested percentage" in your account attributable to matching contributions is determined under the following schedule. You will 
always, however, be 100% vested in your matching contributions if you are employed on or after your Normal Retirement Age or if 
you die or become disabled. 

 
 Vesting Schedule 
 Matching Contributions 

 Years of Service Percentage 
 

 1 20% 
 2 40% 
 3 60% 
 4 80% 
 5 100% 

 
How is my service determined for vesting purposes? 
 
Year of Service. To earn a Year of Service, you must be credited with at least 1,000 Hours of Service during a Plan Year. The Plan 
contains specific rules for crediting Hours of Service for vesting purposes. The Administrator will track your service and will credit you 
with a Year of Service for each Plan Year in which you are credited with the required Hours of Service, in accordance with the terms of the 
Plan. If you have any questions regarding your vesting service, you should contact the Administrator. 
 
Hour of Service. You will be credited with your actual Hours of Service for:  
 

(a) each hour for which you are directly or indirectly compensated by the Employer for the performance of duties during the Plan 
Year; 

 
(b) each hour for which you are directly or indirectly compensated by the Employer for reasons other than the performance of duties 
(such as vacation, holidays, sickness, disability, lay-off, military duty, jury duty or leave of absence during the Plan Year); and 

 
(c) each hour for back pay awarded or agreed to by the Employer. 

 
You will not be credited for the same Hours of Service both under (a) or (b), as the case may be, and under (c). 

 
What service is counted for vesting purposes? 
 
Service with the Employer. In calculating your vested percentage, all service you perform for the Employer will generally be counted. 
 
Service with another Employer. For vesting purposes, your Years of Service with Cantu Management, Inc. and Other Designated 
Contractors per discretion of the Hospital Authority will be counted. 
 
Military Service. If you are a veteran and are reemployed under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 
1994, your qualified military service may be considered service with the Employer. If you may be affected by this law, ask the 
Administrator for further details. 
 
When will the non-vested portion of my account balance be forfeited? 
 
If you are partially vested in your account balance when you leave, the non-vested portion of your account balance will be forfeited on the 
earlier of the date:  
 

(a) of the distribution of your vested account balance, or 
 
(b) when you incur five consecutive 1-year Breaks in Service. 

 
ARTICLE V 

BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UPON TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT 
 
When can I get money out of the Plan? 
 
You may receive a distribution of the vested portion of some or all of your accounts in the Plan for the following reasons: 
 

 termination of employment for reasons other than death, disability or retirement 
 

 normal retirement 
 



 
 

 
 5  

 disability 
 

 death 
 
This Plan is designed to provide you with retirement benefits. However, distributions are permitted if you die or become disabled. In 
addition, certain payments are permitted when you terminate employment for any other reason. The rules under which you can receive a 
distribution are described in this Article. The rules regarding the payment of death benefits to your beneficiary are described in "Benefits 
and Distributions Upon Death." 
 
Military Service. If you are a veteran and are reemployed under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 
1994, your qualified military service may be considered service with the Employer. There may also be benefits for employees who die or 
become disabled while on active duty. Employees who receive wage continuation payments while in the military may benefit from various 
changes in the law. If you think you may be affected by these rules, ask the Administrator for further details. 
 
Distributions for deemed severance of employment. If you are on active duty for more than 30 days, then the Plan generally treats you as 
having severed employment for distribution purposes. This means that you may request a distribution from the Plan. 
 
What happens if I terminate employment before death, disability or retirement? 
 
If your employment terminates for reasons other than death, disability or normal retirement, you will be entitled to receive only the "vested 
percentage" of your account balance. 
 
You may elect to have your vested account balance distributed to you as soon as administratively feasible following your termination of 
employment. However, if the value of your vested account balance does not exceed $5,000, then a distribution will be made to you 
regardless of whether you consent to receive it. (See the question entitled "How will my benefits be paid to me?" for additional 
information.) 
 
What happens if I terminate employment at Normal Retirement Date? 
 
Normal Retirement Date. You will attain your Normal Retirement Age when you reach age 65. Your Normal Retirement Date is the date 
on which you attain your Normal Retirement Age. 
 
Payment of benefits. You will become 100% vested in all of your accounts under the Plan if you retire on or after your Normal Retirement 
Age. However, the actual payment of benefits generally will not begin until you have terminated employment and reached your Normal 
Retirement Date. In such event, a distribution will be made, at your election, as soon as administratively feasible. If you remain employed 
past your Normal Retirement Date, you may generally defer the receipt of benefits until you actually terminate employment. (See the 
question entitled "How will my benefits be paid to me?" for an explanation of how these benefits will be paid.) 
 
What happens if I terminate employment due to disability? 
 
Definition of disability. Under the Plan, disability is defined as a physical or mental condition resulting from bodily injury, disease, or 
mental disorder which renders you incapable of continuing any gainful occupation and which has lasted or can be expected to last for a 
continuous period of at least twelve (12) months. Your disability must be determined by a licensed physician. However, if your condition 
constitutes total disability under the federal Social Security Act, then the Administrator may deem that you are disabled for purposes of the 
Plan. 
 
Payment of benefits. If you become disabled while an employee, you will become 100% vested in all of your accounts under the Plan. 
Payment of your disability benefits will be made to you as if you had retired. However, if the value of your account balance does not 
exceed $5,000, then a distribution of your account balance will be made to you, regardless of whether you consent to receive it. (See the 
question entitled "How will my benefits be paid to me?" for an explanation of how these benefits will be paid.) 
 
How will my benefits be paid to me? 
 
Forms of distribution. If your vested account balance does not exceed $5,000, then your vested account balance may only be distributed 
to you in a single lump-sum payment. 
 
In addition, if your vested account balance exceeds $5,000, you must consent to any distribution before it may be made. If your vested 
account balance exceeds $5,000, you may elect to receive a distribution of your vested account balance in: 
 

 a single lump-sum payment 
 

 installments over a period of not more than your assumed life expectancy (or the assumed life expectancies of you and your 
beneficiary) 

 
 partial withdrawals 

 



 
 

 
 6  

Delaying distributions. You may delay the distribution of your vested account balance unless a distribution is required to be made, as 
explained earlier, because your vested account balance does not exceed $5,000. However, if you elect to delay the distribution of your 
vested account balance, there are rules that require that certain minimum distributions be made from the Plan. Distributions are required to 
begin not later than the April 1st following the later of the end of the year in which you reach age 70 1/2 or retire. 
 
Medium of payment. Benefits under the Plan will generally be paid to you in cash only. 
 

ARTICLE VI 
BENEFITS AND DISTRIBUTIONS UPON DEATH 

 
What happens if I die while working for the Employer? 
 
If you die while still employed by the Employer, then your vested account balance will be used to provide your beneficiary with a death 
benefit. 
 
Who is the beneficiary of my death benefit? 
 
Beneficiary designation. You may designate a beneficiary for your death benefit. The designation must be made in accordance with the 
procedures set forth by the Administrator. You should periodically review your designation to ensure it continues to meet your goals. 
 
Divorce. If you have designated your spouse as your beneficiary for all or a part of your death benefit, then upon your divorce, the 
designation is no longer valid. This means that if you do not select a new beneficiary after your divorce, then you are treated as not having 
a beneficiary for that portion of the death benefit (unless you have remarried). 
 
No beneficiary designation. At the time of your death, if you have not designated a beneficiary or your beneficiary is also not alive, the 
death benefit will be paid in the following order of priority to:  
 

(a) your surviving spouse 
 
(b) your children, including adopted children in equal shares (and if a child is not living, that child's share will be distributed to that 
child's heirs) 
 
(c) your surviving parents, in equal shares 
 
(d) your estate 

 
How will the death benefit be paid to my beneficiary? 
 
Form of distribution. If the death benefit payable to a beneficiary does not exceed $5,000, then the benefit may only be paid as a 
lump-sum. If the death benefit exceeds $5,000, your beneficiary may elect to have the death benefit in the same forms of payments that 
were available to you. 
 
When must the last payment be made to my beneficiary? 
 
The law generally restricts the ability of a retirement plan to be used as a method of retaining money for purposes of your death estate. 
Thus, there are rules that are designed to ensure that death benefits are distributable to beneficiaries within certain time periods. 
 
Regardless of the method of distribution selected, if your designated beneficiary is a person (rather than your estate or some trusts) then 
minimum distributions of your death benefit will begin by the end of the year following the year of your death ("1-year rule") and must be 
paid over a period not extending beyond your beneficiary's life expectancy. If your spouse is the beneficiary, then under the "1-year rule," 
the start of payments will be delayed until the year in which you would have attained age 70 1/2 unless your spouse elects to begin 
distributions over his or her life expectancy before then. However, instead of the "1-year rule" your beneficiary may elect to have the entire 
death benefit paid by the end of the fifth year following the year of your death (the "5-year rule"). Generally, if your beneficiary is not a 
person, your entire death benefit must be paid under the "5-year rule." 
 
What happens if I'm a participant, terminate employment and die before receiving all my benefits? 
 
If you terminate employment with the Employer and subsequently die, your beneficiary will be entitled to your remaining interest in the 
Plan at the time of your death. The provision in the Plan providing for full vesting of your benefit upon death does not apply if you die after 
terminating employment. 
 



 
 

 
 7  

ARTICLE VII 
TAX TREATMENT OF DISTRIBUTIONS 

 
What are my tax consequences when I receive a distribution from the Plan? 
 
Generally, you must include any Plan distribution in your taxable income in the year in which you receive the distribution. The tax 
treatment may also depend on your age when you receive the distribution. Certain distributions made to you when you are under age 59 1/2 
could be subject to an additional 10% tax. 
 
Can I elect a rollover to reduce or defer tax on my distribution? 
 
Rollover or Direct Transfer. You may reduce, or defer entirely, the tax due on your distribution through use of one of the following 
methods:  
 

(a) 60-day rollover. The rollover of all or a portion of the distribution to an Individual Retirement Account or Annuity (IRA) or 
another employer retirement plan willing to accept the rollover. This will result in no tax being due until you begin withdrawing funds 
from the IRA or other qualified employer plan. The rollover of the distribution, however, MUST be made within strict time frames 
(normally, within 60 days after you receive your distribution). Under certain circumstances, all or a portion of a distribution may not 
qualify for this rollover treatment. In addition, most distributions will be subject to mandatory federal income tax withholding at a rate 
of 20%. This will reduce the amount you actually receive. For this reason, if you wish to roll over all or a portion of your distribution 
amount, then the direct transfer option described in paragraph (b) below would be the better choice. 

 
(b) Direct rollover. For most distributions, you may request that a direct transfer (sometimes referred to as a direct rollover) of all or 
a portion of a distribution be made to either an Individual Retirement Account or Annuity (IRA) or another employer retirement plan 
willing to accept the transfer. A direct transfer will result in no tax being due until you withdraw funds from the IRA or other 
employer plan. Like the rollover, under certain circumstances all or a portion of the amount to be distributed may not qualify for this 
direct transfer. If you elect to actually receive the distribution rather than request a direct transfer, then in most cases 20% of the 
distribution amount will be withheld for federal income tax purposes. 

 
Automatic IRA Rollover. If a mandatory distribution is being made to you because your vested interest in the Plan exceeds $1,000 but 
does not exceed $5,000, then the Plan will rollover your distribution to an IRA if you do not make an affirmative election to either receive 
or roll over the distribution. The IRA provider selected by the Plan will invest the rollover funds in a type of investment designed to 
preserve principal and provide a reasonable rate of return and liquidity (e.g., an interest-bearing account, a certificate of deposit or a money 
market fund). The IRA provider will charge your account for any expenses associated with the establishment and maintenance of the IRA 
and with the IRA investments. You may transfer the IRA funds to any other IRA you choose. You will be provided with details regarding 
the IRA at the time you are entitled to a distribution. However, you may contact the Administrator at the address and telephone number 
indicated in this summary for further information regarding the Plan's automatic rollover provisions, the IRA provider, and the fees and 
expenses associated with the IRA. 
 
Tax Notice. WHENEVER YOU RECEIVE A DISTRIBUTION THAT IS AN ELIGIBLE ROLLOVER DISTRIBUTION, THE 
ADMINISTRATOR WILL DELIVER TO YOU A MORE DETAILED EXPLANATION OF THESE OPTIONS. HOWEVER, THE 
RULES WHICH DETERMINE WHETHER YOU QUALIFY FOR FAVORABLE TAX TREATMENT ARE VERY COMPLEX. YOU 
SHOULD CONSULT WITH QUALIFIED TAX COUNSEL BEFORE MAKING A CHOICE. 
 

ARTICLE VIII 
PROTECTED BENEFITS AND CLAIMS PROCEDURES 

 
Are my benefits protected? 
 
As a general rule, your interest in your account, including your "vested interest," may not be alienated. This means that your interest may 
not be sold, used as collateral for a loan, given away or otherwise transferred. In addition, your creditors (other than the IRS) may not 
attach, garnish or otherwise interfere with your benefits under the Plan. 
 
Are there any exceptions to the general rule? 
 
There are three exceptions to this general rule. The Administrator must honor a "qualified domestic relations order." A "qualified domestic 
relations order" is defined as a decree or order issued by a court that obligates you to pay child support or alimony, or otherwise allocates a 
portion of your assets in the Plan to your spouse, former spouse, children or other dependents. If a qualified domestic relations order is 
received by the Administrator, all or a portion of your benefits may be used to satisfy that obligation. The Administrator will determine the 
validity of any domestic relations order received. You and your beneficiaries can obtain from the Administrator, without charge, a copy of 
the procedure used by the Administrator to determine whether a qualified domestic relations order is valid. 
 
The second exception applies if you are involved with the Plan's operation. If you are found liable for any action that adversely affects the 
Plan, the Administrator can offset your benefits by the amount that you are ordered or required by a court to pay the Plan. All or a portion 
of your benefits may be used to satisfy any such obligation to the Plan. 
 



 
 

 
 8  

The last exception applies to Federal tax levies and judgments. The Federal government is able to use your interest in the Plan to enforce a 
Federal tax levy and to collect a judgment resulting from an unpaid tax assessment. 
 
Can the Plan be amended? 
 
Your Employer has the right to amend the Plan at any time. In no event, however, will any amendment authorize or permit any part of the 
Plan assets to be used for purposes other than the exclusive benefit of participants or their beneficiaries. Additionally, no amendment will 
cause any reduction in the amount credited to your account. 
 
What happens if the Plan is discontinued or terminated? 
 
Although your Employer intends to maintain the Plan indefinitely, your Employer reserves the right to terminate the Plan at any time. Upon 
termination, no further contributions will be made to the Plan and all amounts credited to your accounts will become 100% vested. Your 
Employer will direct the distribution of your accounts in a manner permitted by the Plan as soon as practicable. (See the question entitled 
"How will my benefits be paid to me?" for a further explanation.) You will be notified if the Plan is terminated. 
 
How do I submit a claim for Plan benefits? 
 
Benefits will generally be paid to you and your beneficiaries without the necessity for formal claims. Contact the Administrator if you are 
entitled to benefits or if you think an error has been made in determining your benefits. Any such request should be in writing. 
 
If the Administrator determines the claim is valid, then you will receive a statement describing the amount of benefit, the method or 
methods of payment, the timing of distributions and other information relevant to the payment of the benefit. 
 
What if my benefits are denied? 
 
Your request for Plan benefits will be considered a claim for Plan benefits, and it will be subject to a full and fair review. If your claim is 
wholly or partially denied, the Administrator will provide you with notification of the Plan's adverse determination. This written or 
electronic notification will be provided to you within a reasonable period of time. 
 

ARTICLE IX 
GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE PLAN 

 
There is certain general information which you may need to know about the Plan. This information has been summarized for you in this 
Article. 
 
Plan Name 
 
The full name of the Plan is Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-Management and 
Confidential Employees. 
 
Plan Effective Dates 
 
The provisions of the Plan become effective on November 14, 2018. 
 
Other Plan Information 
 
Valuations of the Plan assets are generally made every business day. Certain distributions are based on the Anniversary Date of the Plan. 
This date is the last day of the Plan Year. 
 
The Plan's records are maintained on a twelve-month period of time. This is known as the Plan Year. The Plan Year begins on January 1st 
and ends on December 31st. 
 
Employer Information 
 
Your Employer's name, address and identification number are: 
 

Kern County Hospital Authority 
1700 Mt. Vernon Avenue 
Bakersfield, California 93306 
47-5618278 

 
Administrator Information 
 
The Administrator is responsible for the day-to-day administration and operation of the Plan. For example, the Administrator maintains the 
Plan records, including your account information, provides you with the forms you need to complete for Plan participation, and directs the 



 
 

 
 9  

payment of your account at the appropriate time. The Administrator will also allow you to review the formal Plan document and certain 
other materials related to the Plan. If you have any questions about the Plan or your participation, you should contact the Administrator. 
The Administrator may designate other parties to perform some duties of the Administrator. 
 
The Administrator has the complete power, in its sole discretion, to determine all questions arising in connection with the administration, 
interpretation, and application of the Plan (and any related documents and underlying policies). Any such determination by the 
Administrator is conclusive and binding upon all persons. 
 
The name, address and business telephone number of the Plan's Administrator are: 
 

Kern County Hospital Authority 
1700 Mt. Vernon Avenue 
Bakersfield, California 93306 
(661) 862-7564 

 
Plan Information and Plan Funding Medium 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

1 

ADOPTION AGREEMENT FOR 

GOVERNMENTAL VOLUME SUBMITTER MONEY PURCHASE PLAN 

 

CAUTION: Failure to properly fill out this Adoption Agreement may result in disqualification of the Plan. 

 

EMPLOYER INFORMATION 

(An amendment to the Adoption Agreement is not needed solely to reflect a change in this Employer Information Section.) 

 

1. EMPLOYER'S NAME, ADDRESS, TELEPHONE NUMBER, TIN AND FISCAL YEAR 

Name:   Kern County Hospital Authority  

Address:   1700 Mt. Vernon Avenue  
Street 

  Bakersfield    California    93306  
 City State Zip 

Telephone:   (661) 862-7564  

Taxpayer Identification Number (TIN):   47-5618278  

Employer's Fiscal Year ends:   June 30th  

 

2. TYPE OF GOVERNMENTAL ENTITY. This Plan may only be adopted a state or local governmental entity, or agency thereof, 

including an Indian tribal government and may not be adopted by any other entity, including a federal government and any 

agency or instrumentality thereof. 

a. [   ] State government or state agency 

b. [X] County or county agency 

c. [   ] Municipality or municipal agency 

d. [   ] Indian tribal government (see Note below) 

e. [   ] Other:      

 

NOTE:  An Indian tribal government may only adopt this Plan if such entity is defined under Code §7701(a)(40), is a subdivision 

of an Indian tribal government as determined in accordance with Code §7871(d), or is an agency or instrumentality of either, and  

all of the Participants under this Plan employed by such entity substantially perform services as an Employee in essential 

governmental functions and not in the performance of commercial activities (whether or not an essential government function). 

 

3. PARTICIPATING EMPLOYERS (Plan Section 1.38). Will any other Employers adopt this Plan as Participating Employers? 

a. [X] No 

b. [   ] Yes 

 

PLAN INFORMATION 

(An amendment to the Adoption Agreement is not needed solely to reflect a change in the information in Questions 9. through 10.) 

 

4. PLAN NAME: 

 

  Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees  

 

5. PLAN STATUS 

a. [X] New Plan 

b. [   ] Amendment and restatement of existing Plan 

PPA RESTATEMENT (leave blank if not applicable) 

1. [   ] This is an amendment and restatement to bring a plan into compliance with the Pension Protection Act of 

2006 ("PPA") and other legislative and regulatory changes (i.e., the 6-year pre-approved plan restatement). 

 

6. EFFECTIVE DATE (Plan Section 1.16) (complete a. if new plan; complete a. AND b. if an amendment and restatement)  

Initial Effective Date of Plan 

a.   November 14, 2018    (enter month day, year) (hereinafter called the "Effective Date" unless 6.b. is 

entered below) 

 

Restatement Effective Date. If this is an amendment and restatement, the effective date of the restatement (hereinafter called the 

"Effective Date") is: 

b.                 (enter month day, year; may enter a restatement date that is the first day of the 

current Plan Year. Plan contains appropriate retroactive effective dates with respect to provisions for appropriate laws.) 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

2 

7. PLAN YEAR (Plan Section 1.42) means, except as otherwise provided in d. below:  

a. [X] the calendar year 

b. [   ] the twelve-month period ending on                          (e.g., June 30th) 

 

SHORT PLAN YEAR (Plan Section 1.46). This is a Short Plan Year (if the effective date of participation is based on a Plan 

Year, then coordinate with Question 14): 

c. [X] N/A 

d. [   ] beginning on                                                  (enter month day, year; e.g., July 1, 2013) 

and ending on                                                  (enter month day, year). 
 

8. VALUATION DATE (Plan Section 1.52) means:  

a. [X] every day that the Trustee (or Insurer), any transfer agent appointed by the Trustee (or Insurer) or the Employer, and 

any stock exchange used by such agent are open for business (daily valuation) 

b. [   ] the last day of each Plan Year 

c. [   ] the last day of each Plan Year quarter 

d. [   ] other (specify day or days):       (must be at least once each Plan Year) 

NOTE: The Plan always permits interim valuations. 

 

9. TRUSTEE(S) OR INSURER(S) (Plan Sections 1.25 and 1.50):  

a. [   ] Insurer. This Plan is funded exclusively with Contracts and the name of the Insurer(s) is: 

(1)      (2)      (if more than 2, 

add names to signature page). 

 

b. [   ] Individual Trustee(s). Individual Trustee(s) who serve as Trustee(s) over assets not subject to control by a corporate 

Trustee. (add additional Trustees as necessary) 

Name(s) Title(s) 

        

        

        

 

Address and telephone number 

1. [   ] Use Employer address and telephone number 

2. [   ] Use address and telephone number below: 

 

Address:      
 Street 

             

 City State Zip 

Telephone:     

 

c. [   ] Corporate Trustee(s) (add additional Trustees as necessary) 

 

Name:     

Address:      

 Street 

             

 City State Zip 

Telephone:     

 

Directed/Discretionary Trustee. Unless otherwise specified below, if there is a corporate Trustee, it will serve as a Directed 

(nondiscretionary) Trustee (Plan Section 1.21) and if there is an individual Trustee, he or she will serve as a Discretionary 

Trustee (Plan Section 1.22) over all Plan assets (select all that apply; leave blank if defaults apply) 

d. [   ] Directed Trustee exceptions (leave blank if no exceptions): 

Directed Trustee over specified Plan assets (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply)  

1. [   ] The corporate Trustee will serve as Directed Trustee over the following assets:     

2. [   ] The individual Trustee(s) will serve as Directed Trustee over the following assets:     

Individual Trustee will serve as Directed Trustee (may not be selected with d.1. or d.2.) 

3. [   ] over all Plan assets 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

3 

e. [   ] Discretionary Trustee exceptions (leave blank if no exceptions): 

Discretionary Trustee over specified Plan assets (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply)  

1. [   ] The individual Trustee(s) will serve as Discretionary Trustee over the following assets:     

2. [   ] The corporate Trustee will serve as Discretionary Trustee over the following assets:     

Corporate Trustee will serve as Discretionary Trustee (may not be selected with e.1. or e.2.) 

3. [   ] over all Plan assets 

 

Separate trust. Will a separate trust agreement that is approved by the IRS for use with this Plan be used? 

f. [X] No 

g. [   ] Yes 

NOTE: If Yes is selected, an executed copy of the trust agreement between the Trustee and the Employer must be attached to 

this Plan. The Plan and trust agreement will be read and construed together. The responsibilities, rights and powers of 

the Trustee will be those specified in the trust agreement. 

 

10. ADMINISTRATOR'S NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER 

(If none is named, the Employer will be the Administrator (Plan Section 1.2).)  

a. [X] Employer (use Employer address and telephone number) 

b. [   ] Other: 

Name:     

 

Address:     
 Street 

             
 City State Zip 

Telephone:     

 

11. CONTRIBUTION TYPES 

The selections made below must correspond with the selections made under the Contributions and Allocations Section of this 

Adoption Agreement. 

FROZEN PLAN OR CONTRIBUTIONS HAVE BEEN SUSPENDED (Plan Section 4.1(c)) (optional)  

a. [   ] This is a frozen Plan (i.e., all contributions cease) (if this is a temporary suspension, select a.2):  

1. [   ] All contributions ceased as of, or prior to, the effective date of this amendment and restatement and the prior 

Plan provisions are not reflected in this Adoption Agreement (may enter effective date at 3. below and/or 

select contributions at b. - f. (optional), skip questions 12-18 and 22-29) 

2. [   ] All contributions ceased or were suspended and the prior Plan provisions are reflected in this Adoption 

Agreement (must enter effective date at 3. below and select contributions at b. - f.) 

Effective date 
3. [   ] as of     (effective date is optional unless a.2. has been selected 

above or this is the amendment or restatement to freeze the Plan). 

 

CONTRIBUTIONS 

The Plan permits the following contributions (select one or more): 

b. [   ] Employer contributions other than matching (Questions 24-25)  

1. [   ] This Plan qualifies as a Social Security Replacement Plan (Question 24.c. must be selected) 

c. [X] Employer matching contributions (Questions 26-28) 

d. [   ] Mandatory Employee contributions (Question 31) 

e. [   ] After-tax voluntary Employee contributions (Question 32) 

f. [   ] Rollover contributions (Question 39) 

 

ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS 

 

12. ELIGIBLE EMPLOYEES (Plan Section 1.17) means all Employees (including Leased Employees) EXCEPT those Employees 

who are excluded below or elsewhere in the Plan:  

a. [   ] No excluded Employees. There are no additional excluded Employees under the Plan (skip to Question 13). 

b. [X] Exclusions. The following Employees are not Eligible Employees for Plan purposes (select one or more):  

1. [   ] Union Employees (as defined in Plan Section 1.17) 

2. [   ] Nonresident aliens (as defined in Plan Section 1.17) 

3. [   ] Leased Employees (Plan Section 1.28) 

4. [   ] Part-time/temporary/seasonal Employees. A part-time, temporary or seasonal Employee is an Employee 

whose regularly scheduled service is less than                Hours of Service in the relevant eligibility 

computation period (as defined in Plan Section 1.54). However, if any such excluded Employee actually 

completes a Year of Service, then such Employee will no longer be part of this excluded class. 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

4 

5. [X] Other:   excluding anyone that is not classified as Management, Mid-Management and Confidential 

Employees.   (must be definitely determinable under Regulations §1.401-1(b). Exclusions may be 

employment title specific but may not be by individual name nor result in only a finite group of individuals 

(e.g., excluding anyone hired after 12/31/12.) 

 

13. CONDITIONS OF ELIGIBILITY (Plan Section 3.1)  

a. [   ] No age or service required. No age or service required for all Contribution Types (skip to Question 14). 

b. [X] Eligibility. An Eligible Employee will be eligible to participate in the Plan upon satisfaction of the following (complete 

c. and d., select e. and f. if applicable):  

Eligibility Requirements 

c. [X] Age Requirement 

1. [   ] No age requirement 

2. [   ] Age 20 1/2 

3. [   ] Age 21 

4. [X] Age   18   (may not exceed 26) 

d. [X] Service Requirement  

1. [X] No service requirement 

2. [   ]             (not to exceed 60) months of service (elapsed time) 

3. [   ] 1 Year of Service 

4. [   ]               (not to exceed 5) Years of Service 

5. [   ]              consecutive month period from the Eligible Employee's employment commencement date and during 

which at least                Hours of Service are completed. 

6. [   ]              consecutive months of employment from the Eligible Employee's employment commencement date. 

7. [   ] Other:                                                                                   (e.g., date on which 1,000 Hours of Service is 

completed within the computation period) (must satisfy the Notes below) 

NOTE: If c.4. or d.7. is selected, the condition must be an age or service requirement that is definitely determinable and may 

not exceed age 26 and may not exceed 5 Years of Service. 

NOTE: Year of Service means Period of Service if elapsed time method is chosen. 

 

Waiver of conditions. The service and/or age requirements specified above will be waived in accordance with the following 

(leave blank if there are no waivers of conditions): 

e. [   ] If employed on                               the following requirements, and the entry date requirement, will be waived. The 

waiver applies to any Eligible Employee unless 3. selected below. Such Employees will enter the Plan as of such date 

(select 1. and/or 2. AND 3. if applicable):  

1. [   ] service requirement (may let part-time Eligible Employees into the Plan) 

2. [   ] age requirement 

3. [   ] waiver is for:                                                             

 

Amendment or restatement to change eligibility requirements 
f. [   ] This amendment or restatement (or a prior amendment and restatement) modified the eligibility requirements and the 

prior eligibility conditions continue to apply to the Eligible Employees specified below. If this option is NOT selected, 

then all Eligible Employees must satisfy the eligibility conditions set forth above.  

1. [   ] The eligibility conditions above only apply to Eligible Employees who were not Participants as of the 

effective date of the modification. 

2. [   ] The eligibility conditions above only apply to individuals who were hired on or after the effective date of the 

modification. 

 

14. EFFECTIVE DATE OF PARTICIPATION (ENTRY DATE) (Plan Section 3.2)  

An Eligible Employee who has satisfied the eligibility requirements will become a Participant in the Plan as of the: 

a. [   ] date such requirements are met 

b. [   ] first day of the month coinciding with or next following the date on which such requirements are met 

c. [   ] first day of the Plan Year quarter coinciding with or next following the date on which such requirements are met 

d. [   ] earlier of the first day of the Plan Year or the first day of the seventh month of the Plan Year coinciding with or next 

following the date on which such requirements are met 

e. [   ] first day of the Plan Year coinciding with or next following the date on which such requirements are met (Eligibility 

must be six months of service (or 1 1/2 Years (or Periods) of Service if 100% immediate vesting is selected) or less and 

age must be 20 1/2 or less.) 

f. [   ] first day of the Plan Year in which such requirements are met 

g. [   ] first day of the Plan Year in which such requirements are met, if such requirements are met in the first 6 months of the 

Plan Year, or as of the first day of the next succeeding Plan Year if such requirements are met in the last 6 months of 

the Plan Year. 

h. [X] other:   first day of the first full bi-weekly payroll period following date of employment.   (must be definitely 

determinable) 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

5 

SERVICE 
 

15. RECOGNITION OF SERVICE WITH OTHER EMPLOYERS (Plan Sections 1.39 and 1.54)  

a. [   ] No service with other employers is recognized except as otherwise required by law (e.g., the Plan already provides for 

the recognition of service with Employers who have adopted this Plan as well as service with Affiliated Employers and 

predecessor Employers who maintained this Plan; skip to Question 16). 

b. [X] Prior service with the designated employers is recognized as follows (answer c. and select one or more of c.1. - 3.; 

select d. - f. as applicable) (if more than 3 employers, attach an addendum to the Adoption Agreement or complete 

option h. under Section B of Appendix A): 

 Contribution 

Other Employer Eligibility Vesting Allocation 

c. [X] Employer name: 1. [X] 2. [X] 3. [   ] 

  Cantu Management, Inc.  

d. [X] Employer name: 1. [X] 2. [X] 3. [   ] 

  Other Designated Contractors per discretion of the Hospital 

Authority  

e. [   ] Employer name: 1. [   ] 2. [   ] 3. [   ] 

    

Limitations 
f. [   ] The following provisions or limitations apply with respect to the 1. [   ] 2. [   ] 3. [   ] 

recognition of prior service:     

(e.g., credit service with X only on/following 1/1/13) 

NOTE: If the other Employer(s) maintained this qualified Plan, then Years (and/or Periods) of Service with such Employer(s) 

must be recognized pursuant to Plan Sections 1.39 and 1.54 regardless of any selections above. 

 

16. SERVICE CREDITING METHOD (Plan Sections 1.39 and 1.54)  

NOTE: If no selections are made in this Section, then the provisions set forth in the definition of Year of Service in Plan 

Section 1.54 will apply, including the following defaults: 

1. A Year of Service means completion of at least 1,000 Hours of Service during the applicable computation period. 

2. Hours of Service (Plan Section 1.24) will be based on actual Hours of Service. 

3. For eligibility purposes, the computation period will be as defined in Plan Section 1.54 (i.e., shift to the Plan Year if 

the eligibility condition is one (1) Year of Service or less). 

4. For vesting and allocation purposes, the computation period will be the Plan Year.  

a. [   ] Elapsed time method. (Period of Service applies instead of Year of Service) Instead of Hours of Service, elapsed time 

will be used for:  

1. [   ] all purposes (skip to Question 17) 

2. [   ] the following purposes (select one or more):  

a. [   ] eligibility to participate 

b. [   ] vesting 

c. [   ] sharing in allocations or contributions 

 

b. [   ] Alternative definitions for the Hours of Service method. Instead of the defaults, the following alternatives will apply 

for the Hours of Service method (select one or more):  

1. [   ] Eligibility computation period. Instead of shifting to the Plan Year, the eligibility computation period after 

the initial eligibility computation period will be based on each anniversary of the date the Employee first 

completes an Hour of Service 

2. [   ] Vesting computation period. Instead of the Plan Year, the vesting computation period will be the date an 

Employee first performs an Hour of Service and each anniversary thereof. 

3. [   ] Equivalency method. Instead of using actual Hours of Service, an equivalency method will be used to 

determine Hours of Service for:  

a. [   ] all purposes 

b. [   ] the following purposes (select one or more):  

1. [   ] eligibility to participate 

2. [   ] vesting 

3. [   ] sharing in allocations or contributions 

Such method will apply to: 

c. [   ] all Employees 

d. [   ] Employees for whom records of actual Hours of Service are not maintained or available 

(e.g., salaried Employees) 

e. [   ] other:            (e.g., per-diem Employees only) 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

6 

Hours of Service will be determined on the basis of: 

f. [   ] days worked (10 hours per day) 

g. [   ] weeks worked (45 hours per week) 

h. [   ] semi-monthly payroll periods worked (95 hours per semi-monthly pay period) 

i. [   ] months worked (190 hours per month) 

j. [   ] bi-weekly payroll periods worked (90 hours per bi-weekly pay period) 

k. [   ] other:             (e.g., option f. is used for per-diem 

Employees and option g. is used for on-call Employees). 

4. [   ] Number of Hours of Service required. Instead of 1,000 Hours of Service, Year of Service means the 

applicable computation period during which an Employee has completed at least              (not to exceed 

1,000) Hours of Service for:  

a. [   ] all purposes 

b. [   ] the following purposes (select one or more):  

1. [   ] eligibility to participate 

2. [   ] vesting 

3. [   ] sharing in allocations or contributions 

 

VESTING 

 

17. VESTING OF PARTICIPANT'S INTEREST – EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 6.4(b))  

a. [   ] N/A (no Employer contributions; skip to Question 19) 

b. [X] The vesting provisions selected below apply. Section B of Appendix A can be used to specify any exceptions to the 

provisions below. 

NOTE: The Plan provides that contributions for converted sick leave and/or vacation leave are fully Vested. 

 

Vesting for Employer contributions other than matching contributions 

c. [X] N/A (no Employer contributions (other than matching contributions); skip to f.) 

d. [   ] 100% vesting. Participants are 100% Vested in Employer contributions (other than matching contributions) upon 

entering Plan. 

e. [   ] The following vesting schedule, based on a Participant's Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the elapsed time 

method is selected), applies to Employer contributions (other than matching contributions):  

1. [   ] 6 Year Graded: 0-1 year-0%; 2 years-20%; 3 years-40%; 4 years-60%; 5 years-80%; 6 years-100% 

2. [   ] 4 Year Graded: 1 year-25%; 2 years-50%; 3 years-75%; 4 years-100% 

3. [   ] 5 Year Graded: 1 year-20%; 2 years-40%; 3 years-60%; 4 years-80%; 5 years-100% 

4. [   ] Cliff: 100% vesting after                (not to exceed 15) years 

5. [   ] Other graded vesting schedule (must provide for full vesting no later than 15 years of service; add additional 

lines as necessary) 

 Years (or Periods) of Service Percentage 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

 

Vesting for Employer matching contributions 
f. [   ] N/A (no Employer matching contributions) 

g. [   ] The schedule above will also apply to Employer matching contributions. 

h. [   ] 100% vesting. Participants are 100% Vested in Employer matching contributions upon entering Plan. 

i. [X] The following vesting schedule, based on a Participant's Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the elapsed time 

method is selected), applies to Employer matching contributions: 

1. [   ] 6 Year Graded: 0-1 year-0%; 2 years-20%; 3 years-40%; 4 years-60%; 5 years-80%; 6 years-100% 

2. [   ] 4 Year Graded: 1 year-25%; 2 years-50%; 3 years-75%; 4 years-100% 

3. [X] 5 Year Graded: 1 year-20%; 2 years-40%; 3 years-60%; 4 years-80%; 5 years-100% 

4. [   ] Cliff: 100% vesting after                (not to exceed 15) years 

5. [   ] Other graded vesting schedule (must provide for full vesting no later than 15 years of service; add additional 

lines as necessary) 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

7 

 Years (or Periods) of Service Percentage 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

 

18. VESTING OPTIONS 

Excluded vesting service. The following Years of Service will be disregarded for vesting purposes (select all that apply; leave 

blank if none apply): 

a. [   ] Service prior to the initial Effective Date of the Plan or a predecessor plan (as defined in Regulations §1.411(a)-5(b)(3)) 

b. [   ] Service prior to the computation period in which an Employee has attained age               . 

c. [   ] Service during a period for which an Employee did not make mandatory Employee contributions. 

 

Vesting for death, Total And Permanent Disability and Early Retirement Date. Regardless of the vesting schedule, a 

Participant will become fully Vested upon (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply): 

d. [X] Death 

e. [X] Total and Permanent Disability 

f. [   ] Early Retirement Date 

 

RETIREMENT AGES 
 

19. NORMAL RETIREMENT AGE ("NRA") (Plan Section 1.32) means: 

a. [X] Specific age. The date a Participant attains age   65   (may not exceed 65) 

b. [   ] Age/participation. The later of the date a Participant attains age              (may not exceed 65) or the              (may not 

exceed 10th) anniversary of the first day of the Plan Year in which participation in the Plan commenced 

 

NOTE: Effective for Plan Years beginning on or after the later of (1) January 1, 2015, or (2) the close of the first regular 

legislative session of the legislative body with the authority to amend the plan that begins on or after the date that is 

three months after the final regulations are published in the Federal Register, Normal Retirement Age of less than age 

62 must meet Regulation §1.401(a)-1(b)(2). 

 

Qualified police or firefighters. Normal Retirement Age for qualified public safety employees (as defined in Code §72(t)(1)) 

(leave blank if not applicable) 

c. [   ] Age              (may not be less than 50) 

 

20. NORMAL RETIREMENT DATE (Plan Section 1.33) means, with respect to any Participant, the:  

a. [X] date on which the Participant attains "NRA" 

b. [   ] first day of the month coinciding with or next following the Participant's "NRA" 

c. [   ] first day of the month nearest the Participant's "NRA" 

d. [   ] Anniversary Date coinciding with or next following the Participant's "NRA" 

e. [   ] Anniversary Date nearest the Participant's "NRA" 

f. [   ] Other:                                (e.g., first day of the month following the Participant's "NRA"). 

 

21. EARLY RETIREMENT DATE (Plan Section 1.15) 

a. [X] N/A (no early retirement provision provided) 

b. [   ] Early Retirement Date means the:  

1. [   ] date on which a Participant satisfies the early retirement requirements 

2. [   ] first day of the month coinciding with or next following the date on which a Participant satisfies the early 

retirement requirements 

3. [   ] Anniversary Date coinciding with or next following the date on which a Participant satisfies the early 

retirement requirements 

Early retirement requirements 
4. [   ] Participant attains age             

AND, completes.... (leave blank if not applicable)  

a. [   ] at least             Years (or Periods) of Service for vesting purposes 

b. [   ] at least              Years (or Periods) of Service for eligibility purposes 

c. [   ] Early Retirement Date means:                                                          (must be definitely determinable) 

 



Governmental Money Purchase Plan 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

8 

COMPENSATION 

22. COMPENSATION with respect to any Participant is defined as follows (Plan Sections 1.10 and 1.23). 

Base definition 
a. [X] Wages, tips and other compensation on Form W-2

b. [   ] Code §3401(a) wages (wages for withholding purposes)

c. [   ] 415 safe harbor compensation

NOTE: Plan Section 1.23(c) provides that the base definition of Compensation includes deferrals that are not included in 

income due to Code §§401(k), 125, 132(f)(4), 403(b), 402(h)(1)(B)(SEP), 414(h)(2), & 457(b). 

Determination period. Compensation will be based on the following "determination period" (this will also be the Limitation 

Year unless otherwise elected at option f. under Section B of Appendix A): 

d. [   ] the Plan Year

e. [   ] the Fiscal Year coinciding with or ending within the Plan Year

f. [X] the calendar year coinciding with or ending within the Plan Year

Adjustments to Compensation (for Plan Section 1.10). Compensation will be adjusted by: 

g. [   ] No adjustments (skip to i. below)

h. [X] Adjustments. Compensation will be adjusted by (select all that apply):

1. [   ] excluding salary reductions (401(k), 125, 132(f)(4), 403(b), SEP, 414(h)(2) pickup, & 457(b))

2. [X] excluding reimbursements or other expense allowances, fringe benefits (cash or non-cash), moving expenses,

deferred compensation (other than deferrals specified in 1. above) and welfare benefits. 

3. [X] excluding Compensation paid during the "determination period" while not a Participant in the Plan.

4. [   ] excluding Military Differential Pay

5. [X] excluding overtime

6. [   ] excluding bonuses

7. [   ] other:  (e.g., describe Compensation from the elections available above or a 

combination thereof as to a Participant group (e.g., no exclusions as to Division A Employees and exclude 

bonuses as to Division B Employees); and/or describe another exclusion (e.g., exclude shift differential pay)). 

Military Differential Pay Special Effective Date (leave blank if not applicable) 

i. [   ] If this is a PPA restatement and the provisions above regarding Military Differential Pay (included unless h.4. is

selected) have a later effective date than Plan Years beginning after December 31, 2008, then enter the date such 

provisions were first effective:  (may not be earlier than January 1, 2009; for Plan Years 

beginning prior to January 1, 2009, Military Differential Pay is treated in accordance with the post-severance 

Compensation provisions in the following Question). 

23. POST-SEVERANCE COMPENSATION (415 REGULATIONS)  

The following optional provision of the 415 Regulations will apply to Limitation Years beginning on or after July 1, 2007 unless 

otherwise elected below: 

415 Compensation (post-severance compensation adjustments) (select all that apply at a.; leave blank if none apply) 

NOTE: Unless otherwise elected under a. below, the following defaults apply: 415 Compensation will include (to the extent 

provided in Plan Section 1.23), post-severance regular pay, leave cash-outs and payments from nonqualified unfunded 

deferred compensation plans.  

a. [   ] The defaults listed above apply except for the following (select one or more):

1. [   ] Leave cash-outs will be excluded

2. [   ] Nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation will be excluded

3. [   ] Military Differential Pay will be included (Plan automatically includes for Limitation Years beginning after

December 31, 2008) 

4. [   ] Disability continuation payments will be included

Plan Compensation (post-severance compensation adjustments) 

b. [   ] Defaults apply. Compensation will include (to the extent provided in Plan Section 1.10 and to the extent such amounts

would be included in Compensation if paid prior to severance of employment) post-severance regular pay, leave cash-outs, 

and payments from nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation plans. 

c. [X] Exclude all post-severance compensation. Exclude all post-severance compensation for allocation purposes.

d. [   ] Post-severance adjustments. The defaults listed at b. apply except for the following (select one or more):

1. [   ] Exclude all post-severance compensation

2. [   ] Regular pay will be excluded

3. [   ] Leave cash-outs will be excluded

4. [   ] Nonqualified unfunded deferred compensation will be excluded

5. [   ] Military Differential Pay will be included

6. [   ] Disability continuation payments will be included

X



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

9 

NOTE: The above treatment of Military Differential Pay only applies to Plan Years beginning prior to January 1, 2009. For Plan 

Years beginning after such date, Military Differential Pay is not considered post-severance compensation and the 

provisions of Question 22 apply. 

 

Post-severance compensation special effective date (leave blank if not applicable) 

e. [   ] If this is a PPA restatement and the post-severance compensation adjustments above for 415 Compensation or Plan 

Compensation applied other than the first day of the Plan Year beginning on or after July 1, 2007, then enter the date such 

provisions were first effective:     

 

CONTRIBUTIONS AND ALLOCATIONS 

 

24. EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS (OTHER THAN MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS) (Plan Section 4.1(a)(2)) (skip to Question 

26 if Employer contributions are NOT selected at Question 11.b.) 

CONTRIBUTION FORMULA (select one or more of the following contribution formulas:)  

a. [   ] Fixed contribution equal to (only select one):  

1. [   ]             % of each Participant's Compensation for each:  

a. [   ] Plan Year 

b. [   ] calendar quarter 

c. [   ] month 

d. [   ] pay period 

e. [   ] week 

2. [   ] $               per Participant. 

3. [   ] $               per Hour of Service worked while an Eligible Employee  

a. [   ] up to                hours (leave blank if no limit) 

4. [   ] other:                                                                                      (the formula described must satisfy the definitely 

determinable requirement under Regulations §1.401-1(b)). 

b. [   ] Sick leave/vacation leave conversion. The Employer will contribute an amount equal to an Employee's current hourly 

rate of pay multiplied by the Participant's number of unused accumulated sick leave and/or vacation days (as selected 

below). Only unpaid sick and vacation leave for which the Employee has no right to receive in cash may be included. 

In no event will the Employer's contribution for the Plan Year exceed the maximum contribution permitted under 

Code §415(c). 

The following may be converted under the Plan: (select one or both):  

1. [   ] Sick leave 

2. [   ] Vacation leave 

Eligible Employees. Only the following Participants shall receive the Employer contribution for sick leave and/or 

vacation leave (select 3. and/or 4; leave blank if no limitations provided, however, that this Plan may not be used to 

only provide benefits for terminated Employees) 

3. [   ] Former Employees. All Employees terminating service with the Employer during the Plan Year and who 

have satisfied the eligibility requirements based on the terms of the Employer's accumulated benefits plans 

checked below (select all that apply; leave blank if no exclusions):  

a. [   ] The Former Employee must be at least age            (e.g., 55) 

b. [   ] The value of the sick and/or vacation leave must be at least $           (e.g., $2,000) 

c. [   ] A contribution will only be made if the total hours is over            (e.g., 10) hours 

d. [   ] A contribution will not be made for hours in excess of            (e.g., 40) hours  

4. [   ] Active Employees. Active Employees who have not terminated service during the Plan Year and who meet 

the following requirements (select all that apply; leave blank if no exclusions):  

a. [   ] The Employee must be at least age            (e.g., 55) 

b. [   ] The value of the sick and/or vacation leave must be at least $           (e.g., $2,000) 

c. [   ] A contribution will only be made if the total hours is over            (e.g., 10) hours 

d. [   ] A contribution will not be made for hours in excess of            (e.g., 40) hours 

c. [   ] Social Security Replacement Plan. An amount equal to 7.5% of the Participant's Compensation for the entire Plan 

Year, reduced by Employee and Employer contributions to this Plan actually contributed to the Participant's Account 

during such Plan Year. (may only be selected if Question 11.b.1. has also been selected) 

Include only part-time, seasonal and temporary Employees (leave blank if not applicable)  

1. [   ] Regardless of any other provision in this to the contrary, the contribution above will only be made for part-

time, seasonal, or temporary Employees who are not otherwise covered by another qualifying public 

retirement system as defined for purposes of Regulation §31.3121(b)(7)-2. 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

10 

25. ALLOCATION CONDITIONS (Plan Section 4.3). If 24.a. is selected above, indicate requirements to share in allocations of 

Employer contributions (select a. OR b. and all that apply at c. - e.) 

a. [   ] No conditions. All Participants share in the allocations regardless of service completed during the Plan Year or 

employment status on the last day of the Plan Year (skip to Question 26). 

b. [   ] Allocation conditions apply (select one of 1. - 5. AND one of 6. - 9. below) 

Conditions for Participants NOT employed on the last day of the Plan Year 
1. [   ] A Participant must complete at least                     (not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service (or                 (not to 

exceed 12) months of service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

2. [   ] A Participant must complete a Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

3. [   ] Participants will NOT share in the allocations, regardless of service. 

4. [   ] Participants will share in the allocations, regardless of service. 

5. [   ] Other:                                                   (must be definitely determinable, not subject to Employer discretion 

and may not require more than one Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is 

selected)). 

Conditions for Participants employed on the last day of the Plan Year 
6. [   ] No service requirement. 

7. [   ] A Participant must complete a Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

8. [   ] A Participant must complete at least              (not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service during the Plan Year. 

9. [   ] Other:                                                        (must be definitely determinable, not subject to Employer discretion 

and may not require more than one Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is 

selected)). 

Waiver of conditions for Participants NOT employed on the last day of the Plan Year. If b.1., 2., 3., or 5. is selected, 

Participants who are not employed on the last day of the Plan Year in which one of the following events occur will be eligible to 

share in the allocations regardless of the above conditions (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply): 

c. [   ] Death 

d. [   ] Total and Permanent Disability 

e. [   ] Termination of employment on or after Normal Retirement Age 

1. [   ] or Early Retirement Date 

 

26. EMPLOYER MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 4.1(a)(3)). (skip to Question 29 if matching contributions are NOT 

selected at Question 11.c.) The Employer will make the following matching contributions:   

A. Elective deferrals taken into account. For purposes of applying the matching contribution provisions below, elective deferrals 

include elective deferral (pre-tax and Roth) contributions to the following Employer plan(s) (insert name of Plan(s) to which the 

elective deferral contributions being matched will be made):  

a. [X] 457 plan(s). Enter Plan name:   County of Kern California Deferred Compensation Plan  

b. [   ] 403(b) plan(s). Enter Plan name:     

NOTE: If selected at Question 32, after-tax voluntary Employee contributions are also considered elective deferrals for 

purposes of matching contributions. 

 

B. Matching Formula. (select one) 

c. [   ] Fixed - uniform rate/amount. The Employer will make matching contributions equal to           % (e.g., 50) of the 

Participant's elective deferrals  

1. [   ]  that do not exceed           % of a Participant's Compensation (leave blank if no limit) 

d. [X] Fixed - tiered. The Employer will make matching contributions equal to a uniform percentage of each tier of each 

Participant's elective deferrals, determined as follows: 

NOTE: Fill in only percentages or dollar amounts, but not both. If percentages are used, each tier represents the 

amount of the Participant's applicable contributions that equals the specified percentage of the Participant's 

Compensation (add additional tiers if necessary): 

Tiers of Contributions Matching Percentage 

(indicate $ or %) 

First   6%      100  % 

Next   6%      50  % 

Next                           % 

Next                           % 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

11 

e. [   ] Fixed - Years of Service. The Employer will make matching contributions equal to a uniform percentage of each 

Participant's elective deferrals based on the Participant's Years of Service (or Periods of Service if the elapsed time 

method is selected), determined as follows (add additional tiers if necessary): 

Years (or Periods) of Service Matching Percentage 

                           % 

                           % 

                           % 

For purposes of the above matching contribution formula, a Year (or Period) of Service means a Year (or Period) of 

Service for:  

1. [   ] vesting purposes 

2. [   ] eligibility purposes 

f. [   ] Other:                                                            (the formula described must satisfy the definitely determinable 

requirement under Regulations §1.401-1(b)) 

 

27. MATCHING CONTRIBUTION PROVISIONS 

 

A. Maximum matching contribution. The total matching contribution made on behalf of any Participant for any Plan Year will not 

exceed:  

a. [   ] N/A (no Plan specific limit on the amount of matching contribution) 

b. [   ] $            . 

c. [X]   9  % of Compensation. 

 

B. Period of determination. The matching contribution formula will be applied on the following basis (and elective deferrals and 

any Compensation or dollar limitation used in determining the matching contribution will be based on the applicable period): 

d. [   ] the Plan Year 

e. [X] each payroll period 

f. [   ] each month 

g. [   ] each Plan Year quarter 

h. [   ] each payroll unit (e.g., hour) 

 

28. ALLOCATION CONDITIONS FOR MATCHING CONTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 4.3). Select a. OR b. and all that apply of 

c. - h.  

a. [X] No conditions. All Participants share in the allocations regardless of service completed during the Plan Year or 

employment status on the last day of the Plan Year (skip to Question 29). 

b. [   ] Allocation conditions apply (select one of 1. -5. AND one of 6. - 9. below) 

Conditions for Participants NOT employed on the last day of the Plan Year.  
1. [   ] A Participant must complete at least              (not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service (or              (not to 

exceed 12) months of service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

2. [   ] A Participant must complete a Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

3. [   ] Participants will NOT share in the allocations, regardless of service. 

4. [   ] Participants will share in the allocations, regardless of service. 

5. [   ] Other:                                                                      (must be definitely determinable, not subject to Employer 

discretion and may not require more than one Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time 

method is selected)). 

 

Conditions for Participants employed on the last day of the Plan Year 
6. [   ] No service requirement. 

7. [   ] A Participant must complete a Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is selected). 

8. [   ] A Participant must complete at least               (not to exceed 1,000) Hours of Service during the Plan Year. 

9. [   ] Other:                      (must be definitely determinable, not subject to Employer discretion and may not require 

more than one Year of Service (or Period of Service if the elapsed time method is selected)). 

 

Waiver of conditions for Participants NOT employed on the last day of the Plan Year. If b.1., 2., 3., or 5. is selected, 

Participants who are not employed on the last day of the Plan Year in which one of the following events occur will be eligible to 

share in the allocations regardless of the above conditions (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply): 

c. [   ] Death 

d. [   ] Total and Permanent Disability 

e. [   ] Termination of employment on or after Normal Retirement Age 

1. [   ] or Early Retirement Date 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

12 

Conditions based on period other than Plan Year. The allocation conditions above will be applied based on the Plan Year 

unless otherwise selected below. If selected, the above provisions will be applied by substituting the term Plan Year with the 

specified period (e.g., if Plan Year quarter is selected below and the allocation condition is 250 Hours of Service per quarter, 

enter 250 hours (not 1000) at b.8. above). 

f. [   ] The Plan Year quarter. 

g. [   ] Payroll period. 

h. [   ] Other:                      (must be definitely determinable and not subject to Employer discretion and may not be longer than 

a twelve month period). 

 

29. FORFEITURES (Plan Sections 1.21 and 4.3(e)) 

Forfeitures of Employer contributions other than matching contributions will be:  

a. [   ] added to the Employer contribution and allocated in the same manner 

b. [X] used to reduce any Employer contribution 

c. [   ] allocated to all Participants eligible to share in the allocations of Employer contributions or Forfeitures in the same 

proportion that each Participant's Compensation for the Plan Year bears to the Compensation of all Participants for 

such year 

d. [   ] other:             (describe the treatment of Forfeitures in a manner that is definitely 

determinable and not subject to Employer discretion; e.g., Forfeitures attributable to transferred balances from Plan X 

are allocated as additional discretionary contributions only to former Plan X Participants) 

Forfeitures of Employer matching contributions will be: 

e. [   ] N/A. Same as above or no Employer matching contributions. 

f. [X] used to reduce the Employer matching contribution. 

g. [   ] used to reduce any Employer contribution. 

h. [   ] other:             (describe the treatment of Forfeitures in a manner that is definitely 

determinable and not subject to Employer discretion; e.g., Forfeitures attributable to transferred balances from Plan X 

are allocated as additional discretionary contributions only to former Plan X Participants) 

 

30. ALLOCATION OF EARNINGS (Plan Section 4.3(c)) 

Allocation of earnings with respect to amounts which are not subject to Participant investment direction and which are 

contributed to the Plan after the previous Valuation Date will be determined:  

a. [X] N/A. (all assets in the Plan are subject to Participant investment direction) 

b. [   ] by using a weighted average based on the amount of time that has passed between the date a contribution or distribution 

is made and the prior Valuation Date 

c. [   ] by treating one-half of all such contributions as being a part of the Participant's nonsegregated Account balance as of 

the previous Valuation Date 

d. [   ] by using the method specified in Plan Section 4.3(c) (balance forward method) 

e. [   ] other:                                                            (must be a definite predetermined formula) 

 

31. MANDATORY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 4.8) (skip if mandatory Employee contributions NOT selected 

at Question 11.d.)   

a. [   ] An Eligible Employee must contribute to the Plan           % (not to exceed 25%) of Compensation. 

b. [   ] An Eligible Employee must, prior to his or her first Entry Date, make a one-time irrevocable election to contribute to 

the Plan from             % (not less than 1%) to             % (not to exceed 25%) of Compensation. 

c. [   ] Other:                                                            (must be definitely determinable) 

Employer pick-up contribution. The mandatory Employee contribution is "picked up" by the Employer under Code §414(h)(2) 

unless elected below. 

d. [   ] The mandatory Employee contribution is not "picked-up" by the Employer. 

 

32. AFTER-TAX VOLUNTARY EMPLOYEE CONTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 4.9) (skip if after-tax voluntary Employee 

contributions NOT selected at Question 11.e.) 

Matching after-tax voluntary Employee contributions. There are no Employer matching contributions on after-tax voluntary 

Employee contributions unless elected below. 

a. [   ] After-tax voluntary Employee contributions are considered elective deferrals for purposes of applying any matching 

contributions under the Plan. 

 

DISTRIBUTIONS 

 

33. FORM OF DISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Sections 6.5 and 6.6) 

Distributions under the Plan may be made in (select all that apply; must select at least one):  

a. [X] lump-sums 

b. [X] substantially equal installments 

c. [X] partial withdrawals, provided the minimum withdrawal is $             (leave blank if no minimum) 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

13 

d. [   ] partial withdrawals or installments are only permitted for Participants or Beneficiaries who must receive required 

minimum distributions under Code §401(a)(9) except for the following (e.g., partial is not permitted for death benefits; 

leave blank if no exceptions):  

1. [   ]             

e. [   ] annuity:             (describe the form of annuity or annuities) 

f. [   ] other:               (must be definitely determinable and not subject to Employer discretion) 

NOTE: Regardless of the above, a Participant is not required to request a withdrawal of his or her total Account for an 

in-service distribution, a hardship distribution, or a distribution from the Participant's Rollover Account. 

 

Cash or property. Distributions may be made in: 

g. [X] cash only, except for (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply):  

1. [   ] insurance Contracts 

2. [   ] annuity Contracts 

3. [   ] Participant loans 

h. [   ] cash or property, except that the following limitation(s) apply: (leave blank if there are no limitations on property 

distributions):  

1. [   ]                                                                                  (must be definitely determinable and not 

subject to Employer discretion) 

 

34. CONDITIONS FOR DISTRIBUTIONS UPON SEVERANCE OF EMPLOYMENT. Distributions upon severance of 

employment pursuant to Plan Section 6.4(a) will not be made unless the following conditions have been satisfied:  

 

A. Accounts in excess of $5,000 

a. [X] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible following severance of employment. 

b. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible after the last day of the Plan Year coincident with or 

next following severance of employment. 

c. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible after the last day of the Plan Year quarter coincident 

with or next following severance of employment. 

d. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible after the Valuation Date coincident with or next 

following severance of employment. 

e. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible after              months have elapsed following severance 

of employment. 

f. [   ] No distributions may be made until a Participant has reached Early or Normal Retirement Date. 

g. [   ] Other:               (must be objective conditions which are ascertainable and may not 

exceed the limits of Code §401(a)(14) as set forth in Plan Section 6.7) 

 

B. Accounts of $5,000 or less 

h. [X] Same as above 

i. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible following severance of employment. 

j. [   ] Distributions may be made as soon as administratively feasible after the last day of the Plan Year coincident with or 

next following severance of employment. 

k. [   ] Other:             (must be objective conditions which are ascertainable and may not 

exceed the limits of Code §401(a)(14) as set forth in Plan Section 6.7) 

 

C. Timing after initial distributable event. If a distribution is not made in accordance with the above provisions upon the 

occurrence of the distributable event, then a Participant may elect a subsequent distribution at any time after the time the amount 

was first distributable (assuming the amount is still distributable), unless otherwise selected below (may not be selected with 34.f. 

and 34.h.): 

l. [   ] Other:             (e.g., a subsequent distribution request may only be made in 

accordance with l. above (i.e., the last day of another Plan Year); must be objective conditions which are ascertainable 

and may not exceed the limits of Code §401(a)(14) as set forth in Plan Section 6.7) 

 

D. Participant consent (i.e., involuntary cash-outs). Should Vested Account balances less than a certain dollar threshold be 

automatically distributed without Participant consent (mandatory distributions)? 

NOTE: The Plan provides that distributions of amounts of $5,000 or less are only paid as lump-sums. 

m. [   ] No, Participant consent is required for all distributions. 

n. [X] Yes, Participant consent is required only if the distribution is over:  

1. [X] $5,000 

2. [   ] $1,000 

3. [   ] $             (less than $1,000) 

NOTE: If 2. or 3. is selected, rollovers will be included in determining the threshold for Participant consent. 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

14 

Automatic IRA rollover. With respect to mandatory distributions of amounts that are $1,000 or less, if a Participant 

makes no election, the amount will be distributed as a lump-sum unless selected below. 

4. [   ] If a Participant makes no election, then the amount will be automatically rolled over to an IRA provided the 

amount is at least $             (e.g., $200). 

 

E. Rollovers in determination of $5,000 threshold. Unless otherwise elected below, amounts attributable to rollover contributions 

(if any) will be included in determining the $5,000 threshold for timing of distributions, form of distributions, or consent rules. 

o. [   ] Exclude rollovers (rollover contributions will be excluded in determining the $5,000 threshold) 

NOTE: Regardless of the above election, if the Participant consent threshold is $1,000 or less, then the Administrator must 

include amounts attributable to rollovers for such purpose. In such case, an election to exclude rollovers above will 

apply for purposes of the timing and form of distributions. 

 

35. DISTRIBUTIONS UPON DEATH (Plan Section 6.8(b)(2)) 

Distributions upon the death of a Participant prior to the "required beginning date" will:  

a. [X] be made pursuant to the election of the Participant or "designated Beneficiary" 

b. [   ] begin within 1 year of death for a "designated Beneficiary" and be payable over the life (or over a period not exceeding 

the "life expectancy") of such Beneficiary, except that if the "designated Beneficiary" is the Participant's Spouse, begin 

prior to December 31st of the year in which the Participant would have attained age 70 1/2 

c. [   ] be made within 5 (or if lesser           ) years of death for all Beneficiaries 

d. [   ] be made within 5 (or if lesser           ) years of death for all Beneficiaries, except that if the "designated Beneficiary" is 

the Participant's Spouse, begin prior to December 31st of the year in which the Participant would have attained age 

70 1/2 and be payable over the life (or over a period not exceeding the "life expectancy") of such "surviving Spouse" 

NOTE: The elections above must be coordinated with the Form of distributions (e.g., if the Plan only permits lump-sum 

distributions, then options a., b. and d. would not be applicable). 

 

36. OTHER PERMITTED DISTRIBUTIONS (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply)  

A. IN-SERVICE DISTRIBUTIONS (Plan Section 6.11)  

 In-service distributions will NOT be allowed (except as otherwise permitted under the Plan without regard to this provision) 

unless selected below (if applicable, answer a. - e.; leave blank if not applicable): 

a. [   ] In-service distributions may be made to a Participant who has not separated from service provided the following has 

been satisfied:  

1. [   ] Age. The Participant has reached: 

a. [   ] Normal Retirement Age 

b. [   ] age 62 

c. [   ] age             (may not be earlier than age 62) 

 

Special effective date (may be left blank if same as Plan or Restatement Effective Date) 

d. [   ]                                          (if this is a PPA restatement and the provisions were effective prior to the 

Restatement Effective Date, then enter the date such provisions were first effective; may not be 

earlier than the first day of the Plan Year beginning in 2007) 

 

Account restrictions. In-service distributions are permitted from the following Participant Accounts: 

b. [   ] all Accounts 

c. [   ] only from the following Accounts (select one or more):  

1. [   ] Account attributable to Employer matching contributions 

2. [   ] Account attributable to Employer contributions other than matching contributions 

3. [   ] Rollover Account 

4. [   ] Transfer Account 

5. [   ] Other:                                                                                              (specify Account(s) and 

conditions in a manner that satisfies the definitely determinable requirement under Regulations §1.401-1(b) 

and is not subject to Employer discretion) 

 

Limitations. The following limitations apply to in-service distributions: 

d. [   ] N/A (no additional limitations) 

e. [   ] Additional limitations (select one or more):  

1. [   ] The minimum amount of a distribution is $            . 

2. [   ] No more than              distribution(s) may be made to a Participant during a Plan Year. 

3. [   ] Distributions may only be made from Accounts which are fully Vested. 

4. [   ] In-service distributions may be made subject to the following provisions:              (must satisfy the definitely 

determinable requirement under Regulations §1.401-1(b) and not be subject to Employer discretion). 

 

37. HEART ACT PROVISIONS (Plan Section 6.17)  

Continued benefit accruals. 
a. [   ] Continued benefit accruals will NOT apply 

b. [X] Continued benefit accruals will apply 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

15 

 

Special effective date. If this is a PPA restatement and the provision applied other than as of the first day of the 2007 Plan Year, 

then enter the date such provision was first effective: (leave blank if not applicable) 

c. [   ]                           (may not be earlier than the first day of the 2007 Plan Year) 

Distributions for deemed severance of employment  
d. [   ] The Plan does NOT permit distributions for deemed severance of employment 

e. [X] The Plan permits distributions for deemed severance of employment 

Special effective date (may be left blank if same as Plan or Restatement Effective Date)  

1. [   ]                          (if this is a PPA restatement and the provisions were effective prior to the 

Restatement Effective Date, then enter the date such provisions were first effective; may not be earlier than 

January 1, 2007) 

 

MISCELLANEOUS 

 

38. LOANS TO PARTICIPANTS (Plan Section 7.6)  

a. [X] New loans are NOT permitted. 

b. [   ] New loans are permitted. 

NOTE: Regardless of whether new loans are permitted, if the Plan permits rollovers, then the Administrator may, in a uniform 

manner, accept rollovers of loans into this Plan. 

 

39. ROLLOVERS (Plan Section 4.6) (skip if rollover contributions are NOT selected at 11.f.) 

Eligibility. Rollovers may be accepted from all Participants who are Employees as well as the following 

(select all that apply; leave blank if not applicable): 

a. [   ] Any Eligible Employee, even prior to meeting eligibility conditions to be a Participant 

b. [   ] Participants who are Former Employees 

Distributions. When may distributions be made from a Participant's Rollover Account? 

c. [   ] At any time 

d. [   ] Only when the Participant is otherwise entitled to a distribution under the Plan 

 

PPA TRANSITION RULES 

 

The following questions only apply if this is a PPA restatement (i.e., Question 5.b.1. is selected). If this is not a PPA restatement, 

then this Plan will not be considered an individually designed plan merely because the following questions are deleted from the 

Adoption Agreement. 

NOTE: The following provisions are designed to be left unanswered if the selections do not apply to the Plan. 

 

40. WRERA - RMD WAIVERS FOR 2009 (Plan Section 6.8(f))  

Suspension/continuation of RMDs. Unless otherwise elected below, required minimum distributions (RMDs) for 2009 were 

suspended unless a Participant or Beneficiary elected to receive such distributions: 

a. [   ] RMDs for 2009 were suspended for any Participant or Beneficiary who was scheduled to receive his/her first RMD for 

2009 or who did not make a continuing election prior to 2009 to receive his/her RMD (unless the Participant or 

Beneficiary made an election to receive such distribution). RMDs for 2009 were continued for any Participant or 

Beneficiary who had made a continuing election to receive an RMD prior to 2009 (unless the Participant or Beneficiary 

made an election to suspend such distribution). 

b. [   ] RMDs continued unless otherwise elected by a Participant or Beneficiary. 

c. [   ] RMDs continued in accordance with the terms of the Plan (i.e., no election available to Participants or Beneficiaries). 

d. [   ] Other:                          

 

Direct rollovers. The Plan also treated the following as "eligible rollover distributions" in 2009 (If no election is made, then a 

"direct rollover" was only offered for "2009 RMDs"): 

e. [   ] "2009 RMDs" and "Extended 2009 RMDs." 

f. [   ] "2009 RMDs" but only if paid with an additional amount that is an "eligible rollover distribution" without regard to 

Code §401(a)(9)(H). 

 

41. NON-SPOUSAL ROLLOVERS (Plan Section 6.14(d)). Non-spousal rollovers are permitted effective for distributions after 

December 31, 2006 unless an alternative effective date is selected at a. below:  

a. [   ] Non-spousal rollovers are allowed effective                                                     (may not be earlier than January 1, 2007 

and not later than January 1, 2010; the Plan already provides for non-spousal rollovers effective as of January 1, 2010) 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

16 

The adopting Employer may rely on an advisory letter issued by the Internal Revenue Service as evidence that the Plan is qualified under 

Code §401 only to the extent provided in Rev. Proc. 2011-49 or subsequent guidance. 

 

The Employer may not rely on the advisory letter in certain other circumstances or with respect to certain qualification requirements, which 

are specified in the advisory letter issued with respect to the Plan and in Rev. Proc. 2011-49 or subsequent guidance. In order to have 

reliance in such circumstances or with respect to such qualification requirements, application for a determination letter must be made to 

Employee Plans Determinations of the Internal Revenue Service. 

 

This Adoption Agreement may be used only in conjunction with the Volume Submitter basic Plan document #09. This Adoption 

Agreement and the basic Plan document will together be known as FIS Business Systems LLC Governmental Volume Submitter Money 

Purchase Plan #09-002. 

 

The adoption of this Plan, its qualification by the IRS, and the related tax consequences are the responsibility of the Employer and its 

independent tax and legal advisors. 

 

FIS Business Systems LLC will notify the Employer of any amendments made to the Plan or of the discontinuance or abandonment of the 

Plan. Furthermore, in order to be eligible to receive such notification, the Employer agrees to notify FIS Business Systems LLC of any 

change in address. In addition, this Plan is provided to the Employer either in connection with investment in a product or pursuant to a 

contract or other arrangement for products and/or services. Upon cessation of such investment in a product or cessation of such contract or 

arrangement, as applicable, the Employer is no longer considered to be an adopter of this Plan and FIS Business Systems LLC no longer 

has any obligations to the Employer that relate to the adoption of this Plan. 

 

With regard to any questions regarding the provisions of the Plan, adoption of the Plan, or the effect of an advisory letter from the IRS, call 

or write (this information must be completed by the sponsor of this Plan or its designated representative): 

Name:   Voya Retirement Insurance and Annuity Company  

Address:   One Orange Way  

   Windsor Connecticut 06095  

Telephone:   (860) 580-4646  

 

The Employer and Trustee (or Insurer) hereby cause this Plan to be executed on the date(s) specified below: 

 

EMPLOYER: Kern County Hospital Authority 

 

By:      

 DATE SIGNED 

 

TRUSTEE (OR INSURER): 

 

[   ] The signature of the Trustee or Insurer appears on a separate agreement or Contract, 

 

OR (add additional Trustee signature lines as necessary) 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

1 

APPENDIX A 

SPECIAL EFFECTIVE DATES AND OTHER PERMITTED ELECTIONS 

 

A. Special effective dates (leave blank if not applicable):  

a. [   ] Special effective date(s):                                                                            . For periods prior to the specified special 

effective date(s), the Plan terms in effect prior to its restatement under this Adoption Agreement will control for 

purposes of the designated provisions. A special effective date may not result in the delay of a Plan provision beyond 

the permissible effective date under any applicable law. 

 

B. Other permitted elections (the following elections are optional):  

a. [   ] No other permitted elections 

 

The following elections apply (select one or more): 

b. [   ] Deemed 125 compensation (Plan Section 1.23). Deemed 125 compensation will be included in Compensation and 415 

Compensation. 

c. [   ] Reemployed after five (5) 1-Year Breaks in Service ("rule of parity" provisions) (Plan Section 3.5(d)). The "rule of 

parity" provisions in Plan Section 3.5(d) will apply for (select one or both):  

1. [   ] eligibility purposes 

2. [   ] vesting purposes 

d. [   ] Beneficiary if no beneficiary elected by Participant (Plan Section 6.2(e)). In the event no valid designation of 

Beneficiary exists, then in lieu of the order set forth in Plan Section 6.2(e), the following order of priority will be 

used:               (specify an order of beneficiaries; e.g., children per stirpes, parents, and then step-children). 

e. [   ] Common, collective or pooled trust funds (Plan Sections 7.2(c)(5) and/or 7.3(b)(6)). The name(s) of the common, 

collective or pooled trust funds available under the Plan is (are):              . 

f. [   ] Limitation Year (Plan Section 1.29). The Limitation Year for Code §415 purposes will be                          (must be 

a consecutive twelve month period) instead of the "determination period" for Compensation. 

g. [   ] 415 Limits when 2 defined contribution plans are maintained (Plan Section 4.4). If any Participant is covered under 

another qualified defined contribution plan maintained by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer, or if the Employer 

or an Affiliated Employer maintains a welfare benefit fund, as defined in Code §419(e), or an individual medical 

account, as defined in Code §415(l)(2), under which amounts are treated as "annual additions" with respect to any 

Participant in this Plan, then the provisions of Plan Section 4.4(b) will apply unless otherwise specified below:  

1. [   ] Specify, in a manner that precludes Employer discretion, the method under which the plans will limit total 

"annual additions" to the "maximum permissible amount" and will properly reduce any "excess amounts": 

             . 

h. [   ] Recognition of Service with other employers (Plan Sections 1.39 and 1.54). Service with the following employers (in 

addition to those specified at Question 15) will be recognized as follows (select one or more):  

   Contribution 

 Eligibility Vesting   Allocation 

1. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

2. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

3. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

4. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

5. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

6. [   ] Employer name: a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

    

Limitations 
7. [   ] The following provisions or limitations apply with respect to the a. [   ] b. [   ] c. [   ] 

recognition of prior service:     

(e.g., credit service with X only on/following 1/1/13) 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

2 

i. [   ] Other vesting provisions. The following vesting provisions apply to the Plan (select one or more):  

1. [   ] Special vesting provisions. The following special provisions apply to the vesting provisions of the Plan: 

    (must be definitely determinable and satisfy the parameters set forth at Question 17) 

2. [   ] Pre-amendment vesting schedule. (Plan Section 6.4(b)). If the vesting schedule has been amended and a 

different vesting schedule other than the schedule at Question 17 applies to any Participants, then the 

following provisions apply (must select one of a. – d. AND complete e.): 

Applicable Participants. The vesting schedules in Question 17 only apply to: 

a. [   ] Participants who are Employees as of                                        (enter date). 

b. [   ] Participants in the Plan who have an Hour of Service on or after                                        (enter 

date). 

c. [   ] Participants (even if not an Employee) in the Plan on or after                                        (enter date). 

d. [   ] Other:                                                (e.g., Participants in division A) 

Vesting schedule 

e. The schedule that applies to Participants not subject to the vesting schedule in Question 17 is: 

Years (or Periods) of Service Percentage 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

                        % 

j. [   ] Minimum distribution transitional rules (Plan Section 6.8(e)(5)) 

NOTE: This Section does not apply to (1) a new Plan, (2) an amendment or restatement of an existing Plan that never 

contained the provisions of Code §401(a)(9) as in effect prior to the amendments made by the Small Business 

Job Protection Act of 1996 (SBJPA), or (3) a Plan where the transition rules below do not affect any current 

Participants. 

The "required beginning date" for a Participant is:  

1. [   ] April 1st of the calendar year following the year in which the Participant attains age 70 1/2. (pre-SBJPA rules 

continue to apply) 

2. [   ] April 1st of the calendar year following the later of the year in which the Participant attains age 70 1/2 or 

retires (the post-SBJPA rules), with the following exceptions (select one or both; leave blank if both applied 

effective as of January 1, 1996):  

a. [   ] A Participant who was already receiving required minimum distributions under the pre-SBJPA 

rules as of             (may not be earlier than January 1, 1996) 

was allowed to stop receiving distributions and have them recommence in accordance with the 

post-SBJPA rules. Upon the recommencement of distributions, if the Plan permits annuities as a 

form of distribution then the following apply:  

1. [   ] N/A (annuity distributions are not permitted) 

2. [   ] Upon the recommencement of distributions, the original Annuity Starting Date will be 

retained. 

3. [   ] Upon the recommencement of distributions, a new Annuity Starting Date is created. 

b. [   ] A Participant who had not begun receiving required minimum distributions as of  

                                                                 (may not be earlier than January 1, 1996) may elect to defer 

commencement of distributions until retirement. The option to defer the commencement of 

distributions (i.e., to elect to receive in-service distributions upon attainment of age 70 1/2) applies 

to all such Participants unless selected below:  

1. [   ] The in-service distribution option was eliminated with respect to Participants who 

attained age 70 1/2 in or after the calendar year that began after the later of (1) December 

31, 1998, or (2) the adoption date of the restatement to bring the Plan into compliance 

with the SBJPA. 

k. [   ] Other spousal provisions (select one or more)  

1. [   ] Definition of Spouse. The term Spouse includes a spouse under federal law as well as the following: 

             . 

2. [   ] Automatic revocation of spousal designation (Plan Section 6.2(f)). The automatic revocation of a spousal 

Beneficiary designation in the case of divorce does not apply. 

3. [   ] Timing of QDRO payment. A distribution to an Alternate Payee shall not be permitted prior to the time a 

Participant would be entitled to a distribution. 

l. [   ] Applicable law. Instead of using the applicable laws set forth in Plan Section 9.4(a), the Plan will be governed by the 

laws of:                         

m. [   ] Total and Permanent Disability. Instead of the definition at Plan Section 1.49, Total and Permanent Disability 

means:                                                                                (must be definitely determinable). 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

3 

n. [   ] Permissible Trust (or Custodian) modifications. The Employer makes the following modifications to the Trust (or 

Custodial) provisions as permitted under Rev. Proc. 2011-49 (or subsequent IRS guidance) (select one or more of 

1. - 3. below): 

NOTE: Any elections below must not: (i) conflict with any Plan provision unrelated to the Trust or Trustee; or (ii) 

cause the Plan to violate Code §401(a). In addition, this may not be used to substitute all of the Trust 

provisions in the Plan.  

1. [   ] Investments. The Employer amends the Trust provisions relating to Trust investments as follows: 

              

2. [   ] Duties. The Employer amends the Trust provisions relating to Trustee (or Custodian) duties as 

follows: 

              

3. [   ] Other administrative provisions. The Employer amends the other administrative provisions of the 

Trust as follows: 

               



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

1 

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES 

 

The following are optional administrative provisions. The Administrator may implement procedures that override any elections in this 

Section without a formal Plan amendment. In addition, modifications to these procedures will not affect an Employer's reliance on the Plan.  

 

A. Loan Limitations. (complete only if loans to Participants are permitted; leave blank if none apply)  

a. [   ] Limitations (select one or more):  

1. [   ] Loans will be treated as Participant directed investments. 

2. [   ] Loans will only be made for hardship or financial necessity as specified below (select i. or ii.)  

a. [   ] hardship reasons specified in Plan Section 6.12 

b. [   ] financial necessity (as defined in the loan program). 

3. [   ] The minimum loan will be $            . 

4. [   ] A Participant may only have              (e.g., one (1)) loan(s) outstanding at any time. 

5. [   ] All outstanding loan balances will become due and payable in their entirety upon the occurrence of a distributable 

event (other than satisfaction of the conditions for an in-service distribution (including a hardship distribution), if 

applicable). 

6. [   ] Account restrictions. Loans will only be permitted from the following Participant Accounts (select all that apply 

or leave blank if no limitations apply):  

a. [   ] Account(s) attributable to Employer matching contributions 

b. [   ] Account attributable to Employer contributions other than matching contributions 

c. [   ] Rollover Account 

d. [   ] Transfer Account 

e. [   ] Other:                                                                                             

AND, if loans are restricted to certain accounts, the limitations of Code §72(p) will be applied: 

f. [   ] by determining the limits by only considering the restricted accounts. 

g. [   ] by determining the limits taking into account a Participant's entire interest in the Plan. 

Additional Loan Provisions (select all that apply; leave blank if none apply) 

b. [   ] Loan payments. Loans are repaid by (if left blank, then payroll deduction applies unless Participant is not subject to payroll 

(e.g., partner who only has a draw)):  

1. [   ] payroll deduction 

2. [   ] ACH (Automated Clearing House) 

3. [   ] check 

a. [   ] Only for prepayment 

c. [   ] Interest rate. Loans will be granted at the following interest rate (if left blank, then 3. below applies):  

1. [   ]              percentage points over the prime interest rate 

2. [   ]             % 

3. [   ] the Administrator establishes the rate at the time the loan is made 

d. [   ] Refinancing. Loan refinancing is allowed. 

 

B. Life Insurance. (Plan Section 7.5)  

a. [X] Life insurance may not be purchased. 

b. [   ] Life insurance may be purchased...  

1. [   ] at the option of the Administrator 

2. [   ] at the option of the Participant 

 

Limitations 
3. [   ] N/A (no limitations) 

4. [   ] The purchase of initial or additional life insurance will be subject to the following limitations (select one or more):  

a. [   ] Each initial Contract will have a minimum face amount of $            . 

b. [   ] Each additional Contract will have a minimum face amount of $            . 

c. [   ] The Participant has completed            Years (or Periods) of Service. 

d. [   ] The Participant has completed              Years (or Periods) of Service while a Participant in the Plan. 

e. [   ] The Participant is under age              on the Contract issue date. 

f. [   ] The maximum amount of all Contracts on behalf of a Participant may not exceed $            . 

g. [   ] The maximum face amount of any life insurance Contract will be $            . 

 

C. Plan Expenses. Will the Plan assess against an individual Participant's Account certain Plan expenses that are incurred by, or are 

attributable to, a particular Participant based on use of a particular Plan service?  

a. [   ] No 

b. [X] Yes 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

2 

D. Directed investments  

a. [   ] Participant directed investments are NOT permitted. 

b. [X] Participant directed investments are permitted from the following Participant Accounts:  

1. [X] all Accounts 

2. [   ] only from the following Accounts (select one or more):  

a. [   ] Account attributable to Employer contributions 

b. [   ] Rollover Account 

c. [   ] Transfer Account 

d. [   ] Other:                                                                     (specify Account(s) and conditions in a manner that is 

definitely determinable and not subject to Employer discretion) 

 

E. Rollover Limitations. Will the Plan accept rollover contributions and/or direct rollovers from the sources specified below?  

a. [   ] No, Administrator determines in operation which sources will be accepted. 

b. [   ] Yes 

Rollover sources. Indicate the sources of rollovers that will be accepted (select one or more) 

1. [   ] Direct Rollovers. The Plan will accept a direct rollover of an eligible rollover distribution from (select one or 

more):  

a. [   ] a qualified plan described in Code §401(a) (including a 401(k) plan, profit sharing plan, defined benefit 

plan, stock bonus plan and money purchase plan), excluding after-tax employee contributions 

b. [   ] a qualified plan described in Code §401(a) (including a 401(k) plan, profit sharing plan, defined benefit 

plan, stock bonus plan and money purchase plan), including after-tax employee contributions 

c. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(a) (an annuity plan), excluding after-tax employee contributions 

d. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(a) (an annuity plan), including after-tax employee contributions 

e. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(b) (a tax-sheltered annuity), excluding after-tax employee contributions 

f. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(b) (a tax-sheltered annuity), including after-tax employee contributions 

g. [   ] a plan described in Code §457(b) (eligible deferred compensation plan) 

 

Direct Rollovers of Participant Loan. The Plan will NOT accept a direct rollover of a Participant loan from 

another plan unless selected below (leave blank if default applies) 

h. [   ] The Plan will accept a direct rollover of a Participant loan 

i. [   ] The Plan will only accept a direct rollover of a Participant loan only in the following situation(s): 

                                                                                   (e.g., only from Participants who were employees of 

an acquired organization). 

2. [   ] Participant Rollover Contributions from Other Plans (i.e., not via a direct plan-to-plan transfer). The Plan 

will accept a contribution of an eligible rollover distribution (select one or more):  

a. [   ] a qualified plan described in Code §401(a) (including a 401(k) plan, profit sharing plan, defined benefit 

plan, stock bonus plan and money purchase plan) 

b. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(a) (an annuity plan) 

c. [   ] a plan described in Code §403(b) (a tax-sheltered annuity) 

d. [   ] a governmental plan described in Code §457(b) (eligible deferred compensation plan) 

3. [   ] Participant Rollover Contributions from IRAs: The Plan will accept a rollover contribution of the portion of a 

distribution from a traditional IRA that is eligible to be rolled over and would otherwise be includible in gross 

income. Rollovers from Roth IRAs or a Coverdell Education Savings Account (formerly known as an Education 

IRA) are not permitted because they are not traditional IRAs. A rollover from a SIMPLE IRA is allowed if the 

amounts are rolled over after the individual has been in the SIMPLE IRA for at least two years. 

 



 Governmental Money Purchase Plan 
 

 

© 2014 FIS Business Systems LLC or its suppliers 

1 

 

 

FIS BUSINESS SYSTEMS LLC VOLUME SUBMITTER MODIFICATIONS 

 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT, MID-MANAGEMENT AND 

CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 

 

The enclosed Plan is being submitted for expedited review as a Volume Submitter Plan. 

 

No modifications from the approved specimen plan have been made to this Plan. 

 

 

 



 

 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 

REFERENCE GUIDE FOR 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN FOR MANAGEMENT, MID-MANAGEMENT 

AND CONFIDENTIAL EMPLOYEES 

 

EMPLOYER: Kern County Hospital Authority 

ADDRESS: 1700 Mt. Vernon Avenue, Bakersfield, California 93306 

TELEPHONE: (661) 862-7564 

CONTACT NAME: __________________________________________ ACCOUNT #________________  

EMPLOYER EIN: 47-5618278 

FISCAL YEAR END: June 30th 

PLAN YEAR END: December 31st 

PLAN YEAR:       

VALUATION DATE: daily 

ADMINISTRATOR: Employer is the Administrator 

EFFECTIVE DATE OF PLAN: November 14, 2018 

 

PLAN SPECS EXPLANATION QUEST/PG 

Eligible Employees  12 p.3 

all Employees are eligible EXCEPT:  

excluding anyone that is not classified as Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees.  

Eligibility Requirements   13 p.4 

-Eligibility age age 18 

Eligibility-Include Service 

-With  Cantu Management, Inc. 15 p.5 

 Entry Date   14 p.4 

first day of the first full bi-weekly payroll period following date of employment. 

Service Crediting Method defaults apply 16 p.5 

Vesting   17 p.6 

 1-20; 2-40; 3-60; 4-80; 5-100% 

- Excluded vesting service the following service is excluded: 18 p.7 

 prior to initial Effective Date of Plan 

Vesting-Include Service 

-With  Cantu Management, Inc. 15 p.5 

 Other Designated Contractors per discretion of the Hospital Authority 

Retirement 

-Normal NRA: age 65 19 p.7 

 NRD: date on which Participant attains NRA  20 p.7 

-Early ERD: no early retirement provision 21 p.7 

Compensation W-2 wages for CY 22 p.8 

-Limitation Year calendar year (same as compensation determination period) 

Adjustments to Compensation 22 p.8 

 exclude taxable Employee benefits 

 exclude Compensation paid while not a Participant in the Plan 

 exclude overtime 

Post-severance Compensation 23 p.8 

Adjustments 

exclude all post-severance compensation 

Employer Contributions 

-Matching contributions 26 p.10 

 Made to County of Kern California Deferred Compensation Plan 

 100% on first 6% of deferrals plus 50% on next 6% of deferrals 

 match determination period: payroll period 

 allocation conditions for matching contributions: 

 no conditions to share in matching contribution 

Forfeitures   29 p.12 

 used to pay Plan expenses or otherwise used at Employer's discretion 

 Forfeiture (match): reduce match 



 

 

Page 2 of 2 

Distributions 

-Form of distributions distributions may be made in: 33 p.12 

lump-sum, installments and partial withdrawals; and distributed in cash only 

-Termination  distributions upon termination: 34 p.13 

 as soon as feasible after termination 

forced cash-outs if less than $5,000 

-Deemed severance permits distributions for deemed severance of employment 37 p.14 

-In-service distributions not permitted 36 p.14 

Miscellaneous 

-Loans not permitted 38 p.15 

-Directed Investments Permitted, Admin Proc 

may direct 

-Insurance not permitted Admin Proc 

 



Page 1 of 1 

ADOPTING RESOLUTION 

The undersigned authorized representative of Kern County Hospital Authority (the Employer) hereby certifies that the following resolution 

was duly adopted by the Employer on ____________________, and that such resolution has not been modified or rescinded as of the date 

hereof: 

RESOLVED, that the form of Plan and Trust effective November 14, 2018, presented to this meeting is hereby approved and adopted and 

that an authorized representative of the Employer is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver to the Administrator of the Plan 

one or more counterparts of the Plan. 

The undersigned further certifies that attached hereto are true copies of Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribution Plan for 

Management, Mid-Management and Confidential Employees, and the Summary of Plan Provisions, which are hereby approved and 

adopted. 

Date: ___________________________________________  

Signed: ___________________________________________  

___________________________________________  
Mona A. Allen, Authority Board Coordinator 
Kern County Hospital Authority



 
 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

  
November 14, 2018 
  
Subject: Proposed changes in salary and benefits for Management, Mid‐Management, and Confidential 
(MMC) employees.  
 
Recommended Action: Approve; Adopt Resolution; Authorize Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and Human Resources to implement changes 
 
Summary: The Authority requests your Board approve changes to the salaries and benefits of MMC employees 

as outlined below.  These employees are unrepresented and include Directors, Managers, Mid‐level Managers 
and Confidential employees. 
 
Following is a brief overview of the recommended changes: 
 
1) Wage increases in the amount of 2.25% or higher will be provided to MMC employees.  These increases will 

be in the form of an increase to base salary, a lump sum increase, or a combination of both.  The increases 
will be effective with pay period 18‐26, which begins on 12/22/18 and is paid on 01/15/19.  The cost of the 
recommended increases is $201,929 or 3.25% of total MMC salaries.  Increases were determined using 
salary survey data and internal equity comparisons, and were reviewed and approved by executive staff. 
 

2) Incorporation of the current 10% management “flex” pay, into base salary for management and mid‐
management positions.  This additional pay is a carryover from the County of Kern.  Transitioning this 
additional pay into base salary is cost‐neutral for the Authority.  Confidential employees will continue to 
receive 5% “confidential” pay, reflected as a separate itemized line on their paystubs.  This change is also 
effective with pay period 18‐26, beginning 12/22/18. 
 

3) The current vacation bank will be converted to Paid Time Off (PTO).  PTO annual accruals will increase by 48 
hours in exchange for three fewer holidays (24 hours) and as compensation for the three‐day wait to use EIB 
(24 hours).  The maximum accrual for PTO will be 550 hours (as opposed to the current 672 hours).  In 
December 2018, there will be a one‐time pay down for employees with more than 500 hours of accrued 
vacation leave.  Annually thereafter, employees will have the option to elect a buyout of a portion of their 
PTO. 
 

4) The current sick bank will be converted to an Extended Illness Bank (EIB).  The maximum accrual for EIB will 
be 640 hours (as opposed to the current 1152 hours).  The new maximum accrual aligns with the leave time 
available to Kern Medical’s represented employees.  Employees with balances over the new maximum will 
keep their hours; however, they will not accrue additional hours until they fall below the new maximum.  
 

5) Three of the currently observed holidays will no longer be eligible for premium pay for MMC employees.  
These holidays will be converted to additional PTO accruals (24 hours/year).  The holidays being converted 
to PTO are Presidents’ Day, Labor Day and New Year’s Eve.   
 



 
 
Members, Board of Governors 
November 14, 2018 
Page 2 of 2 
 

 

6) Positions designated as management and mid‐management will begin paying into the state disability 
insurance program (commonly known as SDI).  Currently, management employees do not pay into SDI, 
requiring these employees to use vacation and sick leave for leaves of absence without the benefit of 
integrating SDI with existing accruals.   

 
7) Newly hired management, mid‐management and confidential employees will be eligible to enroll in a 

deferred compensation retirement plan.  The plan will utilize the existing 457(b) deferred compensation 
plan for employee contributions, with a new 401(a) money purchase plan used as the vehicle to invest 
employer‐matching contributions.  Using a dual‐plan system allows for the significantly higher IRS maximum 
annual contribution of $55,000 ($56,000 effective 1/1/19), as opposed to $18,500 ($19,000 effective 1/1/19) 
if all contributions were invested in the 457(b) plan alone.  Employees are eligible to participate beginning 
with the start of the pay period following date of hire.  There is a five‐year vesting schedule for employer 
contributions in the 401(a) plan.  Investment options in the 401(a) plan will closely mirror those currently 
available through the 457(b) plan.  The Authority will match 100% of employee contributions for the first 6% 
deferred, then 50% of employee contributions for the next 6%, for a total potential employer contribution of 
9% for employees who defer 12%. 

 
Therefore, it is recommended that your Board approve the proposed changes to the salaries and benefits of 
MMC employees as outlined above, adopt the attached resolution, and authorize the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer and Human Resources to implement the changes. 

 
 

 
 
 



BEFORE THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
OF THE KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 

_________________ 
 
 
In the matter of:                   Resolution No. __________ 
 
CHANGES IN TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF 
EMPLOYMENT FOR UNREPRESENTED 
EMPLOYEES CLASSIFIED AS MANAGEMENT, 
MID-MANAGEMENT AND CONFIDENTIAL 
_____________________________________ 
 
 I, MONA A. ALLEN, Authority Board Coordinator for the Kern County Hospital 
Authority, hereby certify that the following Resolution, on motion of Director __________, 
seconded by Director __________, was duly and regularly adopted by the Board of 
Governors of the Kern County Hospital Authority at an official meeting thereof on the 14th 
day of November, 2018, by the following vote, and that a copy of the Resolution has been 
delivered to the Chairman of the Board of Governors.  
 
AYES:   
 
NOES:   
 
ABSENT:   
 
      MONA A. ALLEN 

                 Authority Board Coordinator 
   Kern County Hospital Authority  

          
 
                 ____________________________ 
                 Mona A. Allen             
 
             

 
RESOLUTION 

 
Section 1.  WHEREAS: 

   
(a) Pursuant to Health and Safety Code Section 101855, subdivision (a)(6), the 

Board of Governors is authorized to prescribe the compensation and other terms and conditions 
of employment for all employees; and 

 
(b) All employees classified as management, mid-management and confidential 

are not represented by a recognized employee organization; and  
 



Page 2 of 4 
 

(c) The Board of Governors desires to implement changes to the conditions of 
employment for all unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management and 
confidential.   
 
 Section 2.  NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of 
Governors of the Kern County Hospital Authority, as follows: 
 

1. This Board finds the facts recited herein are true, and further finds that this 
Board has jurisdiction to consider, approve, and adopt the subject of this Resolution. 
 

2.  All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 
and confidential will receive a salary increase of 2.25% or higher, effective with pay period 
18-26, which begins on December 22, 2018 (hereafter “Pay Period 18-26”).  The salary 
increases will be in the form of an increase in base salary, a lump sum increase, or a 
combination of both. 

 
3. All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 

and confidential will be compensated in accordance with approved salary ranges and eight 
step levels, denoted as Steps 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 and 8, effective with Pay Period 18-26.   

 
4. All unrepresented employees classified as management and mid-

management will have their 10% management “flex” pay incorporated into their base 
salary, effective with Pay Period 18-26.   

 
5. All unrepresented employees classified as confidential will continue to 

receive their 5% confidential “flex” pay reflected as a separate itemized line on their pay 
statements, effective with Pay Period 18-26. 

 
6. All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 

and confidential will have their current sick leave accruals converted to an extended illness 
bank (“EIB”), effective with Pay Period 18-26.  The maximum accrual for the EIB will be 
640 hours.  Employees with sick leave accruals that exceed 640 hours will have those 
excess hours credited to their EIB, but will not earn (accrue) additional hours until the 
accrual balance is reduced below the new maximum.  

 
7. Effective with Pay Period 18-26, the holiday schedule for all unrepresented 

employees classified as management, mid-management and confidential is as follows: 
 
 New Year’s Day 
 Martin Luther King’s Birthday 
 Memorial Day 
 Independence Day (July 4th)  
 Thanksgiving Day 
 Day after Thanksgiving Day 
 Christmas Eve 
 Christmas Day 
 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Holidays that fall on Saturdays are observed on the preceding Fridays.  Holidays 
that fall on Sundays are observed on the following Mondays.  In a year in which Christmas 
Day and New Year’s Day fall on a Saturday, the holidays are observed on Friday, and the 
Christmas Eve holiday is observed on the preceding Thursday.  In a year in which 
Christmas Eve falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the holiday is observed on the preceding 
Friday. 

 
8. All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 

and confidential will have their current vacation leave accruals converted to paid time off 
(“PTO”), effective with Pay Period 18-26.  The maximum accrual for PTO will be 550 
hours.  Annual accruals will increase by 48 hours in exchange for three fewer holidays 
(Presidents’ Day, Labor Day and New Year’s Eve) and as compensation for the three-day 
waiting period to use the EIB.  Employees with vacation leave accruals that exceed 500 
hours will receive a one-time pay out of those excess hours in December 2018.  Employees 
will have the option to elect a buyout of a portion of their PTO annually thereafter. 
 

9. All unrepresented employees classified as management and mid-
management will be subject to payroll withholdings to fund partial wage-replacement 
insurance under the California State Disability Insurance program, effective with Pay 
Period 18-26.   

 
10. All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 

and confidential hired on or after November 24, 2018, will be eligible to enroll in a 
deferred compensation retirement plan as follows: 

 
a) All employee contributions will be automatically deducted each 

biweekly pay period and deposited into the County of Kern, California 
Deferred Compensation Plan (hereafter “457(b) Plan”); 

 
b) All  employer contributions will be deposited into the Kern County 

Hospital Authority Deferred Compensation Plan for Management, Mid-
Management and Confidential Employees (hereafter “401(a) Plan”); 

 
c) Voya Institutional Trust Company will serve as the Custodian of the 

assets on behalf of the 401(a) Plan.   
 

d) An employee’s initial hire date is the initial opportunity to enroll in 
the 457(b) Plan and 401(a) Plan.   

 
e) Employees are eligible to participate the first day of the biweekly 

payroll period coincident with or next following the day they complete one 
biweekly payroll period of continuous service.   

 
f) There is a five-year vesting schedule for employer contributions in 

the 401(a) Plan.   
 



Page 4 of 4 
 

g) Investment options in the 401(a) Plan will closely mirror those 
currently available through the 457(b) Plan.   

 
h) The employer will match 100% of employee contributions for the 

first 6% deferred, then 50% of employee contributions for the next 6%, for a 
total potential employer contribution of 9% for employees who defer 12%.   

 
11. All unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-management 

and confidential hired prior to November 24, 2018, shall continue to participate in the Kern 
County Employees’ Retirement Association without changes to that particular pension 
benefit. 

 
12. All existing unrepresented employees classified as management, mid-

management and confidential shall retain all other existing benefits, including without 
limitation, health care coverage if elected.  

 
13.  The terms and conditions of employment adopted by this Resolution shall 

apply to all existing employees classified as management, mid-management and 
confidential, effective upon adoption of this Resolution. 

 
14. The terms and conditions of employment adopted by this Resolution shall 

apply to all newly hired employees classified as management, mid-management and 
confidential, effective upon commencement of their employment. 
 

15.  The Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Human 
Resources Department are hereby directed to implement the provisions of this Resolution. 

 
16. The Authority Board Coordinator shall provide copies of this Resolution to 

the following: 
   
  Chief Executive Officer 
  Chief Financial Officer 
  Human Resources Department 
  Legal Services Department 
  Kern County Treasurer-Tax Collector  
  Kern County Employees’ Retirement Association 
 
 



 
 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS  

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

  

November 14, 2018  

  

SUBJECT:  Proposed regular meeting dates of the Kern County Hospital Authority Board of Governors for 

calendar year 2019   

  

Recommended Action:  Discuss; Provide Direction 

  

Summary:  

  
On October 17, 2018, your Board approved the regular meetings dates of the Kern County Hospital Authority Board 

of Governors for calendar year 2019.  Since that time, staff has learned that the one or more Board members have a 

conflict with the meeting dates established for April and May 2019.  Kern Medical is requesting that your Board 

discuss alternate meeting dates for April and May and provide direction.   

 

A new resolution will be brought to your Board’s December meeting for adoption of the revised meeting dates. 

 

Therefore, it is recommended that your Board discuss options for regular meeting dates for April and May 2019 and 

provide direction. 

 
 



KERN MEDICAL 
1700 Mt. Vernon Ave., Bakersfield, CA  93306 | KernMedical.com 

2019  
 

Kern County Hospital Authority 
Board of Governors’  
Meeting Calendar 
11:30am – 1:30pm 
 

JANUARY 

S M T W T F S 

  1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 

27 28 29 30 31   
 

 

FEBRUARY 

S M T W T F S 

     1 2 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 

24 25 26 27 28   
 

 

MARCH 

S M T W T F S 

      1 2 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 

31       
 

APRIL 

S M T W T F S 

  1 2 3 4 5 6 

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

28 29 30     
 

 

MAY 

S M T W T F S 

   1 2 3 4 

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 

26 27 28 29 30 31  
 

 

JUNE 

S M T W T F S 

      1 

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 

30       
 

JULY 

S M T W T F S 

 1 2 3 4 5 6 

7 8 9 10 11 12 13 

14 15 16 17 18 19 20 

21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

28 29 30 31    
 

 

AUGUST 

S M T W T F S 

    1 2 3 

4 5 6 7 8 9 10 

11 12 13 14 15 16 17 

18 19 20 21 22 23 24 

25 26 27 28 29 30 31 
 

 

SEPTEMBER 

S M T W T F S 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 

29 30      
 

OCTOBER 

S M T W T F S 

   1 2 3 4 5 

6 7 8 9 10 11 12 

13 14 15 16 17 18 19 

20 21 22 23 24 25 26 

27 28 29 30 31   

       
 

 

NOVEMBER 

S M T W T F S 

     1 2 

3 4 5 6 7 8 9 

10 11 12 13 14 15 16 

17 18 19 20 21 22 23 

24 25 26 27 28 29 30 

       
 

 

DECEMBER 

S M T W T F S 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

8 9 10 11 12 13 14 

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 

29 30 31     
 

 



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 
KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject:  Comments Regarding Budget Variances for Operating Expenses – September 2018 
 
Recommended Action:  Receive and File 
 
Summary:   
 
The following items have budget variances for the month of September 2018:  
 

Indigent Funding: 

 Indigent funding revenue has a favorable budget variance for the month due in large part to prior year AB 
915 Outpatient DSH funding of $2.5M received in September 2018.  Half of this funding was recognized as 
revenue for September 2018 and the balance will be recognized as revenue next month for October 2018.  
In addition, Kern Medical received $500k of Correctional Medicine funding from the County of Kern to true‐
up  the  amount  owed  to  Kern  Medical  for  first  quarter  fiscal  year  2019  Correctional  Medicine  services 
provided.  The favorable variance is also due in part to a decision to reserve less revenue from the indigent 
programs  in  FY 2019  than was planned when  the budget was prepared.   Additional  information  received 
about  these  programs  after  the  budget was  prepared  supports  a  high  likelihood  that  these  funds will  be 
received.    This  decision was  also made  in  an  effort  to  properly match  revenue with  the  period  that  it  is 
earned.     

 
Other Revenue: 

 Other revenue has a favorable variance for the month due to $460k of refunds received from McKesson for 
unused maintenance and service fees from prior periods.  

 
Registry Nurses: 

 Registry nurses  expense has  an unfavorable  budget  variance  for  the month of  September.    Kern Medical 
continues  to  rely on  contracted nurse  staffing  to  supplement  the nursing departments while  aggressively 
trying to recruit full time employed nurses. 

 
Medical Fees: 

 Medical fees have an unfavorable budget variance for the month of August primarily because of increased 
Locum Tenens fees for trauma coverage.  There were also $163k of invoices received from Jackson & Coker 
staffing in September.  This new staffing service is providing behavioral health physicians.  Kern Medical will 
be reimbursed for the cost of these services by the Kern County Behavioral Health Department. 

 
Other Professional Fees: 

 Other  professional  fees  have  an  unfavorable  budget  variance  for  the month  of  September  due  to  travel, 
food, and lodging expenses for Cerner consultants dating back to July 2018.  The delay in payment for these 
invoices was due to lack of supporting documentation provided by Cerner. 

 



Kern County Board of Governors 
Financials – September 2018 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
Supplies Expense: 

 Supplies expense has an unfavorable budget variance of $192k for the month of September mainly due to 
above average expenses for prostheses.  Pharmaceuticals and other surgical supplies were also slightly over 
budget for the month.  

 
Purchased Services: 

 Purchased services have a small, favorable budget variance for the month due to an over accrual for Health 
Advocates  expenses  in  prior month.    Health  Advocates  consultants work  in  conjunction with  the  Patient 
Access Department to help qualify patients for Medi‐Cal coverage. 

 
Other Expenses: 

 Other expenses are over budget for the month of August due in part higher than average utilities expenses 
due to clinic expansion and temperature extremes  in the month of September.   Repairs and maintenance 
expenses  were  also  higher  than  average  due  to  painting  and  new  floor  work  done  in  the  Radiology 
Department. 

 
Interest Expense: 

 Interest expense was budgeted low for FY 2019 based on amortization schedules for the pension obligation 
bonds that do not accurately report the expense actually charged to Kern Medical.  A decision was made to 
accrue additional interest expense each month of FY 2019.  This will more properly match interest expense 
to  the period actually  incurred and avoid  the need  for a  large  true‐up adjustment  for  interest expense at 
year‐end. 



BOARD OF GOVERNORS’ FINANCIAL REPORT
KERN MEDICAL – SEPTEMBER 2018

NOVEMBER 2018



Slide 1



Slide 2



Slide 3



Slide 4



Slide 5



Slide 6



Slide 7



Slide 8



Slide 9



 
 

Owned and Operated by the Kern County Hospital Authority 
A Designated Public Hospital 

1700 Mount Vernon Avenue | Bakersfield, CA 93306 | (661) 326-2000 | KernMedical.com 

 

BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY REGULAR MEETING 

 
 
November 14, 2018 
 
Subject:  Kern County Hospital Authority, Chief Executive Officer Report 
 
Recommended Action:  Receive and File 
 
Summary: 
 
The Chief Executive Officer has provided the attached 3‐month trend Analysis: Volume and Strategic Indicators 
for Kern Medical 



BOARD OF GOVERNORS’ VOLUMES REPORT
KERN MEDICAL – SEPTEMBER 2018

NOVEMBER 2018



Slide 1



Slide 2



Slide 3



Slide 4



Slide 5



Slide 6



 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

PUBLIC STATEMENT REGARDING CLOSED SESSION 
 

Health and Safety Code Section 101855(j)(2) 
 
On the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Board of Governors will hold 
a closed session on November 14, 2018, to discharge its responsibility to evaluate and 
improve the quality of care rendered by health facilities and health practitioners. The 
closed session involves: 
 
 
   X    Request for Closed Session regarding peer review of health practitioners (Health 
and Safety Code Section 101855(j)(2)) –   
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

PUBLIC STATEMENT REGARDING CLOSED SESSION 
 

Government Code Section 54956.9 
 
Based on the advice of Counsel, the Board of Governors is holding a closed session on 
November 14, 2018, to confer with, or receive advice from Counsel regarding pending 
litigation, because discussion in open session concerning this matter would prejudice the 
position of the authority in the litigation. The closed session involves: 
 
 
   X     CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL - EXISTING LITIGATION  

(Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1)) Name of case: Fatima Leon Tinoco, et 
al. v. County of Kern, et al., Kern County Superior Court Case No. BCV-17-100657 
TSC –  
 

 
 



 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

PUBLIC STATEMENT REGARDING CLOSED SESSION 
 

 
On the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Board of Governors will hold 
a closed session on November 14, 2018, to consider: 
 
 
   X    PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION - Title: Chief Executive 
Officer (Government Code Section 54957) –     
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

PUBLIC STATEMENT REGARDING CLOSED SESSION 
 

Health and Safety Code Section 101855(e)(1) 
 
On the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Board of Governors will hold 
a closed session on November 14, 2018, the premature disclosure of which would create 
a substantial probability of depriving the authority of a substantial economic benefit or 
opportunity.  The closed session involves: 
 
 
   X    Request for Closed Session for the purpose of discussion or taking action on 
authority trade secrets (Health and Safety Code Section 101855(e)(1)) –  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 



 
 

KERN COUNTY HOSPITAL AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS 

PUBLIC STATEMENT REGARDING CLOSED SESSION 
 

 
On the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer, the Board of Governors will hold a closed 
session on November 14, 2018, to consider: 
 
 
   X     CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS - Agency designated representatives: 

Vice President & General Counsel Karen S. Barnes and designated staff – Unrepresented 
Employee: Chief Executive Officer (Government Code Section 54957.6) 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 


	11.14.18  11b Voya Custody Agreement.pdf
	IRC SECTION 401(a) CUSTODY AGREEMENT - NON-ERISA PLAN
	8.8 Liability of Authority.  The liabilities or obligations of the Employer with respect to its activities pursuant to this Agreement shall be the liabilities or obligations solely of the Employer and shall not be or become the liabilities or obligat...
	Kern County Hospital Authority Voya Institutional Trust Company

	11.14.18  12b PSSI REtireFlex-MF_Kern Co FINAL3__HA_175387_09112018_F (2).pdf
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	OMNI ASA for RF and RCII Express (5-2017).pdf
	RECITALS
	Section 2.  Participant Information
	Section 3.  Compensation
	Section 4.  Term
	Section 5.  General

	Contribution Rate Services
	Payroll Feedback File
	Terms of Contractor’s Loan Program (“Loan Program”) to apply to any loan issued under the Plan will be pursuant to this Schedule B as supplemented by the Loan Provision elections made by the Plan Sponsor within the PSSF
	Plan Sponsor Responsibilities:
	Contractor Responsibilities:



	Reset: 
	PlanSponsorAddress: 1700 Mount Vernon Avenue
	PlanSponsorPOBox: 
	PlanSponsorCity: Bakersfield
	PlanSponsorState: CA
	PlanSponsorZIP: 93306
	PrimaryEmployerContactName: Lori Ambrose
	PrimaryEmployerPhone: 601.862.7564
	PrimaryEmployerContactEmail: Lori.Ambrose@kernmedical.co
	PayrollContactName: Lori Ambrose & Kaitlyn Deford
	PayrollContactPhone: 
	PayrollContactEmail: Lori.Ambrose@kernmedical.co
	PlanSponsorTIN: 47-5618278
	FiscalYearEnd: 6/30
	403bAvailable-NotAvailable: Off
	403bPlanSponsorEmployerName: 
	403bPlanSponsorEmployerNameAbbreviated: 
	403bOriginalPlanEffectiveDate: 
	403bPlanYearEnd: 
	403bCurrentPlanProviders: 
	457bCurrentAssetsTransferVoya: Off
	457bAvailable-NotAvailable: 1
	457bPlanSponsorEmployerName: Kern County Hospital Authority Defined Contribribution Plan for Management, Mid-Management *(cont)
	457bPlanSponsorEmployerNameAbbreviated: KCHA DC Plan – MMC 
	457bOriginalPlanEffectiveDate: 11/14/2018
	457bPlanYearEnd: 12/31
	457bCurrentPlanProviders: Not applicable; start up
	401aCurrentAssetsTransferVoya: 2
	401aAvailable-NotAvailable: Off
	401aPlanSponsorEmployerName: * (cont) and Confidential Employees
	401aPlanSponsorEmployerNameAbbreviated: 
	401aOriginalPlanEffectiveDate: 
	401aPlanYearEnd: 12/31
	401aCurrentPlanProviders: 
	EmployerName: Kern County Hospital Authority
	457bMoneySources1: Off
	401aMoneySources1: Off
	401kMoneySources1: Off
	MoneySourceClosed1: Off
	457bMoneySources2: Off
	401aMoneySources2: Off
	401kMoneySources2: Off
	MoneySourceClosed2: Off
	457bMoneySources3: Off
	401aMoneySources3: 2
	401kMoneySources3: Off
	MoneySourceClosed3: Off
	457bMoneySources4: Off
	401aMoneySources4: Off
	401kMoneySources4: Off
	MoneySourceClosed4: Off
	457bMoneySources5: Off
	401aMoneySources5: Off
	401kMoneySources5: Off
	MoneySourceClosed5: Off
	457bMoneySources6: Off
	401aMoneySources6: Off
	401kMoneySources6: Off
	MoneySourceClosed6: Off
	457bMoneySources7: Off
	457bMoneySources7a: Off
	401aMoneySources7: Off
	401kMoneySources8: Off
	457bMoneySources9: Off
	401kMoneySources9: Off
	MoneySourceClosed8: Off
	457bMoneySources10: Off
	401kMoneySources11: Off
	457bMoneySources10a: Off
	401aMoneySources9: Off
	401kMoneySources12: Off
	MoneySourceClosed9: Off
	457bMoneySources11: Off
	457bMoneySources12: Off
	401kMoneySources13: Off
	401kCatchUp1: Off
	457bCatchUp2: Off
	457bCatchUp3: Off
	401kCatchUp3: Off
	457bNonRoutine5: Off
	457bCatchUp4: Off
	401aNonRoutine5: 2
	401kNonRoutine5: Off
	401kCatchUp4: Off
	ContrRateChangeEmployerOptsOut: 1
	VoyaContrRateChangeType1: Off
	VoyaContrRateChangeType2: Off
	457bContributionsSuspended: Off
	401kContributionsSuspended: Off
	457bDefaultEnrollProcess: Off
	401aDefaultEnrollProcess: 1
	401kDefaultEnrollProcess: Off
	IndependentContractorsAllowed: 2
	457bVesting1: Off
	457bVesting2: Off
	457bVesting3: Off
	457bVesting4: Off
	457bVesting5: Off
	ClifPeriod1: Off
	457bERMatch2: Off
	457bERMatch3: Off
	457bERDiscretionary2: Off
	457bERDiscretionary3: Off
	457bERNonDiscretionary2: Off
	457bERNonDiscretionary3: Off
	457bERMatch4: Off
	457bERMatch5: Off
	457bERDiscretionary4: Off
	457bERDiscretionary5: Off
	457bVesting: Off
	457bERMatch6: Off
	457bERDiscretionary6: Off
	457bERNonDiscretionary4: Off
	457bERNonDiscretionary5: Off
	457bERNonDiscretionary6: Off
	457bVestingComputaionPeriod: Off
	457bAcceleratedVesting1: Off
	457bNormalRetireAge: 
	457bAcceleratedVesting2: Off
	457bAcceleratedVesting3: Off
	457bAcceleratedVesting4: Off
	457bEarlyRetireAge: 
	457bForfeitureRelease: Off
	401aVesting1: Off
	401aVesting2: Off
	401aVesting3: Off
	401aVesting4: Off
	401aVesting5: 5
	ClifPeriod2: Off
	401aERMatch2: Off
	401aERMatch3: Off
	401aERDiscretionary1: Off
	401aERDiscretionary2: Off
	401aERMatch4: Off
	401aERDiscretionary3: Off
	401aERMatch5: 4
	401aERDiscretionary4: Off
	401aERDiscretionary5: Off
	401aERNonDiscretionary2: Off
	401aERNonDiscretionary3: Off
	401aERNonDiscretionary4: Off
	401aERNonDiscretionary5: Off
	401aERNonDiscretionary: Off
	401aVesting6: Off
	401aERMatch: Off
	401aVestingComputaionPeriod: 1
	401aAcceleratedVesting1: Off
	401aAcceleratedVesting2: 2
	401aNormalRetireAge: 
	401aAcceleratedVesting3: 2
	401aAcceleratedVesting4: Off
	401aEarlyRetireAge: 
	401aForfeitureRelease: 2
	401kVesting: Off
	401kERMatch: Off
	401kERDiscretionary: Off
	401kERNonDiscretionary: Off
	ClifPeriod3: Off
	401kVestingComputaionPeriod1: Off
	401kAcceleratedVesting1: Off
	401kNormalRetireAge: 
	401kAcceleratedVesting2: Off
	401kAcceleratedVesting3: Off
	401kAcceleratedVesting4: Off
	401kEarlyRetireAge: 
	401kForfeitureReleaseProvision: Off
	457bDistWD1: Off
	457bDistWD2: Off
	457bDistWD3: Off
	457bDistWD4: Off
	457bDistWD5: Off
	457bAgeBasedAge: 
	457bDistWD6: Off
	457bNormalRetirementAge: 
	457bDistWD7: Off
	457bDistWD8: Off
	457bDistWD9: Off
	457bDistWD10: Off
	457bDistWD11: Off
	457bDistWD12: Off
	457bDistWD13: Off
	457bSpousalConsent: Off
	401aDistWD1: 2
	401aDistWD2: Off
	401aDistWD3: Off
	401aAgeBasedAge: 
	401aDistWD4: 2
	401aNormalRetirementAge: 65
	401aDistWD5: Off
	401aDistWD6: Off
	401aDistWD7: Off
	401aDistWD8: Off
	401aDistWD9: 2
	401aDistWD10: 2
	401aDistWD11: Off
	401aSpousalConsent: Off
	401kDistWD1: Off
	401kDistWD2: Off
	401kDistWD3: Off
	401kDistWD4: Off
	401kAgeBasedAge: 
	401kDistWD5: Off
	401kNormalRetirementAge: 
	401kDistWD6: Off
	401kDistWD7: Off
	401kDistWD8: Off
	401kDistWD9: Off
	401kDistWD10: Off
	401kDistWD11: Off
	401kDistWD12: Off
	401kDistWD13: Off
	401kSpousalConsent: Off
	457bMandatoryDist: Off
	401aMandatoryDist: 1
	401kMandatoryDist: Off
	457bApplicableLimit: Off
	401aMandatoryDistYes: 1
	401kMandatoryDistYes: Off
	MandatoryDistIRAProviderName: 
	MandatoryDistContactName: 
	MandatoryDisContactNameStreetAddress: 
	MandatoryDistContactNameCityStateZIP: 
	MandatoryDistRolloverBalances: Off
	MandatoryDistExplain: 
	457bLoans1: Off
	457bLoans2: Off
	401aLoans1: Off
	401aLoans2: Off
	401kLoans1: Off
	401kLoans2: Off
	LoanRepaymentMethod: Off
	LoansAllowed: Off
	MiscPlanProvisionsEmployerElects: Off
	457bBene1: Off
	401aBene1: Off
	401kBene1: Off
	457bBene2: Off
	401aBene2: Off
	401kBene2: Off
	457bSpousal: Off
	401aSpousal: 1
	401kSpousal: Off
	457bCommunityProperty: Off
	401aCommunityProperty: 1
	401kCommunityProperty: Off
	457bDRO: Off
	401aDRO: Off
	401kDRO: Off
	457bOptionalServices1: Off
	401aOptionalServices1: Off
	401kOptionalServices1: Off
	457bOptionalServices2: Off
	401aOptionalServices2: Off
	401kOptionalServices2: Off
	457bOptionalServices3: Off
	401aOptionalServices3: Off
	401kOptionalServices3: Off
	457bOptionalServices4: Off
	401aOptionalServices4: Off
	401kOptionalServices4: Off
	457bOptionalServices5: Off
	401aOptionalServices5: Off
	401kOptionalServices5: Off
	OnlineStatementDeliveryService: Off
	PIN: 5
	PIN1: @kernmedical.com
	PIN3: 
	PIN2: 
	PIN4: 
	Representative1: 1
	Rep1Name: Liliana Fahel
	Rep1SSNLastFour: 6899
	Rep1BrokerDealerAffiliation: Voya Financial Advisors, Inc.
	Rep1OfficeCode: 040
	Rep1Number: 117
	Rep1PercentParticipation: 100
	Representative2: Off
	Rep2Name: 
	Rep2SSNLastFour: 
	Rep2BrokerDealerAffiliation: 
	Rep2OfficeCode: 
	Rep2Number: 
	Rep2PercentParticipation: 
	Representative3: Off
	Rep3Name: 
	Rep3SSNLastFour: 
	Rep3BrokerDealerAffiliation: 
	Rep3OfficeCode: 
	Rep3Number: 
	Rep3PercentParticipation: 
	NumberPArtEmployees: 55
	FirstYearContribAmount: 400000
	TransferredAssetAmountFirstYear: 0
	RevenueRequirement: 0
	CommFeesRevRequirement: 
	IncludingExcludingDropdown: [including]
	CompStructure1: 1
	CompStructure1a: Off
	CommFeesCompensationStructure: 
	CompStructure2: Off
	CompStructure3: Off
	CommStructure1: 
	CommStructure2: 
	CommStructure3: 
	CommStructure4: 
	TransferredAssets: Off
	CommStructure5: 
	AssetsBeginning: Off
	CompStructureAssetBasedComp: 
	CompStructureAssetBasedCompPaid: Off
	CompStructureFlatDollarComp: 
	CompStructureFlatDollarCompPaid: Off
	AccountTypeEASEPERA: Off
	ExpenseAccountAdminServiceFeePercent: 
	FundNumber1: 4301
	FundName1: Voya Fixed Account 457/401 II 
	FundMorningstarCategory1: Stability of Principal
	FundLegalStructure1: General Account 
	FundNumber2: 1450
	FundName2: Pioneer High Yield Fund - Class Y Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory2: High Yield Bond
	FundLegalStructure2: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber3: 8514
	FundName3: PIMCO International Bond Fund (U.S. Dollar-Hedged) - 
	FundMorningstarCategory3: World Bond
	FundLegalStructure3: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber4: 
	FundName4: Harbor Bond Retirement
	FundMorningstarCategory4: Interm Term Bond
	FundLegalStructure4: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber5: 975
	FundName5: Fidelity Asset Manager® 50%
	FundMorningstarCategory5: Allocation--30% to 50
	FundLegalStructure5: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber6: 2232
	FundName6: Vanguard® Wellesley® Income Fund - Admiral• Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory6: Allocation--30% to 50
	FundLegalStructure6: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber7: 3507
	FundName7: JPMorgan Equity Income Fund - Class R6 Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory7: Large Value
	FundLegalStructure7: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber8: 566
	FundName8: Vanguard® Institutional Index Fund - Institutional Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory8: Large Blend
	FundLegalStructure8: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber9: 1724
	FundName9: American Funds The Growth Fund of America® - Class 
	FundMorningstarCategory9: Large Growth
	FundLegalStructure9: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber10: 524
	FundName10: Fidelity® Contrafund®
	FundMorningstarCategory10: Large Growth
	FundLegalStructure10: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber11: 1248
	FundName11: Goldman Sachs Small Cap Value Fund - Institutional Sh
	FundMorningstarCategory11: Small Blend
	FundLegalStructure11: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber12: 1658
	FundName12: Fidelity® Low-Priced Stock Fund
	FundMorningstarCategory12: Mid-Cap Vlalue
	FundLegalStructure12: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber13: 3216
	FundName13: Morgan Stanley Inst Fund US Real Estate Portfolio - IS
	FundMorningstarCategory13: Real Estate
	FundLegalStructure13: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber14: 3790
	FundName14: MFS® Utilities Fund - Class R6
	FundMorningstarCategory14: Utilities
	FundLegalStructure14: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber15: 8925
	FundName15: T. Rowe Price Mid Cap Growth Fund: I Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory15: Mid-Cap Growth
	FundLegalStructure15: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber16: 9690
	FundName16: Janus Henderson Venture Fund - Class N Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory16: Small Growth
	FundLegalStructure16: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber17: 9806
	FundName17: Artisan Mid Cap Fund - Institutional Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory17: Mid-Cap Growth
	FundLegalStructure17: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber18: 1960
	FundName18: American Funds Capital World Growth and Income Fund
	FundMorningstarCategory18: World Large Stock
	FundLegalStructure18: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber19: 3491
	FundName19: American Funds New World Fund® - Class R-6
	FundMorningstarCategory19: Diversified Emerg Mkt
	FundLegalStructure19: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber20: 6385
	FundName20: Artisan International Fund - Institutional Shares
	FundMorningstarCategory20: Foreign Large Growth
	FundLegalStructure20: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber21: 6958
	FundName21: Ivy International Core Equity Fund - Class N
	FundMorningstarCategory21: Foreign Large Blend
	FundLegalStructure21: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber22: 6998
	FundName22: Voya Index Solution 2020 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory22: Target-Date 2020
	FundLegalStructure22: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber23: 6999
	FundName23: Voya Index Solution 2025 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory23: Target-Date 2025
	FundLegalStructure23: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber24: 7005
	FundName24: Voya Index Solution 2030 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory24: Target-Date 2030
	FundLegalStructure24: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber25: 3205
	FundName25: Voya Index Solution 2035 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory25: Target-Date 2035
	FundLegalStructure25: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber26: 3206
	FundName26: Voya Index Solution 2040 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory26: Target-Date 2040
	FundLegalStructure26: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber27: 3207
	FundName27: Voya Index Solution 2045 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory27: Target-Date 2045
	FundLegalStructure27: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber28: 3208
	FundName28: Voya Index Solution 2050 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory28: Target-Date 2050
	FundLegalStructure28: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber29: 3209
	FundName29: Voya Index Solution 2055 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory29: Target-Date 2055
	FundLegalStructure29: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber30: 3214
	FundName30: Voya Index Solution 2060 Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory30: Target Date 2060+
	FundLegalStructure30: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber31: 3215
	FundName31: Voya Index Solution Income Portfolio - Class Z
	FundMorningstarCategory31: Target Date Retiremen
	FundLegalStructure31: Mutual Funds
	FundNumber32: 
	FundName32: 
	FundMorningstarCategory32: 
	FundLegalStructure32: 
	FundNumber33: 
	FundName33: 
	FundMorningstarCategory33: 
	FundLegalStructure33: 
	FundNumber34: 
	FundName34: 
	FundMorningstarCategory34: 
	FundLegalStructure34: 
	FundNumber35: 
	FundName35: 
	FundMorningstarCategory35: 
	FundLegalStructure35: 
	FundNumber36: 
	FundName36: 
	FundMorningstarCategory36: 
	FundLegalStructure36: 
	FundNumber37: 
	FundName37: 
	FundMorningstarCategory37: 
	FundLegalStructure37: 
	FundNumber38: 
	FundName38: 
	FundMorningstarCategory38: 
	FundLegalStructure38: 
	FundNumber39: 
	FundName39: 
	FundMorningstarCategory39: 
	FundLegalStructure39: 
	FundNumber40: 
	FundName40: 
	FundMorningstarCategory40: 
	FundLegalStructure40: 
	FundNumber41: 
	FundName41: 
	FundMorningstarCategory41: 
	FundLegalStructure41: 
	FundNumber42: 
	FundName42: 
	FundMorningstarCategory42: 
	FundLegalStructure42: 
	FundNumber43: 
	FundName43: 
	FundMorningstarCategory43: 
	FundLegalStructure43: 
	FundNumber44: 
	FundName44: 
	FundMorningstarCategory44: 
	FundLegalStructure44: 
	FundNumber45: 
	FundName45: 
	FundMorningstarCategory45: 
	FundLegalStructure45: 
	FundNumber46: 
	FundName46: 
	FundMorningstarCategory46: 
	FundLegalStructure46: 
	FundNumber47: 
	FundName47: 
	FundMorningstarCategory47: 
	FundLegalStructure47: 
	FundNumber48: 
	FundName48: 
	FundMorningstarCategory48: 
	FundLegalStructure48: 
	FundNumber49: 
	FundName49: 
	FundMorningstarCategory49: 
	FundLegalStructure49: 
	CreditedInterstRateYear: 18
	CreditedInterstRateNotLessThan: 1
	CreditedInterstRate: 1.75
	ForfeitureAccountCB: Off
	ForfeitureNumberName: 
	DefaultInvestmentOptionCB: 2
	DIOCB: 1
	DefaaultInvestmentOptionFund: 
	PlanAssetTransfer: Off
	ExistingFundName1: 
	ExistingFundNumber1: 
	ReplacementFundName1: 
	ExistingFundName2: 
	ExistingFundNumber2: 
	ReplacementFundName2: 
	ExistingFundName3: 
	ExistingFundNumber3: 
	ReplacementFundName3: 
	ExistingFundName4: 
	ExistingFundNumber4: 
	ReplacementFundName4: 
	ExistingFundName5: 
	ExistingFundNumber5: 
	ReplacementFundName5: 
	ExistingFundName6: 
	ExistingFundNumber6: 
	ReplacementFundName6: 
	ExistingFundName7: 
	ExistingFundNumber7: 
	ReplacementFundName7: 
	ExistingFundName8: 
	ExistingFundNumber8: 
	ReplacementFundName8: 
	ExistingFundName9: 
	ExistingFundNumber9: 
	ReplacementFundName9: 
	ExistingFundName10: 
	ExistingFundNumber10: 
	ReplacementFundName10: 
	ExistingFundName11: 
	ExistingFundNumber11: 
	ReplacementFundName11: 
	ExistingFundName12: 
	ExistingFundNumber12: 
	ReplacementFundName12: 
	ExistingFundName13: 
	ExistingFundNumber13: 
	ReplacementFundName13: 
	ExistingFundName14: 
	ExistingFundNumber14: 
	ReplacementFundName14: 
	ExistingFundName: 
	ExistingFundNumber15: 
	ReplacementFundName15: 
	ExistingFundName16: 
	ExistingFundNumber16: 
	ReplacementFundName16: 
	ExistingFundName17: 
	ExistingFundNumber17: 
	ReplacementFundName17: 
	ExistingFundName18: 
	ExistingFundNumber18: 
	ReplacementFundName18: 
	ExistingFundName19: 
	ExistingFundNumber19: 
	ReplacementFundName19: 
	ExistingFundName20: 
	ExistingFundNumber20: 
	ReplacementFundName20: 
	ExistingFundName21: 
	ExistingFundNumber21: 
	ReplacementFundName21: 
	ExistingFundName22: 
	ExistingFundNumber22: 
	ReplacementFundName22: 
	ExistingFundName23: 
	ExistingFundNumber23: 
	ReplacementFundName23: 
	ExistingFundName24: 
	ExistingFundNumber24: 
	ReplacementFundName24: 
	ExistingFundName25: 
	ExistingFundNumber25: 
	ReplacementFundName25: 
	ExistingFundName26: 
	ExistingFundNumber26: 
	ReplacementFundName26: 
	ExistingFundName27: 
	ExistingFundNumber27: 
	ReplacementFundName27: 
	ExistingFundName28: 
	ExistingFundNumber28: 
	ReplacementFundName28: 
	ExistingFundName29: 
	ExistingFundNumber29: 
	ReplacementFundName29: 
	ExistingFundName30: 
	ExistingFundNumber30: 
	ReplacementFundName30: 
	ExistingFundName31: 
	ExistingFundNumber31: 
	ReplacementFundName31: 
	ExistingFundName32: 
	ExistingFundNumber32: 
	ReplacementFundName32: 
	ExistingFundName33: 
	ExistingFundNumber33: 
	ReplacementFundName33: 
	ExistingFundName34: 
	ExistingFundNumber34: 
	ReplacementFundName34: 
	ExistingFundName35: 
	ExistingFundNumber35: 
	ReplacementFundName35: 
	ExistingFundName36: 
	ExistingFundNumber36: 
	ReplacementFundName36: 
	ExistingFundName37: 
	ExistingFundNumber37: 
	ReplacementFundName37: 
	ExistingFundName38: 
	ExistingFundNumber38: 
	ReplacementFundName38: 
	ExistingFundName39: 
	ExistingFundNumber39: 
	ReplacementFundName39: 
	ExistingFundName40: 
	ExistingFundNumber40: 
	ReplacementFundName40: 
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeName1: Lisa H. Smith
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeTitle1: Vice President, Human Resources
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeAgency1: 
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeName2: Lori Ambrose
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeTitle2: Director of Human Resources
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeAgency2: 
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeName3: Karen S. Barns
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeTitle3: Vice President and General Counsel
	AuthorizedPlanSponsorRepresentativeAgency3: 
	CopyEmployer501: Off
	EmployerSignerDate: 
	SignerName:  Russell E. Bigler  
	SignerTitle: Chairman, Board of Governor
	PPFMaterGroup: 
	PPFCClientNumber: 
	PPFMarketIndicator: 
	PPFProductCode: 4O912
	PPFProductManager: Jason Kruzyk
	PPFFixedMarginCode: 901
	PPFFieldOfficeContactName: Joseph Marini
	PPFFieldOfficeOnly: Redlands
	PPFFieldOfficeState: CA
	PPFPlanNumbers: 664266
	PPFSameSource: 
	PPFPlanManager: Marco Marques
	PPFImplementationManager: Cynthia Doris
	TrustServices2: 1
	PPFRepAccessCode1: 040/117
	PPFRepAccessCode2: 
	PPFRepAccessCode3: 
	DoNotAuthorize: Off
	EmployerSigneePrintedName: Russell E. Bigler
	EmployerSigneeTitle: Chairman, Board of Governors


